
  

1 | P a g e   

        
    PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Regular Meeting  
Monday, October 16, 2023 

6:00 PM 
East Dundee Police Station, 2nd Floor Meeting Room 

115 E. 3rd Street, East Dundee, IL 60118 
 

1. Call to Order 
 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
4. Public Comment  

Please keep comments to 5 minutes or less  
 
5. Consent Agenda 

a. Motion to Approve the Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes dated September 18, 
2023 

b. Motion to Accept the Warrants List in the Amount of $170,735.26 
c. Motion to Approve a Resolution Authorizing the Village Administrator to Enter into 

an Engineering Services Agreement with Baxter & Woodman Consulting Engineers 
for a Lead Service Line Inventory in an Amount Not-To-Exceed $39,968 

d. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Approving a Preliminary Planned Unit Development Plan 
and Rezoning for Pal Land, LLC and Pal Land II, LLC located in the M1, R1, and B3 Zoning 
Districts in East Dundee, IL (Terra Business Park Phase II) 

e. Motion to Approve a Resolution Authorizing the Termination of a License 
Agreement between the Dundee Township Foundation, Inc. and the Village of East 
Dundee in Regard to the Use and Occupancy of a Portion of the Summit Square, 611 
East Main Street 
 

6. Other Agenda Items 
a. Discussion of the Downtown Truck Traffic Evaluation Report Prepared by the 

Transportation and Parking Consulting Firm Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. 
(KLOA) 

b. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Authorizing the Acceptance of a Real Estate 
Donation Agreement (Parking Lot Next to 110 Railroad Street, East Dundee, Illinois) 

c. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Authorizing Execution of a Real Estate Sale 



  

2 | P a g e   

Agreement and Purchase of Real Property and Lease Back of Property (110 Railroad 
Street) 

d. Request for Funding and Authorization to add One Part-Time FTE as a Village 
Employee to Staff the Depot for the Remainder of 2023, and Authorization to Create 
a Depot Council 

e. Discussion and Direction on the Removal or Extension of the Refuse Sunset Clause 
approved on April 16, 2018, in Ordinance 18-06 which Amended Chapter 50 of the 
Code of Ordinances 

f. Discussion and Direction Regarding Downtown Parking Minimum Regulations 
 
7. Village President and Board Reports 

  
8. Staff Reports 

 
9. Executive Session 

Closed to the public and media under the provisions of the Illinois Open Meetings Act, 
5ILCS, 120/2, (c)(21) Discussion of Minutes, (c)(11) Pending Litigation, (c)(1) Personnel 
and Legal Counsel, (c)(5) Acquisition of Property, (c)(6) Sale of Property, (c)(3) 
Appointments and (c)(2) Collective Negotiating Matters. 

 
10. Adjournment 



Special Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Cook and Kane County, Illinois 
   September 18, 2023 

1 
CALL TO ORDER 
President Lynam called to order the Village of East Dundee Regular Village Board Meeting at 6:00 p.m.    
  
ROLL CALL: 
Trustees Kunze, Brittin, Saviano, Sauder, and President Lynam were present. 
 
Trustees Mahony and Treiber were absent. 
 
Also in attendance: Village Administrator Erika Storlie, Assistant to the Village Administrator / Deputy Clerk 
Franco Bottalico, Chief of Police Jim Kruger, Director of Public Works Phil Cotter, Building Inspector Chris 
Ranieri, Village Engineer Joe Heinz, and Village Attorney Caitlyn Culbertson. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Recited 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
Naim Kattoum – Thanks the board for the pending re-approval of the special use of the 455 E Main St. Two 
things caught his eye while reviewing the re-approval document: 1) the number of cars on the lot. He won’t 
be utilizing the maximum 21 spots for employees, so he now asked for a variance. 2) Asked if he can do a 
sub-lease instead. 
 
Yaser Kattoum – He would be the manager of 455 E Main St car lot, pending approval. He asked for the 
Board to consider a variance for additional parking spots on the side of the building. 
 
Auqad Ravanam – Also commented on 455 E Main St. His father actually owns the building currently in its 
current form of a medical clinic/practice. His dad is sick and looking to retire. Wondered if any 
consideration could be made to expediate the process in making this deal happen.  
 
Susan Barzackini – asked the Village Board to consider allowing Duke to have his smokers out in the parking 
lot near his train car restaurant. Susan vouched for Duke as a pillar in the community. She mentioned how 
Duke supported the East Dundee community during COVID and how his family runs the annual Bluesfest.  
 
Dan Hart, owner of DC Cobs – expressed his displeasure on hearing that the Village Board may consider an 
open carry/open container ordinance. He worried that allowing open containers would put too much 
liability and risk on small businesses. He worried how the new open container policy would affect insurance 
coverage for small businesses, since Illinois is one of the only states with Dram Shop Insurance/laws. He 
worried about people bringing outside alcohol and worried that it would increase the homeless/vagrant 
population. He would be against any such legislation. 
 
Shannon Kowal – Commented on Duke’s role/influence in the community. She was in support of finding a 
reasonable solution that allows Duke to continue his restaurant and work within the community. Also, 
spoke on behalf of Sue Burna in favor of Duke as well. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA:   
 

a. Motion to Approve the Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes Dated August 17, 2023 
 

b. Motion to Accept the Warrants Lists in the Amounts of $860,704.65, $1,558,540.27, and 



Special Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Cook and Kane County, Illinois 
   September 18, 2023 

2 
$269,059.86. 

 
 

c. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending Village Code Chapter 116, Alcoholic 
Beverages (Penalty) 

 
d. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending the East Dundee Regulations Ordinance 

Chapter 120 Regarding Village-Owned Depot Fencing 
 

 
e. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending Village Code Chapter 116, Alcoholic 

Beverages (Number of Licenses Permitted) 
 

f. Motion to Approve a Resolution Declaring Certain Vehicles, Equipment and Other Village 
Property to be Surplus and Authorizing the Sale of Said Vehicles, Equipment and Other 
Village Property at Auction 

 
 

g. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending Village Code Chapter 30, Board of 
Trustees, Striking Village Hall Annex 
 

h. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending Village Code Chapter 72, Parking 
Regulations, to Restrict Parking of Commercial and Recreational Vehicles, Trailers, and 
Truck Tractors. 

 
i. Motion to Approve a Resolution Authorizing the Village to Execute Agreements with The 

Flolo Corporation to Purchase a New Gearbox/Motor Assembly and Sabel Mechanical to 
Install the New Equipment at a Total Project Cost Of $35,209.35 

 

j. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Granting a Special Use Permit for a Package Liquor Store 
for the Property Located at 210 Penny Avenue, Units G & H, Located in the B-2 Community 
Business District 
 

k. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Granting a Class B Liquor License to Sarathi LLC 
(East Dundee Liquor & Wine) 
 

 
Trustee Kunze motioned to move item C out of the consent agenda. Trustee Brittin motioned 
to move item H out of the consent agenda. 

 
 
Trustee Kunze motioned to approve the consent agenda items A, B, D, E, F, G, I, J, K. Trustee Brittin 
seconded the motion. 

 
Roll:  Ayes – 4 – Trustees Kunze, Brittin, Saviano, and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 2 –Mahony and 
Treiber. Motion is carried. 
 



Special Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Cook and Kane County, Illinois 
   September 18, 2023 

3 
Trustee Brittin motioned to approve an ordinance Amending Village Code Chapter 116, 
Alcoholic Beverages (Penalty). Trustee Sauder seconded the motion. 
 
Trustee Kunze questioned the last paragraph that allowed the Liquor Commission to set the 
lawyers fees.  He wondered if that is in state law or if the Village added the language itself. He 
worried that this paragraph gives the Liquor Commission to much power to set the fees to 
whatever it wanted.  
 
Village Attorney Caitlyn Culbertson answered Trustee Kunze and reminded the Village Board 
that the fees must be reasonable and proven in official proceedings and invoices. 
 
Roll:  Ayes – 4 – Trustees Kunze, Brittin, Saviano, and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 2 –Mahony and 
Treiber. Motion is carried. 
 
Trustee Kunze motioned to approve an ordinance amending Village Code Chapter 72, Parking 
Regulations, to Restrict Parking of Commercial and Recreational Vehicles, Trailers, and Truck 
Tractors. Trustee Brittin seconded the motion but did have a few questions. 
 
Trustee Brittin wondered if the 2-hour time limit for trailers parked on the street was enough 
time. She agreed overnight parking restrictions was understandable, but Trustee Brittin felt the 
2-hour limit was too tight for homeowners who are doing legitimate work on their house (tree 
trimmings, painting, etc.).  
 
Chief Kruger spoke on the language on the ordinance. He spoke on the importance of the first 
section, which restricted unsecured trailers. The Board was in support of this section. Chief 
Kruger was more concerned about the length of the trailers as opposed to the time 
restrictions and was amendable to the amount of time given for trailer parking. The ordinance 
is focused more on long-term parked trailers as opposed to trailers being used.  
 
Trustee Brittin wanted to make sure all gray areas of the ordinance were taken out. From her 
perspective, the way the ordinance is currently written prohibited work vehicles.  
 
It was suggested to amend the ordinance to a 4-hour limit as opposed to 2-hours. Trustee 
Kunze amended his motion to allow for this change in section B. Trustee Brittin seconded the 
motion. 
 
Roll:  Ayes – 4 – Trustees Kunze, Brittin, Saviano, and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 2 –Mahony and 
Treiber. Motion is carried. 
 

OTHER AGENDA ITEMS:   
 

President Lynam asked for a motion to move item B to the front of the agenda. Trustee Brittin, so 
moved. Trustee Kunze seconded the motion.  

 
Roll:  Ayes – 4 – Trustees Kunze, Brittin, Saviano, and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 2 –Mahony and 
Treiber. Motion is carried by voice vote. 

 
b. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Approving a Preliminary Planned Unit    Development 



Special Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Cook and Kane County, Illinois 
   September 18, 2023 

4 
Plan and Rezoning; for Pal Land, LLC and Pal Land II, LLC Located in the M1, R1, and B3 
Zoning Districts in East Dundee (Terra Business Park Phase II) Motion to Approve an 
Ordinance Granting a Special Use Permit for a Motor Vehicle. 

 
Trustee Kunze motioned to approve an ordinance approving a preliminary planned unit 
development plan and rezoning; for Pal Land, LLC and Pal Land II, LLC located in the M1, R1, and 
B3 Zoning Districts in East Dundee (Terra Business Park Phase II). Trustee Saviano seconded the 
motion. 
 
Village Administrator Erika Storlie introduced item B. The Village had been working with the 
applicant for the better part of 6-7 months to come up with a zoning agreement with PAL Land 
and PAL Land II (Joe Palumbo) 
 
Applicant’s Attorney, Peter Bazos, took the podium and passed out exhibits to Village Board 
Members. Also in attendance were Joe Palumbo, Mr. Palumbo’s son Joey, as well as his 
Operations Manager Jeff Newing. 
 
The applicant sought an extension for the Terra Business Park PUD that was approved in 2007 
regarding 119 acres of 150 acres that the applicant had then owned.  

 
The applicant is now in construction of an 11,000 square foot retail/commercial building towards 
the rear of the speedway. He agreed to do this based on the last development agreement. In the 
2017 amendment of the agreement, the applicant agreed to build a 46,000 square foot industrial 
building near Rock Road. Permits have been submitted but waiting on IDOT to approve the 
elimination of the angular Penny Road connection. The applicant has submitted this Phase II of the 
Terra Business Park PUD. 

 
Applicant’s Attorney, Peter Bazos, expressed his disagreement with the version of the ordinance 
presented.  

 
Trustee Brittin asked Village Board Staff if there were any issues with this amended 
ordinance/proposal.  
 
Village Administrator Erika Storlie commented on the fact that the amended ordinance was sent 
only a day before this Board Meeting, so staff had no time to review.  

 
 Trustee Brittin made a motion to table. Trustee Sauder seconded.  
 

Roll:  Ayes – 4 – Trustees Kunze, Brittin, Saviano, and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 2 –Mahony and 
Treiber. Motion is carried. 
 
President Lynam asked for a motion to move item D to the front of the agenda. Trustee Brittin, so 
moved. Trustee Sauder seconded the motion.  

 
Roll:  Ayes – 4 – Trustees Kunze, Brittin, Saviano, and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 2 –Mahony and 
Treiber. Motion is carried by voice vote. 
 
d. Direction on Operations at the Village owned Caboose and Usage of Public Parking   



Special Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Cook and Kane County, Illinois 
   September 18, 2023 

5 
Spaces 

 
Trustee Sauder summarized the issue being about the smokers in Duke’s Caboose BBQ shop taking 
up several parking spots. It had not been brought up in any of the earlier permit renewals but had 
become an issue due to the limited parking around town. Trustee Sauder commented on the fact 
that the Village is still under contract with Duke and should re-review the leasing agreement when 
the current lease is up. Trustee Sauder also expressed his desire for more hours for the Caboose to 
be open, instead of less, so the Village can get more of Duke and his BBQ. 
 
Trustee Saviano agreed with Trustee Sauder. Trustee Saviano also wanted to make sure that the 
Village Board had not just targeted a single business since other businesses had smokers. 
 
Trustee Kunze agreed with Trustee Sauder and Saviano. Wanted to negotiate more consistent 
hours with Duke. Trustee Kunze heard this from sentiment from many patrons. 
 
Trustee Brittin commented on the fact that text issues have been coming up periodically so wanted 
to make sure the leasing language is clear when it is reviewed and negotiated. Trustee Brittin would 
also be open to putting hours around when the smokers can be used.  
 
Village Administrator Erika Storlie commented that there appeared to be consensus to amend the 
lease to allow for the smokers. If the Village Board would work with Duke to clarify the hours of the 
operation. Village Administrator Erika Storlie also wanted to note that the Village is also in the 
process of acquiring the lumber yard and the nearby parking lot in hopes of making that a 
commercial corridor. In that instance, the street the Caboose was currently on will face different 
restrictions. Village Administrator Erika Storlie just wanted to make sure everyone was aware. A 
short-term fix could be agreed upon, but this would need to be reviewed again when that area did 
become a commercial corridor. Conversation ensued about winterizing the Caboose. 
 
Duke spoke at the podium. He commented on the hours of operation and the past agreements he 
had with the Village Board. He also wanted to speak publicly about harassment he had experienced 
around town.  
 
Village Administrator Erika Storlie clarified that the Village Board was trying to add language in so 
the Caboose could be compliant. The reason this issue has come up was because the Caboose 
smokers took up 3 parking spaces, but the current lease doesn’t allow for that. Village Staff wanted 
to work with Duke to find out what information needed to be added to the amended lease for the 
Caboose to operate in compliance. 
 
President Lynam wanted to urge and remind the Village Board that if it approved the use of 
smokers within the parking spaces, the Board needed to be prepared to offer the same to all other 
businesses.  
 
Discussion ensued.  

 
Trustee Kunze commented on the latest extension that extended Duke’s lease to March 4th, 2025. 
Conversation ensued with Duke. 
 



Special Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Cook and Kane County, Illinois 
   September 18, 2023 

6 
Village Staff had enough direction to move forward with drafting a new lease. Conversation ensued 
about the Caboose hours of operation and health department inspections. 

 
a. Riverfront Master Plan Discussion 

 
Lacey Lawerence, a senior associate from the Hitchcock Design Group spoke on the Riverfront Master 
Plan and updated the Village Board on where things are in the analyze, connection, and envision 
stages.  
 
Director of Public Works Phil Cotter mentioned that the most recent traffic study will be presented 
to the Village Board soon.  
 
Conversation ensued. 

 
c.) Motion to Approve an ordinance Granting a Special Use Permit for a Motor Vehicle Dealer, Used 

Only, for the Property Located at 455 E. Main Street, in the  B-2 Community Business District  
 
 
President Lynam asked for a motion to approve item C. Trustee Kunze motioned to approve. 
Trustee Saviano seconded the motion. Conversation ensued. 
 
Trustee Brittin clarified that the PZHC did not agree with this usage because it doesn’t align with the 
comprehensive plan.  
 
Village Administrator Erika Storlie commented on the PZHC’s desire to identify Route 25 as the area 
where car dealerships would be most appropriate and then remove Route 72 as a place where they 
would be allowed. This was why the PZHC did not want to approve the project and why the Village 
Staff recommended a denial.  
 
Members of the Applicant’s family approached the podium to state their case on why they would 
rather build a business for the community as opposed to it being just another piece of empty land. 
They also thought a used car lot was the best use of that land when seeing what it is around. 
 
Trustee Kunze asked if the applicant already had a business on Route 25 that was currently in 
operation. The applicant answered “yes”, but they don’t own the property. They wanted to leave 
the property after the ownership changed hands.  
 
Discussion ensued. 

 
Roll:  Ayes – 1 – Trustee Saviano. Nays – 4.  Trustees Kunze, Brittin, and Sauder Absent – 2 –
Trustees Mahony and Treiber. Motion is carried. 
 
e.) Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending Village Code Chapter 32, Departments, 

Commissions and Other Organizations 
 

Trustee Kunze motioned to approve an ordinance amending Village Code Chapter 32, 
Departments, Commissions and other Organizations. Trustee Brittin seconded the motion. 
Conversation ensued. 



Special Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Cook and Kane County, Illinois 
   September 18, 2023 

7 
 
President Lynam thought this ordinance was trying to expand the control of Village Commissions 
regarding attendance to make sure people serving on Commissions were present for the meetings. 
 
Roll:  Ayes – 4 – Trustees Kunze, Brittin, Saviano, and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 2 –Mahony and 
Treiber. Motion is carried. 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTS:   None 
 
REPORTS: VILLAGE PRESIDENT and BOARD 
 
Lynam: Reminded of Oktoberfest and the need for volunteers. He planned to volunteer. Proclamation for 
National Suicide Prevention and Action Month during September.  
 
Brittin:  Thank you, Phil for the Riverfront cleanup. Would love a regular scheduled clean up. Trustee Kunze 
recently did the trash clean-up, but wondering if we can regularly schedule the plant life clean-up. A few 
things have come up about the Comprehensive Plan, which was being updated in 2024. Also, wondering if 
we can do a full code clean up.  
Kunze:  No Report 
Mahony: No Report 
Sauder:   Arts Council met recently and are planning an art show. The gallery space will be Black & Gray 
Brewing and the Council is hoping to have the weekend before Valentine’s Day in February. 2 new 
members were also appointed to the Council and have been great so far. The theme was decided as Black & 
White art with an accent color of red for Valentine’s Day.  
Saviano:  The art show will have jurors. The reason for having the art show next year on February 10th was 
so people have enough to submit artwork. Also, a reminder that it is Suicide Prevention and Action Month. 
Encouraging people to reach out and be kind. 
Treiber:  No Report 
 
REPORTS:  STAFF 
 
Village Engineer Joe Heinz reports on a current project almost done. Should be done by October. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION:  No 
 
Motion to adjourn the regular Village Board meeting at 8:18 p.m. by Brittin/Kunze 
 
Motion is carried by voice vote. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Caleb Haydock 
      By:  __________________________________  
          Village President, Jeffrey Lynam 
Attest: __________________________________ 
 Management Intern 

 
 



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report October 16, 2023 Page:     1

Report dates: 10/16/2023-10/16/2023 Oct 10, 2023  03:54PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

ACE HARDWARE

083123 WALL HANGING MATERIALS 08/31/2023 39.38 01-12-5110

083123 POLICE 08/31/2023 24.33 01-12-5645

083123 KEROSNE - POWER WASHER 08/31/2023 71.98 01-31-5130

083123 HOSE WATER TRAILER 08/31/2023 19.99 01-31-5130

083123 HOSE BARB 08/31/2023 3.99 01-31-5130

083123 FASTENERS (RETURNED)  08/31/2023 1.42- 01-31-5630

083123 FASTENERS  08/31/2023 1.42 01-31-5630

083123 STAFF BBQ SUPPLIES 08/31/2023 74.94 01-31-5630

083123 OPER SUPPLLIES 08/31/2023 21.94 01-31-5630

083123 WATER MATERIALS 08/31/2023 21.98 01-31-5630

083123 MOUNT TOOL BOX - ADMIN TR 08/31/2023 10.56 01-31-5630

093023 OPER SUPPLIES 09/30/2023 16.58 01-31-5630

083123 BIT - TOOL 08/31/2023 6.99 01-31-5640

083123 TAPE MEASURES 08/31/2023 13.98 01-31-5640

093023 WATER MAIN REPAIR 09/30/2023 16.99 60-33-5140

093023 WWTP TOOLS 09/30/2023 219.00 60-33-5640

          Total ACE HARDWARE: 562.63

ALPHA MEDIA LLC

702199-1 OKT FEST BROADCAST 09/30/2023 2,000.00 01-37-5290

702199B-1 OKT FEST BROADCAST 09/30/2023 400.00 01-37-5290

702199C-1 OKT FEST BROADCAST 09/30/2023 450.00 01-37-5290

          Total ALPHA MEDIA LLC: 2,850.00

BARTELS, JERALD

6300-00 FINAL BILL OVERPAY 10/10/2023 84.48 99-00-1005

          Total BARTELS, JERALD: 84.48

BATEMAN LAW OFFICES, LTD

100523 AA HEARINGS  10/05/2023 190.00 01-21-5230

100523 AA BUILDING 10/05/2023 261.25 01-25-5230

          Total BATEMAN LAW OFFICES, LTD: 451.25

BEVERLY MATERIALS INC.

296898 HOWARD CT WATER MAIN BRE 09/30/2023 303.50 60-33-5140

          Total BEVERLY MATERIALS INC.: 303.50

BIG BANG FESTIVALS & PRORDUCTIONS LLC

1001 BANK BOOKING COMM 09/24/2023 600.00 01-37-5790

1001 DUNDEOPOLY PROJ 09/24/2023 1,636.25 01-37-5790

          Total BIG BANG FESTIVALS & PRORDUCTIONS LLC: 2,236.25

BOARD GAME MANUFACTURING, LLC

7/27/23 EAST DUNDEE-OPOLY 07/27/2023 6,107.00 01-37-5631

          Total BOARD GAME MANUFACTURING, LLC: 6,107.00

CAPITAL ARCHITEECTS, LLC

2335 DEPOT RENOV ARCHITECTUAL 10/09/2023 2,400.00 34-01-5945



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report October 16, 2023 Page:     2

Report dates: 10/16/2023-10/16/2023 Oct 10, 2023  03:54PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total CAPITAL ARCHITEECTS, LLC: 2,400.00

CENTURY SPRINGS

092923 EDPD 2159399   09/30/2023 62.73 01-21-5630

092923 EDPD 2166092   09/30/2023 62.73 01-21-5630

092923 446 ELGIN - 2159396 09/30/2023 53.44 01-31-5630

          Total CENTURY SPRINGS: 178.90

CHADWICK CONTRACTING COMPANY

23-148 RAILROAD ST CROSSWALK BA 10/03/2023 6,440.00 15-01-5950

23-148 RAILROAD ST CROSSWALK BA 10/03/2023 1,905.00 15-01-5950

          Total CHADWICK CONTRACTING COMPANY: 8,345.00

CHARLES EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION LLC

R-12546 OKT FEST RENTAL 09/27/2023 3,477.04 01-37-5330

          Total CHARLES EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION LLC: 3,477.04

CHICAGO IMPROV ASSOCIATES

120123 DICKENS IN DUNDEE                                  05/11/2023 525.00 01-37-5290

          Total CHICAGO IMPROV ASSOCIATES: 525.00

CINTAS FIRST AID & SAFETY

4169103552 MATS - VH                                          09/27/2023 39.88 01-12-5110

4169103478 MATS PD 09/27/2023 49.19 01-21-5121

          Total CINTAS FIRST AID & SAFETY: 89.07

COMED

100523 COM ED VILLAGE 10/05/2023 1,708.87 28-01-5510

          Total COMED: 1,708.87

COMPASS MINERALS AMERICA INC

1226511 COARSE ROCK SALT                                   09/28/2023 3,396.04 60-33-5650

          Total COMPASS MINERALS AMERICA INC: 3,396.04

COVERALL NORTH AMERICA DBA

1010720095 CLEANING VH 10/01/2023 329.00 01-12-5110

1010718025 CLEANING POLICE ADDL SERV 08/02/2023 815.00 01-21-5121

1010720095 CLEANING POLICE 10/01/2023 1,410.00 01-21-5121

1010720095 CLEANING PW 446 ELGIN AVE 10/01/2023 95.00 01-31-5110

1010720095 CLEANING DEPOT 10/01/2023 95.00 01-31-5196

1010720095 CLEANING PW PRAIRIIE LAKE 10/01/2023 236.00 60-33-5110

1010720095 CLEANING PW 401 ELGIN AVE 10/01/2023 236.00 60-33-5111

          Total COVERALL NORTH AMERICA DBA: 3,216.00

CURRENT TECHNOLOGIES

732614 PD CAMERA SERVICE 09/01/2023 453.75 01-21-5286



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report October 16, 2023 Page:     3

Report dates: 10/16/2023-10/16/2023 Oct 10, 2023  03:54PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total CURRENT TECHNOLOGIES: 453.75

DIRECT ENERGY

232680052659 STREET LIGHTS 09/25/2023 209.22 01-31-5510

232680052659 W & WW UTILITIES 09/25/2023 16,800.57 60-33-5510

          Total DIRECT ENERGY: 17,009.79

DOWN TO EARTH LANDSCAPING

93863 SOIL                                              10/03/2023 90.00 01-31-5110

93862 STRAW AND SEED 10/03/2023 242.00 01-31-5150

          Total DOWN TO EARTH LANDSCAPING: 332.00

DUNDEE LANDSCAPE CONSTRUCTION

6590 LANDSCAPE MAINT 09/29/2023 1,550.00 01-31-5110

          Total DUNDEE LANDSCAPE CONSTRUCTION: 1,550.00

DUNDEE NAPA  AUTO PARTS

458548 TRUCK 22 10/06/2023 8.37 01-31-5120

458736 TRUCK 70 10/09/2023 32.45 01-31-5120

458548 TRUCK 22 10/06/2023 8.37 60-33-5120

458744 PARK ST SEWER REPAIR 10/09/2023 5.28 60-33-5141

          Total DUNDEE NAPA  AUTO PARTS: 54.47

ED'S, RENTAL & SALES INC

403543-3 RENT ASPHALT ROLLER 10/06/2023 2,162.00 01-31-5530

          Total ED'S, RENTAL & SALES INC: 2,162.00

ENTERPRISE FM TRUST

2733 PD MAINT ON LEASE 10/05/2023 100.00 01-21-5120

4850834 PD MAINT ON LEASE 10/04/2023 12,260.41 01-21-5120

          Total ENTERPRISE FM TRUST: 12,360.41

FEHR GRAHAM

118781 SPEEDWAY 09/29/2023 982.50 85-01-2381

          Total FEHR GRAHAM: 982.50

FIRST COMMUNICATIONS

125885511 VH PHONES 10/06/2023 263.33 01-12-5320

125885511 PHONE DEPOT 10/06/2023 19.08 01-12-5320

125885511 PHONES PD 10/06/2023 1,293.80 01-21-5320

125885511 PHONES WATER 10/06/2023 427.60 01-31-5320

125885511 PHONES P/W 10/06/2023 105.36 01-31-5320

125885511 PHONES SEWER 10/06/2023 463.77 60-33-5320

          Total FIRST COMMUNICATIONS: 2,572.94

FIRST RESPONSE

54189 VH FIRST AID 09/30/2023 79.70 01-21-5630

54189A PD FIRST AID                                       09/30/2023 63.05 01-21-5630



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report October 16, 2023 Page:     4

Report dates: 10/16/2023-10/16/2023 Oct 10, 2023  03:54PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

54187 PWG FIRST AID 09/30/2023 96.35 01-31-5630

          Total FIRST RESPONSE: 239.10

GALLS PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC

25827960 UNIFORM ALLOW. - KM 09/29/2023 47.45 01-21-5080

          Total GALLS PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC: 47.45

GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC

14387765 PD COPIER OVERAGES 10/02/2023 442.50 01-21-5630

14387765 WT COPIER OVERAGES 10/02/2023 137.15 60-33-5340

14387765 WW COPIER OVERAGES 10/02/2023 17.66 60-33-5340

          Total GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC: 597.31

GRIFFIN WILLIAMS MCMAHON & WALSH LLP

17989 LOCAL PROSECUTIONS 10/01/2023 750.00 01-21-5230

          Total GRIFFIN WILLIAMS MCMAHON & WALSH LLP: 750.00

HEINZ, GERALD & ASSOC.

20903 MISC ENGINEERING 10/03/2023 936.00 01-12-5220

20904 FAU STP 10/03/2023 156.00 01-12-5220

20912 JACKSON STREET PARKING RF 10/03/2023 1,014.00 01-12-5220

20914 455 E MAIN STREET 10/03/2023 312.00 01-25-5290

20905 LIONS PARK 10/03/2023 1,776.00 01-31-5220

20913 2023 STREET PROGRAM 10/03/2023 13,272.00 32-31-6090

20908 PENNY RD/RT 68 10/03/2023 546.00 85-01-2378

20911 PENNY RD/RT 68 10/03/2023 1,482.00 85-01-2378

20910 LOT 2 TERRA 5 10/03/2023 624.00 85-01-2386

20907 590 HEALY 10/03/2023 624.00 85-01-2395

20909 590 HEALY 10/03/2023 936.00 85-01-2395

20906 HIGH STREET 10/03/2023 312.00 85-01-2401

20915 DAVEY TREE 10/03/2023 234.00 85-01-2403

          Total HEINZ, GERALD & ASSOC.: 22,224.00

HELPING HAND IT

23-43971 IT SERVICES 09/29/2023 472.50 01-12-5286

23-44054 IT SERVICES LICENSING 10/01/2023 3,216.90 01-12-5286

23-44091 IT SERVICES 10/05/2023 210.00 01-12-5286

          Total HELPING HAND IT: 3,899.40

HITCHCOCK DESIGN GROUP

31253 RIVERFRONT MASTER PLAN 09/30/2023 1,060.26 32-31-5955

          Total HITCHCOCK DESIGN GROUP: 1,060.26

HUGHES ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING

1059 HUGHES ENVIR 09/30/2023 9,920.00 60-33-5291

          Total HUGHES ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING: 9,920.00

ILLINOIS ASSOC OF CHIEFS OF POLICE

14028 MEMBERSHIP 10/01/2023 115.00 01-21-5410



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report October 16, 2023 Page:     5

Report dates: 10/16/2023-10/16/2023 Oct 10, 2023  03:54PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total ILLINOIS ASSOC OF CHIEFS OF POLICE: 115.00

ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL LEAGUE

39122 IL MUN REV SUB 10/02/2023 30.00 01-14-5410

          Total ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL LEAGUE: 30.00

J.G. UNIFORMS, INC

121110 UNIFORM AK 09/01/2023 373.99 01-21-5080

121322 UNIFORM BM 10/02/2023 103.80 01-21-5080

          Total J.G. UNIFORMS, INC: 477.79

JADE PROPERTY INVESTMENTS

8770-01 FINAL OVERPAYMENT 10/10/2023 40.56 99-00-1005

          Total JADE PROPERTY INVESTMENTS: 40.56

LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP

82548 AUDIT                                             09/27/2023 11,000.00 01-14-5210

82548 AUDIT 09/27/2023 5,500.00 60-33-5210

          Total LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP: 16,500.00

LURVEY LANDSCAPE SUPPLY

S7-10022459-0 CROSSWALK PAVERS 09/29/2023 1,436.40 15-01-5950

          Total LURVEY LANDSCAPE SUPPLY: 1,436.40

M & A PRECISION TRUCK REPAIR

22669 SAFETY LANE 09/19/2023 184.00 01-31-5120

22669 SAFETY LANE 09/19/2023 184.00 60-33-5120

          Total M & A PRECISION TRUCK REPAIR: 368.00

MARTHA BAIN

13280-00 FINAL OVERPAYMENT 10/10/2023 34.92 99-00-1005

          Total MARTHA BAIN: 34.92

MIDWEST DECORATING, INC

4875 WWTP HEADWORKS 09/29/2023 1,200.00 60-33-5111

          Total MIDWEST DECORATING, INC: 1,200.00

NICOR GAS

092523 NICOR VH 09/25/2023 88.43 01-31-5510

092523 NICOR S/W 09/25/2023 510.34 60-33-5510

          Total NICOR GAS: 598.77

NORTHERN KANE COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

4239-15719 BOARD ATTENDEES 09/29/2023 190.00 01-12-5420

          Total NORTHERN KANE COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE:

190.00



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report October 16, 2023 Page:     6

Report dates: 10/16/2023-10/16/2023 Oct 10, 2023  03:54PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

ORANGE CRUSH

106630 SURFACE - TON                                      10/03/2023 912.12 01-31-5150

106681 SURFACE - TON                                      10/04/2023 1,337.16 01-31-5150

106729 SURFACE - TON                                      10/05/2023 481.80 01-31-5150

106767 SURFACE - TON                                      10/06/2023 1,025.64 01-31-5150

106767 ASPHALT                                           10/06/2023 100.00 01-31-5150

106480 ASPHALT                           DISPO 09/28/2023 50.00 01-31-5570

106563 ASPHALT                           DISPO 09/30/2023 100.00 01-31-5570

106681 ASPHALT                           DISPO 10/04/2023 50.00 01-31-5570

106729 ASPHALT                           DISPO 10/05/2023 50.00 01-31-5570

106813 ASPHALT                           DISPO 10/09/2023 50.00 01-31-5570

          Total ORANGE CRUSH: 4,156.72

P.F.  PETTIBONE

184643 BUSINESS CARDS RS 10/02/2023 88.90 01-21-5340

          Total P.F.  PETTIBONE: 88.90

PACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES, LLC

9569994 W TESTING 09/30/2023 1,104.75 60-33-5290

          Total PACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES, LLC: 1,104.75

PAUL SWEIGERT

415 WATER TREATMENT VIDEO 10/05/2023 75.00 01-12-5290

405 DRONE FOOTAGE OKT                                  09/23/2023 75.00 01-37-5290

          Total PAUL SWEIGERT: 150.00

QUAD COM 9-1-1

23-EDPD-10 DISPATCH SERV 10/02/2023 15,538.87 01-21-5360

          Total QUAD COM 9-1-1: 15,538.87

QUADIENT FINANCE USA, INC

092423 ADMIN POSTAGE                                     09/24/2023 8.82 01-12-5680

092423 FIN POSTAGE  09/24/2023 20.16 01-14-5610

092423 POLICE POSTAGE                                     09/24/2023 111.07 01-21-5680

092423 BLDG POSTAGE                                       09/24/2023 45.06 01-25-5680

092423 W/S POSTAGE  09/24/2023 204.73 01-31-5680

          Total QUADIENT FINANCE USA, INC: 389.84

RALPH HELM, INC

384861 STRING TRIMMER 10/06/2023 52.47 01-31-5130

384862 TRIMMERS 10/06/2023 13.99 01-31-5130

          Total RALPH HELM, INC: 66.46

STEPHEN D. TOUSEY LAW OFFICES

100223 PROSECUTION 10/02/2023 750.00 01-21-5230

          Total STEPHEN D. TOUSEY LAW OFFICES: 750.00

SUBURBAN ELEVATOR

8106356740 ELEVATOR MAINT                                     10/01/2023 568.02 01-21-5121



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report October 16, 2023 Page:     7

Report dates: 10/16/2023-10/16/2023 Oct 10, 2023  03:54PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total SUBURBAN ELEVATOR: 568.02

SUMMIT SQUARE ASSOCIATION

100123 ASSOCIATION DUES 10/01/2023 1,910.27 01-12-5410

          Total SUMMIT SQUARE ASSOCIATION: 1,910.27

THIRD MILLENNIUM ASSOCIATES

30498 UB REFUSE 09/30/2023 14.56 01-33-5340

30498 UTILITY BILLING W/S 09/30/2023 131.16 60-33-5340

          Total THIRD MILLENNIUM ASSOCIATES: 145.72

TIMEVALUE SOFTWARE

108459 MAINTENANCE                        09/30/2023 35.00 01-14-5611

          Total TIMEVALUE SOFTWARE: 35.00

TLO LLC

259283-20230 MEMBERSHIP                                         10/01/2023 75.00 01-21-5410

          Total TLO LLC: 75.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECTION

116351 STREET SIGN 09/18/2023 128.10 01-31-5150

          Total TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECTION: 128.10

TRUE BLUE CAR WASH LLC

5032 PD CAR WASH 09/30/2023 87.00 01-21-5120

          Total TRUE BLUE CAR WASH LLC: 87.00

US BANK

1680 092523 k MAIL 09/25/2023 80.00 01-12-5410

1680 092523 k XM RADIO 09/25/2023 17.83 01-12-5410

6309 092523 E BRIANAS 09/25/2023 63.04 01-12-5420

6309 092523 E CONF HOTEL 09/25/2023 1,448.72 01-12-5420

9750 092523 F TRAINING 09/25/2023 40.00 01-12-5430

3999 092523 P SUPPLIES 09/25/2023 2.36 01-12-5630

6309 092523 E STAFF BBQ 09/25/2023 30.03 01-12-5645

3999 092523 P MW BASKET 09/25/2023 25.42 01-12-6005

3999 092523 P MW BASKET 09/25/2023 32.28 01-12-6005

3999 092523 P MW BASKET 09/25/2023 52.00 01-12-6005

1706 09252023  DRY CLEANING 09/25/2023 62.51 01-21-5080

5738 092523 D HOLSTER 09/25/2023 154.00 01-21-5080

1706 09252023  CHICAGO TRIB 09/25/2023 15.96 01-21-5410

2107 092523 S  MEMBERSHIP 09/25/2023 14.99 01-21-5410

2107 092523 S  LUNCH 09/25/2023 27.52 01-21-5420

2107 092523 S  LUNCH 09/25/2023 14.17 01-21-5420

5738 092523 D HOTEL 09/25/2023 121.80 01-21-5420

5738 092523 D AMMO 09/25/2023 2,275.50 01-21-5430

2107 092523 S  COMPUTER SUPP 09/25/2023 47.93 01-21-5611

1706 09252023  AMAZON CREDIT 09/25/2023 19.99- 01-21-5630

2107 092523 S  PRISONER MEAL 09/25/2023 7.65 01-21-5630

2107 092523 S  BATTERIES 09/25/2023 24.99 01-21-5630



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report October 16, 2023 Page:     8

Report dates: 10/16/2023-10/16/2023 Oct 10, 2023  03:54PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

5541 092523 K WEIGHT SCALE 09/25/2023 13.50 01-21-5630

5738 092523 D IPASS 09/25/2023 10.00 01-21-5630

2601 092523 P ORN GRASSES 09/25/2023 33.57 01-31-5110

5824 092523 G ORN GRASSES 09/25/2023 182.08 01-31-5110

5824 092523 G ORN GRASSES 09/25/2023 37.77 01-31-5110

3999 092523 P ICLOUD STORAGE 09/25/2023 .99 01-31-5320

5824 092523 G SUPPLIES 09/25/2023 132.84 01-31-5630

2601 092523 P OKT FEST 09/25/2023 725.00 01-37-5630

5824 092523 G CORN STALKS 09/25/2023 70.50 01-37-5630

6309 092523 E OKT FEST 09/25/2023 33.12 01-37-5630

3999 092523 P OKT FEST 09/25/2023 134.90 01-37-5631

3999 092523 P OKT FES 09/25/2023 25.00 01-37-5631

3999 092523 P OKT FEST 09/25/2023 25.00 01-37-5631

6309 092523 E OKF FEST ADS 09/25/2023 97.56 01-37-5631

6309 092523 E BAND PARKING SIGNS 09/25/2023 250.51 01-37-5631

1680 092523 k OKT FEST PRIZES 09/25/2023 50.00 01-37-5790

6309 092523 E OKT FEST HATS 09/25/2023 479.74 01-37-5790

5824 092523 G ICLOUD 09/25/2023 .99 60-33-5320

5824 092523 G CONF 09/25/2023 150.00 60-33-5420

5824 092523 G MAIN BREAK CREW 09/25/2023 75.86 60-33-5420

5824 092523 G LED WORKLIGHT 09/25/2023 315.99 60-33-5630

          Total US BANK: 7,383.63

USA BLUEBOOK

149702 W LAB SUPPLIES 09/29/2023 501.75 60-33-5630

154552 W LAB SUPPLIES 10/05/2023 155.42 60-33-5630

          Total USA BLUEBOOK: 657.17

WATER PRODUCTS COMPANY-AURORA

0318738-9/29/ NEW METER - DAVEY TREE 10/02/2023 1,201.96 60-33-5934

          Total WATER PRODUCTS COMPANY-AURORA: 1,201.96

WOLF DRIVING SCHOOL

100523 CDL COURSE - SPENCER NYST 12/01/2022 1,580.00 01-31-5430

100523 CDL COURSE - SPENCER NYST 12/01/2022 1,580.00 60-33-5430

          Total WOLF DRIVING SCHOOL: 3,160.00

          Grand Totals:  170,735.26

Report Criteria:

Detail report.

Invoices with totals above $0.00 included.

Paid and unpaid invoices included.



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 

From:  Phil Cotter, Director of Public Works 
     

Subject: Engineering Services Agreement – Water Service Material Inventory 
 

Date:   October 16, 2023 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff recommends Village Board approval of a resolution authorizing the Village Administrator 
to execute an engineering services agreement with Baxter & Woodman Consulting Engineers to 
develop a Water Service Line Material Inventory in an amount not-to-exceed $39,968.            
 
Funding Source: 
Water and Sewer operating funds in SY 2023 and FY 2024 will be used for this project. 
Expenditures associated with this project will be offset by grant funds as summarized below.   
 
Summary: 
On January 1, 2022, the Illinois Lead Service Replacement and Notification Act (415 ILCS 
5/17.12) went into effect that is designed to require the replacement of all lead service lines 
(LSL) in the state of Illinois. The Act requires that all Community Water Systems (CWS), 
regardless of size, assess all water service lines served by each CWS. If lead or galvanized steel 
pipe is suspected or identified as a part of a water service line’s material type, CWS’s must 
comply with documentation, planning and replacement requirements. The Act contains a series 
of compliance deadlines requiring submittals to the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency 
(IEPA) and notifications to the Illinois Department of Public Health (IDPH) as follows:  

1. April 15, 2023 
a. Develop a draft Water Service Material Inventory - completed by Public Works 

staff and submitted to the IEPA in April 2023 
2. April 15, 2024 

a. Complete a Water Service Material Inventory  
i. Update annually through April 15, 2027  

ii. The IEPA has informed the Village that it is allocating $40,000 in grant 
funds for the development of this inventory.       

b. Develop a draft Lead Service Line Replacement Plan  
3. April 15, 2025 and April 15, 2026 



   
 

a. Submit updates to the Service Line Material Inventory and draft Lead Service Line 
Replacement Plan. 

4. April 15, 2027 
a. Submit update to the Service Line Material Inventory and final Lead Service Line 

Replacement Plan.  
5. After April 15, 2027, replace lead service lines in accordance with LSL Replacement Plan 

at the designated replacement rate (projected to be 7% annually).         
 
Earlier this year, the Village applied for and was approved to receive $40,000 in grant funds 
through the IEPA’s Lead Service Line Inventory Grant Program to develop the final Water 
Service Material Inventory (reference item 2.a. above). Public Works staff submitted a draft 
Water Service Material Inventory to the IEPA in April 2023. One of the conditions of this 
Program requires that grant recipients must contract the development of the final inventory to 
a third party (i.e., consultant). Accordingly, Baxter & Woodman Consulting Engineers submitted 
a proposal to develop the final Water Service Material Inventory and therefore staff 
recommends approval of such agreement in the amount not-to-exceed $39,968.  

Attachments: 
Resolution  
Proposal from Baxter & Woodman Consulting Engineers  
IEPA Grant Notice of Award 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 424186_2 1 

RESOLUTION NUMBER _____-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE,  
COOK AND KANE COUNTIES, ILLINOIS,  

AUTHORIZING THE VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER INTO AN 
ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH BAXTER & WOODMAN 

CONSULTING ENGINEERS FOR A LEAD SERVICE LINE INVENTORY IN AN 
AMOUNT NOT-TO-EXCEED $39,968 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee (“Village”) is a home rule unit of local 
government pursuant to Section 6 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 
and has the authority to exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 
government and affairs; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Village maintains and improves its water distribution system; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village desires to remove all lead and galvanized water services 

from its water distribution system; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village is required by the Illinois Lead Service Replacement and 

Notification Act (Public Act 102-0613) to develop an inventory of all lead water service 
lines and galvanized service lines in the Village; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village desires to retain Baxter & Woodman Consulting Engineers 
to conduct a Lead Service Line Inventory; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Village Staff recommends Village Board approval of a resolution 
authorizing the Village Administrator to enter into an agreement with Baxter & Woodman 
Consulting Engineers of Crystal Lake, Illinois to develop an inventory of all lead water 
service lines and galvanized water service lines in the Village in an amount not-to-exceed 
$39,968. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK AND KANE 
COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 SECTION 1: The Village’s corporate authorities approve a resolution authorizing 
the Village Administrator to enter into an agreement with Baxter & Woodman Consulting 
Engineers of Crystal Lake, Illinois to develop an inventory of all lead water service lines 
and galvanized water service lines in the Village in an amount not-to-exceed $39,968 and 
further authorize and direct the Village Administrator to execute the Agreement and for 
the Village Clerk to attest the Agreement. 
 
 
 
 



 424186_2 2 

 
 
 
 ADOPTED this 16th day of October, 2023, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:  
 
AYES:________________________________________________________________  
 
NAYES:_______________________________________________________________  
 
ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
     APPROVED by me this 16th day of October, 2023.  
   
 
     ________________________________________  
     Jeffrey J. Lynam, Village President  
 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
___________________________  
Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  
 
Published in pamphlet form this ___ day of _______, 2023, under the authority of the 
Village President and Board of Trustees.  
 
Recorded in the Village records on ____________________, 2023. 



 
September 11, 2023 

 

Mr. Phil Cotter 

Director of Public Works  

Village of East Dundee 

120 Barrington Avenue 

East Dundee, IL 60118 

 

Subject: Village of East Dundee – Lead Service Line Inventory  

  

New laws affect all Community Water Systems (CWS) regarding the identification, documentation, and 

handling of Lead Service Lines. With changing legal requirements set forth by state and federal authorities, 

it can be a significant challenge for any water utility to stay up-to-date with the latest information and 

how best to manage the operational, financial, and administrative impacts these can have. 

Most recently, the Illinois Lead Service Replacement and Notification Act (Act) was signed into law on 

January 1, 2022, which requires all Community Water Systems to perform the following major actions, 

some of which are subject to annual updates: 

1. Develop and maintain a Water Service Line Material Inventory; 

2. Develop and implement a Lead Service Line Replacement Plan; 

3. Prepare public notification and education materials to meet the Act requirements; 

4. Conduct a full replacement of any and all Lead Service Lines from the CWS’s water main to 

customer’s meter if the service is impacted in any way as of January 1, 2022. 

Each portion of the Act is subject to various submittal requirements and timelines set by the Illinois 

Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA), Illinois Department of Public Health (IDPH), and the United 

States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). The next most immediate deadline the Village will need 

to meet is the completion of the Complete Water Service Line Material Inventory and draft Lead Service 

Line Replacement Plan which must be submitted to the State no later than April 15, 2024. 

Due to the potential for changing federal and state laws, the Tasks outlined below are based on the Illinois 

Lead Service Replacement and Notification Act that was signed into law on January 1, 2022. Any changes 

to the State and/or Federal laws may require an amendment to the tasks selected to provide revisions to 

the program. 

 

 



 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

PLEASE READ THESE STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS (“TERMS”) CAREFULLY BEFORE EXECUTING THE LETTER PROPOSAL PRESENTED BY BAXTER & 

WOODMAN, INC. (“BW”). BY EXECUTING THE LETTER PROPOSAL, OWNER AGREES TO BE BOUND BY THESE TERMS, THE PROVISIONS OF THE LETTER 

PROPOSAL, AND THE PROVISIONS OF ANY DOCUMENT REFERRING TO THESE TERMS OR THE LETTER PROPOSAL, ALL OF WHICH SHALL COLLECTIVELY 

CONSTITUTE THE “AGREEMENT”.  

Owner’s Responsibility – Provide BW with all criteria and full information for the “Project”, which is generally otherwise identified in the Letter Proposal.  BW 

will rely, without liability, on the accuracy and completeness of all information provided by the Owner (as defined in the Letter Proposal) including its 

consultants, contractors, specialty contractors, subcontractors, manufacturers, suppliers and publishers of technical standards (“Owner Affiliates”) without 

independently verifying that information.  The Owner represents and warrants that all known hazardous materials on or beneath the site have been identified 

to BW.  BW and their consultants shall have no responsibility for the discovery, presence, handling, removal or disposal of, or exposure of persons to, unidentified 

or undisclosed hazardous materials unless this service is set forth in the Letter Proposal. 

Schedule for Rendering Services - The agreed upon services shall be completed within a reasonable amount of time.  If BW is hindered, delayed or prevented 

from performing the services as a result of any act or neglect of the Owner, any Owner Affiliate, or force majeure event, BW’s work shall be extended and the 

rates and amounts of BW’s compensation shall be equitably adjusted in a written instrument executed by all Parties.    

Invoices and Payments - The fees to perform the proposed scope of services constitutes BW’s estimate to perform the agreed upon scope of services.  

Circumstances may dictate a change in scope, and if this occurs, an equitable adjustment in compensation and time shall be agreed upon by all Parties by written 

agreement.  No service for which added compensation will be charged will be provided without first obtaining written authorization from the Owner.  BW 

invoices shall be due and owing by Owner in accordance with the terms and provisions of the State of Illinois Local Government Prompt Payment Act (50 ILCS 

505/1 et seq.). 

Opinion of Probable Construction Costs - BW’s opinion of probable construction costs represents its reasonable judgment as a professional engineer. Owner 

acknowledges that BW has no control over construction costs or contractor’s methods of determining prices, or over competitive bidding, or market conditions. 

BW cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual construction costs will not vary from BW’s opinion of probable construction costs. 

Standards of Performance  – (1) The standard of care for all services performed or furnished by BW will be the same care and skill ordinarily used by 

professionals practicing under similar circumstances, at the same time and in the same locality on similar projects.  BW makes no warranties, express or implied, 

in connection with its services; (2) BW shall be responsible for the technical accuracy of its services and documents; (3) BW shall use reasonable care to comply 

with applicable laws, regulations, and Owner-mandated standards; (4) BW may employ such sub-consultants as BW deems necessary to assist in the 

performance or furnishing of the services, subject to reasonable, timely, and substantive objection by Owner; (5) BW shall not supervise, direct, control, or have 

authority over any contractors’ work, nor have authority over or be responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction 

selected or used by any contractor, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, for security or safety at the site, nor for any failure of any contractor 

to comply with laws and regulations applicable to such contractor’s furnishing and performing of its work; (6) BW neither guarantees the performance of any 

contractor nor assumes responsibility for any contractor’s failure to furnish and perform the work in accordance with the contract documents; (7) BW is not 

acting as a municipal advisor as defined by the Dodd-Frank Act.  BW shall not provide advice or have any responsibility for municipal financial products or 

securities;  (8) BW is not responsible for the acts or omissions of any contractor, subcontractor, or supplier, or any of their agents or employees or any other 

person at the site or otherwise furnishing or performing any work; (9) Shop drawing and submittal review by BW shall apply only to the items in the submissions 

and only for the purpose of assessing if, upon installation or incorporation in the Project work, they are generally consistent with the contract documents.  

Owner agrees that the contractor is solely responsible for the submissions (regardless of the format in which provided, i.e. hard copy or electronic transmission) 

and for compliance with the construction documents.  Owner further agrees that BW’s review and action in relation to these submissions shall not constitute 

the provision of means, methods, techniques, sequencing or procedures of construction or extend to safety programs or precautions.  BW’s consideration of a 

component does not constitute acceptance of the assembled item; (10) BW’s site observation during construction shall be at the times agreed upon in the Project 

scope.  Through standard, reasonable means, BW will become generally familiar with observable completed work.  If BW observes completed work that is 

inconsistent with the construction documents, information shall be communicated to the contractor and Owner for them to address.   

Insurance - BW will maintain insurance coverage with the following limits and Certificates of Insurance will be provided to the Owner upon written request: 

Worker’s Compensation:   Statutory Limits         Excess Umbrella Liability:        $10 million per claim and aggregate                                                                    

General Liability:                  $1 million per claim                         Professional Liability:           $5 million per claim                                                                                                                              

 $2 million aggregate                                                                             $5 million aggregate                                                                                          

Automobile Liability:         $1 million combined single limit 

In no event will BW’s collective aggregate liability under or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter, based on any legal or equitable theory of 

liability, including breach of contract, tort (including negligence), strict liability and otherwise, exceed the contract sum to be paid to BW’s  under this Agreement.  

Any claim against BW arising out of this Agreement may be asserted by the Owner, but only against the entity and not against BW’s directors, officers, 

shareholders or employees, none of whom shall bear any liability and may not be subject to any claim. 



 

Indemnification and Mutual Waiver – (1) To the fullest extent permitted by law, BW shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner and its officers and 

employees from claims, costs, losses, and damages (“Losses”) arising out of or relating to the Project, provided that such Losses are attributable to bodily injury, 

sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property, including the loss of use resulting therefrom, but only to the extent caused by any 

grossly negligent act or omission of BW; (2) To the fullest extent permitted by law, Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless BW and its officers, directors, 

employees, agents and consultants from and against any and all Losses (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and 

other professionals, and all court, arbitration, or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the Project provided that any such Losses are 

attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property, including the loss of use resulting therefrom, but only 

to the extent arising out of or occurring in connection with the Owner’s, or Owner’s officers, directors, employees, consultants, agents, or others retained by or 

under contract to the Owner, negligent act or omission, willful misconduct, or breach of this Agreement; (3) To the fullest extent permitted by law, Owner and 

BW waive against each other, and the other’s employees, officers, directors, insurers, and consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to special, incidental, 

indirect, enhanced, punitive, or consequential damages, in each case regardless of whether such party was advised of the possibility of such losses or damages 

or such losses or damages were otherwise foreseeable, and notwithstanding the failure of any agreed or other remedy of its essential purpose; (4) In the event 

Losses or expenses are caused by the joint or concurrent fault of the BW and Owner, they shall be borne by each party in proportion to its respective fault, as 

determined by a mediator or court of competent jurisdiction; (5) The Owner acknowledges that BW is a business corporation and not a professional service 

corporation, and further acknowledges that the corporate entity, as the party to this contract, expressly avoids contracting for individual responsibility of its 

officers, directors, or employees.  The Owner and BW agree that any claim made by either party arising out of any act of the other party, or any officer, director, 

or employee of the other party in the execution or performance of the Agreement, shall be made solely against the other party and not individually or jointly 

against such officer, director, or employees. 

Termination - Either party may terminate this Agreement upon ten (10) business days’ written notice to the other party in the event of failure by the other 

party to comply with the terms of the Agreement through no fault of the terminating party. A condition precedent to termination shall be conformance with the 

Dispute Resolution terms below.  If this Agreement is terminated, Owner shall receive reproducible copies of drawings, developed applications and other 

completed documents upon written request. Owner shall be liable, and shall promptly pay BW, for all services and reimbursable expenses rendered through 

the effective date of suspension/termination of services. 

Use of Documents – All BW documents (data, calculations, reports, Drawings, Specifications, Record Drawings and other deliverables, whether in printed form 

or electronic media format, provided by BW to Owner pursuant to this Agreement) are instruments of service and BW retains ownership and property interest 

therein (including copyright and right of reuse).  Owner shall not rely on such documents unless in printed form, signed or sealed by BW or its consultant.  

Electronic format of BW’s design documents may differ from the printed version and BW bears no liability for errors, omissions or discrepancies.  Reuse of BW’s 

design documents is prohibited and Owner shall defend and indemnify BW from all claims, damages, losses and expenses, including attorney’s fees, 

consultant/expert fees, and costs arising out of or resulting from said reuse. Project documents will be kept for time periods set forth in BW’s document retention 

policy after Project closeout. 

Successors, Assigns, and Beneficiaries – Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create, impose, or give rise to any duty owed by Owner or BW to any 

third party, including any lender, contractor, subcontractor, supplier, manufacturer, other  individual, entity or public body, or to any surety for or employee of 

any of them.  All duties and responsibilities undertaken pursuant to this Agreement are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Owner and BW and not for the 

benefit (intended, unintended, direct or indirect) of any other entity or person. 

Dispute Resolution - All disputes between the Parties shall first be negotiated between executives who have authority to settle the dispute for a period of thirty 

(30) days.  If unresolved, disputes shall be then submitted to mediation as a condition precedent to litigation. The mediation session shall be held within forty-

five (45) days of the retention of the mediator, and last for at least one (1) full mediation day, before any party has the option to withdraw from the process. If 

mediation is unsuccessful in resolving a Dispute, then the parties may seek to have the Dispute resolved by a court of competent jurisdiction.  

Miscellaneous Provisions – (1) This Agreement is to be governed by the law of the state or jurisdiction in which the project is located; (2) all notices must be 

in writing and shall be deemed effectively served upon the other party when sent by certified mail, return receipt requested; (3) all express representations, 

waivers, indemnifications, and limitations of liability included in this Agreement will survive its completion and/or termination for any reason; (4) any provision 

or part of the Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any laws or regulations shall  be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue 

to be valid and binding upon the Owner and BW, which agree that the Agreement shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a 

valid and enforceable provision that expresses the intention of the stricken provision; (5) a party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a 

waiver of the provision, nor shall if affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Agreement; (6)  to the fullest extent permitted by law, 

all causes of action arising under this Agreement shall be deemed to have accrued, and all statutory periods of limitation shall commence, no later than the date 

of substantial completion, which is the point where the Project can be utilized for the purposes for which it was intended; (7) this Agreement, together with any 

other documents incorporated herein by reference, constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement 

and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject 

matter; (8) no amendment to or modification of this Agreement is effective unless it is in writing and signed by each party. 



 

Mr. Phil Cotter September 11, 2023 
Village of East Dundee 2325109.00  Page 2 
 

Scope of Services 

 

TASK 1 – WATER SERVICE LINE MATERIAL INVENTORY DEVELOPMENT AND ASSISTANCE 

Under the Act, all utilities are required to submit an Initial and a Completed Water Service Line Material 

Inventory by April 15, 2023, and April 15, 2024, respectively. The intent of the Initial Inventory was to 

review the water utility’s existing information to populate the known and confirmed service material types 

and account for the number of potential unknowns. By the completed inventory, any remaining unknown 

service lines will be considered as lead and be subjected to the same requirements of a Lead Service Line 

until they are either replaced or identified to be non-lead. 

Baxter & Woodman will assist the Village with identifying each water service line material using a multi-

phased approach. Baxter & Woodman’s assistance will include the following: 

PHASE 1 – EXISTING WATER SERVICE INFORMATION EVALUATION: 

 

1. Conduct up to three (3) meetings to review the Act’s requirements; discuss any existing information 

available with key Village staff; and review the final water service line material inventory. 

a. Baxter & Woodman will educate the utility’s staff on the required and recommended data 

for an Inventory dataset file or equivalent. Baxter & Woodman will ensure understanding 

of how to use the dataset, proposed data fields, and the associated submittal timelines. 

 

b. Existing information related to services must be provided to Baxter & Woodman in an Esri 

compatible format, such as Excel, .CSV, .gdb, etc. Any work required to review or scan and 

digitize physical copies of information may require an amendment to this Task. 

 

2. Develop and maintain a comprehensive authoritative Water Service Line Material Inventory dataset 

utilizing ArcGIS Tools. The dataset will include capture the following information (when available): 

a. Illinois State-required Water Service Line Material Inventory information: 

1) Unique Location identifier (i.e., parcel number, account number, address, etc.) 

2) Customer-owned (Private side) material classification 

3) Public Water Utility-owned (Public side) material classification 

4) Entire service material classification (i.e., lead vs. non-lead) 

b. Illinois State-required Lead Service Line Replacement Plan information: 

1) Sensitive/High-Risk Population (i.e., preschools, daycares, hospitals, etc.) 

c. Additional recommended information to be collected, if available/feasible: 

1) Service line diameter size 

2) Installation Year 

 



 

Mr. Phil Cotter September 11, 2023 
Village of East Dundee 2325109.00  Page 3 
 

3) Method of material confirmation for both the Private and Public side (i.e., visual inspection, 

historical records, etc.) 

4) Water meter model/type 

5) Photo of the service line installation 

6) General notes related to the condition of the service and surrounding space. 

 

3. Integrate any existing compatible digital information provided by the Village into the Water Service 

Line Material Inventory dataset to serve as the Village’s authoritative Water Service Line Material 

Inventory. When reviewing existing records, Baxter & Woodman will make every effort to transcribe 

the following:  

a. Address 

b. Installation year 

c. Service size (if available)  

d. Material classification   

 

This dataset will track all necessary data fields and attributes related to a water service line in order 

to meet the Water Service Line Material Inventory submittals, which must be provided to the State 

no later than April 15, 2023. 

 

4. Identify outstanding area locations where water service line material classification is unknown or 

information is unable to be verified. These identified unknowns will be included as a part of Phase 2.  

 

PHASE 2 – MATERIAL INFORMATION SURVEY AND DATA COLLECTION: 

1. Develop a Water Service Material Information Request Letter for outstanding unknown material 

service lines for Village review and utilization. A final copy of the letter will be mailed by the Village to 

the customer addresses tied to the unknown material service lines.  

 

2. Design a Web-based Esri Field Application that can be utilized to survey residents using 

cellular/wireless enabled smart devices or desktop computers. The Application will be publicly 

accessible and will allow residents to directly submit basic information related to their private-side 

water service line. The purpose of this Application is to collect information in an effort to reduce in-

home inspections by Village personnel and the total number of remaining unknown material 

classifications.  

 

3. Flag and mark for review and identification the submissions of private-side water services by non-

Village. Baxter & Woodman will monitor the status of submissions and the data content, and will 

integrate collected data into the Water Service Line dataset upon data verification by Baxter & 

Woodman weekly.    



 

Mr. Phil Cotter September 11, 2023 
Village of East Dundee 2325109.00  Page 4 
 

The information collected during this effort will be provided in a database to the Village for inclusion 

into the Village’s existing GIS (if available) on a monthly basis. Submissions that cannot be confirmed 

through Baxter & Woodman’s review process, will be provided back to the Village and documented 

by Baxter & Woodman as unknown or unable to be verified.  

 

4. Develop a follow-up Water Service Material Information Request for unresponsive locations to be 

mailed by the Village to nonresponsive customer addresses tied to unknown material service lines.  

 

5. Configure an additional Web-based Esri Field Application that can be utilized by Village personnel or 

Village-approved contractors on cellular/wireless enabled smart devices or desktop computers. This 

Application will allow users to inspect, collect, verify, and directly submit information related to the 

resident’s public-side or private-side water service line to the Water Service Line Material Inventory 

dataset. 

 

Baxter & Woodman will manage and maintain all Web-based Esri Field Application(s) for use by residents 

and/or Village personnel until April 15, 2024.  

 

PHASE 3 of the Water Service Material Identification Program (not included under this scope and) will 

address the remaining unknown water service materials not identified as a part of Phase 1 and 2. 

Additional follow-ups to residents and home inspections will be used to finalize the remaining unknowns. 

This level of effort will depend on remaining unknowns and an amendment to this proposal can be provided 

at that time. 

 

TASK 2 – MATERIAL INVENTORY WEB MAP 

Baxter & Woodman will create a public facing water service web map utilizing industry standard Esri 

Technology. This map will allow the public to view the material classification of water service lines for 

both the Public and Private side of the service. This map also enables the Village to refer its customers to 

the webpage to review whether or not there is a Lead Service Line, as well as encouraging its residents to 

assist in providing information to the Village to mitigate the total number of unknown material services. 

 

1. Village Requirements: 

a. Existing Water Service Line Material Inventory database (file geodatabase or shapefile): 

1) At a minimum, the data must include GPS coordinates, County parcel number, or customer 

address. 

2) Differentiation of Water Service Material Classification between Public and Private Side. 

 

 

 



 

Mr. Phil Cotter September 11, 2023 
Village of East Dundee 2325109.00  Page 5 
 

2. Material Inventory Web-Based Map 

a. Maintain and manage the utility’s GIS data with a public-facing map overlay to produce an 

interactive web-based interface portal that will allow the Village and its customers to interact with 

the hosted data. 

b. Compile all of the relevant data to be shown on the web map, specifically: 

1) Customer’s Address 

2) Public-side Material 

3) Private-side Material 

c. Maintain the public-facing water service inventory web map for the Village’s use for a period of 

up to two years from the signed date of this contract.  This maintenance includes up to 30 hours 

of data and web map management while the service material attributes are actively being 

collected and verified.  

 

At the end of the two-year period, the content will no longer be actively managed by Baxter & Woodman 

under this contract.  The completed inventory data and web map may be transferred over to the Village to 

maintain if they have an active Esri ArcGIS Online Organization account at that time or an amendment or 

new agreement for Baxter & Woodman will be necessary if the Village would like Baxter & Woodman to 

continue maintaining the inventory data and web map. 

 

TASK 3 – PUBLIC EDUCATION AND NOTIFICATION STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT 

As a part of the Act, the Village is required to provide notification and educational content to its customers 

who may be affected by Lead Service Lines. The following scope items are designed to meet these 

requirements and assist the Village in navigating the various scheduling and documentation requirements 

as a part of this effort. 

 

1. Conduct one (1) virtual meeting with key staff during the preparation and development of the public 

education and notification strategy. The meeting will include a review of the State and Federal 

information and notification requirements, as well as a review of the planned strategy to engage with 

the water utility’s customers. 

 

2. Assist the Village in preparing public education content that informs its customers regarding the Lead 

Service Line Replacement Program and meets all of the minimum State and Federal requirements. 

The content will include the following items: 

a. Lead Service Inventory Program Brochure/Cutsheet (PDF). 

b. Frequently Asked Questions about Lead Document or Website Content (PDF/Word). 

c. Information Graphics for Water Service Line Locations and Ownership (PNG). 

d. Reference content for Village webpage, including required Federal and State information, 

recommended language, wording, and reference websites.  



 

Mr. Phil Cotter September 11, 2023 
Village of East Dundee 2325109.00  Page 6 
 

e. Lead Service Line Video: 

1) Is Your Water Service Lead – How Do I Check for Lead (show Magnet & Scratch Test) (3:40 

duration).  

3. The Village is required to issue a series of public notifications associated with inventory and 

construction efforts. Assist the Village in developing the public notification templates and meeting 

requirements associated with the Act. 

 

The scope of work outlined under this Task assumes that the Village will be responsible for the print, 

postage, and delivery of any notifications issued to its customers.  

 

REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS FOR IEPA INVENTORY GRANT 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

LOBBYING 

 

8.1.  Improper Influence. Grantee certifies that it will not use and has not used Grant Funds to influence 

or attempt to influence an officer or employee of any government agency or a member or employee of 

the State of Federal Legislature in connection with the awarding of any agreement, the making of any 

grant, the making of any loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, or the extension, 

continuation, renewal, amendment or modification of any agreement, grant, loan or cooperative 

agreement. Additionally, Grantee certifies that is has filed the required certification under the Byrd Anti-

Lobbying Amendment (31 USC 1352), if applicable.  

 

8.2 Federal Form LLL. If any federal funds, other than federally-appropriated funds, were paid or will 

be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence any of the above persons in connection 

with this Agreement, the undersigned must also complete and submit Federal Form LLL, Disclosure of 

Lobbying Activities Form, in accordance with its instructions.  

 

8.3 Lobbying Costs. Grantee certifies that it is in compliance with the restrictions on lobbying set forth 

in 2 CFR 200.450. For any Indirect Costs associated with this Agreement, total lobbying costs must be 

separately identified in the Program Budget, and thereafter treated as other Unallowable Costs.  

 

8.4 Procurement Lobbying. Grantee warrants and certifies that it and, to the best of its knowledge, 

its subrecipients have complied and will comply with Illinois Executive Order No. 1 (2007) (EO 1-2007). EO 

1-2007 generally prohibits grantees and subcontractors from hiring the then-serving Governor’s family 

members to lobby procurement activities of the State, or any other unit of government in Illinois including 

local governments, if that procurement may result in a contract valued at over $25,000. This prohibition 

also applies to hiring for that same purpose any former State employee who had procurement authority 

at any time during the one-year period preceding the procurement lobbying activity.  



 

Mr. Phil Cotter September 11, 2023 
Village of East Dundee 2325109.00  Page 7 
 

8.5 Subawards. Grantee must include the language of this ARTICLE in the award documents for any 

subawards made pursuant to this Award at all tiers. All subrecipients are also subject to certification and 

disclosure. Pursuant to Appendix II(I) to 2 CFR Part 200, Grantee must forward all disclosures by 

contractors regarding this certification to Grantor.  

 

8.6 Certification. This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 

to enter into this transaction and is a prerequisite for this transaction, pursuant to 31 USC 1352. Any 

person who fails to file the required certifications will be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000, 

and not more than $100,000, for each such failure.  

 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES NOT INCLUDED 

• Gathering and compiling of existing Village records 

• Water Service Material Inventory Submittal (April 15, 2024) 

• Lead Service Line Replacement Plan Submittal (April 15, 2024) 

• Printing and sending of Educational Content and Notification Letters 

 

FEE SUMMARY 

 

Project Phase Task Hours Task Fee 

Task 1 12 $2,398 

Task 2 149 $23,595 

Task 3 41 $6,125 

Task 4 50 $7,850 

Totals 252 $39,968 

 

Engineering Fee 

The Village shall pay the Engineer for the above stated scope of services, based upon the Engineer’s 

standard hourly billing rates for actual work time performed plus reimbursement for out-of-pocket 

expenses including travel, which in total will not exceed $40,000.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Mr. Phil Cotter September 11, 2023 
Village of East Dundee 2325109.00  Page 8 
 

The attached Standard Terms and Conditions apply to this Proposal. If you find this Proposal acceptable, 

please sign and return one copy for our files. If you have any questions or need additional information, 

please do not hesitate to contact me at 815.444.3230 or cgrieves@baxterwoodman.com.  

 

Sincerely, 

BAXTER & WOODMAN, INC. 

CONSULTING ENGINEERS 

 

 

 

Carolyn A. Grieves, PE 

Vice President                      

 

     VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, IL 

 

AUTHORIZED BY:_______________________________________ 

 

TITLE:______________________________________ 

 

DATE:______________________________________ 
 
 
 
\\corp.baxwood.com\project\Azure\EDUNV\2325109-LSL Program Assistan\Contracts\Work\2325109.00_Proposal_LSL_Inventory.docx 

mailto:cgrieves@baxterwoodman.com


STATE OF ILLINOIS GRANT INFORMATION

State Award Identification Name of State Agency (Grantor): Environmental Protection
Department/Organziation Unit: BOW/Infrastructure Financial Assistance Section

State Award ID Number (SAIN) 3017-40774

State Program Description Lead Service Line Inventory Grants assist low income and disadvantaged communities in
developing a Complete Lead Service Line Inventory, meeting the requirements of Section 17.12
Lead Service Line Replacement and Notification Act (LSLRNA) (415 ILCS 5/17.12).

Announcment Type Initial

Agency (Grantor) Contact Information Name: Lanina Clark
Phone: 217-782-2027
Email: Lanina.clark@illinois.gov

GRANTEE INFORMATION

Grantee / Subrecipient Information Name: Village of East Dundee
Address: 120 Barrington Avenue, East Dundee, IL 60118
Phone:
Email:

Grantee Identification GATA: 687599      UEI: L9J3PGSU62Z1      FEIN: 366005871

Period of Performance Start Date: 7/1/2023      End Date: 4/15/2024

FUNDING INFORMATION

FUND CSFA CFDA AMOUNT

0270 532-60-3017 N/A $40,000.00

Local N/A N/A $5,000.00

TOTAL $45,000.00

(M) Currently used by State of Illinois for "Match" or "Maintenance of Effort" (MOE) requirements on Federal Funding. Funding is subject to
Federal Requirements and may not be used by Grantee for other match requirements on other awards.

Illinois Grant Accountability and Transparency
Notice of State Award Page 1 of 706/23/23



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 

From:  Franco Bottalico, Assistant to the Village Administrator 
  Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
   

Subject: Preliminary PUD and Rezoning Approval for Terra Business Park Phase II 
 

Date:   October 16, 2023 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
Action Requested:   
The Planning and Zoning & Historic Commission (“PZHC”) and staff recommend Village Board 
approval of an ordinance approving a preliminary planned unit development plan and rezoning 
for Pal Land, LLC and Pal Land II, LLC located in the M1, R1, and B3 Zoning Districts in East 
Dundee, IL (Terra Business Park Phase II). 
 
Background and Summary: 
This item was tabled at the request of the applicant at the August 7, 2023 Village Board 
meeting, and again by the Village Board at the September 18, 2023 meeting. The Village and 
the applicant have now come to agreeable terms for the approval of this matter. 
 
The Village received an application for a planned unit development (“PUD”) by Pal Land, LLC 
and Pal Land II, LLC along with their attorney, Peter Bazos (“Applicant”).  The proposed new 
PUD is comprised of five lots on 33 acres along the northeast corner of their property and 
referred to as Terra Business Park Phase II (“PUD 2”). According to the Applicant, in 2007, the 
Applicant had 119 acres of approximately 150 acres approved as Terra Business Park PUD under 
ordinance 07-51 which was then amended in 2008 under ordinance 08-74. Since then, the 
Applicant acquired another 281 acres totaling 400 acres of property.  Of the newly acquired 281 
acres, the Applicant is now submitting an application to create PUD 2 within 33 acres of those 
281 acres.  Staff has attached maps for reference and a better understanding of the site.  
 
According to Section 157.243 of the East Dundee Zoning Ordinance, the procedures for 
establishing a PUD are as follows: 
 

(A)   (1)   Pre-application conference. Introductory meeting held with village staff 
as set forth in § 157.244 of this chapter. 
      (2)   Concept PUD plan review. An informal review of overall concept 
conducted by the Village Board to provide constructive feedback to petitioner of 
plan as set forth in § 157.245 of this chapter. 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-25578#JD_157.244
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-25651#JD_157.245


      (3)   Preliminary PUD plat. First, a technical review of detailed plans by 
various village departments is held; a public hearing is then conducted by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission; and final determination is made by the Village 
Board, as set forth in § 157.246 of this chapter. 
      (4)   Final PUD plat. First, a review by village staff to determine that the final 
plat substantially conforms to the approved preliminary plat and thereafter final 
determination made by the Village Board, as set forth in § 157.247 of this 
chapter. 

 
The Applicant is currently in stage 157.243(A)(3), Preliminary PUD plat,  as noted above. 
 
Analysis and Staff Recommendations: 
Staff has asked the Village Engineer to review the submission of the proposed variances in the 
application and compare it to the existing requirements within the Village Code, and how it 
compares to the permissions already granted in the Applicant’s existing PUD from 2007. The 
Village Engineer’s memo is included in the packet for the Board to review.  The table below 
includes Staff’s recommendations and the PZHC’s recommendation for the Board to consider 
when going through each requested proposal. Staff notes the following to consider: 
 

A.) Regarding Row 9, Staff recommends a 40’ setback due to staff recommending a 66’ 
Street ROW in row 35. 

B.) Regarding Row 15, Staff spoke with Applicant via email, and the Applicant will modify 
the request to also include the manufacturing district’s signage as the business district's 
signage is more strict. 

C.) Regarding Row 28, Applicant is proposing larger islands to compensate for the reduce 
number.  A typical 7' island is around 120 Sq. Ft. 

D.) Regarding Row 31, the Applicant noted this is for a future plan and doesn’t have an 
immediate need for this.  Staff recommends the Applicant return to the PZHC with a 
PUD 2 amendment once Staff can review what the intent is to store on site. 

E.) Regarding Row 34, Staff recommends a sidewalk on one side of the road for accessibility 
purposes. 

 

1 

Principal Structure 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

2 Front Yard 157.066(A)(6)(a) 40.0' 40.0' 

3 

Side Yard Front a Street 157.066(A)(6)(b) 40.0' 25.0' 

4 Side Yard 157.066(A)(6)(b) 25.0' 20.0' 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-25769#JD_157.246
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-25773#JD_157.247


5 Rear Yard 157.066(A)(6)(c)  40.0' 40.0' 

6 

Building Height 157.066(A)(5) 35' Max 35' plus the height of 
any parapet wall 
required by the Village 
(or, if not required by 
the Village but 
proposed by the 
developer, then 
limited to not more 
than 6 feet) to screen 
rooftop equipment 

7 

        
 
 
  

8 

Parking Setback 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

9 

Front Yard Parking 
Setback 

157.148 40.0' 30.0' 

10 

Side Yard fronting a 
street Parking Setback 

157.148 40.0' 25.0' 

11 Side Yard 157.148 0.0' 10.0' 

12 Rear Yard 157.148 0.0' 10.0' 

13         

14 

Signage Requirements Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

15 

Business District 
Signage standards to 
apply to all lots. 

     Yes 

16 

Free standing signs to 
follow Village 
Ordinance 06-46 

     Yes 

17 

Free standing sign 
setback 

156.04(C)(2)(b)(3) 15.0' 0.0' 

18         

19 

Landscape 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

20 

Required Open Space 158.04(B) 15% 10% 

21 

Front Yard Parking 
Screening with Shrubs 

158.04(D)(2)(a)2.b 75% 85% 



22 

Front Yard Parking 
Screening with Trees 

158.04(D)(2)(a)2.a 30' 
Spacing 

30' Spacing 

23 

Side/Rear Parking 
Screening with Shrubs 

158.04(D)(2)(b)4.b 50% 50% 

24 

Side/Rear Parking 
Screening with Trees 

158.04(D)(2)(b)4.b 40' 
Spacing 

40' Spacing 

25 
Parking Islands 158.04(D)(2)(d)2.b 1 per 10 

Stalls 
1 per 18 Stalls 

26 

Truck Parking Islands 158.04(D)(2)(d)2.b 1 per 10 
Stalls 

None 

27 

Parking Island adjacent 
to Truck Parking 

158.04(D)(2)(d)2.b Required None  

28 Island Size 158.04(D)(2)(d)2.b 7' Wide 400 SF 

29 

Foundation Area 
Landscaping 

158.04(D)(2)(c) 5' Min. 
Width 

Front Only 

30 

Trash Enclosure 158.04(E)(1)(a) Masonry 
Wall 

Masonry Wall or Faux 
Masonry Wall 
approved by the 
Village Inspector 

31 

Outside Storage 
Facilities (not including 
parking areas) 

158.04(E)(1)(d) Solid 
Wall or 
Fence 

Wall or Fence 

32         

33 

Subdivision 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

34 

Sidewalk 155.048 Optional 
in M-1 

8’ Concrete Multi-use 
path on one side of 
road in the R.O.W. or 
Easement 

35 Street ROW 155.045(D) 80' 66' 

 
 
At its July 6, 2023 public hearing, the PZHC made a motion to approve the findings of fact and 
the preliminary PUD application incorporating staff’s recommendations.   
 
In addition to the above table’s recommendations, at the July 6, 2023 public hearing, the 
Applicant also requested the below items.  Staff makes its recommendations to the Board 
below: 
 



 Principal 
Structure 
Requirements 

Code 
Reference 

Required  Permitted 
PUD 1 

Proposed PUD 2 Staff 
Recommends 

36. Retracted by 
applicant 

     

37  157.052 
157.053 
157.054 
157.066 

M-1 Zoning 
District 

Same as 
Proposed 

Use departures to allow 
all M1, B2, B3, and B4 
permitted and special 
uses plus gas station; 
retail; office; 
automotive, and 
warehouse; and motor 
truck terminal; and 
industrial manufacturing 
with onsite storage. 

Approved use 
departures to 
allow all M1, 
B2, B3, and B4 
permitted and 
special uses 
plus gas 
station; retail; 
office; 
automotive, 
and 
warehouse; 
and motor 
truck terminal; 
and industrial 
manufacturing 
with onsite 
storage. 

38  157.150(V) 1 space per 
maximum 
number of 
employees 
employed on the 
premises. 

No. Departure as to number 
of off-street required 
parking stall, Section 
157.150(V) to require 
one (1) automobile 
parking stall for each 
250 square feet of office 
(no departure) and one 
(1) automobile parking 
stall for each 6,000 
square feet of 
warehouse shop space, 
but on the condition 
that if the occupant has 
more employees than 
this formula determines, 
then the Village may 
require the owner to 
convert certain truck 
parking spaces into 
automobile spaces 

No. Staff 
Recommends 
adhere to 
existing 
parking 
ordinance due 
to this request 
too unknown 
for future 
tenants.  

39 Retracted by 
applicant 

      

40  N.A. N.A. No We have requested 
other departures that 
may not be enumerated 
but that are otherwise 
apparent from the PUD 
plan for Lot 1. 

No. Staff can 
only evaluate 
what was 
listed and 
detailed 



during the 
public hearing. 

 
 
Lastly, it is the desire of the Village to have the Applicant include a multi-use path connecting to 
Penny Road from both the west starting at Rt 25 and from the south starting at Rt 72. In larger 
scope, staff recommends the Village Board include a multi-use path along Penny Road in the 
Applicant’s final PUD submittal for the Board’s approval at a future Village Board meeting.  
 
Attachments: 
Ordinance with Exhibits 
Redacted Application 
Project Narrative from Applicant 
Map Exhibits 
Zoning Map Reference  
Daily Herald Certificate of Publication 



{00121287.3} 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 23-_____ 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING 
A PRELIMINARY PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND REZONING; 

FOR PAL LAND, LLC AND PAL LAND II, LLC LOCATED IN THE M1, R1, AND B3 ZONING 
DISTRICTS IN EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS 

(TERRA BUSINESS PARK PHASE II) 
  

WHEREAS, Pal Land, LLC and Pal Land II, LLC (collectively, “Owner”) is the owner of 
that certain real property consisting of approximately five lots on 33 acres, commonly known as 
Terra Business Park, and legally described on Exhibit A (collectively, the “Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is currently vacant and unimproved and located in the R1, B3, 

and M1 District of the Village; and  
 

WHEREAS, Owner proposes to develop the Property for additional truck parking, and 
related uses, and to create potential future retail use  (“Terra Business Park Phase II”); and  

WHEREAS, the Terra Business Park Phase II proposes a mixed-use development 
planned on a 33-acre parcel of land located near the Illinois Route 68 and Penny Road 
intersection; the Owner proposes M1 as the base zoning along with requested uses in the B2, B3 
and B4 zoning districts as permitted uses; and  

WHEREAS, the Owner desires to develop the Property under the Terra Business Park 
Phase II project similar to the existing Terra Business Park development to the south but is 
requesting significant departures from the Village Code of Ordinances (“Code”) the (“Proposed 
Development”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 157.246 of the Code, Owner has requested (i) approval 
of a preliminary planned unit development plan for the Property (“Preliminary PUD Plan”); (ii) 
conditional approval of certain modifications and variations from the Village’s Zoning Code as 
amended (“Zoning Ordinance”), within the planned unit development (“Zoning 
Modifications”); and (iii) conditional approval of a certain variations (“Variations”) from the 
City’s Code pertaining to structure requirements, parking setback requirements, signage 
requirements, landscape requirements and subdivision requirements (collectively referred to as 
the “Requested Relief”); and  
 

WHEREAS, a public hearing by the Planning Zoning and Historic Preservation 
Commission (“Commission”)  to consider the Requested Relief was duly published in the Daily 
Herald on June 21, 2023, was convened on July 6, 2023, during which hearing evidence and 
testimony was received by the Commission; and  
 

WHEREAS, on July 6, 2023, the Plan Commission adopted Findings of Fact as set forth 
and attached hereto and incorporated herewith as Exhibit B, recommending that the Village 
Board approve the Requested Relief; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Village Board has determined that, subject to and contingent upon, the 
conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Ordinance, the Preliminary PUD Plan complies with 
the required standards for planned developments as set forth in Section 157.246 of the Zoning 
Ordinance; and  

 



 

 2 

WHEREAS, consistent with the Commission recommendation, and pursuant to the Village 
Board of Trustees’ power under applicable law, including its home rule powers under the Illinois 
Constitution of 1970, the Village Board of Trustees has determined that it is in the best interest of 
the Village and the public to approve the Requested Relief, in accordance with, and subject to 
and contingent upon, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Ordinance;  

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK AND KANE COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: Recitals.  The recitals listed above are incorporated in this Ordinance as if 
fully set forth in this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2: Approval of Preliminary PUD Plan.  In accordance with Section 157.246 
of the Zoning Ordinance, and subject to, and contingent upon, the conditions, restrictions, and 
provisions set forth in this Ordinance, including specifically, but without limitation, Sections 3 and 
4 of this Ordinance, the Preliminary PUD Plan, which consist of: (i) the Project Narrative for Terra 
Business Park Phase II (33 acres)  and site plan prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group, LLC 
consisting of two sheets, with a latest revision date of May 17, 20231 (“Preliminary Site Plan”), 
attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit C, and (ii) the documents referred to collectively as the 
“Preliminary PUD Documents” and listed on Exhibit D attached to this Ordinance, is hereby 
approved. The Preliminary Site Plan, the Preliminary PUD Documents, Exhibit C and Exhibit D, 
are, by this reference, made a part of this Ordinance.    

SECTION 3: Conditional Approval of Zoning Modifications.  In accordance with 
Section 157.246 of the Zoning Ordinance, and subject to the conditions, restrictions, and 
provisions of this Ordinance, including specifically, but without limitation Sections 3, 4 and 5 of 
this Ordinance, the following Zoning Modifications, and none other, are hereby conditionally 
approved: 

1 

Principal 
Structure 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

2 Front Yard 157.066(A)(6)(a) 40.0' 40.0' 

3 
Side Yard 
Front a Street 

157.066(A)(6)(b) 40.0' 25.0' 

4 Side Yard 157.066(A)(6)(b) 25.0' 20.0' 
5 Rear Yard 157.066(A)(6)(c)  40.0' 40.0' 

6 

Building 
Height 

157.066(A)(5) 35' Max 35' plus the 
height of any 
parapet wall 
required by 
the Village 
(or, if not 
required by 
the Village but 
proposed by 

 
 



 

 3 

the developer, 
then limited to 
not more than 
6 feet) to 
screen rooftop 
equipment 

7 

        
 
 
  

8 

Parking 
Setback 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

9 

Front Yard 
Parking 
Setback 

157.148 40.0' 30.0' 

10 

Side Yard 
fronting a 
street Parking 
Setback 

157.148 40.0' 25.0' 

11 Side Yard 157.148 0.0' 10.0' 
12 Rear Yard 157.148 0.0' 10.0' 
13         

14 
Signage 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

15 

Business 
District 
Signage 
standards to 
apply to all 
lots. 

     Yes 

16 

Free standing 
signs to follow 
Village 
Ordinance 06-
46 

     Yes 

17 
Free standing 
sign setback 

156.04(C)(2)(b)(3) 15.0' 0.0' 

18         

19 
Landscape 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required  Approved 
Modifications 

20 
Required 
Open Space 

158.04(B) 15% 10% 

21 

Front Yard 
Parking 
Screening with 
Shrubs 

158.04(D)(2)(a)2.b 75% 85% 



4 

22 

Front Yard 
Parking 
Screening with 
Trees 

158.04(D)(2)(a)2.a 30' 
Spacing 

30' Spacing 

23 

Side/Rear 
Parking 
Screening with 
Shrubs 

158.04(D)(2)(b)4.b 50% 50% 

24 

Side/Rear 
Parking 
Screening with 
Trees 

158.04(D)(2)(b)4.b 40' 
Spacing 

40' Spacing 

25 
Parking 
Islands 

158.04(D)(2)(d)2.b 1 per 10 
Stalls 

1 per 18 Stalls 

26 
Truck Parking 
Islands 

158.04(D)(2)(d)2.b 1 per 10 
Stalls 

None 

27 

Parking Island 
adjacent to 
Truck Parking 

158.04(D)(2)(d)2.b Required None 

28 Island Size 158.04(D)(2)(d)2.b 7' Wide 400 SF 

29 

Foundation 
Area 
Landscaping 

158.04(D)(2)(c) 5' Min. 
Width 

Front Only 

30 

Trash 
Enclosure 

158.04(E)(1)(a) Masonry 
Wall 

Masonry Wall 
or Faux 
Masonry Wall 
approved by 
the Village 
Inspector 

31 

Outside 
Storage 
Facilities (not 
including 
parking areas) 

158.04(E)(1)(d) Solid 
Wall or 
Fence 

Wall or Fence 

32 

33 
Subdivision 
Requirements 

Code Reference Required Approved 
Modifications 

34 

Sidewalk 155.048 Optional 
in M-1 

8’ Concrete 
Multi-use path 
on one side of 
road in the 
R.O.W. or 
Easement 

35 Street ROW 155.045(D) 80' 66' 

36 
Retracted by 
applicant 

37 
Permitted and 
Special Uses 

Approved use 
departures to 



5 

allow all M1, 
B2, B3, and 
B4 permitted 
and special 
uses plus gas 
station; retail; 
office; 
automotive, 
and 
warehouse; 
and motor 
truck terminal; 
and industrial 
manufacturing 
with onsite 
storage. 

38 
157.150(V) 
parking stalls 

None 

39 
Retracted by 
applicant 

SECTION 4:  Conditions.  Notwithstanding any use or development right that may be 
applicable or available pursuant to the provisions of the Village Code, the Zoning Ordinance or 
any other rights the Owner may have, the approvals granted in Sections 2, 3 and 4 of this 
Ordinance are hereby expressly subject to and contingent upon the conditions, concepts, 
restrictions, limitations, and provisions set forth in this Section 4 (collectively, the "Conditions"). 

A. Submission of the Final PUD Plan. Within the applicable timeframe provided in
Section 157.254(A)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance, as modified as set forth in this Section 4.A, Owner 
must work diligently to do all work necessary to apply for and present to the Village a final planned 
unit development plan for the Property (“Final PUD Plan”), which must be in substantial 
conformance with the Preliminary PUD Plan, and otherwise comply with the provisions of the 
Zoning Ordinance, the Village Code, and the Conditions set forth in this Section. Once approved, 
the redevelopment, use, operation, and maintenance of the Property must comply with the 
ordinance approving the Final PUD Plan except for minor changes and site work approved in 
accordance with applicable Village ordinances and standards. If Owner has a minor change to 
the PUD pursuant to Section 157.248 of the Code, the Village Administrator or her designee may 
approve the minor change administratively. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Preliminary PUD 
Plan, Preliminary Plat and Preliminary Engineering are hereby approved subject to final approval 
by the Illinois Department of Transportation (“IDOT”) as to the proposed geometry of the proposed 
Rock Road / Route 68 intersection shown thereon.  If IDOT requires changes to such  of the 
proposed geometry of the proposed Rock Road / Route 68 intersection, such changes may be 
incorporated into the Final PUD Plan and the Final Plat and Final Engineering to the extent 
acceptable to the Village without the necessity of any further public hearings. Additionally, the 12-
month time period for approval of the Final Plat / Final PUD prescribed by Section 157.254(A)(1) 
of the Zoning Ordinance shall be measured from the date that IDOT gives its approval to the 
approved preliminary PUD.  

B. Multi-Use Path. Owner must include in the Final PUD Plan a multi-use path of
concrete construction with a minimum width of 8 feet which shall be located within the Right of 
Way (“R.O.W.”) of  Rock Road from Illinois Route 68 extending south the entire length of Rock 



 

 6 

Road to south line of Lot 1, with further extensions thereof to Highway 72 as additional PUD 
phases are approved leading south to Highway 72.  Additionally, a multi-use path of the same 
width and construction shall be constructed starting at the north/south path along Rock Road at 
the easternmost point of Lot 3 of this subdivision, within the R.O.W. of  Illinois Route 68 or 
dedicated easement adjacent to the R.O.W., and continuing west to the west line of said Lot 3 
when said Lot 3 is developed.  The said multi-use path shall be constructed and extended further 
west to the northerly extension of the easterly line of Bonnie Acres at its intersection with the 
southerly R.O.W. of Illinois Route 68 when the land adjacent to that portion of the southerly right-
of-way of Route 68 is developed, as part of future PUD approvals. The multi-use path shall be 
constructed as set forth in Exhibit E, attached to this Ordinance and incorporated herewith, or 
as otherwise mutually agreed upon in writing between Owner and the Village.  The Village will 
make best efforts to identify and procure any grants available in order to assist Owner in 
constructing or completing the Multi-Use Path; however, the Village does not guarantee the 
procurement of grants for this purpose. 

C. Civil Engineer Review. The Owner must comply with the review comments and 
recommendations outlined in the Civil Engineering Review Memo, consisting of four pages, and 
dated June 21, 2023, attached to and, by this reference, made a part of this Ordinance as 
Exhibit F (“Engineering Review Memo”). 

D. East Dundee Fire Protection District Review. The Owner must address and 
comply with City Code-supported comments outlined in the East Dundee Fire Protection 
District’s Review.  

E. Fees and Security Guaranteeing Completion of Public Improvements. The Owner 
or Applicant must pay/submit all applicable review and inspection fees and the required security 
guaranteeing completion of all public improvements prior to the recording of the ordinance 
approving the Final PUD Plan for the Proposed Development. 

 F.  Permit for Lot 1 prior to Final Plat. The development of proposed Lot 1 as shown on 
the Preliminary PUD Plan is approved (subject to the issuance of building permits) and may 
proceed following the adoption of this ordinance even if the Final PUD Plan and the Final Plat 
and Final Engineering have not yet been approved.  
 

SECTION 5. Map Amendment. The Village Board has determined that it is in the 
public interest and will tend to promote the public health, safety, morals, comfort, convenience 
and general welfare of the citizens of East Dundee, Illinois to amend the Zoning Map to reclassify 
the Property to M1 Limited Manufacturing District.  The zoning classification for the Property is 
hereby changed to the M1 Limited Manufacturing District in its entirety.  

SECTION 6. Ordinance 22-21.  The Pre-Development Parking Lot Waivers as set 
forth in Ordinance 22-21 shall stand and be unaffected by this Ordinance. 

SECTION 7.  Effect of Approvals.  The approvals documented in this Ordinance do 
not authorize the development or improvement of the Property in any manner other than what 
is approved through this Ordinance.  

SECTION 8:  Condition of Approvals. The planned unit development approvals 
granted in this Ordinance (specifically, those contained in Sections 2, 3, and 4) are subject to the 
provisions of Section 157.254 of the Zoning Ordinance, as Section 157.254(A)(1) has been 



 

 7 

modified in Section 4.A of this Ordinance, and any violation of which, including Sections 2, 3 and 
4 of this Ordinance by the Owner  is called a “Section 157.254 Violation”. Upon the occurrence 
of an alleged Section 157.254 Violation, the Village Board may, with not less than 30 days 
advance written notice to the Owner of the specifics of the alleged Section 157.254 Violation, 
provide to the Owner an opportunity to be heard at a regular meeting of the Board of Trustees.  
If, following any such hearing, the Board finds that the Owner has in fact committed a Section 
157.254 Violation, the Village Board may revoke the approvals granted in Sections 2, 3 and 4 of 
this Ordinance, and said Sections 2, 3, and 4 shall thereupon become null and void, or the Village 
Board may grant extensions as provided in said Section 157.254 of the Zoning Ordinance.  
Owner: (i) acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been held with respect to the 
adoption of this Ordinance; (ii) has considered the possibility of the revocation provided for in this 
Section 8 upon the finding by the Village Board that a Section 157.254 Violation has occurred; 
and (iii) agrees that the process prescribed in this Section 8 for revocation such do not violate the 
Owner’s due process rights. Owner agrees not to challenge on procedural grounds any action by 
the Village Board that results in a revocation as aforesaid so long as the Village Board has 
followed the requirements of this Section 8, but Owner reserves the right to challenge any finding 
by the Board that a Section 157.254 Violation has occurred or the appropriateness of the remedy 
imposed by the Board. 

SECTION 9: Amendments.  Any amendment to any provision of this Ordinance may be 
granted only pursuant to the procedures, and subject to the standards and limitations, provided 
in the Zoning Ordinance as applicable to the affected items of relief. 

SECTION 10: Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 
after its passage, approval, and publication in the manner provided by law. 

 

 
 PASSED this _______day of ______________2023 pursuant to a roll call vote as 
follows:  
AYES:________________________________________________________________  
NAYES:_______________________________________________________________  
ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this ________of _________________ 2023. 
 

     ________________________________________  
     Jeffrey Lynam, Village President  
ATTEST:  

 

___________________________  
Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  

  



 

 8 

EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A – Legal Description of the Property 

Exhibit B – Findings of Fact  

Exhibit C – Preliminary PUD Site Plan 

Exhibit D – Preliminary PUD Documents  

Exhibit E – Multi-Use Path  

Exhibit F – Engineering Review Memo



 

{00121287.3} A-1 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 
 
PIN:  03-24-276-007 
PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 24; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 02 SECONDS WEST, 492.84 
FEET TO THE CENTERLINE OF PENNY ROAD FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
NORTH 81 DEGREES 24 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, 
342.94 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID 
CENTERLINE, 343.04 FEET ALONG A TANGENTIAL CURVE TO THE RIGHT, SAID CURVE 
HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,908.00 FEET, A CHORD THAT BEARS NORTH 76 DEGREES 15 
MINUTES 04 SECONDS WEST AND A CHORD OF 342.58 FEET TO A POINT OF 
TANGENCY; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, NORTH 71 DEGREES 06 
MINUTES 01 SECONDS WEST, TANGENT TO LAST DESCRIBED CURVE, 379.81 FEET TO 
A POINT OF TANGENCY; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, 112.93 FEET 
ALONG A TANGENTIAL CURVE TO THE RIGHT, SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 
13,634.89 FEET, A CHORD THAT BEARS NORTH 70 DEGREES 51 MINUTES 47 SECONDS 
WEST AND A CHORD OF 112.93 FEET TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE LANDS 
DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT 2008K063994; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 51 
SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID EASTERLY LINE, 75.30 FEET TO THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT 
OF WAY LINE OF ILLINOIS ROUTE 68, AS MONUMENTED AND OCCUPIED; THENCE 
NORTHEASTERLY, 501.88 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE BEING A 
NON TANGENTIAL CURVE TO THE LEFT, SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 4,327.46 
FEET, A CHORD THAT BEARS NORTH 76 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST 
AND A CHORD OF 501.60 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY; THENCE CONTINUING 
ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, NORTH 72 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 11 
SECONDS EAST, TANGENT TO LAST DESCRIBED CURVE, 674.98 FEET TO THE EAST 
LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 02 
SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID EAST LINE, 688.17 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 
IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
PIN: 03-24-276-008 
THAT PART OF THE EAST 1/2 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 
00 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION, 1514.7 FEET; THENCE 
NORTH 2 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST 3006.4 FEET TO A POINT 451.1 
SOUTHERLY, MEASURED ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE EXTENDED FROM THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF STATE ROUTE NO. 68; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 
4 SECONDS EAST 234 FEET; THENCE NORTH 2 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 0 SECONDS 
EAST 478.9 TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID STATE ROUTE 68; THENCE 
NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID 
SECTION; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; IN 
THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS,  
 
EXCEPT THAT PART FALLING WITHIN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24 
AND EXCEPT THAT PART FALLING NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF PENNY ROAD, AS 



 

{00121287.3} A-2 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

OCCUPIED AND TRAVELED, IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS. 
 
PINS:  03-24-276-005 & 03-24-276-006 
THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION TWENTY-FOUR (24), TOWNSHIP FORTY-
TWO (42) NORTH, RANGE EIGHT (8), EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
DESCRIBED AS  
FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE CENTER LINE OF STATE 
ROUTE 63 WITH THE CENTER LINE OF STATE ROUTE 25; THENCE EASTERLY ALONG 
THE CENTER LINE OF STATE ROUTE 63, EIGHT HUNDRED SEVENTY-EIGHT AND 
9/10THS (878.9) FEET FOR A PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING EASTERLY 
ALONG SAID CENTER LINE, ONE HUNDRED NINETY-SEVEN (197.0) FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH PARALLEL WITH THE CENTER LINE OF STATE ROUTE 25, THREE HUNDRED 
SIXTY-SEVEN AND 4/10THS (367.4) FEET; THENCE WEST ALONG A LINE THAT FORMS 
AN ANGLE OF NINETY (90) DEGREES 00 MINUTEST THE RIGHT, WITH THE 
PROLONGATION OF THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE, ONE HUNDRED NINETY-FOUR 
AND 4/10THS (194.4) FEET; THENCE NORTH PARALLEL WITH THE CENTER LINE OF 
ROUTE 25, THREE HUNDRED FORTY-TWO AND 9/10THS ( 342. 9) FEET TO THE PLACE 
OF BEGINNING, EXCEPT THAT PART LYING WITHIN STATE ROUTE 63; SITUATED IN THE 
TOWNSHIP OF DUNDEE, COUNTY OF KANE, IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS. 
 
PIN: 03-24-400-008 
THAT PART OF THE EAST 1/2 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF 
THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 
00 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION, 1514.7 FEET; THENCE 
NORTH 2 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST 3006.4 FEET TO A POINT 451.1 
SOUTHERLY, MEASURED ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE EXTENDED FROM THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF STATE ROUTE NO. 68; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 
4 SECONDS EAST 234 FEET; THENCE NORTH 2 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 0 SECONDS 
EAST 478.9 TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID STATE ROUTE 68; THENCE 
NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID 
SECTION; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; IN 
THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS,  
 
EXCEPT THAT PART FALLING SOUTHERLY OF THE NORTH 593.44 FEET OF THAT PART 
OF THE EAST 1/2 OF SECTION 24 AND ALSO PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 11 MINUTES 38 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST 
QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 25, 192.05 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1 
IN ROCKY ROAD POWER SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF 
RECORDED FEBRUARY 19, 1999 AS DOCUMENT 1999KK018491; THENCE SOUTH 89 
DEGREES 48 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1 IN 
ROCKY ROAD POWER SUBDIVISION, 670.00 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 11 MINUTES 37 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1, A DISTANCE OF 1015.58 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER THEREOF, SAID CORNER BEING ON THE NORTH LINE OF ROCK ROAD DRIVE; 
THENCE NORTH 75 DEGREES 43 MINUTES 09 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE NORTH 



 

{00121287.3} A-3 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

LINE OF ROCK ROAD DRIVE, 295.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 
28 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF ROCK ROAD DRIVE, 33.00 FEET TO A 
POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF PREMISES CONVEYED TO JAMES K. SMITH BY DEED 
RECORDED FEBRUARY 7, 1881 IN BOOK 200, PAGE 253 AS DOCUMENT 13594; THENCE 
NORTH 00 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 32 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF 
PREMISES CONVEYED TO JAMES K. SMITH, 1130.46 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH 
LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24, SAID POINT BEING 989.3 
FEET WESTERLY OF, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 
QUARTER, THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 
DEGREES 30 MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 
24, 525.4 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, 1406.05 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 57 MINUTES 05 SECONDS EAST, 1455.55 FEET TO 
THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE, 1396.70 
FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING AND EXCEPT THAT PART FALLING WITHIN THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 24, IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
 
PIN: 03-24-177-007 
THE EAST 150.0 FEET, MORE OR LESS, OF THAT PART OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42, 
RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SAID 
SECTION 24; THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 
00 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24 A DISTANCE OF 
592.02 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, A 
DISTANCE OF 3,303.56 FEET TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF ILLINOIS STATE ROUTE 68, 
DUNDEE ROAD (SBI ROUTE 63) ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED APRIL 
12, 1929 AS DOCUMENT NO. 321472 FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 
85 DEGREES 09 MINUTES 48 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID 
ROUTE 68, BEING A CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 4,347.28 FEET, A 
DISTANCE OF 222.06 FEET TO A LINE DRAWN NORTH 2 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 16 
SECONDS EAST (NORTH 2 DEGREES 06 MINUTES RECORD) FROM A POINT ON THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION, 1,514.7 FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF 
SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 2 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, 
ALONG SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1,629.26 FEET; THENCE NORTH 72 DEGREES 02 
MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE 2,887.22 FEET TO A POINT 66 FEET 
EASTERLY OF AND NORMALLY DISTANT FROM THE EASTERLY LINE OF BONNIE 
ACRES ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JULY 26, 1956 AS DOCUMENT 
NO. 813020; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, ALONG A 
LINE 66 FEET EASTERLY OF AND PARALLEL WITH THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID 
BONNIE ACRES, A DISTANCE OF 489.10 FEET TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID 
ROUTE 68, BEING A CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 10,061.06 FEET A 
DISTANCE OF 340.92 FEET; THENCE NORTH 85 DEGREES 09 MINUTES 48 SECONDS 
EAST ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ROUTE 68, A DISTANCE OF 599.32 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS. 
 



 

{00121287.3} B-1 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT 



 

{00121287.3} C-1 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

EXHIBIT C 
 

Preliminary PUD Site Plan 
 



 

{00121287.3} D-1 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

EXHIBIT D 
 

PRELIMINARY PUD DOCUMENTS



 

{00121287.3} E-1 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

 
EXHIBIT E 

MULTI-USE PATH DESIGN SPECIFICATIONS 



 

{00121287.3} E-1 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

EXHIBIT F 
 

ENGINEERING REVIEW  MEMO



 

{00121287.3} F-1 
4860-0539-8402, v. 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

{00121287.3} A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 
 
PIN:  03-24-276-007 
PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, 
RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 24; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 02 SECONDS WEST, 
492.84 FEET TO THE CENTERLINE OF PENNY ROAD FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING; 
THENCE NORTH 81 DEGREES 24 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, ALONG SAID 
CENTERLINE, 342.94 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE CONTINUING 
ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, 343.04 FEET ALONG A TANGENTIAL CURVE TO THE 
RIGHT, SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,908.00 FEET, A CHORD THAT BEARS 
NORTH 76 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 04 SECONDS WEST AND A CHORD OF 342.58 FEET 
TO A POINT OF TANGENCY; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, 
NORTH 71 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 01 SECONDS WEST, TANGENT TO LAST 
DESCRIBED CURVE, 379.81 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY; THENCE 
CONTINUING ALONG SAID CENTERLINE, 112.93 FEET ALONG A TANGENTIAL 
CURVE TO THE RIGHT, SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 13,634.89 FEET, A 
CHORD THAT BEARS NORTH 70 DEGREES 51 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST AND A 
CHORD OF 112.93 FEET TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE LANDS DESCRIBED IN 
DOCUMENT 2008K063994; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 51 SECONDS 
EAST, ALONG SAID EASTERLY LINE, 75.30 FEET TO THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF 
WAY LINE OF ILLINOIS ROUTE 68, AS MONUMENTED AND OCCUPIED; THENCE 
NORTHEASTERLY, 501.88 FEET ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE 
BEING A NON TANGENTIAL CURVE TO THE LEFT, SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS 
OF 4,327.46 FEET, A CHORD THAT BEARS NORTH 76 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 51 
SECONDS EAST AND A CHORD OF 501.60 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY; 
THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, NORTH 72 
DEGREES 46 MINUTES 11 SECONDS EAST, TANGENT TO LAST DESCRIBED CURVE, 
674.98 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 
00 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 02 SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID EAST LINE, 688.17 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
PIN: 03-24-276-008 
THAT PART OF THE EAST 1/2 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST 
OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT 
THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 
MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION, 1514.7 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 2 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST 3006.4 FEET TO A 
POINT 451.1 SOUTHERLY, MEASURED ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE 
EXTENDED FROM THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF STATE ROUTE NO. 68; THENCE 
SOUTH 87 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 4 SECONDS EAST 234 FEET; THENCE NORTH 2 
DEGREES 06 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST 478.9 TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID 
STATE ROUTE 68; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE TO 



 

{00121287.3} A-2 

THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING; IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS,  
 
EXCEPT THAT PART FALLING WITHIN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID 
SECTION 24 AND EXCEPT THAT PART FALLING NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF 
PENNY ROAD, AS OCCUPIED AND TRAVELED, IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, 
KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
PINS:  03-24-276-005 & 03-24-276-006 
THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION TWENTY-FOUR (24), TOWNSHIP 
FORTY-TWO (42) NORTH, RANGE EIGHT (8), EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS  
FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE INTERSECT!ON OF THE CENTER LINE OF STATE 
ROUTE 63 WITH THE CENTER LINE OF STATE ROUTE 25; THENCE EASTERLY 
ALONG THE CENTER LINE OF STATE ROUTE 63, EIGHT HUNDRED SEVENTY-EIGHT 
AND 9/10THS (878.9) FEET FOR A PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING 
EASTERLY ALONG SAID CENTER LINE, ONE HUNDRED NINETY-SEVEN (197.0) 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH PARALLEL WITH THE CENTER LINE OF STATE ROUTE 25, 
THREE HUNDRED SIXTY-SEVEN AND 4/10THS (367.4) FEET; THENCE WEST ALONG 
A LINE THAT FORMS AN ANGLE OF NINETY (90) DEGREES 00 MINUTEST THE 
RIGHT, WITH THE PROLONGATION OF THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE, ONE 
HUNDRED NINETY-FOUR AND 4/10THS (194.4) FEET; THENCE NORTH PARALLEL 
WITH THE CENTER LINE OF ROUTE 25, THREE HUNDRED FORTY-TWO AND 
9/10THS ( 342. 9) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING, EXCEPT THAT PART LYING 
WITHIN STATE ROUTE 63; SITUATED IN THE TOWNSHIP OF DUNDEE, COUNTY OF 
KANE, IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS. 
 
PIN: 03-24-400-008 
THAT PART OF THE EAST 1/2 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST 
OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT 
THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 
MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION, 1514.7 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 2 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST 3006.4 FEET TO A 
POINT 451.1 SOUTHERLY, MEASURED ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE 
EXTENDED FROM THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF STATE ROUTE NO. 68; THENCE 
SOUTH 87 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 4 SECONDS EAST 234 FEET; THENCE NORTH 2 
DEGREES 06 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST 478.9 TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID 
STATE ROUTE 68; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE TO 
THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING; IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS,  
 
EXCEPT THAT PART FALLING SOUTHERLY OF THE NORTH 593.44 FEET OF THAT 
PART OF THE EAST 1/2 OF SECTION 24 AND ALSO PART OF THE NORTHEAST 



 

{00121287.3} A-3 

QUARTER OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 11 MINUTES 38 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 25, 192.05 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF LOT 1 IN ROCKY ROAD POWER SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE 
PLAT THEREOF RECORDED FEBRUARY 19, 1999 AS DOCUMENT 1999KK018491; 
THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 48 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE NORTH 
LINE OF SAID LOT 1 IN ROCKY ROAD POWER SUBDIVISION, 670.00 FEET TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 11 MINUTES 37 
SECONDS EAST ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1, A DISTANCE OF 1015.58 
FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF, SAID CORNER BEING ON THE 
NORTH LINE OF ROCK ROAD DRIVE; THENCE NORTH 75 DEGREES 43 MINUTES 09 
SECONDS WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF ROCK ROAD DRIVE, 295.02 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 28 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE NORTH 
LINE OF ROCK ROAD DRIVE, 33.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF 
PREMISES CONVEYED TO JAMES K. SMITH BY DEED RECORDED FENRUARY 7, 
1881 IN BOOK 200, PAGE 253 AS DOCUMENT 13594; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 13 
MINUTES 32 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF PREMISES CONVEYED TO 
JAMES K. SMITH, 1130.46 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24, SAID POINT BEING 989.3 FEET 
WESTERLY OF, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 
QUARTER, THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 
DEGREES 30 MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 
SECTION 24, 525.4 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 00 SECONDS 
EAST, 1406.05 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 57 MINUTES 05 SECONDS EAST, 
1455.55 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH ALONG 
SAID EAST LINE, 1396.70 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING AND EXCEPT THAT 
PART FALLING WITHIN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 24, IN THE 
VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
 
PIN: 03-24-177-007 
THE EAST 150.0 FEET, MORE OR LESS, OF THAT PART OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 
42, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SAID 
SECTION 24; THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 
MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24 A 
DISTANCE OF 592.02 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 00 SECONDS 
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 3,303.56 FEET TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF ILLINOIS STATE 
ROUTE 68, DUNDEE ROAD (SBI ROUTE 63) ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF 
RECORDED APRIL 12, 1929 AS DOCUMENT NO. 321472 FOR THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 85 DEGREES 09 MINUTES 48 SECONDS EAST ALONG 
THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ROUTE 68, BEING A CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING 
A RADIUS OF 4,347.28 FEET, A DISTANCE OF 222.06 FEET TO A LINE DRAWN NORTH 



 

{00121287.3} A-4 

2 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST (NORTH 2 DEGREES 06 MINUTES 
RECORD) FROM A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION, 1,514.7 FEET 
WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 2 
DEGREES 00 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, ALONG SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 
1,629.26 FEET; THENCE NORTH 72 DEGREES 02 MINUTES 18 SECONDS WEST, A 
DISTANCE 2,887.22 FEET TO A POINT 66 FEET EASTERLY OF AND NORMALLY 
DISTANT FROM THE EASTERLY LINE OF BONNIE ACRES ACCORDING TO THE 
PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JULY 26, 1956 AS DOCUMENT NO. 813020; THENCE 
NORTH 00 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, ALONG A LINE 66 FEET 
EASTERLY OF AND PARALLEL WITH THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID BONNIE 
ACRES, A DISTANCE OF 489.10 FEET TO THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ROUTE 68, 
BEING A CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 10,061.06 FEET A DISTANCE 
OF 340.92 FEET; THENCE NORTH 85 DEGREES 09 MINUTES 48 SECONDS EAST 
ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ROUTE 68, A DISTANCE OF 599.32 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS. 
 



 

{00121287.3} B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT 











 

{00121287.3} C-1 

EXHIBIT C 
 

Preliminary PUD Site Plan 
 



20' BUILDING SETBACK

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

S45°40'14"E

117.30'

LOT 1
330,666 SQ. FT.
(7.5910 ACRES)

LOT 2
365,871 SQ. FT.
(8.3992 ACRES)

LOT 3
215,778 SQ. FT.
(4.9536 ACRES)

LOT 4
209,262 SQ. FT.
(4.8040 ACRES)

LOT 5
152,442 SQ. FT.
(3.4996 ACRES)

N85°18'32"E
83.51' N80°01'44"E  134.03'

L=575.88'
RADIUS=4347.28'

N76°52'13"E
CHORD=575.46'

N73°04'31"E  675.64'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
11

52
.3

2'

S89°40'14"W  774.00'

N
02

°1
6'

14
"E
 
 

79
7.

04
'

N
15

°4
8'

09
"E

11
7.

65
'

L=137.62'
RADIUS=540.00'
N07°33'39"W
CHORD=137.24'

L=117.23'
RADIUS=460.00'

S07°33'39"E
CHORD=116.91'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
15

4.
78

'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
47

6.
86

'
N

00
°1

5'
36

"W
 
 

15
5.

14
'

N89°44'24"E
703.58'

40
2.

09
'

47
9.

37
'

66
.2

4'
25

1.
42

'

25
0.

57
'

66
.7

7'
43

2.
89

'

S14°51'42"E
0.58'

N14°51'42"W
0.87'

TO BE VACATED
BY ORDINANCE
IN THE FUTURE

PENNY ROAD
HEREBY DEDICATED
TO THE VILLAGE
OF EAST DUNDEE
AS RIGHT-OF-WAY

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
H

ER
EB

Y 
D

ED
IC

AT
ED

TO
 T

H
E 

VI
LL

AG
E

O
F 

EA
ST

 D
U

N
D

EE
AS

 R
IG

H
T-

O
F-

W
AY

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
47

7.
24

'

PENNY ROAD
(66' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

80.0'

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
(6

6'
 P

U
BL

IC
 R

.O
.W

.)

(HEREBY DEDICATED)

(H
ER

EB
Y 

D
ED

IC
AT

ED
)

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
(8

0'
 P

U
BL

IC
 R

.O
.W

.)
(H

ER
EB

Y 
D

ED
IC

AT
ED

)

PENNY ROAD(66' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

200.10'

335.34'

40.45'

84
.4

2'
53

.2
0'

DUNDEE ROAD

(IL ROUTE 68)

(100' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR SET 3/4" X 24"

IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

20' BUILDING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK
25' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24

SOUTH LINE OF
THE NORTHEAST
1/4 OF SECTION 24

EA
ST

 L
IN

E 
O

F 
SE

C
TI

O
N

 2
4

W
ES

T 
LI

N
E 

O
F 

SE
C

TI
O

N
 1

9

EAST CORNER OF
SECTION 24

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-400-008

OWNER: PAL LAND II LLC
UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-177-007

OWNER: PAL LAND LLC

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-177-006

OWNER: PAL LAND LLC

15' WATERMAIN EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K035460

ACCESS & UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

OVERALL TOWER EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

15' VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617

15' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617 HEREBY RELEASED

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 4" x 48" CONCRETE MONUMENT
WITH BRASS PLATE AT CORNER
ELEVATION: _______________

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

N90°00'00"W  359.51'

L=155.58'
RADIUS=1056.00'
N85°46'45"W
CHORD=155.44'

N90°00'00"E  366.21'

L=145.86'
RADIUS=990.00'
S85°46'45"E
CHORD=145.73'

S81°33'30"E  198.76'

N81°33'30"W  188.66'

20' BUILDING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

10
2.

90
'

N
00

°1
5'

36
"W

S89°44'24"W
66.00'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E

10
2.

98
'

S89°40'14"W  707.96'

57
9.

98
'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E

N
00

°1
5'

36
"W

58
0.

28
'

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-003-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-004-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-003-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

20' BUILDING
SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
PAL LAND LLC

PAL LAND II LLC

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
PAL LAND LLC

PAL LAND II LLC

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
PAL LAND LLC

PAL LAND II LLC

TO BE CONVEYED TO
THE VILLAGE OF
EAST DUNDEE

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
PAL LAND LLC

PAL LAND II LLC

L=89.41'
RADIUS=205561.32'

N85°17'05"E
CHORD=89.41'

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

BA
R

R
IN

G
TO

N
 H

IL
LS

C
O

R
PO

R
AT

E 
LI

M
IT

SC
O

O
K 

C
O

U
N

TY
KA

N
E 

C
O

U
N

TY

SC
H

O
O

L 
D

IS
TR

IC
T 

#3
00

 B
O

U
N

D
AR

Y

VILLAGE OF CARPENTERSVILLE

VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE

CORPORATE LIMITS

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

EA
ST

 D
U

N
D

EE
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

LI
M

IT
S

PROPOSED SERVICE BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

20' BUILDING SETBACK

N90°00'00"W  619.20'

N90°00'00"E  626.50'

L=123.75'
RADIUS=3033.00'
N88°49'51"E
CHORD=123.74'

L=126.37'
RADIUS=2967.00'
N88°46'46"E
CHORD=126.36'

94.50'

94.50'

18
8.

15
'

21
8.

67
'

69.46'

69.46'

©
 C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T
 2

0
2

3REVISIONS SHEET

PE
G 

JO
B 

N
o.

PE
G 

PM

D
AT

E

SC
AL

EPINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.p

in
n

ac
le

-e
n

g
r.c

o
m

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m

SU
R

VE
Y

14
11

.4
0

D
A

T

05
/1

7/
20

23

1"
=

80
'

1

2

1" = 80'0 160'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

PRELIMINARY
P.U.D. PLAN

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
LOCATION: IL ROUTE 68, EAST DUNDEE, IL

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

NORTH

D
R

AF
TE

D
 B

Y:

RIGHT-OF-WAY

SECTION LINE

PARCEL BOUNDARY

LEGEND OF LINES

ADJACENT BOUNDARY

BUILDING SETBACK

RECORD DIMENSION

MEASURED DIMENSION

(180.00')

180.00'

CENTER OF RIGHT-OF-WAY

GENERAL NOTES

1. Field work completed on November 08, 2022.
2. All dimensions are measured dimensions, record dimensions are shown parenthetically. The boundaries of

the parcels as described form a mathematically closed figure.
3. No discrepancies, conflicts, shortages in area, gaps, strips, gores or errors in boundary lines exist.
4. Subdivision consists of 5 lots.
5. Stormwater Detention has been provided offsite for Lots 1-4. Onsite Stormwater Detention will be required for

the development of Lot 5.

K
D

Bearings referenced to the Illinois State
Plane Coordinate System, East Zone (1201).

BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II

PIN: 03-24-177-007-0000
03-24-276-006-0000
03-24-276-008-0000
03-24-276-005-0000
03-24-276-007-0000

PRELIMINARY P.U.D. PLAN

AREA SUMMARY
LOT SQFT ACRES PERCENT(%)

1 330,666 7.5910 22.8
2 365,871 8.3992 25.3
3 215,778 4.9536 14.9
4 209,262 4.8040 14.4
5 152,442 3.4996 10.5

ROW 175,777 4.0353 12.1
TOTAL 1,449,796 33.2827 100.0

SITE DATA
PARKING REQUIRED 70 STALLS (1 STALL PER

EVERY TWO EMPLOYEES

TRAILER PARKING 96 STALLS

CAR PARKING PROVIDED
50 STALLS (INCLUDING 2

ADA STALLS)

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED 146 STALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY    ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF



SITE

SITE

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

BA
R

R
IN

G
TO

N
 H

IL
LS

C
O

R
PO

R
AT

E 
LI

M
IT

S

VILLAGE OF

CARPENTERSVILLE

VILLAGE OF

EAST DUNDEE

CORPORATE LIMITS

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

EA
ST

 D
U

N
D

EE
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

LI
M

IT
S

C
O

O
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

KA
N

E 
C

O
U

N
TY

C-2 GENERAL
COMMERCIAL

R-4-A: RESIDENTIAL
(TOWNHOUSE)

R
-1

5 
AC

R
ES

SI
N

G
LE

 F
AM

IL
Y 

R
ES

ID
EN

TI
AL

B3 -SERVICE BUSINESS
M1 -LIMITED MANUFACTURING
R1 -SINGLE FAMILY

B3

M1

M1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

M1
M1

M1

M1
M1

M1

M1 M1

M1

©
 C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T
 2

0
2

3REVISIONS SHEET

PE
G 

JO
B 

N
o.

PE
G 

PM

D
AT

E

SC
AL

EPINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.p

in
n

ac
le

-e
n

g
r.c

o
m

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m

SU
R

VE
Y

14
11

.4
0

D
A

T

05
/1

7/
20

23

2

2

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

D
R

AF
TE

D
 B

Y:

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT I, PAUL A. KUBICEK, AN ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, HAVE
SURVEYED, SUBDIVIDED AND PLATTED FOR THE OWNERS THEREOF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY:

LOTS 1 THOUGH 5 IN TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE EAST 1/2
OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL
MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE EAST CORNER OF SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 14 SECONDS
WEST, 707.96 FEET;  THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST, 102.98 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 24 SECONDS WEST, 66.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36
SE4CONDS WEST, 102.90 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 14 SECONDS WEST, 774.00 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 14 SECONDS EAST, 797.04 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID
DUNDEE ROAD - IL ROUTE 68; THENCE THE FOLLOWING COURSES ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF
DUNDEE ROAD;
NORTH 85 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 32 SECONDS EAST, 83.51 FEET TO THE POINT ON A CURVE;
EASTERLY 89.41 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WHOSE RADIUS IS 205,561.32 FEET AND
WHOSE CHORD BEARS NORTH 85 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 05 SECONDS EAST, 89.41 FEET;
NORTH 80 DEGREES 01 MINUTES 44 SECONDS EAST, 134.03 FEET;
NORTHEASTERLY 575.88 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WHOSE RADIUS IS 4347.28 FEET
AND WHOSE CHORD BEARS NORTH 76 DEGREES 52 MINUTES 13 SECONDS EAST, 575.46 FEET;
NORTH 73 DEGREES 04 MINUTES 31 SECONDS EAST, 675.64 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID
NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID
SECTION LINE, 1152.32 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINING 33.1268 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT IRON STAKES HAVE BEEN SET AT ALL LOT CORNERS, POINTS OF CURVATURE AND
TANGENCY, EXCEPT WHERE CONCRETE MONUMENTS ARE INDICATED, AND THAT THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN
CORRECTLY REPRESENTS SAID SURVEY AND SUBDIVISION. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE GIVEN IN U.S. FEET AND
DECIMAL PARTS THEREOF.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING PROPERTY FALLS WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE
VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, AND I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT NO PART OF SAID PROPERTY IS SITUATED WITHIN
A FLOOD HAZARD AREA, AS PER NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM, FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP,
COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER 17089CO157H, EFFECTIVE DATE AUGUST 3, 2009 AND 17089C0159H, EFFECTIVE
DATE AUGUST 3, 2009.

DATED AT EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS, THIS 06th DAY OF JANUARY, 2023 .

_______________________________________
PAUL A. KUBICEK, ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR 035-003296

      EXPIRES 11/30/2024
      PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC #184006289-0010
      EXPIRES 04/30/2025

K
G

D

DRAFT

PRELIMINARY
P.U.D. PLAN

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
LOCATION: IL ROUTE 68, EAST DUNDEE, IL

NOTES

1) The cell tower existing on Lot 4 may be relocated or removed
2) Setbacks for building and parking on any particular lot as shown on the PUD Plan are subject to modification by the Village 

Board at the request of such lot owner without the need for the consent of any other lot owner.
3) The proposed extension of Rock Road north of Penny Road and the connection thereof to Dundee Road (collectively, the

“Rock Road Extension to Dundee Road”), with the corresponding vacation of exiting Penny Road west of the proposed
Rock Road extension with the conveyance of that vacated right-of-way to the developer without charge (collectively, the
“Penny Road Vacation”) are subject to modification and / or approval as required by the Illinois Department of
Transportation (“IDOT Approval”), and until such IDOT Approval is received, there shall be no dedication of the Rock Road
Extension to Dundee Road, and no Penny Road Vacation unless otherwise agreed by the Village and the Developer.
Changes required by IDOT and approved by the Village Engineer may be incorporated in the Final PUD Plan without the
need for further public hearings.

4) No modification to this Final PUD Plan (and no public hearings) shall be required as to the development of any of Lots 2, 3,
4, or 5 so long as the proposed development complies with Village ordinance 2023-________ approving this PUD for Terra
Business Park Phase II.

VICINITY MAP
SCALE 1":400'

BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
PRELIMINARY P.U.D. PLAN

ZONING MAP
SCALE 1":600'

Minimum Lot size 18,000 SQ. FT. No departure

Maximum Lot Size None No departure
Minimum Lot Width 100 ft. No departure
Minimum Floor Area 5,000 sq.ft. No departure

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 1.5 No departure

Maximum Building Height 35 ft.+ the height of any
rooftop screening/parapet Departure from fixed 35 ft.

Front Yard Building Setback 40 ft. No departure

Side Yard 25 ft. in all cases

Departure from 25 ft. to 20 ft.
for interior side yards: side

yards along streets remain at
25 ft.

Rear Yard 20 ft. in all cases
Departure from 40 ft. except

along alley/railroad ROW

Parking Setback 10 ft. from all Lot lines

Required off-street parking As per Village Code No departure

Max. Lot Coverage
Limited by Floor Area Ratio,

setbacks, and parking
requirements

No departure

Gross floor area for all
non-residential buildings

Based on total lot are of
849,481, and a 1.5 max. floor

area ration, the max. gross
floor area will be 1,274,221.5

sq. ft

No departure

Non-Residential Intensity

It is anticipated that the PUD
will eventually be fully built out

with industrial and / or
commercial buildings with no

common area open space other
than the required yards on

each lot

No departure

Maximum Impervious Surface
Coverage

Per Stormwater Management
Report: 95%

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF



 

{00121287.3} D-1 

EXHIBIT D 
 

PRELIMINARY PUD DOCUMENTS



 

{00121287.3} F-1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP     PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM 

 

 
STORM WATER EVALUATION 

 

 

 

 

Storm Sewer Improvements 

Rock Road Business Park 

Building No. 1, Penny Road, & Utility Extension 
East Dundee, Illinois 60118 

 

 

 

Prepared For: 

PAL LAND LLC 

201 Christina Drive 

East Dundee, Illinois 60118 

 

 

 

 

Prepared By: 

Pinnacle Engineering Group 

Brian Johnson, P.E., CPESC 

1051 E. Main Street, Suite 217 

East Dundee, IL 60118 

847-551-5300 

brian.johnson@pinnacle-engr.com 

 

 

PEG Job No. 1411.40-IL 

January 6, 2023 

Revised: March 17, 2023 

Revised: April 28, 2023 

 

 

 

 



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP     PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION & SITE LOCATION ................................................................................................................. 1 

SECTION 2: EXISTING CONDITIONS ................................................................................................................................... 1 

SECTION 3: PROPOSED CONDITIONS ................................................................................................................................ 1 

APPENDICES ....................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Appendix A – Site Location Map .................................................................................................................................. A 

Appendix B – Existing Drainage Exhibit ....................................................................................................................... B 

Appendix C – Existing Conditions HydroCAD Model ................................................................................................... C 

Appendix D – Proposed Drainage Exhibit .................................................................................................................... D 

Appendix E – Storm Sewer Calculations ...................................................................................................................... E 

Appendix F – Kane County Stormwater Management Permit Application ................................................................. F 

Appendix G – IDNR Endangered Species Correspondence .......................................................................................... G 



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                               PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER PAGE 1 of 3 

 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION & SITE LOCATION 

The owner of the subject property will be developing the area into the Rock Road Business Park.  The improvements 

subject of this report include the extension of Rock Road to Dundee Road (IL Route 68), the realignment and extension 

of Penny Road, development of parcels of property for two (2) retail developments along Dundee Road, and two (2) 

new service buildings.  The improvements also include a parcel of land, north of Penny Road, to be given to the Village 

of East Dundee for their use.  This parcel is not included in the storm sewer sizing analysis as that parcel drains to the 

east.  A proposed sanitary sewer service extension and connection to the existing sanitary sewer manhole on the south 

side of Dundee Road and just to the east of Vista Lane is also included with these engineering plans.   

 

SECTION 2: EXISTING CONDITIONS 

The entire site has ground surface composed of gravel and asphalt grindings. Runoff from the site is currently directed 

to a central excavated area, a northeast stormwater pond, Palumbo Lake, and offsite areas refer to Appendix A for an 

aerial of the subject area of development. The central excavated area and the northeast stormwater pond will be filled 

in as part of the “Rock Road Business Park” plans by Pinnacle Engineering Group dated June 7, 2022.   

SECTION 3: PROPOSED CONDITIONS 

Storm sewer for this development is proposed to collect runoff from a portion of the western extension of Penny Road, 

future Rock Road, the proposed new service building on the east side of Rock Road and the two (2) retail parcels along 

Dundee Road and route this runoff to discharge into Lake Palumbo to the west. The storm sewer will be conveyed to 

the lake via the storm sewer that was designed and approved with the “Rock Road Business Park” plans by Pinnacle 

Engineering Group dated June 7, 2022.   

A runoff coefficient of 0.35 is used for pervious surfaces and 0.90 is used for impervious surfaces for sizing the storm 

sewer. These values were used to develop the composite C-values for the individual drainage areas for the outfall 

storm sewer sizing. See the proposed drainage exhibit in Appendix B and Storm Sewer Calculations for the storm sewer 

for reference.  

The existing Palumbo Lake acts a Best Management Practice as it does not have a storm sewer outfall. The lake 

discharges via infiltration into the ground and through the air via evapotranspiration. However, the developer will also 

be utilizing natural plantings in the drainage swales that convey the runoff from the parking lots and other paved areas 

prior to entering the storm sewer. There will also be a pre-treatment basin sized (refer to Appendix E for calculations) 

for the entire development and is located at the storm sewer outfall with a sediment trap that will treat the water 

before it discharges to the lake. 

 

 



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                               PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER PAGE A 

Appendix A – Site Location Map 

(Source: Google Earth) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                               PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER PAGE B 

Appendix B – Existing Drainage Exhibit 

  



PENNY       RO
AD

PRESCRIPTIVE RIG
HT-O

F-W
AY

AS O
CCUPIED AND TRAVELED

ED
G

E O
F W

ATER
AS O

F 5-28-2021
ELEVATIO

N
=834.88

ED
G

E O
F W

ATER
AS O

F 5-28-2021
ELEVATIO

N
=847.46

C
ATC

H
 BASIN

R
IM

=849.84
IN

V=848.24 15" C
PP N

IN
V=847.97 15" C

PP S

 ASPH
ALT PAVEM

EN
T

6' C
LF

SO
LAR

 PAN
EL O

N
 PO

ST

8' C
LF

3' WOOD FENCE

6' C
LF

6' C
LF

G
U

AR
D

R
AIL

G
U

AR
D

R
AIL

VALVE VAU
LT

R
IM

=873.20
BO

LTED

C
ELL TO

W
ER

FIBER
 O

PTIC
 BO

X

BILLBO
AR

D

7'x14' M
ETAL SH

ED

87.8'

46.4'

87.9'

46.6'

EXISTIN
G

 TW
O

STO
R

Y M
ETAL

BU
ILD

IN
G

C
O

N
C

 BLO
C

K STO
R

AG
E BIN

S

6' C
LF

VALVE VAU
LT

R
IM

=871.18
BO

LTED

VALVE VAU
LT

R
IM

=871.18
BO

LTED

VALVE VAU
LT

R
IM

=854.03
BO

LTED

FF=861.64

G
F=861.26

G
F=861.01 G

F=861.02
FF=861.58

FF(2nd)=870.08

W
O

O
D

 STAIR
S

STO
R

M
 M

AN
H

O
LE

R
IM

=867.31
IN

V=865.31 12" C
AST IR

O
N

 E

IN
V=854.45 7'x8' BO

X C
U

LVER
T S

IN
V=854.34 7'x8' BO

X C
U

LVER
T N

IN
V=853.64 12" C

PP S

D
U

N
D

EE R
O

AD
 (IL R

O
U

TE 68)

 ASPH
ALT PAVEM

EN
T

 ASPH
ALT PAVEM

EN
T

 ASPH
ALT PAVEM

EN
T

C
O

N
C

PENNY       RO
AD

PRESCRIPTIVE RIG
HT-O

F-W
AY

AS O
CCUPIED AND TRAVELED

ED
G

E O
F W

ATER
AS O

F 5-28-2021
ELEVATIO

N
=834.88

ED
G

E O
F W

ATER
AS O

F 5-28-2021
ELEVATIO

N
=847.46

C
ATC

H
 BASIN

R
IM

=849.84
IN

V=848.24 15" C
PP N

IN
V=847.97 15" C

PP S

 ASPH
ALT PAVEM

EN
T

6' C
LF

SO
LAR

 PAN
EL O

N
 PO

ST

8' C
LF

3' WOOD FENCE

6' C
LF

6' C
LF

G
U

AR
D

R
AIL

G
U

AR
D

R
AIL

VALVE VAU
LT

R
IM

=873.20
BO

LTED

C
ELL TO

W
ER

FIBER
 O

PTIC
 BO

X

BILLBO
AR

D

7'x14' M
ETAL SH

ED

87.8'

46.4'

87.9'

46.6'

EXISTIN
G

 TW
O

STO
R

Y M
ETAL

BU
ILD

IN
G

C
O

N
C

 BLO
C

K STO
R

AG
E BIN

S

6' C
LF

VALVE VAU
LT

R
IM

=871.18
BO

LTED

VALVE VAU
LT

R
IM

=871.18
BO

LTED

VALVE VAU
LT

R
IM

=854.03
BO

LTED

FF=861.64

G
F=861.26

G
F=861.01 G

F=861.02
FF=861.58

FF(2nd)=870.08

W
O

O
D

 STAIR
S

STO
R

M
 M

AN
H

O
LE

R
IM

=867.31
IN

V=865.31 12" C
AST IR

O
N

 E

IN
V=854.45 7'x8' BO

X C
U

LVER
T S

IN
V=854.34 7'x8' BO

X C
U

LVER
T N

IN
V=853.64 12" C

PP S

D
U

N
D

EE R
O

AD
 (IL R

O
U

TE 68)

 ASPH
ALT PAVEM

EN
T

 ASPH
ALT PAVEM

EN
T

 ASPH
ALT PAVEM

EN
T

C
O

N
C

EX-3

EX-1

EX-2

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER
ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK - EXISTING DRAINAGE EXHIBIT JOB NO. 1411.40-IL 03/23/2023

N
O

R
TH

SCALE: 1"=200'

DRAINAGE DIVIDE

LEGEND



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                               PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER PAGE C 

Appendix C – Existing Conditions HydroCAD Model 

  



1S

DA EX-1

2S

DA EX-2

3S

DA EX-3 0 (not calc'd)

4S

DA EX-4

5S

DA NE area (between

 Penny & Dundee)

6S

Penny Rd

Routing Diagram for 1411.40-IL Existing
Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group,  Printed 3/8/2023

HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Subcat Reach Pond Link

Existing Conditions Model



1411.40-IL Existing
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 2HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Rainfall Events Listing (selected events)

Event# Event

Name

Storm Type Curve Mode Duration

(hours)

B/B Depth

(inches)

AMC

1 75 100-yr, 24 hr Huff 0-10sm 3Q Scale 24.00 1 8.57 2



1411.40-IL Existing
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 3HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Area Listing (all nodes)

Area

(acres)

CN Description

(subcatchment-numbers)

65.030 87   (1S)

0.160 84 50-75% Grass cover, Fair, HSG D  (5S)

23.660 96 Gravel surface, HSG D  (2S, 4S, 5S, 6S)

0.690 98 Paved parking, HSG D  (6S)

89.540 89 TOTAL AREA



1411.40-IL Existing
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 4HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Soil Listing (all nodes)

Area

(acres)

Soil

Group

Subcatchment

Numbers

0.000 HSG A

0.000 HSG B

0.000 HSG C

24.510 HSG D 2S, 4S, 5S, 6S

65.030 Other 1S

89.540 TOTAL AREA



1411.40-IL Existing
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 5HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Ground Covers (all nodes)

HSG-A

(acres)

HSG-B

(acres)

HSG-C

(acres)

HSG-D

(acres)

Other

(acres)

Total

(acres)

Ground

Cover

Subcatchment

Numbers

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 65.030 65.030 1S

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.160 0.000 0.160 50-75% Grass cover, Fair 5S

0.000 0.000 0.000 23.660 0.000 23.660 Gravel surface 2S, 4S, 

5S, 6S

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.690 0.000 0.690 Paved parking 6S

0.000 0.000 0.000 24.510 65.030 89.540 TOTAL AREA



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 6HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Time span=0.00-73.00 hrs, dt=0.05 hrs, 1461 points
Runoff by SCS TR-20 method, UH=SCS, Weighted-CN

Reach routing by Stor-Ind method  -  Pond routing by Stor-Ind method

Runoff Area=65.030 ac   0.00% Impervious   Runoff Depth=7.01"Subcatchment 1S: DA EX-1
   Flow Length=997'   Tc=10.0 min   CN=87   Runoff=58.38 cfs  37.964 af

Runoff Area=1.340 ac   0.00% Impervious   Runoff Depth=8.09"Subcatchment 2S: DA EX-2
   Flow Length=408'   Tc=10.0 min   CN=96   Runoff=1.26 cfs  0.903 af

Subcatchment 3S: DA EX-3 0 (not calc'd)
   Runoff=0.00 cfs  0.000 af

Runoff Area=0.600 ac   0.00% Impervious   Runoff Depth=8.09"Subcatchment 4S: DA EX-4
   Flow Length=40'   Slope=0.0500 '/'   Tc=10.0 min   CN=96   Runoff=0.56 cfs  0.404 af

Runoff Area=9.530 ac   0.00% Impervious   Runoff Depth=8.09"Subcatchment 5S: DA NE area (between 
   Flow Length=1,033'   Tc=10.0 min   CN=96   Runoff=8.96 cfs  6.424 af

Runoff Area=13.040 ac   5.29% Impervious   Runoff Depth=8.09"Subcatchment 6S: Penny Rd
   Flow Length=1,013'   Tc=10.0 min   CN=96   Runoff=12.26 cfs  8.791 af

Total Runoff Area = 89.540 ac   Runoff Volume = 54.487 af   Average Runoff Depth = 7.30"
99.23% Pervious = 88.850 ac     0.77% Impervious = 0.690 ac



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 7HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Subcatchment 1S: DA EX-1

Runoff = 58.38 cfs @ 15.70 hrs,  Volume= 37.964 af,  Depth= 7.01"
     Routed to nonexistent node 2P

Runoff by SCS TR-20 method, UH=SCS, Weighted-CN, Time Span= 0.00-73.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs
Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On

Area (ac) CN Description

* 65.030 87

65.030 100.00% Pervious Area

Tc Length Slope Velocity Capacity Description
(min) (feet) (ft/ft) (ft/sec) (cfs)

2.4 268 0.0240 1.84 Sheet Flow, 
Smooth surfaces   n= 0.011   P2= 3.34"

4.5 729 0.0180 2.72 Shallow Concentrated Flow, 
Paved   Kv= 20.3 fps

3.1 Direct Entry, adj to 10 min. (min.)

10.0 997 Total



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 8HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Hydrograph for Subcatchment 1S: DA EX-1

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.00 0.09 0.00 0.00
2.00 0.30 0.00 0.00
3.00 0.52 0.03 3.03
4.00 0.74 0.10 5.45
5.00 0.96 0.20 7.17
6.00 1.17 0.32 8.43
7.00 1.42 0.48 11.68
8.00 1.71 0.69 13.83
9.00 2.00 0.91 14.74

10.00 2.30 1.14 16.23
11.00 2.64 1.43 20.20
12.00 3.05 1.78 24.33
13.00 3.51 2.19 28.55
14.00 4.11 2.74 42.26
15.00 4.97 3.54 55.19
16.00 5.88 4.40 55.22
17.00 6.61 5.10 40.71
18.00 7.13 5.61 29.37
19.00 7.51 5.97 21.17
20.00 7.78 6.24 16.00
21.00 8.00 6.45 13.88
22.00 8.22 6.66 12.95
23.00 8.38 6.82 9.56
24.00 8.57 7.01 13.33
25.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
26.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
27.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
28.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
29.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
30.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
31.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
32.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
33.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
34.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
35.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
36.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
37.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
38.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
39.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
40.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
41.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
42.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
43.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
44.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
45.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
46.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
47.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
48.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
49.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
50.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
51.00 8.57 7.01 0.00

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

52.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
53.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
54.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
55.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
56.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
57.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
58.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
59.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
60.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
61.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
62.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
63.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
64.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
65.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
66.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
67.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
68.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
69.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
70.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
71.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
72.00 8.57 7.01 0.00
73.00 8.57 7.01 0.00



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 9HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Subcatchment 2S: DA EX-2

Runoff = 1.26 cfs @ 15.69 hrs,  Volume= 0.903 af,  Depth= 8.09"

Runoff by SCS TR-20 method, UH=SCS, Weighted-CN, Time Span= 0.00-73.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs
Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On

Area (ac) CN Description

1.340 96 Gravel surface, HSG D

1.340 100.00% Pervious Area

Tc Length Slope Velocity Capacity Description
(min) (feet) (ft/ft) (ft/sec) (cfs)

2.8 229 0.0120 1.35 Sheet Flow, 
Smooth surfaces   n= 0.011   P2= 3.34"

0.4 179 0.1460 7.76 Shallow Concentrated Flow, 
Paved   Kv= 20.3 fps

6.8 Direct Entry, adj to 10 min. (min.)

10.0 408 Total



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 10HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Hydrograph for Subcatchment 2S: DA EX-2

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.00 0.09 0.00 0.00
2.00 0.30 0.08 0.15
3.00 0.52 0.22 0.22
4.00 0.74 0.40 0.25
5.00 0.96 0.59 0.26
6.00 1.17 0.79 0.27
7.00 1.42 1.02 0.34
8.00 1.71 1.30 0.37
9.00 2.00 1.58 0.38

10.00 2.30 1.86 0.40
11.00 2.64 2.20 0.48
12.00 3.05 2.60 0.57
13.00 3.51 3.06 0.65
14.00 4.11 3.65 0.94
15.00 4.97 4.50 1.20
16.00 5.88 5.41 1.19
17.00 6.61 6.13 0.87
18.00 7.13 6.66 0.62
19.00 7.51 7.03 0.45
20.00 7.78 7.30 0.34
21.00 8.00 7.53 0.29
22.00 8.22 7.74 0.27
23.00 8.38 7.90 0.20
24.00 8.57 8.09 0.28
25.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
26.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
27.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
28.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
29.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
30.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
31.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
32.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
33.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
34.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
35.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
36.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
37.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
38.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
39.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
40.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
41.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
42.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
43.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
44.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
45.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
46.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
47.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
48.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
49.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
50.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
51.00 8.57 8.09 0.00

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

52.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
53.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
54.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
55.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
56.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
57.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
58.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
59.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
60.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
61.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
62.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
63.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
64.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
65.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
66.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
67.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
68.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
69.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
70.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
71.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
72.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
73.00 8.57 8.09 0.00



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 11HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Subcatchment 3S: DA EX-3 0 (not calc'd)

[40] Hint: Not Described (Area=0)

Runoff = 0.00 cfs @ 0.00 hrs,  Volume= 0.000 af,  Depth= 0.00"

Runoff by SCS TR-20 method, UH=SCS, Weighted-CN, Time Span= 0.00-73.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs
Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 12HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Hydrograph for Subcatchment 3S: DA EX-3 0 (not calc'd)

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.00 0.09 0.00 0.00
2.00 0.30 0.00 0.00
3.00 0.52 0.00 0.00
4.00 0.74 0.00 0.00
5.00 0.96 0.00 0.00
6.00 1.17 0.00 0.00
7.00 1.42 0.00 0.00
8.00 1.71 0.00 0.00
9.00 2.00 0.00 0.00

10.00 2.30 0.00 0.00
11.00 2.64 0.00 0.00
12.00 3.05 0.00 0.00
13.00 3.51 0.00 0.00
14.00 4.11 0.00 0.00
15.00 4.97 0.00 0.00
16.00 5.88 0.00 0.00
17.00 6.61 0.00 0.00
18.00 7.13 0.00 0.00
19.00 7.51 0.00 0.00
20.00 7.78 0.00 0.00
21.00 8.00 0.00 0.00
22.00 8.22 0.00 0.00
23.00 8.38 0.00 0.00
24.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
25.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
26.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
27.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
28.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
29.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
30.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
31.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
32.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
33.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
34.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
35.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
36.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
37.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
38.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
39.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
40.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
41.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
42.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
43.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
44.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
45.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
46.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
47.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
48.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
49.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
50.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
51.00 8.57 0.00 0.00

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

52.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
53.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
54.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
55.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
56.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
57.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
58.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
59.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
60.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
61.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
62.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
63.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
64.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
65.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
66.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
67.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
68.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
69.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
70.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
71.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
72.00 8.57 0.00 0.00
73.00 8.57 0.00 0.00



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 13HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Subcatchment 4S: DA EX-4

Runoff = 0.56 cfs @ 15.69 hrs,  Volume= 0.404 af,  Depth= 8.09"

Runoff by SCS TR-20 method, UH=SCS, Weighted-CN, Time Span= 0.00-73.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs
Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On

Area (ac) CN Description

0.600 96 Gravel surface, HSG D

0.600 100.00% Pervious Area

Tc Length Slope Velocity Capacity Description
(min) (feet) (ft/ft) (ft/sec) (cfs)

0.4 40 0.0500 1.69 Sheet Flow, 
Smooth surfaces   n= 0.011   P2= 3.34"

9.6 Direct Entry, adj to 10 min. (min.)

10.0 40 Total



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 14HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Hydrograph for Subcatchment 4S: DA EX-4

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.00 0.09 0.00 0.00
2.00 0.30 0.08 0.07
3.00 0.52 0.22 0.10
4.00 0.74 0.40 0.11
5.00 0.96 0.59 0.12
6.00 1.17 0.79 0.12
7.00 1.42 1.02 0.15
8.00 1.71 1.30 0.17
9.00 2.00 1.58 0.17

10.00 2.30 1.86 0.18
11.00 2.64 2.20 0.22
12.00 3.05 2.60 0.25
13.00 3.51 3.06 0.29
14.00 4.11 3.65 0.42
15.00 4.97 4.50 0.54
16.00 5.88 5.41 0.53
17.00 6.61 6.13 0.39
18.00 7.13 6.66 0.28
19.00 7.51 7.03 0.20
20.00 7.78 7.30 0.15
21.00 8.00 7.53 0.13
22.00 8.22 7.74 0.12
23.00 8.38 7.90 0.09
24.00 8.57 8.09 0.13
25.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
26.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
27.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
28.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
29.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
30.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
31.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
32.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
33.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
34.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
35.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
36.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
37.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
38.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
39.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
40.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
41.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
42.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
43.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
44.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
45.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
46.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
47.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
48.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
49.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
50.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
51.00 8.57 8.09 0.00

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

52.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
53.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
54.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
55.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
56.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
57.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
58.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
59.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
60.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
61.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
62.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
63.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
64.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
65.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
66.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
67.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
68.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
69.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
70.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
71.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
72.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
73.00 8.57 8.09 0.00



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 15HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Subcatchment 5S: DA NE area (between Penny & Dundee)

Runoff = 8.96 cfs @ 15.69 hrs,  Volume= 6.424 af,  Depth= 8.09"

Runoff by SCS TR-20 method, UH=SCS, Weighted-CN, Time Span= 0.00-73.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs
Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On

Area (ac) CN Description

0.160 84 50-75% Grass cover, Fair, HSG D
9.370 96 Gravel surface, HSG D

9.530 96 Weighted Average
9.530 100.00% Pervious Area

Tc Length Slope Velocity Capacity Description
(min) (feet) (ft/ft) (ft/sec) (cfs)

1.2 220 0.0910 3.02 Sheet Flow, 
Smooth surfaces   n= 0.011   P2= 3.34"

5.0 813 0.0180 2.72 Shallow Concentrated Flow, generally gravel
Paved   Kv= 20.3 fps

3.8 Direct Entry, adj to 10 min. (min.)

10.0 1,033 Total



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 16HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Hydrograph for Subcatchment 5S: DA NE area (between Penny & Dundee)

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.00 0.09 0.00 0.00
2.00 0.30 0.08 1.09
3.00 0.52 0.22 1.55
4.00 0.74 0.40 1.75
5.00 0.96 0.59 1.86
6.00 1.17 0.79 1.92
7.00 1.42 1.02 2.43
8.00 1.71 1.30 2.67
9.00 2.00 1.58 2.69

10.00 2.30 1.86 2.85
11.00 2.64 2.20 3.44
12.00 3.05 2.60 4.03
13.00 3.51 3.06 4.61
14.00 4.11 3.65 6.69
15.00 4.97 4.50 8.56
16.00 5.88 5.41 8.45
17.00 6.61 6.13 6.18
18.00 7.13 6.66 4.44
19.00 7.51 7.03 3.19
20.00 7.78 7.30 2.41
21.00 8.00 7.53 2.08
22.00 8.22 7.74 1.94
23.00 8.38 7.90 1.43
24.00 8.57 8.09 2.00
25.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
26.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
27.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
28.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
29.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
30.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
31.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
32.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
33.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
34.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
35.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
36.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
37.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
38.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
39.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
40.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
41.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
42.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
43.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
44.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
45.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
46.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
47.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
48.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
49.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
50.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
51.00 8.57 8.09 0.00

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

52.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
53.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
54.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
55.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
56.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
57.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
58.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
59.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
60.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
61.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
62.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
63.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
64.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
65.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
66.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
67.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
68.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
69.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
70.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
71.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
72.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
73.00 8.57 8.09 0.00



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 17HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Subcatchment 6S: Penny Rd

Runoff = 12.26 cfs @ 15.69 hrs,  Volume= 8.791 af,  Depth= 8.09"

Runoff by SCS TR-20 method, UH=SCS, Weighted-CN, Time Span= 0.00-73.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs
Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On

Area (ac) CN Description

0.690 98 Paved parking, HSG D
12.350 96 Gravel surface, HSG D

13.040 96 Weighted Average
12.350 94.71% Pervious Area
0.690 5.29% Impervious Area

Tc Length Slope Velocity Capacity Description
(min) (feet) (ft/ft) (ft/sec) (cfs)

2.1 253 0.0310 2.02 Sheet Flow, gravel area
Smooth surfaces   n= 0.011   P2= 3.34"

4.7 760 0.0180 2.72 Shallow Concentrated Flow, gravel & ditch
Paved   Kv= 20.3 fps

3.2 Direct Entry, adj to 10 min. (min.)

10.0 1,013 Total



Huff 0-10sm 3Q scaled to 24.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 24 hr Rainfall=8.57", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL Ex
  Printed  3/8/2023Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

Page 18HydroCAD® 10.20-2g  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Hydrograph for Subcatchment 6S: Penny Rd

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.00 0.09 0.00 0.00
2.00 0.30 0.08 1.50
3.00 0.52 0.22 2.12
4.00 0.74 0.40 2.40
5.00 0.96 0.59 2.55
6.00 1.17 0.79 2.63
7.00 1.42 1.02 3.32
8.00 1.71 1.30 3.65
9.00 2.00 1.58 3.69

10.00 2.30 1.86 3.90
11.00 2.64 2.20 4.70
12.00 3.05 2.60 5.51
13.00 3.51 3.06 6.31
14.00 4.11 3.65 9.15
15.00 4.97 4.50 11.72
16.00 5.88 5.41 11.56
17.00 6.61 6.13 8.45
18.00 7.13 6.66 6.07
19.00 7.51 7.03 4.36
20.00 7.78 7.30 3.29
21.00 8.00 7.53 2.85
22.00 8.22 7.74 2.66
23.00 8.38 7.90 1.96
24.00 8.57 8.09 2.73
25.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
26.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
27.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
28.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
29.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
30.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
31.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
32.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
33.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
34.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
35.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
36.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
37.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
38.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
39.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
40.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
41.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
42.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
43.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
44.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
45.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
46.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
47.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
48.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
49.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
50.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
51.00 8.57 8.09 0.00

Time
(hours)

Precip.
(inches)

Excess
(inches)

Runoff
(cfs)

52.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
53.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
54.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
55.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
56.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
57.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
58.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
59.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
60.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
61.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
62.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
63.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
64.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
65.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
66.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
67.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
68.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
69.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
70.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
71.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
72.00 8.57 8.09 0.00
73.00 8.57 8.09 0.00



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                               PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER PAGE D 

Appendix D – Proposed Drainage Exhibit 

  



8

2

1

.

5

0

8

2

1

.

5

0

PALUMBO LAKE

AREA I

A=16.27

C=0.90

AREA G

A=14.92

C=0.90

AREA 60

A=0.39

C=0.73

AREA A

A=4.87

C=0.85

No. 008

A=2.53

C=0.89

No. 013

A=0.29

C=0.90

No. 001

A=0.14

C=0.76

No. 002

A=0.19

C=0.75

No. 004

A=0.35

C=0.66

No. 011

A=0.14

C=0.70

AREA E

A=8.40

C=0.90

AREA D

A=4.99

C=0.85

No. 025

A=0.19

C=0.66

No. 028

A=0.15

C=0.70

No. 015

A=0.27

C=0.90

No. 030

A=2.74

C=0.85

No. 017

A=0.28

C=0.90

No. 029

A=0.15

C=0.77

No. 024

A=0.26

C=0.82

No. 010

A=0.19

C=0.68

No. 019

A=0.27

C=0.90

AREA B

A=3.51

C=0.85

FUTURE STORM

SEWER

CONVEYANCE

TO PALUMBO LAKE

FUTURE STORM

SEWER

CONVEYANCE

TO PALUMBO LAKE

FUTURE STORM

SEWER

CONVEYANCE

TO PALUMBO LAKE

No. 005

A=0.30

C=0.68

No. 007

A=0.29

C=0.58

No. 006

A=0.29

C=0.58

AREA 50

A=0.32

C=0.60

AREA 51

A=0.31

C=0.58

No. 009

A=0.46

C=0.35

No. 021

A=0.15

C=0.88

AREA C

A=1.26

C=0.51

 EXISTING

OUTFALL &

FUTURE STORM

SEWER

CONVEYANCE

 EXISTING

OUTFALL &

FUTURE STORM

SEWER

CONVEYANCE

AREA 61

A=0.39

C=0.73

©
 
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

 
2
0
2
3

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO    @PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER
ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK - PROPOSED STORM SEWER TRIBUTARY MAP

JOB NO. 1411.40-IL

NORTH

SCALE: 1"=80'

4/28/2023

RUNOFF COEFFICIENTS

IMPERVIOUS = 0.90  (PAVEMENT & BUILDING)

PERVIOUS  = 0.35  (GREEN / OPEN SPACE)

NOMENCLATURE

A = AREA (ACRES)

C = COMPOSITE RUNOFF COEFFICIENT

       NO.     = AREA NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/28/2023 10:08 AM - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\STORM\4-28-23 STORM SEWER TRIBUTARY AREA EXHIBIT.dwg - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\STORM\4-28-23 STORM SEWER TRIBUTARY AREA EXHIBIT.dwgZ:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\STORM\4-28-23 STORM SEWER TRIBUTARY AREA EXHIBIT.dwg



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                               PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER PAGE E 

Appendix E – Storm Sewer Calculations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis



Project Description
1411.40-IL SSA 2023-04-27 (IL-68 update).SPF

Project Options
CFS

Elevation

Rational

User-Defined

Hydrodynamic

YES

NO

Analysis Options
Feb 13, 2019 00:00:00

Feb 14, 2019 00:00:00

Feb 13, 2019 00:00:00

0 days

0 01:00:00 days hh:mm:ss

0 00:05:00 days hh:mm:ss

0 00:05:00 days hh:mm:ss

30 seconds

Number of Elements
Qty

0

29

45

42

3

0

0

0

42

0

42

0

0

0

0

0

0

Rainfall Details
10 year(s)

        Outlets ..........................................................................
Pollutants ..............................................................................

Land Uses ............................................................................

Return Period........................................................................

Links......................................................................................

        Channels ......................................................................
        Pipes ............................................................................
        Pumps ..........................................................................
        Orifices .........................................................................
        Weirs ............................................................................

Nodes....................................................................................

        Junctions ......................................................................
        Outfalls .........................................................................
        Flow Diversions ...........................................................
        Inlets ............................................................................
        Storage Nodes .............................................................

Runoff (Dry Weather) Time Step ..........................................

Runoff (Wet Weather) Time Step ........................................

Reporting Time Step ............................................................

Routing Time Step ................................................................

Rain Gages ...........................................................................

Subbasins..............................................................................

Enable Overflow Ponding at Nodes ......................................

Skip Steady State Analysis Time Periods ............................

Start Analysis On ..................................................................

End Analysis On ...................................................................

Start Reporting On ................................................................

Antecedent Dry Days ............................................................

File Name .............................................................................

Flow Units .............................................................................

Elevation Type ......................................................................

Hydrology Method .................................................................

Time of Concentration (TOC) Method ..................................

Link Routing Method .............................................................

Print to PDF without this message by purchasing novaPDF (http://www.novapdf.com/)

http://www.novapdf.com
http://www.novapdf.com/
jbryant
Rectangle



Subbasin Summary
SN Subbasin Area Weighted Total Total Total Peak Time of

ID Runoff Rainfall Runoff Runoff Runoff Concentration

Coefficient Volume

(ac) (in) (in) (ac-in) (cfs) (days hh:mm:ss)

1 Sub-001 0.14 0.7600 1.39 1.06 0.15 0.59 0  00:15:00

2 Sub-002 0.19 0.7500 1.39 1.04 0.20 0.79 0  00:15:00

3 Sub-004 0.35 0.6600 1.39 0.92 0.32 1.28 0  00:15:00

4 Sub-005 0.30 0.6800 1.39 0.95 0.28 1.13 0  00:15:00

5 Sub-006 0.29 0.5800 1.39 0.81 0.23 0.94 0  00:15:00

6 Sub-007 0.29 0.5800 1.39 0.81 0.23 0.94 0  00:15:00

7 Sub-008 2.53 0.8900 1.39 1.24 3.13 12.52 0  00:15:00

8 Sub-009 0.46 0.3500 1.39 0.49 0.22 0.90 0  00:15:00

9 Sub-010 0.19 0.6800 1.39 0.95 0.18 0.72 0  00:15:00

10 Sub-011 0.14 0.7000 1.39 0.97 0.14 0.55 0  00:15:00

11 Sub-013 0.29 0.9000 0.62 0.56 0.16 1.94 0  00:05:00

12 Sub-015 0.27 0.9000 0.62 0.56 0.15 1.81 0  00:05:00

13 Sub-017 0.28 0.9000 0.62 0.56 0.16 1.88 0  00:05:00

14 Sub-019 0.27 0.9000 0.62 0.56 0.15 1.81 0  00:05:00

15 Sub-024 0.26 0.8200 1.39 1.14 0.30 1.19 0  00:15:00

16 Sub-025 0.19 0.6600 0.62 0.41 0.08 0.93 0  00:05:00

17 Sub-028 0.15 0.7000 1.39 0.97 0.15 0.58 0  00:15:00

18 Sub-029 0.15 0.7700 1.39 1.07 0.16 0.64 0  00:15:00

19 Sub-030 2.74 0.8500 1.39 1.18 3.24 12.95 0  00:15:00

20 Sub-030A 2.74 0.8500 1.39 1.18 3.24 12.95 0  00:15:00

21 Sub-050 0.32 0.6000 0.62 0.37 0.12 1.43 0  00:05:00

22 Sub-051 0.31 0.5800 0.62 0.36 0.11 1.34 0  00:05:00

23 Sub-21 0.15 0.8800 1.39 1.22 0.18 0.73 0  00:15:00

24 Sub-60 0.39 0.7300 1.08 0.79 0.31 1.85 0  00:10:00

25 Sub-61 0.39 0.7300 1.08 0.79 0.31 1.85 0  00:10:00

26 Sub-A 4.87 0.8500 1.39 1.18 5.75 23.02 0  00:15:00

27 Sub-D 4.99 0.8500 1.39 1.18 5.89 23.58 0  00:15:00

28 Sub-I 4.88 0.9000 1.39 1.25 6.10 24.42 0  00:15:00

29 Sub-IA 11.39 0.9000 1.39 1.25 14.25 57.00 0  00:15:00

Print to PDF without this message by purchasing novaPDF (http://www.novapdf.com/)

http://www.novapdf.com
http://www.novapdf.com/


Node Summary
SN Element Element Invert Ground/Rim Initial Surcharge Ponded Peak Max HGL Max Min Time of Total Total Time

ID Type Elevation (Max) Water Elevation Area Inflow Elevation Surcharge Freeboard Peak Flooded Flooded

Elevation Elevation Attained Depth Attained Flooding Volume

Attained Occurrence

(ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft²) (cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (days hh:mm) (ac-in) (min)

1 Stm-1 Junction 855.11 866.59 855.11 866.59 0.00 23.61 857.61 0.00 8.98 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

2 Stm-10 Junction 854.85 857.95 854.85 857.95 0.00 1.88 856.20 0.00 1.75 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

3 Stm-11 Junction 854.73 857.95 854.73 857.95 0.00 2.40 856.17 0.00 1.78 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

4 stm-12 Junction 852.20 858.64 852.20 858.64 0.00 57.52 856.12 0.00 2.52 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

5 Stm-14 Junction 857.82 860.75 857.82 860.75 0.00 1.94 858.51 0.00 2.24 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

6 Stm-16 Junction 857.00 860.75 857.00 860.75 0.00 3.62 857.75 0.00 3.00 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

7 Stm-18 Junction 856.15 860.75 856.15 860.75 0.00 5.31 857.22 0.00 3.53 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

8 Stm-2 Junction 854.62 866.53 854.62 866.53 0.00 24.24 857.40 0.00 9.13 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

9 Stm-20 Junction 855.34 860.75 855.34 860.75 0.00 6.72 856.48 0.00 4.27 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

10 Stm-21 Junction 855.15 859.80 855.15 859.80 0.00 0.73 855.61 0.00 4.19 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

11 Stm-23 Junction 851.58 858.79 851.58 858.79 0.00 56.92 855.57 0.00 3.22 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

12 Stm-24 Junction 854.89 857.89 854.89 857.89 0.00 1.90 855.58 0.00 2.31 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

13 Stm-25 Junction 854.57 857.89 854.57 857.89 0.00 1.88 855.36 0.00 2.53 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

14 Stm-26 Junction 851.47 858.49 851.47 858.49 0.00 58.04 855.16 0.00 3.33 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

15 Stm-27(FES) Junction 851.42 851.42 851.42 851.42 0.00 37.37 854.53 0.00 0.89 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

16 Stm-28 Junction 850.97 858.30 850.97 858.30 0.00 93.99 854.36 0.00 3.94 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

17 Stm-3 Junction 854.50 867.31 854.50 867.31 0.00 24.10 857.18 0.00 10.13 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

18 Stm-30(FES) Junction 851.42 855.42 851.42 855.42 0.00 69.94 855.36 0.00 0.06 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

19 Stm-31 Junction 851.20 857.95 851.20 857.95 0.00 71.46 854.72 0.00 3.23 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

20 Stm-32 Junction 851.03 857.95 851.03 857.95 0.00 72.89 853.73 0.00 4.22 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

21 Stm-34 Junction 849.05 856.20 849.05 856.20 0.00 93.13 852.13 0.00 4.07 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

22 Stm-35 Junction 849.05 856.20 849.05 856.20 0.00 72.57 851.58 0.00 4.62 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

23 Stm-36 Junction 843.82 861.50 843.82 861.50 0.00 92.63 847.08 0.00 14.42 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

24 Stm-37 Junction 843.82 861.50 843.82 861.50 0.00 71.26 846.49 0.00 15.01 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

25 Stm-38 Junction 830.03 849.30 831.02 849.30 0.00 92.65 834.45 0.00 14.85 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

26 Stm-39 Junction 831.02 849.30 831.02 849.30 0.00 71.23 833.80 0.00 15.50 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

27 Stm-3A Junction 854.62 863.95 854.62 863.95 0.00 25.07 856.75 0.00 7.20 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

28 Stm-4 Junction 855.42 858.42 855.42 858.42 0.00 1.28 856.23 0.00 2.19 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

29 Stm-40 Junction 820.46 841.50 820.46 841.50 0.00 92.65 824.14 0.00 17.36 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

30 Stm-41 Junction 820.41 837.50 820.41 837.50 0.00 71.26 823.34 0.00 14.16 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

31 Stm-5 Junction 855.58 858.78 855.58 858.78 0.00 0.15 856.40 0.00 2.38 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

32 Stm-53 Junction 864.82 868.38 864.82 868.38 0.00 1.43 865.31 0.00 3.07 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

33 Stm-54 Junction 864.38 868.38 864.38 868.38 0.00 2.72 865.25 0.00 3.13 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

34 Stm-55 Junction 864.20 869.02 864.20 869.02 0.00 2.68 864.93 0.00 4.09 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

35 Stm-56 Junction 860.70 869.58 860.70 869.58 0.00 2.62 861.44 0.00 8.14 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

36 Stm-6 Junction 856.67 859.56 856.67 859.56 0.00 0.94 857.25 0.00 2.31 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

37 Stm-60 Junction 854.54 857.54 854.54 857.54 0.00 2.23 855.32 0.00 2.22 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

38 Stm-61 Junction 854.54 857.54 854.54 857.54 0.00 2.27 855.33 0.00 2.21 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

39 Stm-7 Junction 856.46 859.56 856.46 859.56 0.00 1.86 857.20 0.00 2.36 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

40 Stm-8 Junction 852.67 859.43 852.67 859.43 0.00 44.40 856.40 0.00 3.03 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

41 Stm-9(FES) Junction 854.00 854.00 854.00 854.00 0.00 13.41 856.29 0.00 0.21 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

42 Stm-D(FES) Junction 854.10 854.10 854.10 854.10 0.00 23.58 856.60 0.00 0.00 0  00:15 0.31 5.00

43 Stm-42(FES) Outfall 820.00 92.66 822.55

44 Stm-43(FES) Outfall 820.00 71.27 822.16

45 Stm-57(FES) Outfall 860.00 2.62 860.64

Print to PDF without this message by purchasing novaPDF (http://www.novapdf.com/)

http://www.novapdf.com
http://www.novapdf.com/


Link Summary
SN Element Element From To (Outlet) Length Inlet Outlet Average Diameter or Manning's Peak Design Flow Peak Flow/ Peak Flow Peak Flow Peak Flow Total Time Reported

ID Type (Inlet) Node Invert Invert Slope Height Roughness Flow Capacity Design Flow Velocity Depth Depth/ Surcharged Condition

Node Elevation Elevation Ratio Total Depth

Ratio

(ft) (ft) (ft) (%) (in) (cfs) (cfs) (ft/sec) (ft) (min)

1 10-11 Pipe Stm-10 Stm-11 39.60 854.85 854.73 0.3000 18.000 0.0130 1.91 5.78 0.33 1.93 1.39 0.93 0.00 Calculated

2 11-12 Pipe Stm-11 stm-12 24.00 854.73 854.65 0.3300 18.000 0.0150 2.43 5.26 0.46 2.81 1.46 0.97 0.00 Calculated

3 1-2 Pipe Stm-1 Stm-2 49.40 855.11 854.62 0.9900 36.000 0.0130 23.46 66.43 0.35 3.57 2.64 0.88 0.00 Calculated

4 12-23 Pipe stm-12 Stm-23 165.00 852.20 851.58 0.3800 48.000 0.0130 56.92 88.05 0.65 4.55 3.96 0.99 0.00 Calculated

5 14-16 Pipe Stm-14 Stm-16 136.00 857.82 857.00 0.6000 10.000 0.0100 1.87 2.21 0.84 3.75 0.72 0.86 0.00 Calculated

6 16-18 Pipe Stm-16 Stm-18 141.00 857.00 856.15 0.6000 15.000 0.0100 3.58 6.52 0.55 3.76 0.91 0.72 0.00 Calculated

7 18-20 Pipe Stm-18 Stm-20 135.00 856.15 855.34 0.6000 15.000 0.0100 5.15 6.50 0.79 4.52 1.10 0.88 0.00 Calculated

8 20-23 Pipe Stm-20 Stm-23 192.20 855.34 854.19 0.6000 18.000 0.0130 6.44 8.13 0.79 4.83 1.06 0.71 0.00 Calculated

9 21-24 Pipe Stm-21 Stm-24 25.70 855.15 854.89 1.0100 12.000 0.0130 0.72 3.58 0.20 1.69 0.57 0.57 0.00 Calculated

10 2-3 Pipe Stm-2 Stm-3 9.50 854.62 854.52 1.0500 36.000 0.0130 24.10 68.43 0.35 3.59 2.72 0.91 0.00 Calculated

11 23-26 Pipe Stm-23 Stm-26 56.00 851.59 851.48 0.2000 48.000 0.0130 56.21 63.66 0.88 4.57 3.83 0.96 0.00 Calculated

12 24-25 Pipe Stm-24 Stm-25 32.30 854.89 854.57 0.9900 12.000 0.0130 1.88 3.55 0.53 3.25 0.74 0.74 0.00 Calculated

13 25-26 Pipe Stm-25 Stm-26 7.20 854.57 854.50 0.9700 12.000 0.0130 1.83 3.51 0.52 3.70 0.72 0.72 0.00 Calculated

14 26-28 Pipe Stm-26 Stm-28 250.90 851.47 850.97 0.2000 48.000 0.0130 58.00 64.12 0.90 5.09 3.54 0.88 0.00 Calculated

15 27-28 Pipe Stm-27(FES) Stm-28 60.00 851.42 850.97 0.7500 48.000 0.0130 37.11 124.40 0.30 4.90 3.25 0.81 0.00 Calculated

16 28-34 Pipe Stm-28 Stm-34 252.00 850.97 849.05 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 93.13 125.38 0.74 8.62 3.23 0.81 0.00 Calculated

17 30-31 Pipe Stm-30(FES) Stm-31 30.00 851.42 851.20 0.7300 48.000 0.0130 69.89 123.01 0.57 5.73 3.73 0.93 0.00 Calculated

18 31-32 Pipe Stm-31 Stm-32 22.00 851.20 851.03 0.7700 48.000 0.0130 71.38 126.27 0.57 6.81 3.11 0.78 0.00 Calculated

19 32-35 Pipe Stm-32 Stm-35 260.00 851.03 849.05 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 72.57 125.35 0.58 8.40 2.60 0.65 0.00 Calculated

20 3-3A Pipe Stm-3 Stm-3A 77.20 854.50 854.19 0.4000 36.000 0.0130 23.95 26.30 0.91 4.17 2.40 0.80 0.00 Calculated

21 34-36 Pipe Stm-34 Stm-36 362.00 849.05 846.32 0.7500 48.000 0.0130 92.63 124.74 0.74 9.78 2.82 0.71 0.00 Calculated

22 35-37 Pipe Stm-35 Stm-37 360.00 849.05 846.32 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 71.26 125.09 0.57 9.34 2.35 0.59 0.00 Calculated

23 36-38 Pipe Stm-36 Stm-38 200.00 843.82 842.30 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 92.65 125.23 0.74 9.47 2.91 0.73 0.00 Calculated

24 37-39 Pipe Stm-37 Stm-39 200.00 843.82 842.30 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 71.23 125.23 0.57 8.99 2.42 0.60 0.00 Calculated

25 38-40 Pipe Stm-38 Stm-40 130.00 831.02 830.03 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 92.65 125.35 0.74 9.20 2.99 0.75 0.00 Calculated

26 39-41 Pipe Stm-39 Stm-41 130.00 831.02 830.03 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 71.26 125.35 0.57 8.77 2.47 0.62 0.00 Calculated

27 3A-8 Pipe Stm-3A Stm-8 176.10 854.19 853.49 0.4000 36.000 0.0130 24.59 53.43 0.46 5.09 2.52 0.84 0.00 Calculated

28 40-42 Pipe Stm-40 Stm-42(FES) 60.00 820.46 820.00 0.7700 48.000 0.0130 92.66 125.77 0.74 8.82 3.12 0.78 0.00 Calculated

29 4-10 Pipe Stm-4 Stm-10 60.00 855.42 855.10 0.5300 15.000 0.0130 1.21 4.72 0.26 2.72 0.95 0.76 0.00 Calculated

30 41-43 Pipe Stm-41 Stm-43(FES) 54.00 820.41 820.00 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 71.27 125.16 0.57 8.44 2.55 0.64 0.00 Calculated

31 53-54 Pipe Stm-53 Stm-54 22.00 864.82 864.38 2.0000 12.000 0.0130 1.39 5.04 0.28 2.57 0.68 0.68 0.00 Calculated

32 54-55 Pipe Stm-54 Stm-55 9.00 864.38 864.20 2.0000 12.000 0.0130 2.68 5.04 0.53 4.15 0.79 0.80 0.00 Calculated

33 55-56 Pipe Stm-55 Stm-56 93.40 864.20 863.27 1.0000 12.000 0.0130 2.62 3.56 0.74 4.61 0.68 0.68 0.00 Calculated

34 56-57 Pipe Stm-56 Stm-57(FES) 70.00 860.70 860.00 1.0000 12.000 0.0130 2.62 3.56 0.74 4.55 0.69 0.69 0.00 Calculated

35 5-8 Pipe Stm-5 Stm-8 9.40 855.58 855.49 0.9600 12.000 0.0130 0.15 3.49 0.04 1.04 0.86 0.87 0.00 Calculated

36 60-32 Pipe Stm-60 Stm-32 10.00 854.54 854.44 1.0000 12.000 0.0130 2.22 3.56 0.62 3.95 0.67 0.67 0.00 Calculated

37 61-31 Pipe Stm-61 Stm-31 10.00 854.54 854.44 1.0000 12.000 0.0130 2.26 3.56 0.64 3.96 0.68 0.68 0.00 Calculated

38 6-7 Pipe Stm-6 Stm-7 21.20 856.67 856.46 0.9900 12.000 0.0130 0.92 3.55 0.26 1.68 0.66 0.66 0.00 Calculated

39 7-8 Pipe Stm-7 Stm-8 56.30 856.47 856.19 0.5000 12.000 0.0130 1.84 2.51 0.73 3.37 0.66 0.66 0.00 Calculated

40 8-12 Pipe Stm-8 stm-12 116.00 852.67 852.20 0.4100 48.000 0.0150 42.88 79.24 0.54 3.65 3.83 0.96 0.00 Calculated

41 9-12 Pipe Stm-9(FES) stm-12 69.00 854.00 853.60 0.5800 30.000 0.0150 13.27 27.07 0.49 4.08 2.40 0.96 0.00 Calculated

42 D-8 Pipe Stm-8 Stm-D(FES) 30.00 854.10 853.87 0.7700 30.000 0.0130 21.41 2.37 9.04 4.88 2.40 0.96 0.00 > CAPACITY

Print to PDF without this message by purchasing novaPDF (http://www.novapdf.com/)

http://www.novapdf.com
http://www.novapdf.com/


Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
10-yr



Project Description
1411.40-IL SSA 2023-04-27 (IL-68 update).SPF

Project Options
CFS

Elevation

Rational

User-Defined

Hydrodynamic

YES

NO

Analysis Options
Feb 13, 2019 00:00:00

Feb 14, 2019 00:00:00

Feb 13, 2019 00:00:00

0 days

0 01:00:00 days hh:mm:ss

0 00:05:00 days hh:mm:ss

0 00:05:00 days hh:mm:ss

30 seconds

Number of Elements
Qty

0

29

45

42

3

0

0

0

42

0

42

0

0

0

0

0

0

Rainfall Details
100 year(s)

        Outlets ..........................................................................
Pollutants ..............................................................................

Land Uses ............................................................................

Return Period........................................................................

Links......................................................................................

        Channels ......................................................................
        Pipes ............................................................................
        Pumps ..........................................................................
        Orifices .........................................................................
        Weirs ............................................................................

Nodes....................................................................................

        Junctions ......................................................................
        Outfalls .........................................................................
        Flow Diversions ...........................................................
        Inlets ............................................................................
        Storage Nodes .............................................................

Runoff (Dry Weather) Time Step ..........................................

Runoff (Wet Weather) Time Step ........................................

Reporting Time Step ............................................................

Routing Time Step ................................................................

Rain Gages ...........................................................................

Subbasins..............................................................................

Enable Overflow Ponding at Nodes ......................................

Skip Steady State Analysis Time Periods ............................

Start Analysis On ..................................................................

End Analysis On ...................................................................

Start Reporting On ................................................................

Antecedent Dry Days ............................................................

File Name .............................................................................

Flow Units .............................................................................

Elevation Type ......................................................................

Hydrology Method .................................................................

Time of Concentration (TOC) Method ..................................

Link Routing Method .............................................................

Print to PDF without this message by purchasing novaPDF (http://www.novapdf.com/)

http://www.novapdf.com
http://www.novapdf.com/
jbryant
Rectangle



Subbasin Summary
SN Subbasin Area Weighted Total Total Total Peak Time of

ID Runoff Rainfall Runoff Runoff Runoff Concentration

Coefficient Volume

(ac) (in) (in) (ac-in) (cfs) (days hh:mm:ss)

1 Sub-001 0.14 0.7600 2.32 1.76 0.25 0.99 0  00:15:00

2 Sub-002 0.19 0.7500 2.32 1.74 0.33 1.32 0  00:15:00

3 Sub-004 0.35 0.6600 2.32 1.53 0.54 2.14 0  00:15:00

4 Sub-005 0.30 0.6800 2.32 1.58 0.47 1.89 0  00:15:00

5 Sub-006 0.29 0.5800 2.32 1.35 0.39 1.56 0  00:15:00

6 Sub-007 0.29 0.5800 2.32 1.35 0.39 1.56 0  00:15:00

7 Sub-008 2.53 0.8900 2.32 2.07 5.22 20.90 0  00:15:00

8 Sub-009 0.46 0.3500 2.32 0.81 0.37 1.49 0  00:15:00

9 Sub-010 0.19 0.6800 2.32 1.58 0.30 1.20 0  00:15:00

10 Sub-011 0.14 0.7000 2.32 1.62 0.23 0.91 0  00:15:00

11 Sub-013 0.29 0.9000 1.03 0.93 0.27 3.23 0  00:05:00

12 Sub-015 0.27 0.9000 1.03 0.93 0.25 3.00 0  00:05:00

13 Sub-017 0.28 0.9000 1.03 0.93 0.26 3.12 0  00:05:00

14 Sub-019 0.27 0.9000 1.03 0.93 0.25 3.00 0  00:05:00

15 Sub-024 0.26 0.8200 2.32 1.90 0.49 1.98 0  00:15:00

16 Sub-025 0.19 0.6600 1.03 0.68 0.13 1.55 0  00:05:00

17 Sub-028 0.15 0.7000 2.32 1.62 0.24 0.97 0  00:15:00

18 Sub-029 0.15 0.7700 2.32 1.79 0.27 1.07 0  00:15:00

19 Sub-030 2.74 0.8500 2.32 1.97 5.40 21.61 0  00:15:00

20 Sub-030A 2.74 0.8500 2.32 1.97 5.40 21.61 0  00:15:00

21 Sub-050 0.32 0.6000 1.03 0.62 0.20 2.37 0  00:05:00

22 Sub-051 0.31 0.5800 1.03 0.60 0.19 2.22 0  00:05:00

23 Sub-21 0.15 0.8800 2.32 2.04 0.31 1.23 0  00:15:00

24 Sub-60 0.39 0.7300 1.80 1.31 0.51 3.08 0  00:10:00

25 Sub-61 0.39 0.7300 1.80 1.31 0.51 3.08 0  00:10:00

26 Sub-A 4.87 0.8500 2.32 1.97 9.60 38.42 0  00:15:00

27 Sub-D 4.99 0.8500 2.32 1.97 9.84 39.36 0  00:15:00

28 Sub-I 4.88 0.9000 2.32 2.09 10.19 40.76 0  00:15:00

29 Sub-IA 11.39 0.9000 2.32 2.09 23.78 95.13 0  00:15:00

Print to PDF without this message by purchasing novaPDF (http://www.novapdf.com/)

http://www.novapdf.com
http://www.novapdf.com/


Node Summary
SN Element Element Invert Ground/Rim Initial Surcharge Ponded Peak Max HGL Max Min Time of Total Total Time

ID Type Elevation (Max) Water Elevation Area Inflow Elevation Surcharge Freeboard Peak Flooded Flooded

Elevation Elevation Attained Depth Attained Flooding Volume

Attained Occurrence

(ft) (ft) (ft) (ft) (ft²) (cfs) (ft) (ft) (ft) (days hh:mm) (ac-in) (min)

1 Stm-1 Junction 855.11 866.59 855.11 866.59 0.00 39.40 860.01 0.00 6.58 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

2 Stm-10 Junction 854.85 857.95 854.85 857.95 0.00 3.34 856.67 0.00 1.28 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

3 Stm-11 Junction 854.73 857.95 854.73 857.95 0.00 4.25 856.57 0.00 1.38 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

4 stm-12 Junction 852.20 858.64 852.20 858.64 0.00 55.47 856.43 0.00 2.21 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

5 Stm-14 Junction 857.82 860.75 857.82 860.75 0.00 3.22 860.75 0.00 0.00 0  00:05 0.03 2.00

6 Stm-16 Junction 857.00 860.75 857.00 860.75 0.00 5.34 860.75 0.00 0.00 0  00:04 0.00 0.00

7 Stm-18 Junction 856.15 860.75 856.15 860.75 0.00 7.89 860.75 0.00 0.00 0  00:04 0.00 0.00

8 Stm-2 Junction 854.62 866.53 854.62 866.53 0.00 40.71 859.35 0.00 7.18 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

9 Stm-20 Junction 855.34 860.75 855.34 860.75 0.00 10.61 860.75 0.00 0.00 0  00:04 0.00 0.00

10 Stm-21 Junction 855.15 859.80 855.15 859.80 0.00 1.22 856.59 0.00 3.21 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

11 Stm-23 Junction 851.58 858.79 851.58 858.79 0.00 59.46 855.99 0.00 2.80 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

12 Stm-24 Junction 854.89 857.89 854.89 857.89 0.00 3.20 856.52 0.00 1.37 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

13 Stm-25 Junction 854.57 857.89 854.57 857.89 0.00 3.20 856.00 0.00 1.89 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

14 Stm-26 Junction 851.47 858.49 851.47 858.49 0.00 60.61 855.68 0.00 2.81 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

15 Stm-27(FES) Junction 851.42 851.42 851.42 851.42 0.00 62.37 855.42 0.00 0.00 0  00:15 0.34 4.00

16 Stm-28 Junction 850.97 858.30 850.97 858.30 0.00 105.90 855.07 0.00 3.23 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

17 Stm-3 Junction 854.50 867.31 854.50 867.31 0.00 40.70 858.80 0.00 8.51 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

18 Stm-30(FES) Junction 851.42 855.42 851.42 855.42 0.00 116.74 855.42 0.00 0.00 0  00:15 4.62 12.00

19 Stm-31 Junction 851.20 857.95 851.20 857.95 0.00 73.20 854.82 0.00 3.13 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

20 Stm-32 Junction 851.03 857.95 851.03 857.95 0.00 76.58 853.84 0.00 4.11 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

21 Stm-34 Junction 849.05 856.20 849.05 856.20 0.00 105.81 852.56 0.00 3.64 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

22 Stm-35 Junction 849.05 856.20 849.05 856.20 0.00 76.54 851.70 0.00 4.50 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

23 Stm-36 Junction 843.82 861.50 843.82 861.50 0.00 105.54 847.70 0.00 13.80 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

24 Stm-37 Junction 843.82 861.50 843.82 861.50 0.00 76.27 846.62 0.00 14.88 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

25 Stm-38 Junction 830.03 849.30 831.02 849.30 0.00 105.50 835.14 0.00 14.16 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

26 Stm-39 Junction 831.02 849.30 831.02 849.30 0.00 76.29 833.93 0.00 15.37 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

27 Stm-3A Junction 854.62 863.95 854.62 863.95 0.00 42.62 857.99 0.00 5.96 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

28 Stm-4 Junction 855.42 858.42 855.42 858.42 0.00 2.14 856.79 0.00 1.63 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

29 Stm-40 Junction 820.46 841.50 820.46 841.50 0.00 105.50 824.72 0.00 16.78 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

30 Stm-41 Junction 820.41 837.50 820.41 837.50 0.00 76.30 823.50 0.00 14.00 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

31 Stm-5 Junction 855.58 858.78 855.58 858.78 0.00 0.31 856.67 0.00 2.11 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

32 Stm-53 Junction 864.82 868.38 864.82 868.38 0.00 2.37 867.64 0.00 0.74 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

33 Stm-54 Junction 864.38 868.38 864.38 868.38 0.00 4.59 867.38 0.00 1.00 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

34 Stm-55 Junction 864.20 869.02 864.20 869.02 0.00 4.59 866.78 0.00 2.24 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

35 Stm-56 Junction 860.70 869.58 860.70 869.58 0.00 4.59 862.58 0.00 7.00 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

36 Stm-6 Junction 856.67 859.56 856.67 859.56 0.00 1.56 857.82 0.00 1.74 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

37 Stm-60 Junction 854.54 857.54 854.54 857.54 0.00 3.72 855.79 0.00 1.75 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

38 Stm-61 Junction 854.54 857.54 854.54 857.54 0.00 3.79 855.81 0.00 1.73 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

39 Stm-7 Junction 856.46 859.56 856.46 859.56 0.00 3.12 857.72 0.00 1.84 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

40 Stm-8 Junction 852.67 859.43 852.67 859.43 0.00 45.81 856.67 0.00 2.76 0  00:00 0.00 0.00

41 Stm-9(FES) Junction 854.00 854.00 854.00 854.00 0.00 22.39 856.50 0.00 0.00 0  00:15 1.39 11.00

42 Stm-D(FES) Junction 854.10 854.10 854.10 854.10 0.00 47.91 856.60 0.00 0.00 0  00:15 6.29 15.00

43 Stm-42(FES) Outfall 820.00 105.50 822.81

44 Stm-43(FES) Outfall 820.00 76.31 822.26

45 Stm-57(FES) Outfall 860.00 4.42 861.00

Print to PDF without this message by purchasing novaPDF (http://www.novapdf.com/)

http://www.novapdf.com
http://www.novapdf.com/


Link Summary
SN Element Element From To (Outlet) Length Inlet Outlet Average Diameter or Manning's Peak Design Flow Peak Flow/ Peak Flow Peak Flow Peak Flow Total Time Reported

ID Type (Inlet) Node Invert Invert Slope Height Roughness Flow Capacity Design Flow Velocity Depth Depth/ Surcharged Condition

Node Elevation Elevation Ratio Total Depth

Ratio

(ft) (ft) (ft) (%) (in) (cfs) (cfs) (ft/sec) (ft) (min)

1 10-11 Pipe Stm-10 Stm-11 39.60 854.85 854.73 0.3000 18.000 0.0130 3.34 5.78 0.58 1.93 1.50 1.00 11.00 SURCHARGED

2 11-12 Pipe Stm-11 stm-12 24.00 854.73 854.65 0.3300 18.000 0.0150 4.25 5.26 0.81 2.79 1.50 1.00 12.00 SURCHARGED

3 1-2 Pipe Stm-1 Stm-2 49.40 855.11 854.62 0.9900 36.000 0.0130 39.39 66.43 0.59 5.57 3.00 1.00 9.00 SURCHARGED

4 12-23 Pipe stm-12 Stm-23 165.00 852.20 851.58 0.3800 48.000 0.0130 55.27 88.05 0.63 4.40 4.00 1.00 12.00 SURCHARGED

5 14-16 Pipe Stm-14 Stm-16 136.00 857.82 857.00 0.6000 10.000 0.0100 2.76 2.21 1.25 5.07 0.83 1.00 4.00 SURCHARGED

6 16-18 Pipe Stm-16 Stm-18 141.00 857.00 856.15 0.6000 15.000 0.0100 5.06 6.52 0.78 4.12 1.25 1.00 3.00 SURCHARGED

7 18-20 Pipe Stm-18 Stm-20 135.00 856.15 855.34 0.6000 15.000 0.0100 7.88 6.50 1.21 6.42 1.25 1.00 4.00 SURCHARGED

8 20-23 Pipe Stm-20 Stm-23 192.20 855.34 854.19 0.6000 18.000 0.0130 10.61 8.13 1.31 6.25 1.38 0.92 0.00 > CAPACITY

9 21-24 Pipe Stm-21 Stm-24 25.70 855.15 854.89 1.0100 12.000 0.0130 1.23 3.58 0.34 1.69 1.00 1.00 6.00 SURCHARGED

10 2-3 Pipe Stm-2 Stm-3 9.50 854.62 854.52 1.0500 36.000 0.0130 40.70 68.43 0.59 5.76 3.00 1.00 10.00 SURCHARGED

11 23-26 Pipe Stm-23 Stm-26 56.00 851.59 851.48 0.2000 48.000 0.0130 58.59 63.66 0.92 4.73 4.00 1.00 8.00 SURCHARGED

12 24-25 Pipe Stm-24 Stm-25 32.30 854.89 854.57 0.9900 12.000 0.0130 3.20 3.55 0.90 4.08 1.00 1.00 8.00 SURCHARGED

13 25-26 Pipe Stm-25 Stm-26 7.20 854.57 854.50 0.9700 12.000 0.0130 3.20 3.51 0.91 4.08 1.00 1.00 7.00 SURCHARGED

14 26-28 Pipe Stm-26 Stm-28 250.90 851.47 850.97 0.2000 48.000 0.0130 59.62 64.12 0.93 5.13 4.00 1.00 5.00 SURCHARGED

15 27-28 Pipe Stm-27(FES) Stm-28 60.00 851.42 850.97 0.7500 48.000 0.0130 53.52 124.40 0.43 5.44 4.00 1.00 4.00 SURCHARGED

16 28-34 Pipe Stm-28 Stm-34 252.00 850.97 849.05 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 105.81 125.38 0.84 8.69 3.75 0.94 0.00 Calculated

17 30-31 Pipe Stm-30(FES) Stm-31 30.00 851.42 851.20 0.7300 48.000 0.0130 71.64 123.01 0.58 5.83 3.81 0.95 0.00 Calculated

18 31-32 Pipe Stm-31 Stm-32 22.00 851.20 851.03 0.7700 48.000 0.0130 73.11 126.27 0.58 6.84 3.22 0.80 0.00 Calculated

19 32-35 Pipe Stm-32 Stm-35 260.00 851.03 849.05 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 76.54 125.35 0.61 8.53 2.73 0.68 0.00 Calculated

20 3-3A Pipe Stm-3 Stm-3A 77.20 854.50 854.19 0.4000 36.000 0.0130 40.73 26.30 1.55 5.76 3.00 1.00 3.00 SURCHARGED

21 34-36 Pipe Stm-34 Stm-36 362.00 849.05 846.32 0.7500 48.000 0.0130 105.54 124.74 0.85 9.94 3.17 0.79 0.00 Calculated

22 35-37 Pipe Stm-35 Stm-37 360.00 849.05 846.32 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 76.27 125.09 0.61 9.45 2.45 0.61 0.00 Calculated

23 36-38 Pipe Stm-36 Stm-38 200.00 843.82 842.30 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 105.50 125.23 0.84 9.54 3.35 0.84 0.00 Calculated

24 37-39 Pipe Stm-37 Stm-39 200.00 843.82 842.30 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 76.29 125.23 0.61 9.11 2.53 0.63 0.00 Calculated

25 38-40 Pipe Stm-38 Stm-40 130.00 831.02 830.03 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 105.50 125.35 0.84 9.25 3.41 0.85 0.00 Calculated

26 39-41 Pipe Stm-39 Stm-41 130.00 831.02 830.03 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 76.30 125.35 0.61 8.90 2.58 0.65 0.00 Calculated

27 3A-8 Pipe Stm-3A Stm-8 176.10 854.19 853.49 0.4000 36.000 0.0130 42.70 53.43 0.80 6.04 3.00 1.00 3.00 SURCHARGED

28 40-42 Pipe Stm-40 Stm-42(FES) 60.00 820.46 820.00 0.7700 48.000 0.0130 105.50 125.77 0.84 9.26 3.40 0.85 0.00 Calculated

29 4-10 Pipe Stm-4 Stm-10 60.00 855.42 855.10 0.5300 15.000 0.0130 2.15 4.72 0.46 2.74 1.25 1.00 3.00 SURCHARGED

30 41-43 Pipe Stm-41 Stm-43(FES) 54.00 820.41 820.00 0.7600 48.000 0.0130 76.31 125.16 0.61 8.54 2.68 0.67 0.00 Calculated

31 53-54 Pipe Stm-53 Stm-54 22.00 864.82 864.38 2.0000 12.000 0.0130 2.37 5.04 0.47 3.02 1.00 1.00 2.00 SURCHARGED

32 54-55 Pipe Stm-54 Stm-55 9.00 864.38 864.20 2.0000 12.000 0.0130 4.59 5.04 0.91 5.84 1.00 1.00 2.00 SURCHARGED

33 55-56 Pipe Stm-55 Stm-56 93.40 864.20 863.27 1.0000 12.000 0.0130 4.59 3.56 1.29 5.98 0.95 0.95 0.00 > CAPACITY

34 56-57 Pipe Stm-56 Stm-57(FES) 70.00 860.70 860.00 1.0000 12.000 0.0130 4.42 3.56 1.24 5.63 1.00 1.00 2.00 SURCHARGED

35 5-8 Pipe Stm-5 Stm-8 9.40 855.58 855.49 0.9600 12.000 0.0130 0.31 3.49 0.09 1.40 1.00 1.00 8.00 SURCHARGED

36 60-32 Pipe Stm-60 Stm-32 10.00 854.54 854.44 1.0000 12.000 0.0130 3.72 3.56 1.05 4.96 0.91 0.91 0.00 > CAPACITY

37 61-31 Pipe Stm-61 Stm-31 10.00 854.54 854.44 1.0000 12.000 0.0130 3.79 3.56 1.06 5.04 0.91 0.91 0.00 > CAPACITY

38 6-7 Pipe Stm-6 Stm-7 21.20 856.67 856.46 0.9900 12.000 0.0130 1.56 3.55 0.44 1.99 1.00 1.00 3.00 SURCHARGED

39 7-8 Pipe Stm-7 Stm-8 56.30 856.47 856.19 0.5000 12.000 0.0130 3.12 2.51 1.24 4.27 0.88 0.88 0.00 > CAPACITY

40 8-12 Pipe Stm-8 stm-12 116.00 852.67 852.20 0.4100 48.000 0.0150 41.42 79.24 0.52 3.74 4.00 1.00 0.00 Calculated

41 9-12 Pipe Stm-9(FES) stm-12 69.00 854.00 853.60 0.5800 30.000 0.0150 14.30 27.07 0.53 4.19 2.50 1.00 11.00 SURCHARGED

42 D-8 Pipe Stm-8 Stm-D(FES) 30.00 854.10 853.87 0.7700 30.000 0.0130 21.45 2.37 9.06 4.92 2.50 1.00 6.00 SURCHARGED

Print to PDF without this message by purchasing novaPDF (http://www.novapdf.com/)

http://www.novapdf.com
http://www.novapdf.com/


Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Autodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary AnalysisAutodesk Storm and Sanitary Analysis

jbryant
Text Box
100-yr



Project:

Project No.: 

Date:

SOLVE FOR DEPTH OF PONDING - H (USE EQUATION WHICH YIELDS LARGER DEPTH)

0.070 0.090 0.200

0.090 0.070 0.150

1.1 1.1 1.1

4.6 4.6 4.6

10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR.

I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36

Q (cfs) 0.703 1.168 Q (cfs) 0.785 1.304 Q (cfs) 1.730 2.874

H (ft.) 0.13 0.18 H (ft.) 0.14 0.19 H (ft.) 0.24 0.33

0.180 0.110 0.090

0.120 0.080 0.050

1.1 1.1 1.1

4.6 4.6 4.6

10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR.

I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36

Q (cfs) 1.518 2.521 Q (cfs) 0.945 1.570 Q (cfs) 0.733 1.217

H (ft.) 0.22 0.30 H (ft.) 0.16 0.22 H (ft.) 0.13 0.19

0.120 0.120 0.150

0.170 0.170 0.170

1.1 1.1 1.1

4.6 4.6 4.6

10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR.

I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36

Q (cfs) 1.246 2.070 Q (cfs) 1.246 2.070 Q (cfs) 1.447 2.404

H (ft.) 0.19 0.26 H (ft.) 0.19 0.26 H (ft.) 0.21 0.29

0.220 0.110 0.130

0.040 0.080 0.180

1.1 1.1 1.1

4.6 4.6 4.6

10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR.

I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36

Q (cfs) 1.577 2.620 Q (cfs) 0.945 1.570 Q (cfs) 1.339 2.225

H (ft.) 0.22 0.31 H (ft.) 0.16 0.22 H (ft.) 0.20 0.28

GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = 

54 (R-3015)

Tc (min.) = 5

GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = 

PER. AREA (ac.) = 

RUNOFF C = 0.581

AREA (ac.)= 0.310

IMP. AREA (ac.) = 

Structure No.

GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = 

Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5

GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = 

IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = 

PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = 

RUNOFF C = 0.815 RUNOFF C = 0.668

Structure No. 24 (R-3015) Structure No. 25 (R-3015)

AREA (ac.)= 0.260 AREA (ac.)= 0.190

Rock Road Business Park

1411.40-IL

3/21/2023

INLET CAPACITY

Structure No. 1 (R-3015) Structure No. 2 (R-3015) Structure No. 4 (R-3015)

AREA (ac.)= 0.160 AREA (ac.)= 0.160 AREA (ac.)= 0.350

IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = 

PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = 

RUNOFF C = 0.591 RUNOFF C = 0.659 RUNOFF C = 0.664

Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5

GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = 

GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = 

Structure No. 5 Structure No. 10 Structure No. 11

AREA (ac.)= 0.300 AREA (ac.)= 0.190 AREA (ac.)= 0.140

IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = 

PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = 

RUNOFF C = 0.680 RUNOFF C = 0.668 RUNOFF C = 0.704

Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5

GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = 

GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = 

Structure No. 6 (R-3015) Structure No. 7 (R-3015) Structure No. 53 (R-3015)

AREA (ac.)= 0.290 AREA (ac.)= 0.290 AREA (ac.)= 0.320

IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = 

PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = 

RUNOFF C = 0.578 RUNOFF C = 0.578 RUNOFF C = 0.608

GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = 

Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5

GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = 



0.370 0.380 0.147

0.170 0.160 0.003

1.1 1.1 0.9

4.6 4.6 6.0

10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR.

I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36

Q (cfs) 2.920 4.851 Q (cfs) 2.961 4.919 Q (cfs) 0.992 1.648

H (ft.) 0.33 0.84 H (ft.) 0.34 0.86 H (ft.) 0.14 0.19

0.270 0.280 0.270

0.000 0.000 0.000

0.9 0.9 0.9

6.0 6.0 6.0

10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR. 10-YR. 100-YR.

I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36 I (in.) 7.44 12.36

Q (cfs) 1.808 3.003 Q (cfs) 1.875 3.115 Q (cfs) 1.808 3.003

H (ft.) 0.20 0.48 H (ft.) 0.21 0.52 H (ft.) 0.20 0.48

0.290

0.000

0.9

6.0

10-YR. 100-YR.

I (in.) 7.44 12.36

Q (cfs) 1.942 3.226

H (ft.) 0.21 0.55

GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = 

Tc (min.) = 5

GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = 

PER. AREA (ac.) = 

RUNOFF C = 0.900

AREA (ac.)= 0.290

IMP. AREA (ac.) = 

GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = 

Structure No. 14 (R-2504)

Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5

GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = 

PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = 

RUNOFF C = 0.900 RUNOFF C = 0.900 RUNOFF C = 0.900

AREA (ac.)= 0.270 AREA (ac.)= 0.280 AREA (ac.)= 0.270

IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = 

GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = GRATE PERIMETER (ft.) = 

Structure No. 20 (R-2504) Structure No. 18 (R-2504) Structure No. 16 (R-2504)

Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5 Tc (min.) = 5

GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = GRATE AREA (sq.ft.) = 

PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = PER. AREA (ac.) = 

RUNOFF C = 0.727 RUNOFF C = 0.737 RUNOFF C = 0.889

AREA (ac.)= 0.540 AREA (ac.)= 0.540 AREA (ac.)= 0.150

IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = IMP. AREA (ac.) = 

Structure No. 60 (R-3015) Structure No. 61 (R-3015) Structure No. 21 (R-2504)



821.50
82

1.5
0

(873.35)

(873.80)
873.17

PALUMBO LAKE

AREA I
A=16.27
C=0.90

AREA G
A=14.92
C=0.90

AREA 60
A=0.39
C=0.73

AREA A
A=4.81
C=0.85

No. 008
A=2.53
C=0.89

No. 013
A=0.29
C=0.90

No. 001
A=0.16
C=0.58

No. 002
A=0.16
C=0.65

No. 004
A=0.35
C=0.66

No. 011
A=0.14
C=0.70

AREA E
A=8.40
C=0.90

AREA D
A=4.96
C=0.85

No. 025
A=0.19
C=0.66

No. 028
A=0.15
C=0.70

No. 015
A=0.27
C=0.90

No. 030
A=2.74
C=0.85

No. 017
A=0.28
C=0.90

No. 029
A=0.15
C=0.77

No. 024
A=0.26
C=0.82

No. 010
A=0.19
C=0.68

No. 019
A=0.27
C=0.90

AREA B
A=3.51
C=0.85

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE
TO PALUMBO LAKE

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE
TO PALUMBO LAKE

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE
TO PALUMBO LAKE

No. 005
A=0.30
C=0.68

No. 007
A=0.29
C=0.58

No. 006
A=0.29
C=0.58

AREA 50
A=0.32
C=0.60

AREA 51
A=0.31
C=0.58

No. 009
A=0.46
C=0.35

No. 021
A=0.15
C=0.88

AREA C
A=1.26
C=0.51

 EXISTING
OUTFALL &

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE

 EXISTING
OUTFALL &

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE

AREA 61
A=0.39
C=0.73

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
23

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER
ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK - PROPOSED STORM SEWER TRIBUTARY MAP JOB NO. 1411.40-IL

NORTH

SCALE: 1"=80'

1/06/2023

RUNOFF COEFFICIENTS
IMPERVIOUS = 0.90  (PAVEMENT & BUILDING)
PERVIOUS  = 0.35  (GREEN / OPEN SPACE)

NOMENCLATURE
A = AREA (ACRES)
C = COMPOSITE RUNOFF COEFFICIENT

       NO.     = AREA NUMBER

PRE-TREATMENT BASIN
TRIBUTARY AREA EXHIBIT

A              4.81 ACRES 
001          0.16 ACRES 
002          0.16 ACRES 
004          0.35 ACRES 
005          0.30 ACRES 
010          0.19 ACRES 
011          0.14 ACRES 
007          0.29 ACRES 
006          0.29 ACRES 
D             4.96 ACRES 
50            0.32 ACRES 
51            0.31 ACRES 
009          0.46 ACRES 
008          2.53 ACRES 
024          0.26 ACRES 
025          0.19 ACRES 
021          0.15 ACRES 
019          0.27 ACRES 
017          0.28 ACRES 
015          0.27 ACRES 
013          0.29 ACRES 
E              8.40 ACRES 
28            0.15 ACRES 
29            0.15 ACRES 
30            2.74 ACRES 
G           14.92 ACRES 
60            0.39 ACRES 
61            0.39 ACRES 
I             16.27 ACRES 

TOTAL AREA 60.39 ACRES



1411.40-IL Rock Road updated 3-22-23, CN comparison added 3/23/23

East Dundee, IL

Trib 

Area 

Name

Pervious Area

(ac)

Impervious 

Area (ac)

Total Area

(ac)

Adjusted 

C C

A 0.400 4.41 4.81 0.85 Impervious 0.90

B Pervious 0.35

C

D 0.450 4.51 4.96 0.85

E 0.000 8.40 8.40 0.90

G 0.000 14.92 14.92 0.90

I 0.000 16.27 16.27 0.90

001 0.094 0.07 0.16 0.58

002 0.075 0.09 0.16 0.65

005 0.121 0.18 0.30 0.68

006 0.171 0.12 0.29 0.58

007 0.171 0.12 0.29 0.58

008 0.030 2.50 2.53 0.89

009 0.460 0.00 0.46 0.35

004 0.150 0.20 0.35 0.66

010 0.076 0.11 0.19 0.68

011 0.053 0.09 0.14 0.70

013 0.000 0.29 0.29 0.90

015 0.000 0.27 0.27 0.90

017 0.000 0.28 0.28 0.90

019 0.000 0.27 0.27 0.90

021 0.004 0.147 0.15 0.88

024 0.039 0.22 0.26 0.82

025 0.083 0.11 0.19 0.66

028 0.057 0.10 0.15 0.70

029 0.037 0.11 0.15 0.77

030 0.243 2.50 2.74 0.85

050 0.172 0.15 0.32 0.60

051 0.181 0.13 0.31 0.58

060 0.12 0.27 0.39 0.73

061 0.12 0.27 0.39 0.73

3.31 57.11 60.41 95.98 CN

5% 95% Impervious 98.00

Pervious 61.00

(99.6% of soils are type B)

Overall CN

























Huff 0-10sm 4Q scaled to 72.00 hrs  75 100-yr, 72 hr Rainfall=9.85", Smoothing=On1411.40-IL
  Printed  10/6/2022Prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group

HydroCAD® 10.20-2f  s/n 07894  © 2022 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Events for Subcatchment 1S: Drainage Area

Event Rainfall

(inches)

Runoff

(cfs)

Volume

(acre-feet)

Depth

(inches)

75 100-yr, 24 hr 8.57 57.67 37.964 7.01

75 100-yr, 1 hr 4.03 231.06 14.438 2.66

75 100-yr, 12 hr 7.46 85.81 32.108 5.92

75 100-yr, 120 hr 10.66 4.30 13.059 2.41

75 100-yr, 18 hr 8.06 71.38 35.269 6.51

75 100-yr, 2 hr 4.97 208.81 19.179 3.54

75 100-yr, 240 hr 12.65 1.67 4.610 0.85

75 100-yr, 3 hr 5.49 179.82 21.844 4.03

75 100-yr, 48 hr 9.28 32.62 41.728 7.70

75 100-yr, 6 hr 6.43 134.17 26.715 4.93

75 100-yr, 72 hr 9.85 23.26 44.752 8.26

CRITICAL DURATION STORM FOR
100-YEAR EMERGENCY OVERFLOW







821.50
82

1.5
0

(873.35)

(873.80)
873.17

PALUMBO LAKE

AREA I
A=16.27
C=0.90

AREA G
A=14.92
C=0.90

AREA 60
A=0.39
C=0.73

AREA A
A=4.81
C=0.85

No. 008
A=2.53
C=0.89

No. 013
A=0.29
C=0.90

No. 001
A=0.16
C=0.58

No. 002
A=0.16
C=0.65

No. 004
A=0.35
C=0.66

No. 011
A=0.14
C=0.70

AREA E
A=8.40
C=0.90

AREA D
A=4.96
C=0.85

No. 025
A=0.19
C=0.66

No. 028
A=0.15
C=0.70

No. 015
A=0.27
C=0.90

No. 030
A=2.74
C=0.85

No. 017
A=0.28
C=0.90

No. 029
A=0.15
C=0.77

No. 024
A=0.26
C=0.82

No. 010
A=0.19
C=0.68

No. 019
A=0.27
C=0.90

AREA B
A=3.51
C=0.85

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE
TO PALUMBO LAKE

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE
TO PALUMBO LAKE

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE
TO PALUMBO LAKE

No. 005
A=0.30
C=0.68

No. 007
A=0.29
C=0.58

No. 006
A=0.29
C=0.58

AREA 50
A=0.32
C=0.60

AREA 51
A=0.31
C=0.58

No. 009
A=0.46
C=0.35

No. 021
A=0.15
C=0.88

AREA C
A=1.26
C=0.51

 EXISTING
OUTFALL &

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE

 EXISTING
OUTFALL &

FUTURE STORM
SEWER

CONVEYANCE

AREA 61
A=0.39
C=0.73

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
23

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER
ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK - PROPOSED STORM SEWER TRIBUTARY MAP JOB NO. 1411.40-IL

NORTH

SCALE: 1"=80'

1/06/2023

RUNOFF COEFFICIENTS
IMPERVIOUS = 0.90  (PAVEMENT & BUILDING)
PERVIOUS  = 0.35  (GREEN / OPEN SPACE)

NOMENCLATURE
A = AREA (ACRES)
C = COMPOSITE RUNOFF COEFFICIENT

       NO.     = AREA NUMBER

100-YEAR OVERFLOW
100-YEAR COMPOSITE RUNOFF COEFFICIENT

CROSS-SECTION A-A
A              4.81 ACRES @ 0.85
001          0.16 ACRES @ 0.58
002          0.16 ACRES @ 0.65
004          0.35 ACRES @ 0.66
005          0.30 ACRES @ 0.68
010          0.19 ACRES @ 0.68
011          0.14 ACRES @ 0.70
007          0.29 ACRES @ 0.58
006          0.29 ACRES @ 0.58
D             4.96 ACRES @ 0.85
009          0.46 ACRES @ 0.35
008          2.53 ACRES @ 0.89

"C" WEIGHTED AVERAGE 11.91/14.64 ACRES = 0.81

ASSUME A TIME OF CONCENTRATION OF 15 MINUTES
I100 = 9.28

100 YEAR FLOW AT OVERFLOW A-A 
      Q100 = 0.81 X 9.28 X 14.64 = 110.05 CFS

FLOW IN STORM SEWER 48" PIPE AT 0.38% = 88.52 CFS
OVERLAND FLOW CAPACITY REQUIREMENT 
110.05 - 88.52 = 22.88 CFS

OVERFLOW CAPACITY AT A-A = 39.21 CFS

CROSS-SECTION B-B
A-A        14.64 ACRES @ 0.81
024          0.26 ACRES @ 0.82
025          0.19 ACRES @ 0.66
021          0.15 ACRES @ 0.88
019          0.27 ACRES @ 0.90
017          0.28 ACRES @ 0.90
015          0.27 ACRES @ 0.90
013          0.29 ACRES @ 0.90

"C" WEIGHTED AVERAGE 13.13/16.35 ACRES = 0.80
ASSUME A TIME OF CONCENTRATION OF 15 MINUTES
I100 = 9.28

100 YEAR FLOW AT OVERFLOW B-B 
     Q100 = 0.80 X 9.28 X 16.35 = 121.85 CFS

FLOW IN STORM SEWER 48" PIPE AT 0.38% = 88.52 CFS
OVERLAND FLOW CAPACITY REQUIREMENT 
121.85 - 88.52 = 33.33

OVERFLOW CAPACITY AT B-B = 39.21 CFS

AA

BB



PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP Plan | Design | Deliver
www.pinnacle-engr.com

Project: Rock Road Development

Project No.: 1411.40-IL

Date: 3/18/2023

WEIR COEFFICIENT K (<1) -

WEIR LENGTH L (ft.) - 

WEIR ELEVATION (ft.) - 

LEFT SIDE SLOPE (H:V) (ft.) - 50.00 : 1 858.64 0.00 0.000

RIGHT SIDE SLOPE (H:V) (ft.) - 0.01 : 1 858.65 0.01 0.049

858.66 0.02 0.139

858.67 0.03 0.259

858.68 0.04 0.402

858.69 0.05 0.568

858.70 0.06 0.755

858.71 0.07 0.961

858.72 0.08 1.186

858.73 0.09 1.430

858.74 0.10 1.692

858.75 0.11 1.971

859.06 0.42 19.223

* Water elevation must be higher than weir elevation

TRAPEZOIDAL WEIR SIZING

SIZING IS BASED ON THE FOLLOWING EQUATION:

WEIR DATA RATING TABLE

0.50 WATER 

ELEVATION *

(ft.)

HEAD

(ft.)

Q

(cfs)

18.00

858.64

Where:

Q = FLOW (cfs)

K = WEIR COEFFICIENT

L = WEIR LENGTH (ft.)

H = HEAD (ft.)

g = 32.2 ft/sec

S1 = LEFT SIDE SLOPE

S2 = RIGHT SIDE SLOPE

( )[ ] ( )[ ] ( )[ ]5.2
2

5.05.2

1

5.05.15.0
2158

2

1
2158

2

1
232 HSgKHSgKHgLKQ ××××+××××+××××=



PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP Plan | Design | Deliver
www.pinnacle-engr.com

Project: Rock Road Development

Project No.: 1411.40-IL

Date: 3/18/2023

WEIR COEFFICIENT K (<1) -

WEIR LENGTH L (ft.) - 

WEIR ELEVATION (ft.) - 

LEFT SIDE SLOPE (H:V) (ft.) - 0.01 : 1 859.06 0.00 0.000

RIGHT SIDE SLOPE (H:V) (ft.) - 0.01 : 1 859.07 0.01 0.096

859.08 0.02 0.272

859.09 0.03 0.500

859.10 0.04 0.770

859.11 0.05 1.077

859.12 0.06 1.415

859.13 0.07 1.784

859.14 0.08 2.179

859.15 0.09 2.600

859.16 0.10 3.045

859.17 0.11 3.513

859.18 0.12 4.003

* Water elevation must be higher than weir elevation

TRAPEZOIDAL WEIR SIZING

SIZING IS BASED ON THE FOLLOWING EQUATION:

WEIR DATA RATING TABLE

0.50 WATER 

ELEVATION *

(ft.)

HEAD

(ft.)

Q

(cfs)

36.00

859.06

Where:

Q = FLOW (cfs)

K = WEIR COEFFICIENT

L = WEIR LENGTH (ft.)

H = HEAD (ft.)

g = 32.2 ft/sec

S1 = LEFT SIDE SLOPE

S2 = RIGHT SIDE SLOPE

( )[ ] ( )[ ] ( )[ ]5.2
2

5.05.2

1

5.05.15.0
2158

2

1
2158

2

1
232 HSgKHSgKHgLKQ ××××+××××+××××=



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                               PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER PAGE F 

Appendix F – Kane County Stormwater Management Permit Application 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

KANE COUNTY 

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PERMIT 

APPLICATION 
 
 

 

 

 

Applicant Name 

 Company Pal Land LLC 
 Address 201 Christina Drive 
 City, State ZIP East Dundee, IL 60118 
 Telephone No. (708) 373-1900 
 EMAIL paljoe@msn.com 

  Owner Name(s)  

 Company Pal Land LLC 
 Address 201 Christina Drive 
 City, State ZIP     East Dundee, IL 60118  
 Telephone No.   (708) 373-1900 
 EMAIL paljoe@msn.com 

  Developer Name 

 Company Pal Land LLC 
 Address 201 Christina Drive 
 City, State ZIP East Dundee, IL 60118 
 Telephone No. (708) 373-1900 

 

 

  Project Information: 

Common Address of 
Development  

1150-1151 Penny Ave. (future address unknown at this time) 

Legal Description 
(attached if necessary)  

 

TBD 

Parcel Identification  
Number(s) (PIN)   

03-24-177-006, 03-24-177-007, 03-24-276-008 

Project Name   Rock Road Business Park 

Area of 
Distribution/Land  
Cover Change (Acre)   

9.32 Acres +/- 

 

Stormwater 
Management 
Table (9-81) 

☐ New Impervious Area since Jan. 1, 2002 (existing) 0 sq ft 

☐ New Impervious Area (proposed with this application) 0 sq ft 

☐ Existing Impervious surface to be removed 0 sq ft 

☐ Net (New) Impervious Area 0 sq ft 
 

  

 
 

Submit Application to: 

REVISION 06/01/2019 

 





N
am

e
s 

&
 A

d
d

re
ss

es
 o

f 
al

l a
d

jo
in

in
g 

p
ro

p
er

ty
 o

w
n

er
s 

w
it

h
in

 2
5

0
 f

ee
t 

o
f 

th
e 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t:

 

P
ar

ce
l 

A
d

d
re

ss
 

C
it

y 
O

w
n

er
 

0
3

2
4

1
7

7
0

0
6

 
 

 
P

A
L

 L
A

N
D

 L
L
C

  
2

0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

1
0

1
0

0
2

 
1

6
N

87
1

 Jo
h

n
 F

. K
en

n
ed

y 
M

em
o

ri
al

 D
r 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

D
U

N
D

E
E

 
T

O
W

N
S

H
IP

 
P

A
R

K
 

D
IS

T
R

IC
T

 
D

E
P

U
T

Y
 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
 2

1
 N

 W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
 S

T
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

-2
6

1
5

 
0

3
2

4
1

2
6

0
0

1
 

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

N
O

R
T

H
 S

T
A

R
 T

R
U

S
T

 C
O

, 
S

U
C

C
 T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
 #

 R
B

 
1

3
4

5
 C

H
IC

A
G

O
 T

IT
L
E

 L
A

N
D

 T
R

U
S

T
 C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

 1
0

 S
 L

A
 

S
A

L
L
E

 S
T

 S
T

E
 2

7
5

0
 C

H
IC

A
G

O
, 
IL

, 
6

0
6

0
3

-1
1
0

8
 

0
3

2
4

1
2

6
0

3
1

 
2

0
4

 H
ar

ri
so

n
 S

t 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

A
G

U
IR

R
E

, 
R

A
M

O
N

 2
0
4

 H
A

R
R

IS
O

N
 S

T
 

C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
1

2
6

0
3

2
 

2
0

2
 H

ar
ri

so
n

 S
t 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
F

E
R

N
A

N
D

E
Z

, 
M

A
R

IA
 M

A
R

IA
 E

 F
E

R
N

A
N

D
E

Z
 2

0
2

 
H

A
R

R
IS

O
N

 S
T

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

-2
3
1

1
 

0
3

2
4

1
2

6
0

3
3

 
2

0
0

 H
ar

ri
so

n
 S

t 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

S
A

N
C

H
E

Z
, 
J
O

S
E

 L
 &

 L
O

R
E

N
A

 R
 2

0
0

 H
A

R
R

IS
O

N
 S

T
 

C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
1

2
9

0
4

1
 

3
0

0
2

 W
ak

ef
ie

ld
 D

r 
(3

0
0

2
 R

o
u

te
 6

8
) 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

E
X

S
T

O
R

E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

IE
S

 C
O

R
P

 %
 C

/O
 T

H
E

 
S

O
U

T
H

L
A

N
D

 C
O

R
P

 P
O

 B
O

X
 7

1
1

 D
A

L
L

A
S

, 
T

X
, 
7

5
2

2
1

 

0
3

2
4

1
2

9
0

4
5

 
7

2
1

 Il
lin

o
is

 R
o

u
te

 6
8

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

S
A

L
 R

A
Y

 L
L
C

 5
0

9
0

 T
H

O
R

N
B

A
R

K
 D

R
 H

O
F

F
M

A
N

 
E

S
T

A
T

E
S

, 
IL

, 
6

0
0

1
0

-5
8
5
8

 
0

3
2

4
1

2
9

0
4

6
 

 
 

K
A

N
E

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

 P
O

 B
O

X
 9

6
 E

D
W

A
R

D
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

2
0

2
5

-0
0

9
6

 
0

3
2

4
1

2
9

0
4

8
 

6
5

1
 Il

lin
o

is
 R

o
u

te
 6

8
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
R

IV
E

R
A

S
 G

R
E

G
O

R
Y

 C
O

R
P

 5
5

5
 D

A
R

T
M

O
O

R
 D

R
 

C
R

Y
S

T
A

L
 L

A
K

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
0

1
4

-8
4

0
5

 
0

3
2

4
1

5
2

0
0

1
 

3
2

W
8

1
9

 Il
lin

o
is

 R
o

u
te

 6
8

 
Ea

st
 D

u
n

d
ee

 
S

T
O

R
M

, 
G

L
E

N
N

 R
 J

R
 &

 K
A

R
E

N
 1

6
N

5
3
5

 V
IS

T
A

 L
N

 
D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1
1

8
-1

4
3

5
 

0
3

2
4

1
5

2
0

0
2

 
1

6
N

53
5

 V
is

ta
 L

n
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

S
T

O
R

M
, 
G

L
E

N
N

 R
 J

R
 &

 K
A

R
E

N
 S

 1
6
N

5
3

5
 V

IS
T

A
 L

N
 

D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1
1

8
 

0
3

2
4

1
5

2
0

0
3

 
1

6
N

50
5

 V
is

ta
 L

n
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

F
U

N
A

M
U

R
A

, 
A

L
L

E
N

 J
 1

6
N

5
0
5

 V
IS

T
A

 L
A

N
E

 E
A

S
T

 
D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1
1

8
 

0
3

2
4

1
7

6
0

0
6

 
6

0
1

 Il
lin

o
is

 R
o

u
te

 6
8

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

R
IV

E
R

A
S

 G
R

O
C

E
R

Y
 C

O
R

P
 P

 O
 B

O
X

 1
8

2
4

 
W

O
O

D
S

T
O

C
K

, 
IL

, 
6

0
0

9
8

 
0

3
2

4
1

7
7

0
0

7
 

 
Ea

st
 D

u
n

d
ee

 
P

A
L

 L
A

N
D

 L
L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

0
4

 
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
A

U
N

T
 M

A
R

T
H

A
S

 Y
O

U
T

H
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
 C

E
N

T
E

R
 I
N

C
 1

9
9

9
0

 
G

O
V

E
R

N
O

R
S

 H
W

Y
 O

L
Y

M
P

IA
 F

IE
L
D

S
, 
IL

, 
6

0
4

6
1

-1
0

2
1

 



0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

0
5

 
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
A

U
N

T
 M

A
R

T
H

A
S

 Y
O

U
T

H
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
 C

E
N

T
E

R
 I
N

C
 1

9
9

9
0

 
G

O
V

E
R

N
O

R
S

 H
W

Y
 O

L
Y

M
P

IA
 F

IE
L
D

S
, 
IL

, 
6

0
4

6
1

-1
0

2
1

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
0

6
 

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

A
U

N
T

 M
A

R
T

H
A

S
 Y

O
U

T
H

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 C
E

N
T

E
R

 I
N

C
 1

9
9

9
0

 
G

O
V

E
R

N
O

R
S

 H
W

Y
 O

L
Y

M
P

IA
 F

IE
L
D

S
, 
IL

, 
6

0
4

6
1

-1
0

2
1

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
0

8
 

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

D
U

N
D

E
E

 T
O

W
N

S
H

IP
 6

1
1

 E
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 S
T

E
 2

0
1

 E
A

S
T

 
D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1
1

8
-2

4
9

2
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

1
1

 
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

 O
F

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

 M
A

N
A

G
E

R
 

1
2

0
0

 L
W

 B
E

S
IN

G
E

R
 D

R
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

-
2

0
9

7
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

2
2

 
2

2
1

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

C
ir

 U
n

it
 F

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

T
R

U
S

T
 #

 1
-0

4
-1

1
2

 O
T

T
O

 E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
 2

 E
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 
C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

-2
6
2

4
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

2
3

 
2

2
1

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

C
ir

 U
n

it
 E

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
 #

 1
-0

4
-

1
1

2
 2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
2

4
 

2
2

1
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 D
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

R
 #

 1
-0

4
-1

1
2

 F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

 2
1

8
 W

 
M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-2
0

1
9

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
2

5
 

2
2

1
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 C
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

R
U

S
T

 #
 1

-0
4

-1
1
2

 O
T

T
O

 E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
 I
N

C
 2

 E
 M

A
IN

 
S

T
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

-2
6

2
4

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
2

6
 

2
2

1
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 B
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
F

L
O

R
E

S
, 
J
U

A
N

 A
 2

2
1

0
 M

O
R

N
IN

G
S

ID
E

 C
IR

 #
B

 
C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
2

7
 

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

Q
U

IN
T

A
N

A
, 
E

D
D

IE
 2

2
1
0

 M
O

R
N

IN
G

S
ID

E
 C

IR
 U

N
IT

 A
 

C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

-2
5
1

4
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

2
8

 
2

2
2

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

C
ir

 U
n

it
 H

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

S
A

N
C

H
E

Z
, 
M

A
G

D
A

L
E

N
A

 2
2

2
0

 H
 M

O
R

N
IN

G
S

ID
E

 C
IR

 
C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
2

9
 

2
2

2
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 G
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

R
U

S
T

 #
 1

-0
4

-1
1
2

 F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

 
2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
3

0
 

2
2

2
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 F
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
F

IR
S

T
 A

M
E

R
IC

A
N

 B
A

N
K

, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
 #

 1
-0

4
-

1
1

2
 2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
3

1
 

2
2

2
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 E
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

R
U

S
T

 #
 1

-0
4

-1
1
2

 F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

 
2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
3

2
 

2
2

2
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 D
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
D

IA
Z

, 
P

A
U

L
IN

O
 2

2
2

0
-D

 M
O

R
N

IN
G

S
ID

E
 C

IR
 

C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
3

3
 

2
2

2
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 C
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

R
U

S
T

 #
 1

-0
4

-1
1
2

 F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

 
2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-2
0

9
3

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
3

4
 

2
2

2
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 B
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
P

A
T

E
L

, 
R

IK
E

N
 2

6
 Y

U
K

O
N

 C
T

 B
O

L
IN

G
B

R
O

O
K

, 
IL

, 
6

0
4

9
0

-
4

5
7

7
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

3
5

 
2

2
2

0
A

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
J
IM

E
N

E
Z

, 
M

O
D

E
S

T
O

 &
 M

A
R

IA
 E

S
T

E
L
A

 2
2
2

0
 A

 
M

O
R

N
IN

G
S

ID
E

 D
R

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 



0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

3
6

 
2

2
3

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

C
ir

 U
n

it
 H

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
 #

 1
-0

4
-

1
1

2
 2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
3

7
 

2
2

3
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 G
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
F

L
O

R
E

S
, 
J
U

A
N

 A
 2

2
3

0
 M

O
R

N
IN

G
S

ID
E

 C
IR

 #
G

 
C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

42
0

7
0

3
8

 
2

2
3

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

C
ir

 U
n

it
 F

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
 #

 1
-0

4
-

1
1

2
 2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
3

9
 

2
2

3
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 E
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
K

IE
R

N
IC

K
I,
 K

IM
B

E
R

L
Y

 R
 &

 W
IL

L
IA

M
 J

 2
2
3

0
 

M
O

R
N

IN
G

S
ID

E
 U

N
IT

 E
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

42
0

7
0

4
0

 
2

2
3

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

C
ir

 U
n

it
 D

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
 #

 1
-0

4
-

1
1

2
 2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
4

1
 

2
2

3
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 C
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
G

U
T

IE
R

R
E

Z
, 
F

R
A

N
C

IS
C

O
 2

2
3

0
 M

O
R

N
IN

G
S

ID
E

 C
IR

 U
N

IT
 

C
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

42
0

7
0

4
2

 
2

2
3

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

C
ir

 U
n

it
 B

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

S
A

M
A

Y
O

 L
L
C

 1
5

8
2

 L
E

N
O

X
 C

T
 B

A
R

T
L
E

T
T

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

0
3

-
2

9
3

9
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

4
3

 
2

2
3

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

C
ir

 #
A

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

M
O

N
T

O
Y

A
, 
R

O
L
A

N
D

O
 &

 A
L

V
A

R
E

Z
 F

E
D

E
R

IC
O

 2
2
3

0
 

M
O

R
N

IN
G

S
ID

E
 C

IR
 #

A
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
4

4
 

2
2

4
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 F
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
F

IR
S

T
 A

M
E

R
IC

A
N

 B
A

N
K

, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
#
 1

-0
4

-
1

1
2

 2
1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
4

5
 

2
2

4
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 E
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
G

R
A

N
T

, 
J
A

M
E

S
 M

 2
2

4
0

 M
O

R
N

IN
G

S
ID

E
 C

IR
 U

N
IT

 E
 

C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
4

6
 

2
2

4
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 D
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
F

IR
S

T
 A

M
E

R
IC

A
N

 B
A

N
K

, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
 #

 1
-0

4
-

1
1

2
 2

1
8

 W
 M

IA
N

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
4

7
 

2
2

4
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 C
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

R
U

S
T

 #
 1

-0
4

-1
1
2

 O
T

T
O

 E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G
 I
N

C
 2

 E
 M

A
IN

 
S

T
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

-2
6

2
4

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
4

8
 

2
2

4
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 B
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
F

O
R

D
, 
W

IL
L

IA
M

 W
 &

 D
E

N
N

IS
 M

 2
6

1
0

 F
L

IC
K

E
R

 L
N

 
R

O
L

L
IN

G
 M

E
A

D
O

W
S

, 
IL

, 
6

0
0

0
8

-1
3

2
3

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
4

9
 

2
2

4
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 A
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

R
U

S
T

 #
 1

-0
4

-1
1
2

 F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
. 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

 
2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-2
0

1
9

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
5

0
 

2
2

5
0

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
C

ir
 U

n
it

 J
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
A

G
U

IL
A

R
, 
R

A
F

A
E

L
 &

 M
O

R
A

 V
A

L
E

N
T

IN
A

 2
2
5

0
 J

 
M

O
R

N
IN

G
S

ID
E

 C
IR

C
L
E

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
6

9
 

2
1

5
1

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
Ln

 U
n

it
 A

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

O
L

V
E

R
A

, 
R

O
S

A
L

IO
 &

 G
R

A
C

IL
E

L
A

 2
1
5

1
 M

O
R

N
IN

G
S

ID
E

 
L

N
 U

N
IT

 A
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
7

0
7

0
 

M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
Ln

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

C
A

M
A

R
E

N
A

, 
V

IC
T

O
R

 M
 1

9
1

7
 S

Y
C

A
M

O
R

E
 A

V
E

 
H

A
N

O
V

E
R

 P
A

R
K

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

3
3

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

7
1

 
M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

Ln
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
C

A
M

E
R

E
N

A
, 
V

IC
T

O
R

 M
 1

9
1

7
 S

Y
C

A
M

O
R

E
 A

V
E

 
H

A
N

O
V

E
R

 P
A

R
K

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

3
3

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

7
2

 
M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

Ln
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
O

L
IG

A
N

 L
L

C
 P

O
 B

O
X

 1
0
4

 W
A

U
C

O
N

D
A

, 
IL

, 
6

0
0

8
4
-0

1
0

4
 



0
3

2
4

2
0

7
0

7
6

 
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
(n

o
 r

es
u

lt
s)

 

0
3

2
4

2
0

8
0

5
5

 
2

1
5

8
A

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
Ln

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

N
E

V
A

R
E

Z
, 
F

E
L

IP
A

 2
1

5
8

 M
O

R
N

IN
G

S
ID

E
 L

N
 U

N
IT

 A
 

C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

-2
5
1

1
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

8
0

5
6

 
2

1
5

8
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

Ln
 U

n
it

 B
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

R
U

S
T

 1
-0

4
-1

1
2

 F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

 2
1
8

 
W

 M
A

IN
 S

T
 W

E
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
8

0
5

7
 

2
1

5
8

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
Ln

 U
n

it
 C

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

Z
U

B
A

IR
, 
IM

A
A

N
 B

E
N

E
F

IC
IA

R
Y

 T
R

U
S

T
 N

A
U

S
H

E
E

N
 A

L
I,
 

T
R

U
S

T
E

E
 2

0
1
0

 R
ID

G
E

F
IE

L
D

 A
V

E
 A

L
G

O
N

Q
U

IN
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

0
2

-5
1
3

0
 

0
3

2
42

0
8

0
5

8
 

2
1

5
8

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
Ln

 U
n

it
 D

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

, 
T

R
U

S
T

: 
T

R
 #

 1
-0

4
-

1
1

2
 2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
8

0
5

9
 

2
1

5
8

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
Ln

 U
n

it
 E

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

M
O

R
A

L
E

S
, 
V

IC
T

O
R

 2
1
5
8

 M
O

R
N

IN
G

S
ID

E
 L

N
 #

E
 

C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R
S

V
IL

L
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
0

3
2

4
2

0
8

0
6

0
 

2
1

5
8

 M
o

rn
in

gs
id

e 
Ln

 U
n

it
 F

 
C

ar
p

en
te

rs
vi

lle
 

T
R

U
S

T
 #

 1
-0

4
-1

1
2

 F
IR

S
T

 A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 B

A
N

K
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

 
2

1
8

 W
 M

A
IN

 S
T

 W
E

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-2
0

1
9

 
0

3
2

4
2

2
5

0
0

9
* 

1
0

5
 P

ra
ir

ie
 L

ak
es

 R
d

 U
n

it
 A

 
Ea

st
 D

u
n

d
ee

 
IN

V
E

R
N

E
S

S
 R

E
A

L
T

Y
 P

A
R

T
N

E
R

S
 L

L
C

 T
W

IN
K

L
E

 
F

IN
A

N
C

E
 &

 I
N

V
E

S
T

M
E

N
T

 C
O

R
P

 1
0

5
 P

R
A

IR
IE

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

 
S

T
E

 A
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-9
1

3
3

 
0

3
2

4
2

2
5

0
1

0
* 

1
0

5
 P

ra
ir

ie
 L

ak
es

 R
d

 U
n

it
 B

 
Ea

st
 D

u
n

d
ee

 
C

T
L

H
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

IE
S

 L
L
C

 2
1

 O
L

Y
M

P
IC

 D
R

 S
O

U
T

H
 

B
A

R
R

IN
G

T
O

N
, 
IL

, 
6

0
0

1
0
-1

0
9

3
 

0
3

2
4

2
2

5
0

1
1

* 
1

0
5

 P
ra

ir
ie

 L
ak

e 
R

d
 U

n
it

 C
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

H
U

S
K

IE
 I
I 
H

O
L
D

IN
G

S
 L

L
C

 1
4

0
 P

R
A

IR
IE

 L
A

K
E

 R
D

 E
A

S
T

 
D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1
1

8
-9

1
3

4
 

0
3

2
4

2
7

6
0

0
6

 
3

2
W

2
4

3
 P

en
n

y 
R

d
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

P
A

L
 L

A
N

D
 L

L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

2
7

6
0

0
8

 
1

1
5

1
 P

en
n

y 
A

ve
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

P
A

L
 L

A
N

D
 I
I 
L

L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-
3

5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

3
0

1
0

0
3

 
1

6
N

48
7

 V
is

ta
 L

n
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

R
Y

A
N

, 
D

O
N

N
A

 J
 &

 R
IC

H
A

R
D

 M
 D

C
L

R
N

 O
F

 T
R

S
 D

O
N

N
A

 
J
 &

 R
IC

H
A

R
D

 M
 R

Y
A

N
, 
T

R
U

S
T

E
E

S
 1

6
N

4
8

7
 V

IS
T

A
 L

N
 

E
A

S
T

 D
U

N
D

E
E

, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-1
4

3
5

 
0

3
2

4
3

0
2

0
7

0
 

 
Ea

st
 D

u
n

d
ee

 
P

A
L

 L
A

N
D

 L
L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

3
2

6
0

1
2

 
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

P
A

L
 L

A
N

D
 L

L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

3
2

6
0

1
3

 
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

P
A

L
 L

A
N

D
 L

L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

4
0

0
0

0
8

 
 

 
P

A
L

 L
A

N
D

 I
I 
L

L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

 
 

 
 



0
3

2
4

1
7

7
0

0
7

 
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

P
A

L
 L

A
N

D
 L

L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

2
7

6
0

0
5

 
 

 
P

A
L

 L
A

N
D

 L
L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

2
7

6
0

0
7

 
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

P
A

L
 L

A
N

D
 I
I 
L

L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

 
 

 
 

0
3

2
4

1
7

7
0

0
6

 
 

Ea
st

 D
u

n
d

ee
 

P
A

L
 L

A
N

D
 L

L
C

 2
0
1

 C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 D

R
 E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
8

-3
5
4

0
 

0
3

2
4

2
0

8
0

5
4

 
2

1
5

0
 M

o
rn

in
gs

id
e 

Ln
 U

n
it

 J
 

C
ar

p
en

te
rs

vi
lle

 
T

A
P

IA
, 
Y

O
L
A

N
D

A
 &

 C
R

IS
T

IN
A

 2
1

5
0

 J
 M

O
R

N
IN

G
S

ID
E

 
L

A
N

E
 C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
V

IL
L

E
, 
IL

, 
6

0
1

1
0

 
 

 
 

 
   



 
STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK, BLDG NO.1, PENNY ROAD & UTILITY EXTENSION 

 

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                               PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER PAGE G 

Appendix G – IDNR Endangered Species Correspondence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Morningside Ln

W
akefiel d

D
r

H
ar
ri
so

n
St

871 ft
68

40

68

68

Ba
te
m
an

Rd

Eagle Pointe Dr

873 ft

68

Ba
te
m
an

Rd

Penny Rd

Penny Rd

224

233

168

4000

152

217

230

4012156

214

5000

162

3010

5008

105 A-C

2049 UNIT J

1151

1150

110

32W030

120 A-G

1155

208
601 3002

202

3014

KaneGIS3

Esri Community Maps Contributors, County of Kane, © OpenStreetMap,
Microsoft, Esri, HERE, Garmin, SafeGraph, GeoTechnologies, Inc, METI/

Townships

Cadastral Lines

Lot Line

Parcel Line

Pol Corp Line

Road Centerline

Road ROW

Sub Line 100

Municipalities

Carpentersville

East Dundee

Parcels

Addresses

8/31/2022, 11:15:27 AM
0 0.1 0.20.05 mi

0 0.15 0.30.07 km

1:9,028

These layers do not represent a survey. No Accuracy is assumed for the data
records, including plats, surveys, recorded deeds, and contracts, and only contains information required for local government purposes. See the recorded documents for more detailed legal information.



East Dundee, IL 60118 

RE: Rock Road Business Park
       Project Number(s): 2303787 [1411.40]
       County: Cook, Kane 

Dear Applicant:

Adam Rawe
Division of Ecosystems and Environment
217-785-5500

August 31, 2022

Mia Smiley
Pinnacle Engineering Group 
1051 E. Main St, Suite 217

This letter is in reference to the project you recently submitted for consultation. The natural resource 
review provided by EcoCAT identified protected resources that may be in the vicinity of the proposed 
action. The Department has evaluated this information and concluded that adverse effects are unlikely. 
Therefore, consultation under 17 Ill. Adm. Code Part 1075 is terminated.

This consultation is valid for two years unless new information becomes available that was not 
previously considered; the proposed action is modified; or additional species, essential habitat, or 
Natural Areas are identified in the vicinity. If the project has not been implemented within two years of 
the date of this letter, or any of the above listed conditions develop, a new consultation is necessary.

The natural resource review reflects the information existing in the Illinois Natural Heritage Database 
at the time of the project submittal, and should not be regarded as a final statement on the site being 
considered, nor should it be a substitute for detailed site surveys or field surveys required for 
environmental assessments. If additional protected resources are encountered during the project’s 
implementation, you must comply with the applicable statutes and regulations. Also, note that 
termination does not imply IDNR's authorization or endorsement of the proposed action.

Please contact me if you have questions regarding this review.

JB Pritzker, Governor

Colleen Callahan, Director

1150



LOT 1
330,666 SQ. FT.
(7.5910 ACRES)

LOT 2
365,871 SQ. FT.
(8.3992 ACRES)

LOT 3
215,778 SQ. FT.
(4.9536 ACRES)

LOT 4
209,262 SQ. FT.
(4.8040 ACRES)

LOT 5
152,442 SQ. FT.
(3.4996 ACRES)

N85°18'32"E
83.51'

L=89.41'
RADIUS=205561.32'

N85°17'05"E
CHORD=89.41'

N80°01'44"E  134.03'

L=575.88'
RADIUS=4347.28'

N76°52'13"E
CHORD=575.46'

N73°04'31"E  675.64'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
11

52
.3

2'

S89°40'14"W  774.00'

N
02

°1
6'

14
"E
 
 

79
7.

04
'

S45°40'14"E

117.30'

N
15

°4
8'

09
"E

11
7.

65
'

L=137.62'
RADIUS=540.00'
N07°33'39"W
CHORD=137.24'

L=117.23'
RADIUS=460.00'

S07°33'39"E
CHORD=116.91'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
15

4.
78

'

N90°00'00"W  619.20'

N90°00'00"E  626.50'

L=126.37'
RADIUS=2967.00'
N88°46'46"E
CHORD=126.36'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
47

6.
86

'
N

00
°1

5'
36

"W
 
 

15
5.

14
'

N89°44'24"E
703.58'

40
2.

09
'

47
9.

37
'

66
.2

2'
25

1.
42

'

25
0.

57
'

66
.7

7'
43

2.
89

'

S14°51'42"E
0.58'

N14°51'42"W
0.87'

TO BE VACATED
BY ORDINANCE
IN THE FUTURE

PENNY ROAD
HEREBY DEDICATED
TO THE VILLAGE
OF EAST DUNDEE
AS RIGHT-OF-WAY

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
H

ER
EB

Y 
D

ED
IC

AT
ED

TO
 T

H
E 

VI
LL

AG
E

O
F 

EA
ST

 D
U

N
D

EE
AS

 R
IG

H
T-

O
F-

W
AY

25' SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

L=127.37'
RADIUS=2942.00'
S88°45'34"W
CHORD=127.36'

N90°00'00"E
626.61'

25.0'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
47

7.
24

'

25.09'

PENNY ROAD
(66' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

80.0'

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
(6

6'
 P

U
BL

IC
 R

.O
.W

.)

(HEREBY DEDICATED)

(H
ER

EB
Y 

D
ED

IC
AT

ED
)

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
(8

0'
 P

U
BL

IC
 R

.O
.W

.)
(H

ER
EB

Y 
D

ED
IC

AT
ED

)

PENNY ROAD(66' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

200.10'

335.34'

40.45'

84
.4

2'
53

.2
0'

DUNDEE ROAD

(IL ROUTE 68)

(100' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR SET 3/4" X 24"

IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24

SOUTH LINE OF
THE NORTHEAST
1/4 OF SECTION 24

EA
ST

 L
IN

E 
O

F 
SE

C
TI

O
N

 2
4

W
ES

T 
LI

N
E 

O
F 

SE
C

TI
O

N
 1

9

EAST CORNER OF
SECTION 24

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-400-008

OWNER: PAL LAND II LLC
UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-177-007

OWNER: PAL LAND LLC

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-177-006

OWNER: PAL LAND LLC

15' WATERMAIN EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K035460

15' VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617

15' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617 HEREBY RELEASED

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 4" x 48" CONCRETE MONUMENT
WITH BRASS PLATE AT CORNER
ELEVATION: _______________

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

N90°00'00"W  359.51'

L=155.58'
RADIUS=1056.00'
N85°46'45"W
CHORD=155.44'

N90°00'00"E  366.21'

L=145.86'
RADIUS=990.00'
S85°46'45"E
CHORD=145.73'

S81°33'30"E  198.76'

N81°33'30"W  188.66'

10
2.

90
'

N
00

°1
5'

36
"W

S89°44'24"W
66.00'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E

10
2.

98
'

S89°40'14"W  707.96'

57
9.

98
'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E

N
00

°1
5'

36
"W

58
0.

28
'

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-003-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-004-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-003-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

25' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

40' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

25' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

25' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

40' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

40' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

40' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

25' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

25' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

15' WATERMAIN EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K035460

15' VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617

15' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617 HEREBY RELEASED

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

20' BUILDING
SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

L=123.75'
RADIUS=3033.00'
N88°49'51"E
CHORD=123.74'

©
 C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T
 2

0
2

3REVISIONS SHEET

PE
G 

JO
B 

N
o.

PE
G 

PM

D
AT

E

SC
AL

EPINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.p

in
n

ac
le

-e
n

g
r.c

o
m

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m

SU
R

VE
Y

14
11

.4
0

D
A

T

01
/0

6/
20

23

1"
=

80
'

1

2

1" = 80'0 160'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

PRELIMINARY
PLAT OF SUBDIVISION

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
LOCATION: IL ROUTE 68, EAST DUNDEE, IL

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300 1 Village Comments               02/27/2023

NORTH

D
R

AF
TE

D
 B

Y:

PARCEL BOUNDARY

LEGEND OF LINES

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT LINE

RECORD DIMENSION

MEASURED DIMENSION

(180.00')

180.00'

VILLAGE SANITARY EASEMENT

K
D

Bearings referenced to the Illinois State
Plane Coordinate System, East Zone (1201).

BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II

PIN: 03-24-177-007-0000
03-24-276-006-0000
03-24-276-008-0000
03-24-276-005-0000
03-24-276-007-0000

2 Village Comments               03/10/2023

GENERAL NOTES

1. Field work completed on November 08, 2022.
2. All dimensions are measured dimensions, record dimensions are shown parenthetically. The boundaries of

the parcels as described form a mathematically closed figure.
3. No discrepancies, conflicts, shortages in area, gaps, strips, gores or errors in boundary lines exist.
4. Subdivision consists of 5 lots.
5. Stormwater Detention has been provided offsite for Lots 1-4. Onsite Stormwater Detention will be required for

the development of Lot 5.
6. Setbacks for building and parking on any particular lot as shown on the PUD Plan are subject to modification

by the Village Board at the request of such lot owner without the need for the consent of any other lot owner.

RIGHT-OF-WAY

SECTION LINE

ADJACENT BOUNDARY

BUILDING SETBACK

CENTER OF RIGHT-OF-WAY

AREA SUMMARY
LOT SQFT ACRES PERCENT(%)

1 330,666 7.5910 22.8
2 365,871 8.3992 25.3
3 215,778 4.9536 14.9
4 209,262 4.8040 14.4
5 152,442 3.4996 10.5

ROW 175,777 4.0353 12.1
TOTAL 1,449,796 33.2827 100.0

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION

3 Village Comments               05/19/2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY    ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF



©
 C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T
 2

0
2

3REVISIONS SHEET

PE
G 

JO
B 

N
o.

PE
G 

PM

D
AT

E

SC
AL

EPINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.p

in
n

ac
le

-e
n

g
r.c

o
m

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m

SU
R

VE
Y

14
11

.4
0

D
A

T

01
/0

6/
20

23

2

2

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

D
R

AF
TE

D
 B

Y:

OWNER'S CERTIFICATE:

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT PAL LAND, LLC IS THE OWNER OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN THE FOREGOING SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE AND HAS
CAUSED THE SAME TO BE SURVEYED, SUBDIVIDED AND PLATTED AS SHOWN ON THE ANNEXED PLAT FOR THE USES AND PURPOSES THEREIN
SET FORTH AS ALLOWED AND PROVIDED BY STATUTE AND DOES HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGE AND ADOPT SAME UNDER THE AFORESAID STYLE
AND TITLE.

DATED THIS ____ DAY OF _________________________, 20___ .

BY: _______________________________________________
      OWNER

SCHOOL DISTRICT BOUNDARY STATEMENT

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

THE UNDERSIGNED DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT, AS OWNERS OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THE SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE, AND KNOWN
AS PAL LAND, LLC, TO THE BEST OF THEIR KNOWLEDGE, IS LOCATED WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE DISTRICT 300 GRADE SCHOOL DISTRICT
AND THE DISTRICT 300 HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

DATED AT ________________________________, ILLINOIS THIS ___ DAY OF _____________, 20___.

By: _________________________________________________________
     OWNER

NOTARY CERTIFICATE:

STATE OF _____________________)
) SS

COUNTY OF ___________________)

I, ______________________________________, A NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR THE AFORESAID STATE AND COUNTY DO
HEREBY CERTIFY THAT, ______________________________________________(OWNER) PERSONALLY KNOWN TO ME TO BE THE SAME
PERSON(S), WHOSE NAME(S) IS(ARE) SUBSCRIBED TO THE FOREGOING CERTIFICATE AS SUCH OWNER(S), APPEARED BEFORE ME THIS DAY IN
PERSON AND ACKNOWLEDGED THE EXECUTION OF THE ANNEXED PLAT AND ACCOMPANYING INSTRUMENTS FOR THE USES AND PURPOSES
THEREIN SET FORTH AS HIS(THEIR) OWN FREE AND VOLUNTARY ACT.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND NOTARIAL SEAL THIS ____ DAY OF __________________________, 20___.

_________________________________________
NOTARY PUBLIC

VILLAGE BOARD CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

UNDER THE AUTHORITY PROVIDED ORDINANCE NO. _____ ADOPTED BY THE VILLAGE BOARD OF
THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS. THIS PLAT WAS APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE OF EAST
DUNDEE AND MUST BE RECORDED WITHIN SIXTY (60) DAYS OF THE DATE OF APPROVAL BY THE
VILLAGE BOARD, OTHERWISE IT IS NULL AND VOID.

APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES AT A MEETING HELD THIS___  DAY OF
___________, 20__ .

_____________________________________________
PRESIDENT

_____________________________________________
VILLAGE CLERK

APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE ENGINEER

_____________________________________________
VILLAGE ENGINEER

CERTIFICATE OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

I,_________________________________ , VILLAGE TREASURER OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE,
DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THERE ARE NO DELINQUENT OR UNPAID CURRENT OR FORFEITED
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS OR ANY DEFERRED INSTALLMENTS THEREOF THAT HAVE BEEN
APPORTIONED AGAINST THE TRACT OF LAND INCLUDED ON THIS PLAT.

DATED THIS ___ DAY OF __________________ , 20__ .

_____________________________________________
VILLAGE TREASURER

KANE COUNTY CLERK CERTIFICATE
STATE OF ILLINOIS)

) SS
COUNTY OF KANE)

I,__________________________ , COUNTY CLERK OF KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THERE ARE NO DELINQUENT GENERAL
TAXES, NO UNPAID CURRENT TAXES OR SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, NO UNPAID FORFEITED TAXES, AND NO REDEEMABLE TAX SALES AGAINST
ANY OF THE LAND INCLUDED IN THIS PLAT. I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT I HAVE RECEIVED ALL STATUTORY FEES IN CONNECTION WITH THE PLAT.

GIVEN UNDER MY NAME AND SEAL THIS ____ DAY OF ___________ , 20__ .

___________________________________________________
COUNTY CLERK

KANE COUNTY RECORDER CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

THIS INSTRUMENT NO.______________ , WAS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE RECORDER'S OFFICE OF KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, ON THE ___ DAY OF
________________ , 20__.

___________________________________________________
COUNTY RECORDER

ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION CERTIFICATE
STATE OF ILLINOIS)

) SS
COUNTY OF KANE)

THIS PLAT HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION WITH RESPECT TO ROADWAY ACCESS
PURSUANT OF § 2 OF "AN ACT TO REVISE THE LAW IN RELATION TO PLATS," AS AMENDED. A PLAN THAT MEETS THE
REQUIREMENTS CONTAINED IN THE DEPARTMENT'S "POLICY ON PERMITS FOR ACCESS DRIVEWAYS TO STATE HIGHWAYS" WILL,
BE REQUIRED BY THE DEPARTMENT.

___________________________________________________
JOSE RIOS, P.E.
REGION ONE ENGINEER

VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT PROVISIONS
AN EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR SERVING THE SUBDIVISION AND OTHER PROPERTY WITH DOMESTIC WATER,

SANITARY SEWERS, STORM WATER DRAINAGE AND OTHER VILLAGE UTILITIES IS HEREBY RESERVED AND
GRANTED TO THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS, ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, TO INSTALL,

OPERATE, MAINTAIN, RELOCATE, RENEW AND REMOVE FACILITIES USED IN CONNECTION WITH SEWERS,
WATER MAINS, AND OTHER VILLAGE UTILITIES IN, UNDER, ACROSS, ALONG AND UPON THE SURFACE OF

THE PROPERTY SHOWN ON THE PLAT AND MARKED "VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT" (VUE) (OR SIMILAR
DESIGNATION) AND THOSE PARTS DESIGNATED ON THE PLAT AS DEDICATED FOR PUBLIC STREETS,

TOGETHER WITH THE RIGHT TO CUT, TRIM OR REMOVE TREES, BUSHES AND ROOTS AS MAY BE
REASONABLY REQUIRED INCIDENT TO THE RIGHTS HEREIN GIVEN, AND THE RIGHT TO ENTER UPON THE

PROPERTY FOR ALL SUCH PURPOSES. OBSTRUCTIONS SHALL NOT BE PLACED OVER GRANTEES' FACILITIES
SUCH AS THE INSTALLATION OF TREES, SHRUBS, HEDGES, BUSHES, PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT, FENCES,

SHEDS OR OTHER BUILDINGS.  SAID EASEMENTS MAY BE USED FOR LANDSCAPING, DRIVEWAYS AND
PARKING.  HOWEVER, THE GRADE OF THE SUBDIVIDED PROPERTY SHALL  NOT BE ALTERED IN ANY MANNER
SO AS TO INTERFERE WITH THE PROPER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE THEREOF, OR WITH THE SURFACE

DRAINAGE THEREON.

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT PROVISIONS
A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR SERVING THE SUBDIVISION AND OTHER PROPERTY WITH ELECTRIC AND

COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE IS HEREBY RESERVED FOR AND GRANTED TO

COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY
SBC, AMERITECH ILLINOIS A.K.A. ILLINOIS BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY, GRANTEES,

COMCAST CORPORATION
VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE

THEIR RESPECTIVE LICENSEES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY, TO CONSTRUCT,
OPERATE, REPAIR, MAINTAIN, MODIFY, RECONSTRUCT, REPLACE, SUPPLEMENT, RELOCATE AND REMOVE,
FROM TIME TO TIME, POLES, GUYS, ANCHORS, WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, MANHOLES, TRANSFORMERS,
PEDESTALS, EQUIPMENT CABINETS OR OTHER FACILITIES USED IN CONNECTION WITH OVERHEAD AND
UNDERGROUND TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION OF ELECTRICITY, COMMUNICATIONS, SOUNDS AND

SIGNALS IN, OVER, UNDER, ACROSS, ALONG AND UPON THE SURFACE OF THE PROPERTY SHOWN WITHIN THE
DASHED LINES ON THE PLAT AND MARKED "PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT" (PUE), THE PROPERTY DESIGNATED IN

THE DECLARATION OF CONDOMINIUM AND/OR ON THIS PLAT AS “COMMON ELEMENTS" AND THE PROPERTY
DESIGNATED ON THE PLAT AS A "COMMON AREA OR AREAS“, AND THE PROPERTY DESIGNATED ON THE PLAT

FOR STREETS AND ALLEYS, WHETHER PUBLIC OR PRIVATE TOGETHER WITH THE RIGHTS TO INSTALL
REQUIRED SERVICE CONNECTIONS OVER OR UNDER THE SURFACE OF EACH LOT AND COMMON AREA OR
AREAS TO SERVE IMPROVEMENTS THEREON, OR ON ADJACENT LOTS, AND COMMON AREA OR AREAS, THE
RIGHT TO CUT, TRIM OR REMOVE TREES, BUSHES, ROOTS AND SAPLINGS AND TO CLEAR OBSTRUCTIONS

FROM THE SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE AS MAY BE REASONABLY REQUIRED INCIDENT TO THE RIGHTS HEREIN
GIVEN, AND THE RIGHT TO ENTER UPON THE SUBDIVIDED PROPERTY FOR ALL SUCH PURPOSES.

OBSTRUCTIONS SHALL NOT BE PLACED OVER GRANTEES' FACILITIES OR IN, UPON OR OVER THE PROPERTY
WITHIN THE DASHED LINES MARKED "PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT" (PUE) WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN

CONSENT OF GRANTEES.  AFTER INSTALLATION OF ANY SUCH FACILITIES, THE GRADE OF THE SUBDIVIDED
PROPERTY SHALL  NOT BE ALTERED IN A MANNER SO AS TO INTERFERE WITH THE PROPER OPERATION AND

MAINTENANCE THEREOF.  THE TERM "COMNON ELEMENTS" SHALL HAVE THAT MEANING SET FORTH FOR SUCH
TERM IN THE "CONDOMINIUM PROPERTY ACT", CHAPTER 765 ILCS 605/2, AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME.
THE TERM "COMMON AREA OR AREAS" IS DEFINED AS A LOT, PARCEL OR AREA OF REAL PROPERTY, THE

BENEFICIAL USE AND ENJOYMENT OF WHICH IS RESERVED IN WHOLE AS AN APPOINTMENT TO THE
SEPARATELY OWNED LOTS, PARCELS OR AREAS WITHIN THE PLANNED DEVELOPMENT, EVEN THOUGH SUCH

BE OTHERWISE DESIGNATED ON THE PLAT BY TERMS SUCH AS "OUTLOTS", "COMMON ELEMENTS", "OPEN
SPACE", "OPEN AREA", "COMMON GROUND", "PARKING AND "COMMON AREA". THE TERM "COMMON AREA OR
AREAS" AND "COMMON ELEMENTS" INCLUDES REAL PROPERTY SURFACED WITH INTERIOR DRIVEWAYS AND

WALKWAYS, BUT EXCLUDES REAL PROPERTY PHYSICALLY OCCUPIED BY BUILDING, SERVICE BUSINESS
DISTRICT OR STRUCTURES SUCH AS A POOL, RETENTION POND OR MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT. RELOCATION
OF FACILITIES WILL BE DONE BY GRANTEES AT COST OF GRANTOR/LOT OWNER, UPON WRITTEN REQUEST.

K
D

DRAFT

1 Village Comments               02/27/2023PRELIMINARY
PLAT OF SUBDIVISION

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
LOCATION: IL ROUTE 68, EAST DUNDEE, IL

2 Village Comments               03/10/2023

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT I, PAUL A. KUBICEK, AN ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, HAVE
SURVEYED, SUBDIVIDED AND PLATTED FOR THE OWNERS THEREOF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY:

LOTS 1 THOUGH 5 IN TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE EAST 1/2
OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL
MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE EAST CORNER OF SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 14 SECONDS
WEST, 707.96 FEET;  THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST, 102.98 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 24 SECONDS WEST, 66.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36
SE4CONDS WEST, 102.90 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 14 SECONDS WEST, 774.00 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 14 SECONDS EAST, 797.04 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID
DUNDEE ROAD - IL ROUTE 68; THENCE THE FOLLOWING COURSES ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF
DUNDEE ROAD;
NORTH 85 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 32 SECONDS EAST, 83.51 FEET TO THE POINT ON A CURVE;
EASTERLY 89.41 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WHOSE RADIUS IS 205,561.32 FEET AND
WHOSE CHORD BEARS NORTH 85 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 05 SECONDS EAST, 89.41 FEET;
NORTH 80 DEGREES 01 MINUTES 44 SECONDS EAST, 134.03 FEET;
NORTHEASTERLY 575.88 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WHOSE RADIUS IS 4347.28 FEET
AND WHOSE CHORD BEARS NORTH 76 DEGREES 52 MINUTES 13 SECONDS EAST, 575.46 FEET;
NORTH 73 DEGREES 04 MINUTES 31 SECONDS EAST, 675.64 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID
NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID
SECTION LINE, 1152.32 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINING 33.1268 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT IRON STAKES HAVE BEEN SET AT ALL LOT CORNERS, POINTS OF CURVATURE AND
TANGENCY, EXCEPT WHERE CONCRETE MONUMENTS ARE INDICATED, AND THAT THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN
CORRECTLY REPRESENTS SAID SURVEY AND SUBDIVISION. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE GIVEN IN U.S. FEET AND
DECIMAL PARTS THEREOF.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING PROPERTY FALLS WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE
VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, AND I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT NO PART OF SAID PROPERTY IS SITUATED WITHIN
A FLOOD HAZARD AREA, AS PER NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM, FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP,
COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER 17089CO157H, EFFECTIVE DATE AUGUST 3, 2009 AND 17089C0159H, EFFECTIVE
DATE AUGUST 3, 2009.

DATED AT EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS, THIS 06th DAY OF JANUARY, 2023 .

_______________________________________
PAUL A. KUBICEK, ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR 035-003296

      EXPIRES 11/30/2024
      PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC #184006289-0010
      EXPIRES 04/30/2025

BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUBDIVISION

3 Village Comments               05/19/2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF



 

 

 
 

 

Traffic Impact Study 
Mixed-Use Development  

 

East Dundee, Illinois 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared For: 

 

 

 
 

May 3, 2023 

SITE



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 1 

1. Introduction 
 

 

This report summarizes the methodologies, results, and findings of a traffic impact study 

conducted by Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) for a truck maintenance 

facility and future retail development to be located in East Dundee, Illinois. The site of the 

development is located on the south side of Dundee Road (IL 68) both east and west of Prairie 

Lake Road with the site extending south of Penny Road. As part of the development, the following 

significant modifications are proposed to the roadway system:  

 

• Prairie Lake Road is proposed to be extended from its terminus at Dundee Road south to 

south of the realigned Penny Road and will connect with the west access drive serving the 

existing trucking facilities located south of Penny Road. The extension of the road, which 

will be called Rock Road, will form the fourth (south) leg of the Dundee Road/Prairie Road 

intersection and the fourth (north) leg of the proposed realigned intersection of Penny Road 

with the west access drive to the existing truck facilities.  

 

• Penny Road is proposed to generally be vacated between the proposed Rock Road 

extension and Dundee Road. In addition, a portion of Penny Road will be realigned so that 

it runs in an east-west direction and intersects the Rock Road extension perpendicularly. 

The realigned Penny Road will extend just past the Rock Road extension and will eliminate 

the existing Dundee Road/Penny Road intersection. 

 

With the roadway modifications, the site is proposed to be subdivided into five parcels. The 

southern two parcels are to be developed initially (Phase 1) and the three northern parcels are to 

be developed in the future (Phase 2). The following summarize the approximate locations of each 

parcel and the development proposed for each: 

 

• Phase 1 Parcels. The parcels located in the southwest and southeast quadrants of the 

intersection of the proposed Rock Road extension and the realigned Penny Road are each 

to be developed with truck maintenance facilities. As proposed, both parcels are to contain 

approximately 47,000 square-foot facilities with access provided via two access drives 

each on Rock Road.  

 

• Phase 2 Parcels. The three parcels to be developed as part of Phase 2 of the development 

are summarized below: 

 

o The parcel located on the west side of the proposed Rock Road extension bounded 

by Dundee Road on the north and realigned Penny Road on the south is anticipated 

to be developed with an approximate 49,900 square-foot commercial building with 

access proposed to be provided via two access drives on Penny Road and a 

restricted right-turn in/right-turn out access drive on Dundee Road at the west end 

of the site.  

  



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 2 

o The northern portion of the parcel located on the east side of the proposed Rock 

Road extension bounded by Dundee Road on the north and realigned Penny Road 

on the south is anticipated to be developed with an approximate 48,100 square-foot 

commercial building with access proposed to be provided via a restricted right-turn 

in/right-turn out access drive on the south side of Dundee Road at the east end of 

the site and via two access drives to be provided on Penny Road.  

 

o The southern portion of the parcel located on the east side of the proposed Rock 

Road extension bounded by Dundee Road on the north and realigned Penny Road 

on the south is to be dedicated to the Village of Dundee. Currently, the Village does 

not have plans for this parcel. Access to the parcel is anticipated to be provided via 

Penny Road. 

 

The purpose of this study was to examine background traffic conditions, assess the impact that the 

proposed development will have on traffic conditions in the area, and determine if any roadway or 

access improvements are necessary to accommodate traffic generated by the proposed site.  

 

Figure 1 shows the location of the site in relation to the area roadway system. Figure 2 shows an 

aerial view of the site. The sections of this report present the following: 

 

• Existing roadway conditions 

• A description of the proposed site 

• Directional distribution of the site-generated traffic 

• Vehicle trip generation for the site 

• Future traffic conditions including access to the site 

• Traffic analyses for the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours 

• Recommendations with respect to adequacy of the site access and adjacent roadway system 

 

Traffic capacity analyses were conducted for the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours 

for the following conditions:  

 

1. Year 2022 Existing Conditions – Analyzes the capacity of the existing roadway system using 

existing peak hour traffic volumes in the surrounding area. 
 

2. Year 2028 No-Build Conditions – Analyzes the capacity of the existing roadway system 

using existing traffic volumes increased by an ambient area growth factor (growth not 

attributable to any particular development). 
 

3. Year 2028 Total Conditions – Analyzes the capacity of the future roadway system using 

total projected traffic volumes that include the existing traffic volumes, ambient area 

growth not attributable to any particular development, and the net increase in traffic 

estimated to be generated by the proposed site. 



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 3 

 Site Location Figure 1 

  

SITE 



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 4 

Aerial View of Site Figure 2 

Figure 1 – Aerial View of Site Location 

SITE 



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 5 

2. Existing Conditions 
 

 

Existing transportation conditions in the vicinity of the site were documented based on field visits 

conducted by KLOA, Inc. in order to obtain a database for projecting future conditions. The 

following provides a description of the geographical location of the site, physical characteristics 

of the area roadway system including lane usage and traffic control devices, and existing peak hour 

traffic volumes. 
 

Site Location 
 

The site is located on the north and south sides of Penny Road just east of its intersection with 

Dundee Road in East Dundee, Illinois. Land uses in the area include industrial warehouses located 

north of the site, various truck facilities located south of the site, and residential areas located 

further west and east of the site. 

 

Existing Roadway System Characteristics 
 

The characteristics of the existing roadways near the site are described below and illustrated in 

Figure 3. 
 

Dundee Road (IL 68) is generally an east-west, other principal arterial roadway that provides one 

lane in each direction in the vicinity of the site. At its unsignalized intersection with Penny Road, 

Dundee Road provides a combined through/right-turn lane on the eastbound approach and a left-

turn lane and a through lane on the westbound approach. At its unsignalized intersection with 

Prairie Lake Road, Dundee Road provides a left-turn lane and a through lane on the eastbound 

approach and a through lane and a right-turn lane on the westbound approach. Dundee Road is 

under the jurisdiction of the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT), carries an Annual 

Average Daily Traffic (AADT) volume of 13,400 vehicles (IDOT 2021), and has a posted speed 

limit of 45 miles per hour. 

 

Penny Road is generally an east-west, major collector roadway that provides one lane in each 

direction and terminates at Dundee Road. At its unsignalized intersection with Dundee Road, 

Penny Road provides a combined left-turn/right-turn lane that is under stop sign control. At its 

unsignalized intersections with the access drives to the truck facilities to the south of the subject 

site, Penny Road provides single-lane approaches. Penny Road is under the jurisdiction of the 

Village of East Dundee, carries an AADT volume of 2,650 vehicles (IDOT 2020), and has a posted 

speed limit of 30 miles per hour. 
 

Prairie Lake Road is a north-south, local roadway that provides one lane in each direction and 

terminates at Dundee Road. At its unsignalized intersection with Dundee Road, Prairie Lake Road 

provides a left-turn lane and a right-turn lane on the southbound approach that is stop sign 

controlled. Prairie Lake Road is under the jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee and has a 

posted speed limit of 25 miles per hour.   



SITE

SITE SITE

SITE

2AM - 6AM

STREETS

ON VILLAGE

RESIDENTIAL

CENTER

EXCEL TRUCK

DISTRIBUTORS

HTD

TRAILER REPAIR

ANDRES TRUCK &

FREIGHT UNION

68

Figure:  3

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

Existing Roadway Characteristics

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

LEGEND

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

D
A

O
R

E
K

A
L

 
E I

RI
A

R
P

ROAD

PENNY

ROADDUNDEE

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck

45

45

45

25

P

30

- TRAVEL LANE

- STOP SIGN

- SPEED LIMITXX

- NO PARKINGP

- GATED

6



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 7 

Existing Traffic Volumes 
 

In order to determine current traffic conditions within the study area, KLOA, Inc. conducted peak 

period traffic counts utilizing Miovision Scout Collection Units at the following intersections: 

 

• Dundee Road with Penny Road 

• Dundee Road with Prairie Lake Road 

• Penny Road with Truck Facilities West Access Drive 

• Penny Road with Truck Facilities East Access Drive 

 

The traffic counts were conducted on Thursday, November 3, 2022 during the weekday morning 

(6:00 A.M. to 9:00 A.M.) and weekday evening (3:00 P.M. to 6:00 P.M.) peak periods. The results 

of the traffic counts show that the peak hours of traffic generally occur between 7:15 A.M. and 

8:15 A.M. during the morning peak period and between 4:30 P.M. and 5:30 P.M. during the 

evening peak period. 

 

Copies of the traffic count summary sheets are included in the Appendix. Figure 4 illustrates the 

existing peak hour vehicle traffic volumes. Figure 5 illustrates the existing peak hour truck traffic 

volumes. 

  



SITE

SITE SITE

SITE
68

Figure:  4

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:30-5:30 PM)

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

D
A

O
R

E
K

A
L

 
E I

RI
A

R
P

ROAD

PENNY

ROADDUNDEE

Existing Traffic Volumes

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck
0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)

2 (0)

2 (0)

0 (0)1 (0)

1 
(0
)

3
 
(0
)

12 (3)

9 (14)

8
 
(3

9
)

34 (151)

109 (78)

42 
(11)

211 
(471

)

152 
(35)

526
 (27

1)

3
8
 
(1
3
1)

238 (5
88)

22 (147)

664 (305
)

100 (64)

109 (79)

33 (149)

8



SITE

SITE SITE

SITE
68

Figure:  5

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

Existing Traffic Volumes - Trucks

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:30-5:30 PM)

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

D
A

O
R

E
K

A
L

 
E I

RI
A

R
P

ROAD

PENNY

ROADDUNDEE

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck
0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)

2 (0)

11 (1)

1 (6)
2 (0)

1 (6)
0 (0)0 (0)

12 (1)

1 
(0
)

2
 
(0
)

1 (0)
1 (6)

45 (8)

13 (1)

20 (16
)

4 (0)

10
 
(3
)

2
 
(3
)

1 (2
)

15 (
13)

4 (4
)

42 
(9)

9



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 10 

Crash Analysis 
 

KLOA, Inc. obtained crash data for the most recent available past five years (2017 to 2021) for 

the intersections within the study area. A summary of the crash data for the intersection of Dundee 

Road with Penny Road is shown in Table 1.1 During the review period, no crashes were reported 

at the intersections of Dundee Road with Prairie Lake Road or Penny Road with Rock Road or the 

east truck facility access drive. A review of the crash data revealed no fatalities were reported 

during the review period. 

 

Table 1 

DUNDEE ROAD WITH PENNY ROAD – CRASH SUMMARY 

Year 
Type of Crash Frequency 

Angle Head On Object Rear End Sideswipe Turning Other Total 

2017 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2018 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 4 

2019 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 3 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 

2021 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Total 0 1 0 2 0 6 0 9 

Average 0.0 <1.0 0.0 <1.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 1.8 

 

  

 
1 IDOT DISCLAIMER: The motor vehicle crash data referenced herein was provided by the Illinois Department of Transportation. The 

author is responsible for any data analyses and conclusions drawn. 



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 11 

3. Traffic Characteristics of the Proposed Development  
 

 

In order to properly evaluate future traffic conditions in the surrounding area, it was necessary to 

determine the traffic characteristics of the proposed development, including the directional 

distribution and volumes of traffic that it will generate. 
 

Proposed Roadway Improvements  
 

The site of the development is located on the south side of Dundee Road both east and west of 

Prairie Lake Road with the site extending south of Penny Road. As part of the development, the 

following significant modifications are proposed to the roadway system:  

 

• Prairie Lake Road is proposed to be extended from its terminus at Dundee Road south to 

south of the realigned Penny Road and will connect with the west access drive serving the 

existing trucking facilities located south of Penny Road. The extension of the road, which 

will be called Rock Road, will form the fourth (south) leg of the Dundee Road/Prairie Road 

intersection and the fourth (north) leg of the proposed realigned intersection of Penny Road 

with the west access drive to the existing truck facilities.  

 

• Penny Road is proposed to generally be vacated between the proposed Rock Road 

extension and Dundee Road. In addition, a portion of Penny Road will be realigned so that 

it runs in an east-west direction and intersects the Rock Road extension perpendicularly. 

The realigned Penny Road will extend just past the Rock Road extension and will eliminate 

the existing Dundee Road/Penny Road intersection. 

 

• The following improvements are proposed at the Dundee Road with Prairie Lake Road and 

the proposed Rock Road intersection: 

 

o A 135-foot separate left-turn lane with a 170-foot taper is proposed on the 

westbound approach of Dundee Road.  

 

o A 150-foot separate right-turn lane with 170-foot taper is proposed on the 

eastbound approach of Dundee Road.  

 

o The Rock Road extension is proposed to provide one southbound lane and three 

northbound lanes striped for a separate left-turn lane, a through lane, and a separate 

right-turn lane.  

 

o The existing right-turn lane on the Prairie Lake Road approach will be restriped as 

a through/right-turn lane.  

 

o The Prairie Lake Road and the Rock Road legs of the intersections are proposed to 

be under stop sign control.  

  



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 12 

• The proposed intersection of the realigned Penny Road with the Rock Road extension is 

proposed to be designed as follows: 

 

o The east and west legs of Penny Road and the south leg of Rock Road will provide 

one departure lane and one approach lane striped for a shared left-

turn/through/right-turn lane.  

 

o The north leg of Rock Road will provide one departure lane and two approach lanes 

striped for a separate left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane.  

 

o The east and west legs of Penny Road are proposed to be under stop sign control.  

 

Proposed Development Plan 
 

With the roadway modifications, the site is proposed to be subdivided into five parcels. The 

southern two parcels are to be developed initially (Phase 1) and the three northern parcels are to 

be developed in the future (Phase 2). The following summarize the approximate locations of each 

parcel and the development proposed for each: 

 

• Phase 1 Parcels. The parcels located in the southwest and southeast quadrants of the 

intersection of the proposed Rock Road extension and the realigned Penny Road are each 

to be developed with truck maintenance facilities. As proposed, both parcels are the to 

contain approximately 47,000 square-foot facilities with access provided via two access 

drives each on Rock Road. The access drives to each of the parcels are proposed to align 

opposite one another and will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane with the 

outbound lanes under stop sign control. 

 

• Phase 2 Parcels. The three parcels to be developed as part of Phase 2 of the development 

are summarized below: 

 

o The parcel located on the west side of the proposed Rock Road extension bounded 

by Dundee Road on the north and realigned Penny Road on the south is anticipated 

to be developed with an approximate 49,900 square-foot commercial building with 

access proposed to be provided via two access drives on Penny Road and a 

restricted right-turn in/right-turn out access drive on Dundee Road at the west end 

of the site. The Penny Road access drives will provide one inbound lane and one 

outbound lane with the outbound lanes under stop sign control. The Dundee Road 

access drive will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane striped and 

channelized to restrict left-turn movements with the outbound lane under stop sign 

control. 

  



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 13 

o The northern portion of the parcel located on the east side of the proposed Rock 

Road extension bounded by Dundee Road on the north and the realigned Penny 

Road on the south is anticipated to be developed with an approximate 48,100 

square-foot commercial building with access proposed to be provided via a 

restricted right-turn in/right-turn out access drive on the south side of Dundee Road 

at the east end of the site and via two access drives on Penny Road. The Dundee 

Road access drive will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane striped and 

channelized to restrict left-turn movements with the outbound lane under stop sign 

control. The Penny Road access drives will provide one inbound lane and one 

outbound lane with the outbound lanes under stop sign control. 

 

o The southern portion of the parcel located on the east side of the proposed Rock 

Road extension bounded by Dundee Road on the north and realigned Penny Road 

on the south is to be dedicated to the Village of Dundee. Currently, the Village does 

not have plans for this parcel. Access to the parcel is anticipated to be provided via 

Penny Road. 
 

A site plan depicting the proposed layout of the buildings and access is included in the Appendix.  
 

Directional Distribution 
 

The directions from which traffic will approach and depart the proposed development were 

estimated based on existing travel patterns, as determined from the traffic counts. Figure 6 

illustrates the directional distribution of the passenger vehicle traffic and the truck traffic.  

 

Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 
 

The number of peak hour vehicle trips estimated to be generated by the proposed development was 

based on the following sources: 

 

• The traffic to be generated by the proposed truck maintenance facilities are based on the 

operation of the facilities and previous data provided at similar facilities. According to the 

operator, each of the facilities will have a total of approximately 40 to 55 employees and will 

service between 15 and 30 trucks per day. In addition, each facility will provide parking for 

approximately 80 trucks.  

 

• The traffic to be generated by the future commercial developments was based on vehicle trip 

generation rates contained in Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition, published by the Institute 

of Transportation Engineers (ITE).  

 

Table 2 shows the truck and passenger vehicle trips estimated to be generated by the proposed 

development during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. The ITE trip 

generation sheets utilized are included in the Appendix. 

  



SITESITE

SITE

SITE

66
0'

640
'

510'150'150'640'

4
5
0
'

2
1
0
'

1
7
0
'

68

Figure:  6

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

Directional Distribution

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

LEGEND

ROADDUNDEE

ROAD

PENNY
E

K
A

L
 

E I
RI

A
R

P
D

A
O

R

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck

00'

00% - PERCENT DISTRIBUTION

- DISTANCE IN FEET 55%

15%

30%

- PROPOSED NEW OR REALIGNED ROADS

14



Truck Maintenance Facility 
East Dundee, Illinois 15 

Table 2 
PROJECTED SITE-GENERATED TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

ITE 
Land-

Use 
Code 

Type/Size 
Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 
Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

In Out Total In Out Total 

N/A Warehouse Service Building (93,932 s.f.) 

 Passenger Vehicles 30 5 35 5 30 35 

 Trucks 15 15 30 15 15 30 

821 Retail (98,000 s.f.) 

 Passenger Vehicles 105 65 170 249 260 509 

Total Development       

 Passenger Vehicles 135 70 205 254 290 544 

 Trucks 15 15 30 15 15 30 

Total 150 85 235 269 305 574 
 



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 16 

4. Projected Traffic Conditions 
 

 

The total projected traffic volumes include the existing traffic volumes, increase in background 

traffic due to growth, and the traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed development. 

 

Traffic Assignment 
 

The estimated weekday morning and evening peak hour traffic volumes that will be generated by 

the proposed development were assigned to the roadway system in accordance with the previously 

described directional distribution (Figure 6). The passenger vehicle traffic assignment for the 

proposed development is illustrated in Figure 7 and the truck traffic assignment is illustrated in 

Figure 8. 

 

Background (No-Build) Traffic Conditions 
 

The existing traffic volumes (Figure 4) were increased by a regional growth factor to account for 

the increase in existing traffic related to regional growth in the area (i.e., not attributable to any 

particular planned development). Based on AADT projections provided by the Chicago 

Metropolitan Agency for Planning (CMAP) in a letter dated November 29, 2022, the existing 

traffic volumes were increased by an annually compounded growth rate of 0.2 percent per year for 

six years (buildout year plus five years) for a total of one percent. A copy of the CMAP 2050 

projections letter is included in the Appendix and Figure 9 illustrates the Year 2028 No-Build 

volumes. 

 

Traffic Reassignment 
 

The proposed roadway modifications proposed as part of the development will result in the 

elimination of the intersection of Dundee Road with Penny Road. As such, the existing traffic 

volumes utilizing the intersection were reassigned to the proposed roadway system as shown in 

Figure 10. 

 

Total Projected Traffic Volumes 
 

The traffic to be generated by the site (Figure 7 and Figure 8) was added to the existing traffic 

volumes accounting for background growth and the traffic reassignment (Figure 10) to determine 

the Year 2028 total projected traffic volumes, as shown in Figure 11.  

  



SITESITE

SITE

SITE
68

Figure:  7

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

D
A

O
R

E
K

A
L

 
E I

RI
A

R
P

ROAD

PENNY

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:30-5:30 PM)

ROADDUNDEE

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

Site-Generated Traffic Volumes - Passenger Vehicles

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck

20 (95)

12
 
(5

4
)

61 (
106

)

27 
(91)

14 (
13)

12
 
(7

6
)

17
 
(6

1)

61 
(106

)

23 
(56

)

18
 
(8

0
)

3
4
 
(8

1
)

2
6
 
(4
)

9 (43)

8 (19)

4 (1)

16 (69)

5 (22)

4
 
(2

5
)

1
 
(5
)

29 (50)

11 (25)

9 (
42)

- PROPOSED NEW OR REALIGNED ROADS

1
5
 
(3

4
)

6 (27)

A
14 (34)
12 (20)

5
 
(2

2
)

1
4
 
(6

5
)

15 (34)

6 (27)

12 (20)

ACCESS DRIVE

PENNY ROAD @
A

17



SITESITE

SITE

SITE
68

Figure:  8

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

Site-Generated Traffic Volumes - Trucks

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

D
A

O
R

E
K

A
L

 
E I

RI
A

R
P

ROAD

PENNY

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:30-5:30 PM)

ROADDUNDEE

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck

5 (5)

8 (
8)

8 (
8)

8 (8
)

8
 
(8
)

5 (5
)

1
3
 
(1

3
)

1
3
 
(1

3
)

2 (2)

2
 
(2
)

5
 
(5
)

2 (2)

2 (2)

5 (5)

- PROPOSED NEW OR REALIGNED ROADS

18



SITE

SITE SITE

SITE
68

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:30-5:30 PM)

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

D
A

O
R

E
K

A
L

 
E I

RI
A

R
P

ROAD

PENNY

ROADDUNDEE

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck
0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)

2 (0)

2 (0)

0 (0)1 (0)

1 
(0
)

3
 
(0
)

12 (3)

9 (14)

8
 
(3

9
)

34 (153)

110 (79)

42 
(11)

213 
(476

)

152 
(35)

531 
(274

)

3
8
 
(1
3
1)

240 (5
94)

22 (148)

671 (308)

101 (65)

110 (80)

33 (150)

Year 2028 No-Build Traffic Volumes

Figure:  9

19



SITESITE

SITE

SITE
68

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

D
A

O
R

E
K

A
L

 
E I

RI
A

R
P

ROAD

PENNY

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:30-5:30 PM)

ROADDUNDEE

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

+
1
0
9
 
(+

7
9
)

+33 (+149)

-33 (-149)

-109 (-79)

+10
0 (+

64)

+
2
2
 
(+

14
7
)

+13 (+13
3)

Area Traffic Reassignment

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck

+9 
(+14

)

-12 
(-3)

+
12
 
(+

3
)

+100 (+64
)

- PROPOSED NEW OR REALIGNED ROADS

Figure:  10

20



SITESITE

SITE

SITE
68

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-373

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Year 2028 Total Traffic Volumes

East Dundee, Illinois

Maintenance Facility

Proposed Truck

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:30-5:30 PM)

1
2
4
 
(1

1
3
)

213 
(476

)

546
 (36

2)

333
 (6

15)

568
 (4

17)

298 (85
4)

ROADDUNDEE

ROAD

PENNY
E

K
A

L
 

E I
RI

A
R

P
D

A
O

R

R
O

A
D

R
O

C
K

Figure:  11

118 (108)

5
 
(2

2
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

2 (0)

1 (0)

42 (192)

8 (20)

6 (3)

16 (69)

6 (23)

1 (0)
3
4
 
(8

1
)

3
9
 
(1

7
)

1
 
(0
)

1
7
 
(3

8
)

6
 
(7
)

12
 
(5

4
)

3
8
 
(1
3
1)

8
 
(3

9
)

42 
(11)

78 
(128

)

152 
(35)

119 
(82)

3
9
 
(2

2
8
)

3
7
 
(7

2
)

23 
(56

)

2 (0)

805 (425)

11 (25)

48 (175)

- PROPOSED NEW OR REALIGNED ROADS

14 (34)

18
 
(8

0
)

21



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 22 

5. Traffic Analysis and Recommendations 
 

 

The following provides an evaluation conducted for the weekday morning and weekday evening 

peak hours. The analysis includes conducting capacity analyses to determine how well the 

roadway system is projected to operate and whether any roadway improvements and/or traffic 

control modifications are required. 

 

Traffic Analyses 
 

Roadway and adjacent or nearby intersection analyses were performed for the weekday morning 

and weekday evening peak hours for the existing (Year 2022), Year 2028 no-build, and Year 2028 

total projected traffic volumes. 

 

The traffic analyses were performed using the methodologies outlined in the Transportation 

Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 6th Edition and analyzed using 

Synchro/SimTraffic 11 software.  

 

The analyses for the unsignalized intersections determine the average control delay to vehicles at 

an intersection. Control delay is the elapsed time from a vehicle joining the queue at a stop sign 

(includes the time required to decelerate to a stop) until its departure from the stop sign and 

resumption of free flow speed. The methodology analyzes each intersection approach controlled 

by a stop sign and considers traffic volumes on all approaches and lane characteristics. 

 

The ability of an intersection to accommodate traffic flow is expressed in terms of level of service, 

which is assigned a letter from A to F based on the average control delay experienced by vehicles 

passing through the intersection. The Highway Capacity Manual definitions for levels of service 

and the corresponding control delay for signalized intersections and unsignalized intersections are 

included in the Appendix of this report. 

 

Summaries of the traffic analysis results showing the level of service and overall intersection delay 

(measured in seconds) for the existing, Year 2028 no-build, and Year 2028 total projected 

conditions are presented in Tables 3 through 5. In addition, the intersection of Dundee Road with 

Prairie Lake Road was evaluated assuming the Year 2028 total traffic volumes and the installation 

of a traffic signal, as shown in Table 6. 

 

A discussion of the results of the capacity analyses follows. Summary sheets for the capacity 

analyses are included in the Appendix. 



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 23 

Table 3 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – EXISTING CONDITIONS – UNSIGNALIZED 

Intersection 

Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

LOS Delay LOS Delay 

Dundee Road with Penny Road1 

• Northbound Approach C 17.0 C 22.2 

• Westbound Left Turn B 11.0 A 8.1 

Dundee Road with Prairie Lake Road1     

• Southbound Left Turn C 19.5 B 14.9 

• Southbound Right Turn B 10.2 B 13.9 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 8.3 A 8.8 

Penny Road with Rock Road1   

• Northbound Approach A 9.9 A 0.0 

• Westbound Left Turn A 0.0 A 0.0 

Penny Road with Truck Facility East Access Drive1   

• Northbound Approach A 0.0 A 0.0 

• Southbound Approach A 0.0 A 0.0 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 7.3 A 0.0 

• Westbound Left Turn A 8.5 A 0.0 

LOS = Level of Service 

Delay is measured in seconds. 

1 – Two-way stop control  

 

 

  



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 24 

Table 4 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – YEAR 2028 NO-BUILD CONDITIONS 

UNSIGNALIZED 

Intersection 

Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

LOS Delay LOS Delay 

Dundee Road with Penny Road1 

• Northbound Approach C 17.2 C 22.5 

• Westbound Left Turn B 11.1 A 8.1 

Dundee Road with Prairie Lake Road1     

• Southbound Left Turn C 19.6 C 15.0 

• Southbound Right Turn B 10.2 B 14.0 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 8.3 A 8.8 

Penny Road with Rock Road1   

• Northbound Approach B 10.0 A 0.0 

• Westbound Left Turn A 0.0 A 0.0 

Penny Road with Truck Facility East Access Drive1   

• Northbound Approach A 0.0 A 0.0 

• Southbound Approach A 0.0 A 0.0 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 7.3 A 0.0 

• Westbound Left Turn A 8.5 A 0.0 

LOS = Level of Service 

Delay is measured in seconds. 

1 – Two-way stop control  

 

 

  



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 25 

Table 5 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – YEAR 2028 TOTAL CONDITIONS –  

UNSIGNALIZED 

Intersection 

Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

LOS Delay LOS Delay 

Dundee Road with Prairie Lake Road and Rock Road1 

• Northbound Left Turn D 29.9 F 99+ 

• Northbound Through A 0.0 A 0.0 

• Northbound Right Turn B 13.1 B 11.3 

• Southbound Left Turn E 36.7 D 27.7 

• Southbound Through/Right Turn B 10.0 B 13.3 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 8.2 A 8.7 

• Westbound Left Turn A 9.6 A 8.8 

Rock Road with Penny Road1 

• Eastbound Approach B 12.0 C 16.5 

• Westbound Approach A 9.6 B 10.2 

• Northbound Left Turn A 8.3 A 0.0 

• Southbound Left Turn A 7.4 A 7.5 

Penny Road with Truck Facility East Access Drive1   

• Southbound Approach A 8.6 A 9.4 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 7.3 A 0.0 

Dundee Road with West Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive1 

• Northbound Approach C 15.2 B 11.4 

Dundee Road with East Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive1 

• Northbound Approach B 12.4 B 11.7 

LOS = Level of Service 

Delay is measured in seconds. 

1 – Two-way stop control 

 

 

  



Truck Maintenance Facility 

East Dundee, Illinois 26 

Table 6 

DUNDEE ROAD WITH PRAIRIE LAKE ROAD AND ROCK ROAD – SIGNALIZED 
 

Peak 

Hour 

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound 
Overall 

L T R L T R L T R L T/R 

P
ro

je
ct

ed
 

C
o
n

d
it

io
n

s Weekday 

Morning 

A 

3.5 

A 

9.8 

A 

2.0 

A 

3.8 

A 

8.0 

A 

0.4 

D 

45.4 

A 

0.0 

A 

0.2 

D 

41.8 

A 

0.1 A 

8.1 
A – 7.5 A – 6.1 C – 23.4 A – 7.1 

Weekday 

Evening 

A 

9.0 

B 

19.1 

A 

4.0 

A 

9.6 

B 

17.6 

A 

0.0 

D 

39.2 

A 

0.0 

A 

0.3 

C 

33.2 

A 

1.6 B 

17.6 
B – 15.8 B – 15.6 C – 29.7 A – 8.8 

Letter denotes Level of Service 

Delay is measured in seconds. 

L – Left Turn 

T – Through 

R – Right Turn 

 



 

Discussion and Recommendations 
 

The following summarizes how the intersection and access drives are projected to operate and 

identifies any roadway and traffic control improvements necessary to accommodate the traffic 

generated by the site. 

 

Dundee Road with Penny Road 

 

The results of the capacity analyses indicate that that the northbound approach of Penny Road 

currently operates at Level of Service (LOS) C during the weekday morning and weekday evening 

peak hours. The westbound left-turn movement currently operates at LOS B or better during the 

peak hours. Under Year 2028 no-build conditions, the northbound approach and westbound left-

turn movement are projected to continue operating at their current levels of service with increases 

in delay of approximately less than one second over existing conditions. Under Year 2028 

projected conditions with the proposed development, this intersection will be eliminated as part of 

the roadway modifications.  

 

Dundee Road with Prairie Lake Road and Rock Road 

 

The results of the capacity analyses indicate that that the critical movements at this intersection 

currently operate at LOS C or better during the weekday morning and evening peak hours. Under 

Year 2028 no-build conditions, the critical movements are projected to continue operating at LOS 

C or better during both peak hours. 

 

With the roadway modifications proposed as part of the development, this intersection is proposed 

to be improved as follows: 

 

• A 135-foot separate left-turn lane with a 170-foot taper is proposed on the westbound 

approach of Dundee Road.  

 

• A 150-foot separate right-turn lane with 170-foot taper is proposed on the eastbound 

approach of Dundee Road.  

 

• The Rock Road extension is proposed to provide one southbound lane and three 

northbound lanes striped for a separate left-turn lane, a through lane, and a separate right-

turn lane.  

 

• The existing right-turn lane on the Prairie Lake Road approach will be restriped as a 

through/right-turn lane.  

 

• The Prairie Lake Road and the Rock Road legs of the intersections are proposed to be under 

stop sign control.  

 

  



 

Under Year 2028 total projected conditions, all the critical movements are projected to operate at 

LOS D or better except the southbound and northbound left-turn movements. The southbound left-

turn movement is projected to operate on the threshold of LOS D/E during the weekday morning 

peak hour and the northbound left-turn movement is projected to operate at LOS F during the 

weekday evening peak hour. The poor level of service for the northbound left-turn movement is 

due to the elimination of the Dundee Road/Penny Road intersection and the reassignment of the 

traffic to this intersection. The lower levels of service for the left-turn movement is typical of a 

stop sign-controlled approach along a higher volume roadway such as Dundee Road. However, it 

should be noted that if the Year 2028 total volumes are realized, the northbound approach of the 

intersection will experience some additional delay and queueing.  

 

Under Year 2028 total projected conditions with the installation of a traffic signal (see Table 6), 

the intersection is projected to operate at LOS A during the weekday morning peak hour and at 

LOS B during the weekday evening peak hour. Further, all the movements are projected to operate 

at LOS D or better. A review of the Year 2028 total traffic volumes and the traffic signal warrants 

shows that if the Year 2028 total traffic volumes are realized, a traffic signal will be warranted at 

this intersection. As such, this intersection should be monitored in the future to determine if a 

traffic signal is warranted.  

 

Penny Road with Rock Road 

 

The results of the capacity analyses indicate that that the northbound approach of Rock Road 

currently operates at LOS A during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. The 

westbound left-turn movement currently operates at LOS A during the peak hours. Under Year 

2028 no-build conditions, the northbound approach and westbound left-turn movement are 

projected to operate at LOS B or better during the peak hours with increases in delay of less than 

one second over existing conditions. 

 

With the roadway modifications proposed as part of the development, this intersection is proposed 

to be designed as follows: 

 

• The east and west legs of Penny Road and the south leg of Rock Road will provide one 

departure lane and one approach lane striped for a shared left-turn/through/right-turn lane.  

 

• The north leg of Rock Road will provide one departure lane and two approach lanes striped 

for a separate left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane.  

 

• The east and west legs of Penny Road are proposed to be under stop sign control.  

 

Under Year 2028 total projected conditions, all the critical movements are projected to operate at 

LOS C or better during the weekday morning and evening peak hours. As such, this intersection 

has been designed to accommodate the Year 2028 total traffic volumes and no additional roadway 

improvements or traffic control modifications are required. 

  



 

Penny Road with Truck Facility East Access Drive 

 

The results of the capacity analyses indicate that that the northbound and southbound approaches 

currently operate at LOS A during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. The 

eastbound and westbound left-turn movements currently operate at LOS A during the peak hours. 

Under Year 2028 no-build and total projected conditions, the approaches and critical movements 

are projected to continue to operate at LOS A during both peak hours. As such, no roadway and/or 

traffic control improvements are required at this intersection in conjunction with the proposed 

development.  

 

Dundee Road with West Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive 

 

The results of the capacity analysis indicate that that northbound right-turn movement is projected 

to operate at LOS C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS B during the weekday 

evening peak hour. 95th percentile queues are projected to be approximately one to two vehicles 

during the peak hours. As such, this intersection is projected to provide flexible and efficient access 

to the development and no additional roadway or traffic control improvements are needed. 

 

Dundee Road with East Right-Turn in/Right-Turn Out Access Drive 

 

The results of the capacity analysis indicate that that northbound right-turn movement is projected 

to operate at LOS B during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS D during the weekday 

evening peak hour. 95th percentile queues are projected to be approximately one to two vehicles 

during the peak hours. As such, this intersection is projected to provide flexible and efficient access 

to the development and no additional roadway or traffic control improvements are required.   



 

6. Conclusion 
 

 

Based on the preceding analyses and recommendations, the following conclusions have been 

made: 

 

As part of the development, the following significant modifications are proposed to the roadway 

system:  

 

• Prairie Lake Road is proposed to be extended from its terminus at Dundee Road south to 

south of the realigned Penny Road and will connect with the west access drive serving the 

existing trucking facilities located south of Penny Road. The extension of the road, which 

will be called Rock Road, will form the fourth (south) leg of the Dundee Road/Prairie Road 

intersection and the fourth (north) leg of the proposed realigned intersection of Penny Road 

with the west access drive to the existing truck facilities.  

 

• Penny Road is proposed to generally be vacated between the proposed Rock Road 

extension and Dundee Road. In addition, a portion of Penny Road will be realigned so that 

it runs in an east-west direction and intersects the Rock Road extension perpendicularly. 

The realigned Penny Road will extend just past the Rock Road extension and will eliminate 

the existing Dundee Road/Penny Road intersection. 

 

• The following improvements are proposed at the Dundee Road with Prairie Lake Road and 

the proposed Rock Road intersection: 

 

o A 135-foot separate left-turn lane with a 170-foot taper is proposed on the 

westbound approach of Dundee Road.  

 

o A 150-foot separate right-turn lane with 170-foot taper is proposed on the 

eastbound approach of Dundee Road.  

 

o The Rock Road extension is proposed to provide one southbound lane and three 

northbound lanes striped for a separate left-turn lane, a through lane, and a separate 

right-turn lane.  

 

o The existing right-turn lane on the Prairie Lake Road approach will be restriped as 

a through/right-turn lane.  

 

o The Prairie Lake Road and the Rock Road legs of the intersections are proposed to 

be under stop sign control.  

  



 

• The proposed intersection of the realigned Penny Road with the Rock Road extension is 

proposed to be designed as follows.  

 

o The east and west legs of Penny Road and the south leg of Rock Road will provide 

one departure lane and one approach lane striped for a shared left-

turn/through/right-turn lane.  

 

o The north leg of Rock Road will provide one departure leg and two approach lanes 

striped for a separate left-turn lane and a shared through right-turn lane.  

 

o The east and west legs of Penny Road are proposed to be under stop sign control.  

 

• With the roadway modifications, the site is proposed to be subdivided into five parcels. 

The southern two parcels are to be develop initially (Phase 1) and the three northern parcels 

are to be developed in the future (Phase 2). The following summarize the proposed access 

to the various parcels: 

 

o Access to the each of the truck maintenance facilities to be located in the southwest 

and southeast quadrants of the intersection of the proposed Rock Road extension 

and the realigned Penny Road are proposed to be provided via two access drives 

located on Rock Road. The access two access drives to each of the facilities will be 

aligned opposite one another and will provide one inbound lane and one outbound 

lane with the outbound lanes under stop sign control. 

 

o Access to the commercial building to be located on the west side of the proposed 

Rock Road extension bounded by Dundee Road on the north and realigned Penny 

Road on the south is anticipated to be provided via two access drives on Penny 

Road and a restricted right-turn in/right-turn out access drive on Dundee Road at 

the west end of the site. The Penny Road access drives will provide one inbound 

lane and one outbound lane with the outbound lanes under stop sign control. The 

Dundee Road access drive will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane 

striped and channelized to restrict left-turn movements with the outbound lane 

under stop sign control. 

 

o Access to the commercial building located on the northern half of the parcel located 

on the east side of the proposed Rock Road extension bounded by Dundee Road on 

the north and realigned Penny Road is proposed to be provided via a restricted right-

turn in/right-turn out access drive on the south side of Dundee Road at the east end 

of the site and two access drives on Penny Road. The Dundee Road access drive 

will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane striped and channelized to 

restrict left-turn movements with the outbound lane under stop sign control. The 

Penny Road access drives will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane 

with the outbound lanes under stop sign control. 

 

• The proposed access drive is projected to provide flexible and efficient access to the various 

parcels with limited impact on the roadway system. 



 

 

• The proposed modified roadway system will have sufficient reserve capacity to 

accommodate the traffic to be generated by the development. A review of the Year 2028 

total traffic volumes and the traffic signal warrants shows that if the Year 2028 total traffic 

volumes are realized, a traffic signal will be warranted at the Dundee Road/Prairie Lake 

Road/Rock Road intersection. As such, this intersection should be monitored in the future 

to determine if a traffic signal is warranted. 



Appendix 
 

Traffic Count Summary Sheets 
Site Plan 

ITE Trip Generation Sheets 
CMAP 2050 Projections Letter 

Level of Service Criteria 
Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 



Traffic Count Summary Sheets  



Type of peak hour being reported: System-wide Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Prairie Lake Rd -- IL 68 QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16005101
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: East Dundee, IL DATE: DATE: Thu, Nov 3 2022

46 194

38 0 8

249 152 42 253

526 0.850.85 211

678 0 0 534

0 0 0

0 0

Peak-Hour: 7:15 AM -- 8:15 AMPeak-Hour: 7:15 AM -- 8:15 AM
Peak 15-Min: 7:45 AM -- 8:00 AMPeak 15-Min: 7:45 AM -- 8:00 AM

26.1 2.6

26.3 0 25

10 2.6 2.4 6.3

8 7.1

6.8 0 0 8.2

0 0 0

0 0

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count15-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Prairie Lake RdPrairie Lake Rd
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Prairie Lake RdPrairie Lake Rd
(Southbound)(Southbound)

IL 68IL 68
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

IL 68IL 68
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

6:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 18 88 0 0 0 14 3 0 124
6:15 AM 0 0 0 0 4 0 5 0 9 102 0 0 0 26 4 0 150
6:30 AM 0 0 0 0 5 0 2 0 16 130 0 0 0 35 6 0 194
6:45 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 4 0 46 115 0 0 0 33 11 0 211 679
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 15 0 33 103 0 0 0 48 4 0 205 760
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 5 0 12 0 25 127 0 0 0 56 7 0 232 842
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 39 122 0 0 0 45 11 0 224 872
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 14 0 50 147 0 0 0 62 14 0 289 950
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 5 0 38 130 0 0 0 48 10 0 232 977
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 3 0 7 0 32 136 0 0 0 52 10 0 240 985
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 1 0 13 0 16 92 0 0 0 34 5 0 161 922
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 2 0 8 0 22 97 0 0 0 47 10 0 186 819

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 0 0 0 8 0 56 0 200 588 0 0 0 248 56 0 1156
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 8 8 40 0 0 16 4 76

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 11/28/2022 1:35 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 1 of 1



Type of peak hour being reported: System-wide Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Prairie Lake Rd -- IL 68 QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16005102
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: East Dundee, IL DATE: DATE: Thu, Nov 3 2022

170 46

131 0 39

602 35 11 482

271 0.890.89 471

306 0 0 310

0 0 0

0 0

Peak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PMPeak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PM
Peak 15-Min: 4:30 PM -- 4:45 PMPeak 15-Min: 4:30 PM -- 4:45 PM

3.5 13

2.3 0 7.7

2.7 11.4 18.2 3.1

3.3 2.8

4.2 0 0 3.9

0 0 0

0 0

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count15-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Prairie Lake RdPrairie Lake Rd
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Prairie Lake RdPrairie Lake Rd
(Southbound)(Southbound)

IL 68IL 68
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

IL 68IL 68
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:00 PM 0 0 0 0 3 0 27 0 11 72 0 0 0 92 5 0 210
3:15 PM 0 0 0 0 5 0 18 0 17 69 0 0 0 84 6 0 199
3:30 PM 0 0 0 0 12 0 50 0 14 53 0 0 0 92 5 0 226
3:45 PM 0 0 0 0 4 0 31 0 11 60 0 1 0 97 1 0 205 840
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 9 0 40 0 9 84 0 0 0 98 3 0 243 873
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 6 0 36 0 9 54 0 0 0 117 0 0 222 896
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 12 0 39 0 13 70 0 0 0 133 2 0 269 939
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 5 0 24 0 8 56 0 0 0 109 3 0 205 939
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 14 0 51 0 9 80 0 0 0 110 4 0 268 964
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 8 0 17 0 5 65 0 0 0 119 2 0 216 958
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 5 0 21 0 4 66 0 0 0 147 0 0 243 932
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 4 0 13 0 10 55 0 0 0 122 1 0 205 932

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 0 0 0 48 0 156 0 52 280 0 0 0 532 8 0 1076
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 4 0 4 8 12 0 0 12 0 40

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 11/28/2022 2:00 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 1 of 1



Type of peak hour being reported: System-wide Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Penny Rd -- IL 68 QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16005103
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: East Dundee, IL DATE: DATE: Thu, Nov 3 2022

0 0

0 0 0

260 0 0 247

664 0.850.85 238

764 100 9 676

22 0 12

109 34

Peak-Hour: 7:15 AM -- 8:15 AMPeak-Hour: 7:15 AM -- 8:15 AM
Peak 15-Min: 7:45 AM -- 8:00 AMPeak 15-Min: 7:45 AM -- 8:00 AM

0 0

0 0 0

8.1 0 0 9.7

6.8 8.4

6.9 8 44.4 6.8

4.5 0 8.3

11 5.9

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count15-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Southbound)(Southbound)

IL 68IL 68
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

IL 68IL 68
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

6:00 AM 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 103 30 0 0 15 0 0 152
6:15 AM 6 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 110 39 0 1 30 0 0 187
6:30 AM 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 144 48 0 1 36 0 0 235
6:45 AM 4 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 159 42 0 1 36 0 0 245 819
7:00 AM 5 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 133 32 0 1 62 0 0 236 903
7:15 AM 8 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 147 29 0 3 65 0 0 255 971
7:30 AM 6 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 157 23 0 1 51 0 0 242 978
7:45 AM 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 198 27 0 4 72 0 0 307 1040
8:00 AM 3 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 162 21 0 1 50 0 0 241 1045
8:15 AM 1 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 161 18 0 1 60 0 0 248 1038
8:30 AM 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 108 20 0 2 45 0 0 179 975
8:45 AM 6 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 109 18 0 1 54 0 0 196 864

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 20 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 792 108 0 16 288 0 0 1228
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 16 4 20 0 88

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 11/28/2022 1:35 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 1 of 1



Type of peak hour being reported: System-wide Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: Penny Rd -- IL 68 QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16005104
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: East Dundee, IL DATE: DATE: Thu, Nov 3 2022

0 0

0 0 0

740 0 0 607

305 0.910.91 593

369 64 14 308

147 0 3

78 150

Peak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PMPeak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PM
Peak 15-Min: 4:30 PM -- 4:45 PMPeak 15-Min: 4:30 PM -- 4:45 PM

0 0

0 0 0

3 0 0 2.6

4.3 2.7

3.8 1.6 0 4.2

4.1 0 0

1.3 4

1

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count15-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Northbound)(Northbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Southbound)(Southbound)

IL 68IL 68
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

IL 68IL 68
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:00 PM 17 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 81 15 0 3 115 0 0 232
3:15 PM 27 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 86 7 0 1 102 0 0 223
3:30 PM 35 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 65 21 0 5 138 0 0 266
3:45 PM 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 72 17 0 1 127 0 0 241 962
4:00 PM 32 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 93 14 0 2 137 0 0 279 1009
4:15 PM 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63 11 0 4 145 0 0 257 1043
4:30 PM 30 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 82 20 0 5 172 0 0 310 1087
4:45 PM 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 67 15 0 1 130 0 0 246 1092
5:00 PM 41 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 86 15 0 5 158 0 0 307 1120
5:15 PM 43 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70 14 0 3 133 0 0 263 1126
5:30 PM 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70 20 0 3 165 0 0 304 1120
5:45 PM 31 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 63 10 0 1 133 0 0 240 1114

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 120 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 328 80 0 20 688 0 0 1240
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 4 0 16 0 40

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 11/28/2022 2:00 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 1 of 1



Type of peak hour being reported: System-wide Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: West Dwy to Trucking Facility -- Penny Rd QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16005105
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: East Dundee, IL DATE: DATE: Thu, Nov 3 2022

0 0

0 0 0

34 0 0 33

109 0.840.84 33

110 1 0 112

1 0 3

1 4

Peak-Hour: 7:15 AM -- 8:15 AMPeak-Hour: 7:15 AM -- 8:15 AM
Peak 15-Min: 7:15 AM -- 7:30 AMPeak 15-Min: 7:15 AM -- 7:30 AM

0 0

0 0 0

5.9 0 0 3

11 3

10.9 0 0 12.5

100 0 66.7

0 75

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count15-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

West Dwy to Trucking FacilityWest Dwy to Trucking Facility
(Northbound)(Northbound)

West Dwy to Trucking FacilityWest Dwy to Trucking Facility
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

6:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29 0 0 0 4 0 0 33
6:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 7 0 0 47
6:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 49 0 0 0 6 0 0 55
6:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43 0 0 0 7 0 0 50 185
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 8 0 0 41 193
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 11 0 0 44 190
7:30 AM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 1 0 0 10 0 0 35 170
7:45 AM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 6 0 0 37 157
8:00 AM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 0 0 0 6 0 0 31 147
8:15 AM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 1 0 0 8 0 0 27 130
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 2 0 0 6 0 0 29 124
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 1 0 0 11 0 0 30 117

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 132 0 0 0 44 0 0 176
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 0 0 4 0 20

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 11/28/2022 1:35 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 1 of 1



Type of peak hour being reported: System-wide Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: West Dwy to Trucking Facility -- Penny Rd QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16005106
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: East Dundee, IL DATE: DATE: Thu, Nov 3 2022

0 0

0 0 0

149 0 0 149

79 0.920.92 149

79 0 0 79

0 0 0

0 0

Peak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PMPeak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PM
Peak 15-Min: 5:00 PM -- 5:15 PMPeak 15-Min: 5:00 PM -- 5:15 PM

0 0

0 0 0

2 0 0 2

1.3 2

1.3 0 0 1.3

0 0 0

0 0

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

1 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count15-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

West Dwy to Trucking FacilityWest Dwy to Trucking Facility
(Northbound)(Northbound)

West Dwy to Trucking FacilityWest Dwy to Trucking Facility
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 21 0 0 41
3:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 25 0 0 33
3:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 39 0 0 63
3:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 23 0 0 43 180
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 1 0 33 0 0 49 188
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 34 0 0 49 204
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 29 0 0 54 195
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 0 0 0 35 0 0 51 203
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 43 0 0 62 216
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 42 0 0 61 228
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 49 0 0 68 242
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 30 0 0 44 235

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 76 0 0 0 172 0 0 248
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 11/28/2022 2:00 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 1 of 1



Type of peak hour being reported: System-wide Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: East Dwy to Trucking Facility -- Penny Rd QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16005107
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: East Dundee, IL DATE: DATE: Thu, Nov 3 2022

0 0

0 0 0

35 1 0 36

109 0.840.84 34

112 2 2 109

0 0 0

4 0

Peak-Hour: 7:15 AM -- 8:15 AMPeak-Hour: 7:15 AM -- 8:15 AM
Peak 15-Min: 7:15 AM -- 7:30 AMPeak 15-Min: 7:15 AM -- 7:30 AM

0 0

0 0 0

2.9 0 0 8.3

10.1 2.9

11.6 100 100 10.1

0 0 0

100 0

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count15-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

East Dwy to Trucking FacilityEast Dwy to Trucking Facility
(Northbound)(Northbound)

East Dwy to Trucking FacilityEast Dwy to Trucking Facility
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

6:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 2 0 0 32
6:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 7 0 0 47
6:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 0 0 0 6 0 0 54
6:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44 0 0 1 7 0 0 52 185
7:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 31 1 0 0 8 0 0 40 193
7:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 11 0 0 44 190
7:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 0 1 0 9 0 0 33 169
7:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 1 0 1 6 0 0 38 155
8:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 1 0 1 8 0 0 33 148
8:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 0 0 6 0 0 24 128
8:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 1 9 0 0 30 125
8:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 0 1 8 0 0 27 114

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 132 0 0 0 44 0 0 176
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 4 0 16

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 11/28/2022 1:35 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 1 of 1



Type of peak hour being reported: System-wide Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: LOCATION: East Dwy to Trucking Facility -- Penny Rd QC JOB #: QC JOB #: 16005108
CITY/STATE: CITY/STATE: East Dundee, IL DATE: DATE: Thu, Nov 3 2022

0 0

0 0 0

151 0 0 151

78 0.940.94 151

78 0 0 78

0 0 0

0 0

Peak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PMPeak-Hour: 4:30 PM -- 5:30 PM
Peak 15-Min: 5:15 PM -- 5:30 PMPeak 15-Min: 5:15 PM -- 5:30 PM

0 0

0 0 0

2 0 0 2

1.3 2

1.3 0 0 1.3

0 0 0

0 0

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

1 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count15-Min Count
Period Period 

Beginning AtBeginning At

East Dwy to Trucking FacilityEast Dwy to Trucking Facility
(Northbound)(Northbound)

East Dwy to Trucking FacilityEast Dwy to Trucking Facility
(Southbound)(Southbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Eastbound)(Eastbound)

Penny RdPenny Rd
(Westbound)(Westbound) TotalTotal HourlyHourly

TotalsTotals
LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

3:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 0 1 20 0 0 40
3:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 25 0 0 33
3:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 41 0 1 67
3:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 22 0 0 41 181
4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 36 0 0 51 192
4:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 31 0 0 46 205
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 29 0 0 54 192
4:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 0 0 0 38 0 0 54 205
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 40 0 0 60 214
5:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 0 0 0 44 0 0 61 229
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 0 0 0 47 0 0 68 243
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 27 0 0 39 228

Peak 15-MinPeak 15-Min
FlowratesFlowrates

NorthboundNorthbound SouthboundSouthbound EastboundEastbound WestboundWestbound
TotalTotalLeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU LeftLeft ThruThru RightRight UU

All Vehicles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 68 0 0 0 176 0 0 244
Heavy Trucks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 8

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 11/28/2022 2:00 PM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 1 of 1



Site Plan  



©
 C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T
 2

0
2
1

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGOPINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

PROPOSED DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68) INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS EXHIBIT

SCALE: 1"=70'

05/02/2023



ITE Trip Generation Sheets  



197

Land Use: 821
Shopping Plaza (40-150k)

Description
A shopping plaza is an integrated group of commercial establishments that is planned, developed, 
owned, and managed as a unit. Each study site in this land use has between 40,000 and 150,000 
square feet of gross leasable area (GLA). The term “plaza” in the land use name rather than 
“center” is simply a means of distinction between the different shopping center size ranges. 
Various other names are commonly used to categorize a shopping plaza within this size range, 
depending on its specific size and tenants, such as neighborhood center, community center, and 
fashion center.

Its major tenant is often a supermarket but many sites are anchored by home improvement, 
discount, or other stores. A shopping plaza typically contains more than retail merchandising 
facilities. Office space, a movie theater, restaurants, a post office, banks, a health club, and 
recreational facilities are common tenants. A shopping plaza is almost always open-air and the 
GLA is the same as the gross floor area of the building.

The 150,000 square feet GLA threshold value between shopping plaza and shopping center 
(Land Use 820) is based on an examination of trip generation data. For a shopping plaza that is 
smaller than the threshold value, the presence or absence of a supermarket within the plaza has 
a measurable effect on site trip generation. For a shopping center that is larger than the threshold 
value, the trips generated by its other major tenants mask any effects of the presence or absence 
of an on-site supermarket.

The 40,000 square feet GFA threshold between shopping plaza and strip retail plaza (Land Use 
822) was selected based on an examination of the overall shopping center/plaza database. No 
shopping plaza with a supermarket as its anchor is smaller than 40,000 square feet GLA.

Shopping center (>150k) (Land Use 820), strip retail plaza (<40k) (Land Use 822), and factory 
outlet center (Land Use 823) are related uses.

Land Use Subcategory
The presence or absence of a supermarket in a shopping plaza has been determined to have a 
measurable effect on site trip generation. Therefore, data are presented for two subcategories for 
this land use: sites with a supermarket anchor and sites without a supermarket.

Additional Data
The technical appendices provide supporting information on time-of-day distributions for this 
land use. The appendices can be accessed through either the ITETripGen web app or the trip 
generation resource page on the ITE website (https://www.ite.org/technical-resources/topics/trip-
and-parking-generation/).

General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 800–999)



The sites were surveyed in the 1980s, the 1990s, the 2000s, and the 2010s in Alberta (CAN), 
British Columbia (CAN), California, Connecticut, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, 
Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Nevada, New 
Jersey, New York, Ontario (CAN), Oregon, Pennsylvania, South Dakota, Texas, Vermont, Virginia, 
Washington, and Wisconsin.

Source Numbers
105, 110, 156, 159, 186, 198, 204, 211, 213, 239, 259, 260, 295, 301, 304, 305, 307, 317, 319, 358, 
376, 390, 400, 404, 437, 444, 446, 507, 580, 598, 658, 728, 908, 926, 944, 946, 960, 973, 974, 1004, 
1009, 1025, 1069

198 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 5







CMAP 2050 Projections Letter  



 
November 29, 2022 

Kelly Pachowicz 

Consultant 

Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara and Aboona 

9575 West Higgins Road 

Suite 400 

Rosemont, IL 60018 

 

Subject:  IL 68 @ Penny Road 

  IDOT 

 

Dear Ms. Pachowicz:  

 

In response to a request made on your behalf and dated November 28, 2022, we have 

developed year 2050 average daily traffic (ADT) projections for the subject location.    

 
ROAD SEGMENT Current ADT Year 2050 ADT 

IL 68, @ Penny Road 13,400 14,300 

Penny Road east of IL 68 2,300 2,450 

 

Traffic projections are developed using existing ADT data provided in the request letter 

and the results from the October 2022 CMAP Travel Demand Analysis. The regional 

travel model uses CMAP 2050 socioeconomic projections and assumes the 

implementation of the ON TO 2050 Comprehensive Regional Plan for the Northeastern 

Illinois area.  The provision of this data in support of your request does not constitute a 

CMAP endorsement of the proposed development or any subsequent developments. 
 

If you have any questions, please call me at (312) 386-8806. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Jose Rodriguez, PTP, AICP 

Senior Planner, Research & Analysis 
 

cc: Rios (IDOT)    

2022_ForecastTraffic\EastDundee\ka-32-22\ka-32-22.docx 
 

 

 

 

 



Level of Service Criteria  



LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA 
Signalized Intersections 

 
Level of 
Service 

 
 

Interpretation 

Average Control 
Delay  

(seconds per vehicle) 
A 
 
 
 

Favorable progression.  Most vehicles arrive during the 
green indication and travel through the intersection without 
stopping. 

≤10 

B 
 
 

Good progression, with more vehicles stopping than for 
Level of Service A. 

>10 - 20 

C 
 
 
 

Individual cycle failures (i.e., one or more queued vehicles 
are not able to depart as a result of insufficient capacity 
during the cycle) may begin to appear.  Number of vehicles 
stopping is significant, although many vehicles still pass 
through the intersection without stopping. 
 

>20 - 35 

D 
 
 
 

The volume-to-capacity ratio is high and either progression 
is ineffective or the cycle length is too long.  Many vehicles 
stop and individual cycle failures are noticeable. 
 

>35 - 55 

E Progression is unfavorable.  The volume-to-capacity ratio 
is high and the cycle length is long.  Individual cycle 
failures are frequent. 
 

>55 - 80 

F The volume-to-capacity ratio is very high, progression is 
very poor, and the cycle length is long.  Most cycles fail to 
clear the queue. 

>80.0 

Unsignalized Intersections 
Level of Service Average Total Delay (SEC/VEH) 

A      0 - 10 

B > 10 - 15 

C > 15 - 25 

D > 25 - 35 

E > 35 - 50 

F > 50 
Source:  Highway Capacity Manual, 2010. 



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Existing Weekday Morning Peak Hour  



HCM 6th TWSC
1: Penny Road & IL 68 12/13/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Existing Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NWL NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 664 100 9 238 22 12
Future Vol, veh/h 664 100 9 238 22 12
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 100 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 1 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 85 85 85 85 85 85
Heavy Vehicles, % 7 8 44 8 4 8
Mvmt Flow 781 118 11 280 26 14
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 899 0 1142 840
          Stage 1 - - - - 840 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 302 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.54 - 6.44 6.28
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.596 - 3.536 3.372
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 606 - 220 356
          Stage 1 - - - - 420 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 745 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 606 - 216 356
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 331 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 420 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 732 -
 

Approach EB WB NW
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.4 17
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 339 - - 606 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.118 - - 0.017 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 17 - - 11 -
HCM Lane LOS C - - B -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - - 0.1 -



HCM 6th TWSC
2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road 12/13/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Existing Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.9

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 152 526 211 42 8 38
Future Vol, veh/h 152 526 211 42 8 38
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 160 - - 135 0 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 85 85 85 85 85 85
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 8 7 2 25 26
Mvmt Flow 179 619 248 49 9 45
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 297 0 - 0 1225 248
          Stage 1 - - - - 248 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 977 -
Critical Hdwy 4.13 - - - 6.65 6.46
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.65 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.65 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.227 - - - 3.725 3.534
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1259 - - - 177 735
          Stage 1 - - - - 742 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 331 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1259 - - - 152 735
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 258 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 637 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 331 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.9 0 11.8
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 1259 - - - 258 735
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.142 - - - 0.036 0.061
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 - - - 19.5 10.2
HCM Lane LOS A - - - C B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - - - 0.1 0.2



HCM 6th TWSC
3: West Access Drive & Penny Road 12/13/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Existing Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 109 1 0 33 1 3
Future Vol, veh/h 109 1 0 33 1 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 11 0 0 3 100 67
Mvmt Flow 130 1 0 39 1 4
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 131 0 170 131
          Stage 1 - - - - 131 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 39 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 7.4 6.87
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 6.4 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 6.4 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 4.4 3.903
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1467 - 639 771
          Stage 1 - - - - 701 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 782 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1467 - 639 771
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 639 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 701 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 782 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 9.9
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 733 - - 1467 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.006 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.9 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC
4: East Access Drive & Penny Road 12/13/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Existing Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 109 2 2 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 1 109 2 2 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 10 100 100 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 1 130 2 2 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 40 0 0 132 0 0 177 177 131 177 178 40
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 133 133 - 44 44 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 44 44 - 133 134 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 5.1 - - 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 3.1 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1583 - - 1019 - - 790 720 924 790 719 1037
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 875 790 - 975 862 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 975 862 - 875 789 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1583 - - 1019 - - 788 718 924 788 717 1037
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 788 718 - 788 717 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 874 789 - 974 860 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 973 860 - 874 788 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0.5 0 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - 1583 - - 1019 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - 0.001 - - 0.002 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 7.3 0 - 8.5 0 - 0
HCM Lane LOS A A A - A A - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - 0 - - 0 - - -



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Existing Weekday Evening Peak Hour  



HCM 6th TWSC
1: Penny Road & IL 68 12/13/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Existing Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NWL NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 305 64 14 593 147 3
Future Vol, veh/h 305 64 14 593 147 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 100 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 1 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 4 2 0 3 4 0
Mvmt Flow 335 70 15 652 162 3
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 405 0 1052 370
          Stage 1 - - - - 370 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 682 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.44 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.536 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1165 - 249 680
          Stage 1 - - - - 694 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 498 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1165 - 246 680
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 369 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 694 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 492 -
 

Approach EB WB NW
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.2 22.2
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 372 - - 1165 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.443 - - 0.013 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 22.2 - - 8.1 -
HCM Lane LOS C - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 2.2 - - 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC
2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road 12/13/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Existing Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.8

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 35 271 471 11 39 131
Future Vol, veh/h 35 271 471 11 39 131
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 160 - - 135 0 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 11 3 3 18 8 2
Mvmt Flow 39 304 529 12 44 147
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 541 0 - 0 911 529
          Stage 1 - - - - 529 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 382 -
Critical Hdwy 4.21 - - - 6.48 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.48 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.48 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.299 - - - 3.572 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 984 - - - 297 550
          Stage 1 - - - - 579 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 677 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 984 - - - 285 550
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 406 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 556 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 677 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1 0 14.1
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 984 - - - 406 550
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.04 - - - 0.108 0.268
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 - - - 14.9 13.9
HCM Lane LOS A - - - B B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - - 0.4 1.1



HCM 6th TWSC
3: West Access Drive & Penny Road 12/13/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Existing Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 79 0 0 149 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 79 0 0 149 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 1 0 0 2 0 0
Mvmt Flow 86 0 0 162 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 86 0 248 86
          Stage 1 - - - - 86 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 162 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.4 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.4 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.4 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1523 - 745 978
          Stage 1 - - - - 942 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 872 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1523 - 745 978
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 745 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 942 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 872 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 1523 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC
4: East Access Drive & Penny Road 12/13/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Existing Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 78 0 0 151 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 78 0 0 151 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 83 0 0 161 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 161 0 0 83 0 0 244 244 83 244 244 161
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 83 83 - 161 161 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 161 161 - 83 83 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1430 - - 1527 - - 714 661 982 714 661 889
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 930 830 - 846 769 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 846 769 - 930 830 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1430 - - 1527 - - 714 661 982 714 661 889
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 714 661 - 714 661 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 930 830 - 846 769 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 846 769 - 930 830 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - 1430 - - 1527 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 0 - - 0 - - 0
HCM Lane LOS A A - - A - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - 0 - - 0 - - -



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Morning Peak Hour  



HCM 6th TWSC
1: Penny Road & IL 68 12/20/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NWL NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 671 101 9 240 22 12
Future Vol, veh/h 671 101 9 240 22 12
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 100 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 1 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 85 85 85 85 85 85
Heavy Vehicles, % 7 8 44 8 4 8
Mvmt Flow 789 119 11 282 26 14
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 908 0 1153 849
          Stage 1 - - - - 849 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 304 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.54 - 6.44 6.28
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.596 - 3.536 3.372
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 601 - 216 352
          Stage 1 - - - - 416 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 744 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 601 - 212 352
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 327 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 416 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 731 -
 

Approach EB WB NW
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.4 17.2
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 335 - - 601 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.119 - - 0.018 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 17.2 - - 11.1 -
HCM Lane LOS C - - B -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - - 0.1 -



HCM 6th TWSC
2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road 12/20/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.9

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 152 531 213 42 8 38
Future Vol, veh/h 152 531 213 42 8 38
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 160 - - 135 0 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 85 85 85 85 85 85
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 8 7 2 25 26
Mvmt Flow 179 625 251 49 9 45
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 300 0 - 0 1234 251
          Stage 1 - - - - 251 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 983 -
Critical Hdwy 4.13 - - - 6.65 6.46
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.65 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.65 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.227 - - - 3.725 3.534
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1255 - - - 175 733
          Stage 1 - - - - 740 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 329 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1255 - - - 150 733
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 256 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 634 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 329 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.9 0 11.8
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 1255 - - - 256 733
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.142 - - - 0.037 0.061
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 - - - 19.6 10.2
HCM Lane LOS A - - - C B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - - - 0.1 0.2



HCM 6th TWSC
3: West Access Drive & Penny Road 12/20/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 110 1 0 33 1 3
Future Vol, veh/h 110 1 0 33 1 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 11 0 0 3 100 67
Mvmt Flow 131 1 0 39 1 4
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 132 0 171 132
          Stage 1 - - - - 132 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 39 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 7.4 6.87
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 6.4 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 6.4 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 4.4 3.903
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1466 - 638 770
          Stage 1 - - - - 701 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 782 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1466 - 638 770
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 638 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 701 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 782 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 10
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 732 - - 1466 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.007 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS B - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC
4: East Access Drive & Penny Road 12/20/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 110 2 2 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 1 110 2 2 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 10 100 100 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 1 131 2 2 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 40 0 0 133 0 0 178 178 132 178 179 40
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 134 134 - 44 44 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 44 44 - 134 135 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 5.1 - - 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 3.1 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1583 - - 1018 - - 789 719 923 789 718 1037
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 874 789 - 975 862 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 975 862 - 874 789 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1583 - - 1018 - - 787 717 923 787 716 1037
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 787 717 - 787 716 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 873 788 - 974 860 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 973 860 - 873 788 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0.5 0 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - 1583 - - 1018 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - 0.001 - - 0.002 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 7.3 0 - 8.5 0 - 0
HCM Lane LOS A A A - A A - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - 0 - - 0 - - -



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Evening Peak Hour  



HCM 6th TWSC
1: Penny Road & IL 68 12/20/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NWL NWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 308 65 14 599 148 3
Future Vol, veh/h 308 65 14 599 148 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - 100 - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 1 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 4 2 0 3 4 0
Mvmt Flow 338 71 15 658 163 3
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 409 0 1062 374
          Stage 1 - - - - 374 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 688 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.44 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.44 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.44 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.536 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1161 - 245 677
          Stage 1 - - - - 691 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 495 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1161 - 242 677
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 366 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 691 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 489 -
 

Approach EB WB NW
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.2 22.5
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NWLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 369 - - 1161 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.45 - - 0.013 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 22.5 - - 8.1 -
HCM Lane LOS C - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 2.3 - - 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC
2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road 12/20/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.8

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 35 274 476 11 39 131
Future Vol, veh/h 35 274 476 11 39 131
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 160 - - 135 0 0
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 89 89 89 89 89 89
Heavy Vehicles, % 11 3 3 18 8 2
Mvmt Flow 39 308 535 12 44 147
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 547 0 - 0 921 535
          Stage 1 - - - - 535 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 386 -
Critical Hdwy 4.21 - - - 6.48 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.48 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.48 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.299 - - - 3.572 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 979 - - - 293 545
          Stage 1 - - - - 575 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 674 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 979 - - - 281 545
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 403 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 552 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 674 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1 0 14.2
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 979 - - - 403 545
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.04 - - - 0.109 0.27
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 - - - 15 14
HCM Lane LOS A - - - C B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - - 0.4 1.1



HCM 6th TWSC
3: West Access Drive & Penny Road 12/20/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 80 0 0 150 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 80 0 0 150 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 1 0 0 2 0 0
Mvmt Flow 87 0 0 163 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 87 0 250 87
          Stage 1 - - - - 87 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 163 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.4 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.4 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.4 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1522 - 743 977
          Stage 1 - - - - 941 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 871 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1522 - 743 977
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 743 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 941 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 871 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 1522 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC
4: East Access Drive & Penny Road 12/20/2022

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 No-Build Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 78 0 0 153 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 78 0 0 153 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 83 0 0 163 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 163 0 0 83 0 0 246 246 83 246 246 163
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 83 83 - 163 163 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 163 163 - 83 83 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1428 - - 1527 - - 712 660 982 712 660 887
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 930 830 - 844 767 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 844 767 - 930 830 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1428 - - 1527 - - 712 660 982 712 660 887
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 712 660 - 712 660 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 930 830 - 844 767 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 844 767 - 930 830 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0 0
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - 1428 - - 1527 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 0 - - 0 - - 0
HCM Lane LOS A A - - A - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - 0 - - 0 - - -



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Year 2028 Total Projected Weekday Morning Peak Hour  



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 152 546 119 78 213 42 39 0 37 8 0 38
Future Volume (vph) 152 546 119 78 213 42 39 0 37 8 0 38
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 2000 1900 1900 2000 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Grade (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Storage Length (ft) 160 160 150 150 120 120 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 170 170 160 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped Bike Factor
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.850 0.850
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1752 1852 1553 1612 1869 1583 1597 1863 1324 1444 1282 0
Flt Permitted 0.602 0.396 0.493 0.757
Satd. Flow (perm) 1110 1852 1553 672 1869 1583 829 1863 1324 1151 1282 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 114 82 494 732
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 30 25
Link Distance (ft) 532 716 457 520
Travel Time (s) 8.1 10.8 10.4 14.2
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 3% 8% 4% 12% 7% 2% 13% 2% 22% 25% 2% 26%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 160 575 125 82 224 44 41 0 39 8 40 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm pm+pt Perm pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 7 4 3 8
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 4 4 8
Detector Phase 5 2 2 1 6 6 7 4 4 3 8
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 3.0 8.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 8.0 3.0 5.0 5.0 3.0 5.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 24.0 24.0 9.5 24.0 24.0 9.5 15.0 15.0 9.5 15.0
Total Split (s) 15.0 75.0 75.0 15.0 75.0 75.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0
Total Split (%) 12.5% 62.5% 62.5% 12.5% 62.5% 62.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5%
Yellow Time (s) 3.0 4.0 4.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 3.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 3.0 6.0 6.0 3.0 6.0 6.0 3.0 6.0 6.0 3.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode None C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None None
Act Effct Green (s) 96.9 88.2 88.2 94.0 84.1 84.1 17.6 13.1 13.0 5.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.81 0.74 0.74 0.78 0.70 0.70 0.15 0.11 0.11 0.05



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
v/c Ratio 0.17 0.42 0.11 0.14 0.17 0.04 0.23 0.07 0.06 0.05
Control Delay 3.5 9.8 2.0 3.8 8.0 0.4 45.4 0.2 41.8 0.1
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 3.5 9.8 2.0 3.8 8.0 0.4 45.4 0.2 41.8 0.1
LOS A A A A A A D A D A
Approach Delay 7.5 6.1 23.4 7.1
Approach LOS A A C A
Queue Length 50th (ft) 24 189 3 12 60 0 28 0 5 0
Queue Length 95th (ft) 45 297 24 26 106 3 60 0 19 0
Internal Link Dist (ft) 452 636 377 440
Turn Bay Length (ft) 160 160 150 150 120 120
Base Capacity (vph) 971 1360 1171 642 1310 1134 207 589 204 773
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.16 0.42 0.11 0.13 0.17 0.04 0.20 0.07 0.04 0.05

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 60
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.42
Intersection Signal Delay: 8.1 Intersection LOS: A
Intersection Capacity Utilization 53.8% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases:     2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Rock Road/Prairie Lake Road & IL 68 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 152 546 119 78 213 42 39 0 37 8 0 38
Future Vol, veh/h 152 546 119 78 213 42 39 0 37 8 0 38
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 160 - 160 150 - 150 120 - 120 0 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 1 - - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 8 4 10 7 2 13 0 22 25 0 26
Mvmt Flow 160 575 125 82 224 44 41 0 39 8 0 40
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 268 0 0 700 0 0 1325 1327 575 1365 1408 224
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 895 895 - 388 388 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 430 432 - 977 1020 -
Critical Hdwy 4.13 - - 4.2 - - 7.23 6.5 6.42 7.35 6.5 6.46
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.23 5.5 - 6.35 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.23 5.5 - 6.35 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.227 - - 2.29 - - 3.617 4 3.498 3.725 4 3.534
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1290 - - 861 - - 126 157 482 111 140 759
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 321 362 - 592 612 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 582 586 - 274 317 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1290 - - 861 - - 100 125 482 86 111 759
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 185 212 - 122 166 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 281 317 - 519 554 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 499 530 - 221 278 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.5 2.3 21.7 14.6
HCM LOS C B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 NBLn3 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 185 - 482 1290 - - 861 - - 122 759
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.222 - 0.081 0.124 - - 0.095 - - 0.069 0.053
HCM Control Delay (s) 29.9 0 13.1 8.2 - - 9.6 - - 36.7 10
HCM Lane LOS D A B A - - A - - E B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - 0.3 0.4 - - 0.3 - - 0.2 0.2



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Rock Road & Penny Road 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 16 6 1 6 8 42 1 17 6 124 39 34
Future Vol, veh/h 16 6 1 6 8 42 1 17 6 124 39 34
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - 120 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 33 13 0 100 76 67 0 33 0
Mvmt Flow 17 6 1 6 8 44 1 18 6 131 41 36
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 370 347 59 348 362 21 77 0 0 24 0 0
          Stage 1 321 321 - 23 23 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 49 26 - 325 339 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.43 6.63 6.2 5.1 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.43 5.63 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.43 5.63 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.3 3.797 4.117 3.3 3.1 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 590 580 1012 552 548 1062 1076 - - 1604 - -
          Stage 1 695 655 - 921 855 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 969 878 - 627 621 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 523 532 1012 512 503 1062 1076 - - 1604 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 523 532 - 512 503 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 694 601 - 920 854 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 919 877 - 569 570 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12 9.6 0.3 4.7
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1076 - - 537 834 1604 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.001 - - 0.045 0.071 0.081 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 - 12 9.6 7.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A - B A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.1 0.2 0.3 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
4: East Access Drive & Penny Road 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 118 2 2 48 14 0 0 0 0 0 5
Future Vol, veh/h 1 118 2 2 48 14 0 0 0 0 0 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 11 100 100 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 1 140 2 2 57 17 0 0 0 0 0 6
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 74 0 0 142 0 0 216 221 141 213 214 66
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 143 143 - 70 70 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 73 78 - 143 144 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 5.1 - - 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 3.1 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1538 - - 1009 - - 745 681 912 748 687 1003
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 865 782 - 945 841 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 942 834 - 865 782 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1538 - - 1009 - - 739 679 912 747 685 1003
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 739 679 - 747 685 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 864 781 - 944 839 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 935 832 - 864 781 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0.3 0 8.6
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - 1538 - - 1009 - - 1003
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - 0.001 - - 0.002 - - 0.006
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 7.3 0 - 8.6 0 - 8.6
HCM Lane LOS A A A - A A - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - 0 - - 0 - - 0



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Right-In/Right-Out & IL 68 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.2

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 805 11 0 298 0 12
Future Vol, veh/h 805 11 0 298 0 12
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - Free - None - Stop
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 4 0 0 13 0 0
Mvmt Flow 847 12 0 314 0 13
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 - - - - 847
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - 0 0 - 0 365
          Stage 1 - 0 0 - 0 -
          Stage 2 - 0 0 - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 365
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 15.2
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 365 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.035 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS C - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
6: East Access Drive & IL 68 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Morning Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.2

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 568 23 0 333 0 18
Future Vol, veh/h 568 23 0 333 0 18
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - Free - None - Stop
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 8 0 0 7 0 0
Mvmt Flow 598 24 0 351 0 19
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 - - - - 598
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - 0 0 - 0 506
          Stage 1 - 0 0 - 0 -
          Stage 2 - 0 0 - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 506
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 12.4
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 506 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.037 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 12.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - -



Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Year 2028 Total Projected Weekday Evening Peak Hour 



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 35 362 82 128 476 11 228 0 73 39 0 131
Future Volume (vph) 35 362 82 128 476 11 228 0 73 39 0 131
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 2000 1900 1900 2000 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Grade (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Storage Length (ft) 160 160 150 150 120 120 0 0
Storage Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 170 170 160 25
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped Bike Factor
Frt 0.850 0.850 0.850 0.850
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1626 1961 1524 1687 1942 1369 1770 1863 1455 1671 1583 0
Flt Permitted 0.410 0.435 0.440 0.757
Satd. Flow (perm) 702 1961 1524 772 1942 1369 820 1863 1455 1332 1583 0
Right Turn on Red Yes Yes Yes Yes
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 86 82 591 419
Link Speed (mph) 45 45 30 25
Link Distance (ft) 532 716 457 520
Travel Time (s) 8.1 10.8 10.4 14.2
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 11% 2% 6% 7% 3% 18% 2% 2% 11% 8% 2% 2%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 37 381 86 135 501 12 240 0 77 41 138 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm pm+pt Perm pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 7 4 3 8
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 4 4 8
Detector Phase 5 2 2 1 6 6 7 4 4 3 8
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 3.0 8.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 8.0 3.0 5.0 5.0 3.0 5.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 22.5 22.5 9.5 22.5 22.5 9.5 15.0 15.0 9.5 15.0
Total Split (s) 15.0 75.0 75.0 15.0 75.0 75.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0
Total Split (%) 12.5% 62.5% 62.5% 12.5% 62.5% 62.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5% 12.5%
Yellow Time (s) 3.0 4.0 4.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 3.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 3.0 6.0 6.0 3.0 6.0 6.0 3.0 6.0 6.0 3.0 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode None C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None None
Act Effct Green (s) 72.9 63.4 63.4 78.6 69.6 69.6 35.4 23.4 16.2 5.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.61 0.53 0.53 0.66 0.58 0.58 0.30 0.20 0.14 0.05



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
v/c Ratio 0.08 0.37 0.10 0.23 0.45 0.01 0.56 0.10 0.20 0.29
Control Delay 9.0 19.1 4.0 9.6 17.6 0.0 39.2 0.3 33.2 1.6
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 9.0 19.1 4.0 9.6 17.6 0.0 39.2 0.3 33.2 1.6
LOS A B A A B A D A C A
Approach Delay 15.8 15.6 29.7 8.8
Approach LOS B B C A
Queue Length 50th (ft) 9 167 0 37 226 0 151 0 23 0
Queue Length 95th (ft) 25 276 29 70 356 0 216 0 48 0
Internal Link Dist (ft) 452 636 377 440
Turn Bay Length (ft) 160 160 150 150 120 120
Base Capacity (vph) 546 1137 919 597 1186 868 430 759 261 506
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.07 0.34 0.09 0.23 0.42 0.01 0.56 0.10 0.16 0.27

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 60
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.56
Intersection Signal Delay: 17.6 Intersection LOS: B
Intersection Capacity Utilization 64.5% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases:     2: IL 68 & Prairie Lake Road



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Rock Road/Prairie Lake Road & IL 68 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 45.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 35 362 82 128 476 11 228 0 72 39 0 131
Future Vol, veh/h 35 362 82 128 476 11 228 0 72 39 0 131
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length 160 - 160 150 - 150 120 - 120 0 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 1 - - 1 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 11 2 6 6 3 18 2 0 11 8 0 2
Mvmt Flow 37 381 86 135 501 12 240 0 76 41 0 138
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 513 0 0 467 0 0 1301 1238 381 1307 1312 501
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 455 455 - 771 771 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 846 783 - 536 541 -
Critical Hdwy 4.21 - - 4.16 - - 7.12 6.5 6.31 7.18 6.5 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.5 - 6.18 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.5 - 6.18 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.299 - - 2.254 - - 3.518 4 3.399 3.572 4 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1008 - - 1074 - - ~ 138 177 647 133 160 570
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 585 572 - 384 413 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 357 407 - 518 524 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1008 - - 1074 - - ~ 92 149 647 103 135 570
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - ~ 164 245 - 199 228 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 563 551 - 370 361 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - ~ 237 356 - 441 505 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.6 1.8 223.4 16.6
HCM LOS F C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 NBLn3 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2
Capacity (veh/h) 164 - 647 1008 - - 1074 - - 199 570
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 1.463 - 0.117 0.037 - - 0.125 - - 0.206 0.242
HCM Control Delay (s) 290.4 0 11.3 8.7 - - 8.8 - - 27.7 13.3
HCM Lane LOS F A B A - - A - - D B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 15.4 - 0.4 0.1 - - 0.4 - - 0.8 0.9

Notes
~: Volume exceeds capacity       $: Delay exceeds 300s      +: Computation Not Defined      *: All major volume in platoon



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Rock Road & Penny Road 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 8.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 69 23 0 3 20 192 0 38 7 113 17 81
Future Vol, veh/h 69 23 0 3 20 192 0 38 7 113 17 81
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - 120 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 4 0 67 30 0 0 34 29 0 76 0
Mvmt Flow 73 24 0 3 21 202 0 40 7 119 18 85
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 454 346 61 355 385 44 103 0 0 47 0 0
          Stage 1 299 299 - 44 44 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 155 47 - 311 341 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.54 6.2 7.77 6.8 6.2 4.1 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.54 - 6.77 5.8 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.54 - 6.77 5.8 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4.036 3.3 4.103 4.27 3.3 2.2 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 520 574 1010 496 508 1032 1502 - - 1573 - -
          Stage 1 714 663 - 828 806 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 852 852 - 581 592 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 381 530 1010 451 469 1032 1502 - - 1573 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 381 530 - 451 469 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 714 613 - 828 806 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 667 852 - 516 547 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 16.5 10.2 0 4
HCM LOS C B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1502 - - 410 914 1573 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.236 0.248 0.076 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 16.5 10.2 7.5 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C B A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0.9 1 0.2 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
4: East Access Drive & Penny Road 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 108 0 0 175 34 0 0 0 0 0 22
Future Vol, veh/h 0 108 0 0 175 34 0 0 0 0 0 22
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 3 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 115 0 0 186 36 0 0 0 0 0 23
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 222 0 0 115 0 0 331 337 115 319 319 204
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 115 115 - 204 204 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 216 222 - 115 115 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.1 6.5 6.2 7.1 6.5 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.1 5.5 - 6.1 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1359 - - 1487 - - 626 587 943 638 601 842
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 895 804 - 803 737 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 791 723 - 895 804 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1359 - - 1487 - - 608 587 943 638 601 842
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 608 587 - 638 601 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 895 804 - 803 737 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 769 723 - 895 804 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0 9.4
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - 1359 - - 1487 - - 842
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - - - - 0.028
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 0 - - 0 - - 9.4
HCM Lane LOS A A - - A - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - 0 - - 0 - - 0.1



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Right-In/Right-Out & IL 68 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 425 25 0 854 0 54
Future Vol, veh/h 425 25 0 854 0 54
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - Free - None - Stop
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 4 0 2 13 2 0
Mvmt Flow 447 26 0 899 0 57
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 - - - - 447
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - 0 0 - 0 616
          Stage 1 - 0 0 - 0 -
          Stage 2 - 0 0 - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 616
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 11.4
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 616 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.092 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
6: East Access Drive & IL 68 05/02/2023

22-373 Truck Facility - East Dundee Synchro 11 Report
Year 2028 Total Weekday Evening Peak Hour KP

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.8

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 417 56 0 615 0 80
Future Vol, veh/h 417 56 0 615 0 80
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - Free - None - Stop
Storage Length - - - - - 0
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 0 0 3 0 0
Mvmt Flow 439 59 0 647 0 84
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 - - - - 439
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - - - - - 6.2
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - - - - - 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - 0 0 - 0 622
          Stage 1 - 0 0 - 0 -
          Stage 2 - 0 0 - 0 -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - - - - 622
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 11.7
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 622 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.135 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - -



87.8'

46
.4

'

87.9'

46
.6

'

220.2'

220.2'

114.8'

114.8' DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

X
X

XXXXXXXXXX

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X X X X X X

X
X

X
X

X
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X
XXXX

X
X

X

XXX
XXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X X X X X X X X X X X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

47
8.

9'

234'

45
1.

1'

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

OVERALL EXISTING

CONDITIONS & KEY MAP

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
O

V
E
R

A
L
L
 
E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
C

O
N

D
I
T
I
O

N
S

 
&

 
K

E
Y

 
M

A
P

1
"
 
=

 
1

5
0

'

C-4

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

SHEET C-7

SHEET C-5

SHEET C-8

SHEET C-9

SHEET C-9

1" = 150'0 300'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

DEMOLITION NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DEMOLITION,

REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF ALL STRUCTURES,

FOUNDATIONS, SIDEWALKS, PAVEMENT, DRIVES,

DRAINAGE STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, BRUSH/TREE

CLEARING ETC., SUCH THAT THE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN

ON THESE PLANS CAN BE CONSTRUCTED. THE

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL

DEBRIS FROM THE SITE AND DISPOSING THE DEBRIS IN

A LAWFUL MANNER.  ALL MATERIAL REMOVED SHALL BE

DISPOSED OF IN AN APPROVED LOCATION.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING

ALL PERMITS REQUIRED FOR DEMOLITION AND

DISPOSAL.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH UTILITY

COMPANIES PRIOR TO THE REMOVAL AND/OR

RELOCATION OF UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

COORDINATE WITH THE UTILITY COMPANY CONCERNING

PORTIONS OF WORK WHICH MAY BE PERFORMED BY THE

UTILITY COMPANY'S AND ANY FEES WHICH ARE TO BE

PAID TO THE UTILITY COMPANY FOR THEIR SERVICES.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING FOR ALL

FEES AND CHARGES.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING

ANY DRAIN TILES AND NOTIFYING ENGINEER PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.

6. ALL EXISTING INFORMATION AND EXISTING UTILITIES

SHOWN ON THIS PLAN HAVE BEEN DETERMINED FROM

THE BEST INFORMATION AVAILABLE AND ARE GIVEN FOR

THE CONVENIENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE ENGINEER

ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACCURACY.

PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITY,

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY

COMPANIES FOR LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL SECURE THE SITE FROM THE PUBLIC

AT ALL TIMES WITH FENCING, BARRICADES,

ENCLOSURES, AND/OR OTHER APPROVED  PRACTICES.

8. ACCESS SHALL BE MAINTAINED FOR SURROUNDING

PROPERTIES AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

9. PRIOR TO DEMOLITION OCCURRING, ALL SPECIFIED

EROSION CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE INSTALLED.

10. SHOULD REMOVAL AND/OR RELOCATION ACTIVITIES

DAMAGE FEATURES INDICATED TO REMAIN, THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NEW MATERIALS IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLAN DOCUMENTS.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL SAW-CUT (FULL DEPTH) ALL

EXISTING HARD SURFACES WHERE A PORTION OF THE

HARD SURFACE SHALL REMAIN AND OTHER BE REMOVED.

IF ANY DAMAGE IS INCURRED ON ANY OF THE

SURROUNDING PAVEMENT, ETC. THE CONTRACTOR

SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IT'S REMOVAL AND REPAIR.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AND KEEP CLEAN ALL

EXISTING ROADS, SIDEWALKS, WALKING PATHS, AND

SITE ACCESS  TO ENSURE THE SAFETY OF THE

SURROUNDS PUBLIC AND BUSINESSES.

NOTE:

EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN REPRESENTS SITE

CONDITIONS AS PREPARED BY PINNACLE ENGINEERING

GROUP, LLC.  ON 04/25/2022.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD

CHECK EXISTING HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL SITE

FEATURES AND CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND

NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO

STARTING CONSTRUCTION.

SITE FEATURE TO BE REMOVED

TREE TO BE REMOVED

PIPE / UTILTIY REMOVAL

DEMOLITION LEGEND

SILT FENCE

TREE PROTECTION FENCE

FULL DEPTH PAVEMENT REMOVAL

STRAW WATTLE

INLET PROTECTION

TREE & BRUSH REMOVAL

SHEET C-6

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



855

855

855

860

85
0

85
5

855

855

86
0

860

835
840

845

850

855

865

865
870 870

865

865

870
870

860

860
865

865

85
0

X
X

XXXXXXXXXX

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X
XXXX

X
X

X

XX

X X X X X X X X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

REMOVE 197 LF OF EXISTING
CHAIN LINK FENCE

REMOVE 4,460 SF OF EXISTING GRAVEL
ENTRANCE AND SHOULDER

REMOVE 779 LF OF EXISTING
CHAIN LINK  FENCE

PROTECT EXISTING CABLE TV PEDESTAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

REMOVE AND RELOCATE EXISTING TELEPHONE PEDESTAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS
AS NECESSARY, PROTECT UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

REMOVE AND RELOCATE EXISTING POWER POLE
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS AS NECESSARY,
PROTECT UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

REMOVE 43 LF OF EXISTING CULVERT

PROTECT EXISTING CATCH BASIN AND
STORM SEWER DURING CONSTRUCTION

OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING POWER POLE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

REMOVE 725 SF OF EXISTING
GRAVEL ENTRANCE AND
SHOULDER

PROTECT EXISTING POWER POLE DURING CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

PROTECT EXISTING POWER POLE
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS
UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

PROTECT EXISTING POWER POLE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS UNTIL IT HAS
BEEN RELOCATED

PROTECT EXISTING TELEPHONE PEDESTAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS
UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

REMOVE 20,205 SF OF EXISTING PENNY
RD ASPHALT PAVEMENT

SAWCUT 27 LF OF
EXISTING PENNY RD.

SILT FENCE (TYP.)

REMOVE 640 SF OF EXISTING
GRAVEL SHOULDER

EXISTING POWER POLE TO BE RELOCATED
OUT OF NEW ROCK ROAD RIGHT OF WAY,
COORDINATE RELOCATION WITH COMED

REMOVE 157 LF OF EXISTING OVERHEAD WIRES
COORDINATE REMOVAL WITH OWNER

REMOVE EXISTING UTILITY POLE
COORDINATE REMOVAL WITH OWNER

REMOVE 194 LF OF EXISTING OVERHEAD WIRES
COORDINATE REMOVAL WITH OWNER

EXISTING ELECTRICAL PEDESTAL TO BE RELOCATED OUT OF
NEW ROCK ROAD RIGHT OF WAY, COORDINATE RELOCATION
WITH COMED, PROTECT UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

REMOVE 60,187 SF OF EXISTING TREES &
BRUSH

SILT FENCE (TYP.)

ALL EXISTING PUBLIC UTILITIES SHALL
BE RELOCATED INTO THE NEW PENNY
ROAD AND ROCK ROAD RIGHT OF WAY

ALL EXISTING PUBLIC UTILITIES SHALL
BE RELOCATED INTO THE NEW PENNY
ROAD AND ROCK ROAD RIGHT OF WAY

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

EXISTING CONDITIONS &

DEMOLITION PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
C

O
N

D
I
T
I
O

N
S

 
&

 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T
I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-5

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
8

)

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
7

)

DEMOLITION NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DEMOLITION,

REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF ALL STRUCTURES,

FOUNDATIONS, SIDEWALKS, PAVEMENT, DRIVES,

DRAINAGE STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, BRUSH/TREE

CLEARING ETC., SUCH THAT THE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN

ON THESE PLANS CAN BE CONSTRUCTED. THE

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL

DEBRIS FROM THE SITE AND DISPOSING THE DEBRIS IN

A LAWFUL MANNER.  ALL MATERIAL REMOVED SHALL BE

DISPOSED OF IN AN APPROVED LOCATION.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING

ALL PERMITS REQUIRED FOR DEMOLITION AND

DISPOSAL.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH UTILITY

COMPANIES PRIOR TO THE REMOVAL AND/OR

RELOCATION OF UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

COORDINATE WITH THE UTILITY COMPANY CONCERNING

PORTIONS OF WORK WHICH MAY BE PERFORMED BY THE

UTILITY COMPANY'S AND ANY FEES WHICH ARE TO BE

PAID TO THE UTILITY COMPANY FOR THEIR SERVICES.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING FOR ALL

FEES AND CHARGES.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING

ANY DRAIN TILES AND NOTIFYING ENGINEER PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.

6. ALL EXISTING INFORMATION AND EXISTING UTILITIES

SHOWN ON THIS PLAN HAVE BEEN DETERMINED FROM

THE BEST INFORMATION AVAILABLE AND ARE GIVEN FOR

THE CONVENIENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE ENGINEER

ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACCURACY.

PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITY,

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY

COMPANIES FOR LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL SECURE THE SITE FROM THE PUBLIC

AT ALL TIMES WITH FENCING, BARRICADES,

ENCLOSURES, AND/OR OTHER APPROVED  PRACTICES.

8. ACCESS SHALL BE MAINTAINED FOR SURROUNDING

PROPERTIES AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

9. PRIOR TO DEMOLITION OCCURRING, ALL SPECIFIED

EROSION CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE INSTALLED.

10. SHOULD REMOVAL AND/OR RELOCATION ACTIVITIES

DAMAGE FEATURES INDICATED TO REMAIN, THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NEW MATERIALS IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLAN DOCUMENTS.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL SAW-CUT (FULL DEPTH) ALL

EXISTING HARD SURFACES WHERE A PORTION OF THE

HARD SURFACE SHALL REMAIN AND OTHER BE REMOVED.

IF ANY DAMAGE IS INCURRED ON ANY OF THE

SURROUNDING PAVEMENT, ETC. THE CONTRACTOR

SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IT'S REMOVAL AND REPAIR.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AND KEEP CLEAN ALL

EXISTING ROADS, SIDEWALKS, WALKING PATHS, AND

SITE ACCESS  TO ENSURE THE SAFETY OF THE

SURROUNDS PUBLIC AND BUSINESSES.

NOTE:

EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN REPRESENTS SITE

CONDITIONS AS PREPARED BY PINNACLE ENGINEERING

GROUP, LLC.  ON 04/25/2022.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD

CHECK EXISTING HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL SITE

FEATURES AND CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND

NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO

STARTING CONSTRUCTION.

SITE FEATURE TO BE REMOVED

TREE TO BE REMOVED

PIPE / UTILTIY REMOVAL

DEMOLITION LEGEND

SILT FENCE

TREE PROTECTION FENCE

FULL DEPTH PAVEMENT REMOVAL

STRAW WATTLE

INLET PROTECTION

TREE & BRUSH REMOVAL

MATCHLINE (SEE SHEET C-6)

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



220.2'

220.2'

114.8'

114.8'

ACCESS & UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

OVERALL TOWER EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

870

85
5

860

865

860

865

855

860

865

870

DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

845

845

850

850

850

85
5

855

X

PROTECT EXISTING POWER
POLE DURING CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS

SILT FENCE (TYP.)

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

EXISTING CONDITIONS &

DEMOLITION PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
C

O
N

D
I
T
I
O

N
S

 
&

 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T
I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-6

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
8

)

DEMOLITION NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DEMOLITION,

REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF ALL STRUCTURES,

FOUNDATIONS, SIDEWALKS, PAVEMENT, DRIVES,

DRAINAGE STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, BRUSH/TREE

CLEARING ETC., SUCH THAT THE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN

ON THESE PLANS CAN BE CONSTRUCTED. THE

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL

DEBRIS FROM THE SITE AND DISPOSING THE DEBRIS IN

A LAWFUL MANNER.  ALL MATERIAL REMOVED SHALL BE

DISPOSED OF IN AN APPROVED LOCATION.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING

ALL PERMITS REQUIRED FOR DEMOLITION AND

DISPOSAL.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH UTILITY

COMPANIES PRIOR TO THE REMOVAL AND/OR

RELOCATION OF UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

COORDINATE WITH THE UTILITY COMPANY CONCERNING

PORTIONS OF WORK WHICH MAY BE PERFORMED BY THE

UTILITY COMPANY'S AND ANY FEES WHICH ARE TO BE

PAID TO THE UTILITY COMPANY FOR THEIR SERVICES.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING FOR ALL

FEES AND CHARGES.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING

ANY DRAIN TILES AND NOTIFYING ENGINEER PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.

6. ALL EXISTING INFORMATION AND EXISTING UTILITIES

SHOWN ON THIS PLAN HAVE BEEN DETERMINED FROM

THE BEST INFORMATION AVAILABLE AND ARE GIVEN FOR

THE CONVENIENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE ENGINEER

ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACCURACY.

PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITY,

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY

COMPANIES FOR LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL SECURE THE SITE FROM THE PUBLIC

AT ALL TIMES WITH FENCING, BARRICADES,

ENCLOSURES, AND/OR OTHER APPROVED  PRACTICES.

8. ACCESS SHALL BE MAINTAINED FOR SURROUNDING

PROPERTIES AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

9. PRIOR TO DEMOLITION OCCURRING, ALL SPECIFIED

EROSION CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE INSTALLED.

10. SHOULD REMOVAL AND/OR RELOCATION ACTIVITIES

DAMAGE FEATURES INDICATED TO REMAIN, THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NEW MATERIALS IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLAN DOCUMENTS.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL SAW-CUT (FULL DEPTH) ALL

EXISTING HARD SURFACES WHERE A PORTION OF THE

HARD SURFACE SHALL REMAIN AND OTHER BE REMOVED.

IF ANY DAMAGE IS INCURRED ON ANY OF THE

SURROUNDING PAVEMENT, ETC. THE CONTRACTOR

SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IT'S REMOVAL AND REPAIR.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AND KEEP CLEAN ALL

EXISTING ROADS, SIDEWALKS, WALKING PATHS, AND

SITE ACCESS  TO ENSURE THE SAFETY OF THE

SURROUNDS PUBLIC AND BUSINESSES.

NOTE:

EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN REPRESENTS SITE

CONDITIONS AS PREPARED BY PINNACLE ENGINEERING

GROUP, LLC.  ON 04/25/2022.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD

CHECK EXISTING HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL SITE

FEATURES AND CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND

NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO

STARTING CONSTRUCTION.

SITE FEATURE TO BE REMOVED

TREE TO BE REMOVED

PIPE / UTILTIY REMOVAL

DEMOLITION LEGEND

SILT FENCE

TREE PROTECTION FENCE

FULL DEPTH PAVEMENT REMOVAL

STRAW WATTLE

INLET PROTECTION

TREE & BRUSH REMOVAL

MATCHLINE (SEE SHEET C-5)

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



850

855

86
0

825

830

835
840

845

850 855

85
5

86
0

PROTECT EXISTING WATERMAIN AND VALVE VAULT
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

EXISTING CONDITIONS &

DEMOLITION PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
C

O
N

D
I
T
I
O

N
S

 
&

 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T
I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-7

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
5

)

MATCHLINE (SEE SHEET C-8)

DEMOLITION NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DEMOLITION,

REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF ALL STRUCTURES,

FOUNDATIONS, SIDEWALKS, PAVEMENT, DRIVES,

DRAINAGE STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, BRUSH/TREE

CLEARING ETC., SUCH THAT THE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN

ON THESE PLANS CAN BE CONSTRUCTED. THE

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL

DEBRIS FROM THE SITE AND DISPOSING THE DEBRIS IN

A LAWFUL MANNER.  ALL MATERIAL REMOVED SHALL BE

DISPOSED OF IN AN APPROVED LOCATION.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING

ALL PERMITS REQUIRED FOR DEMOLITION AND

DISPOSAL.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH UTILITY

COMPANIES PRIOR TO THE REMOVAL AND/OR

RELOCATION OF UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

COORDINATE WITH THE UTILITY COMPANY CONCERNING

PORTIONS OF WORK WHICH MAY BE PERFORMED BY THE

UTILITY COMPANY'S AND ANY FEES WHICH ARE TO BE

PAID TO THE UTILITY COMPANY FOR THEIR SERVICES.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING FOR ALL

FEES AND CHARGES.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING

ANY DRAIN TILES AND NOTIFYING ENGINEER PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.

6. ALL EXISTING INFORMATION AND EXISTING UTILITIES

SHOWN ON THIS PLAN HAVE BEEN DETERMINED FROM

THE BEST INFORMATION AVAILABLE AND ARE GIVEN FOR

THE CONVENIENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE ENGINEER

ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACCURACY.

PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITY,

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY

COMPANIES FOR LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL SECURE THE SITE FROM THE PUBLIC

AT ALL TIMES WITH FENCING, BARRICADES,

ENCLOSURES, AND/OR OTHER APPROVED  PRACTICES.

8. ACCESS SHALL BE MAINTAINED FOR SURROUNDING

PROPERTIES AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

9. PRIOR TO DEMOLITION OCCURRING, ALL SPECIFIED

EROSION CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE INSTALLED.

10. SHOULD REMOVAL AND/OR RELOCATION ACTIVITIES

DAMAGE FEATURES INDICATED TO REMAIN, THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NEW MATERIALS IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLAN DOCUMENTS.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL SAW-CUT (FULL DEPTH) ALL

EXISTING HARD SURFACES WHERE A PORTION OF THE

HARD SURFACE SHALL REMAIN AND OTHER BE REMOVED.

IF ANY DAMAGE IS INCURRED ON ANY OF THE

SURROUNDING PAVEMENT, ETC. THE CONTRACTOR

SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IT'S REMOVAL AND REPAIR.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AND KEEP CLEAN ALL

EXISTING ROADS, SIDEWALKS, WALKING PATHS, AND

SITE ACCESS  TO ENSURE THE SAFETY OF THE

SURROUNDS PUBLIC AND BUSINESSES.

NOTE:

EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN REPRESENTS SITE

CONDITIONS AS PREPARED BY PINNACLE ENGINEERING

GROUP, LLC.  ON 04/25/2022.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD

CHECK EXISTING HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL SITE

FEATURES AND CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND

NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO

STARTING CONSTRUCTION.

SITE FEATURE TO BE REMOVED

TREE TO BE REMOVED

PIPE / UTILTIY REMOVAL

DEMOLITION LEGEND

SILT FENCE

TREE PROTECTION FENCE

FULL DEPTH PAVEMENT REMOVAL

STRAW WATTLE

INLET PROTECTION

TREE & BRUSH REMOVAL

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



87.8'

46
.4

'

87.9'

46
.6

'

15' VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617

15' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617 HEREBY RELEASED

870

875

880

86
5

870

875

880

885

890

87
0

87
5

88
0

885

870

860

86
0

865

865

870

870

865

870

860

86
5

870

870

865

X
X

X
X

X
X

X X X X X X

XX
XXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X X X X

SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

PROTECT EXISTING
TELEPHONE PEDESTAL

DURING CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS

REMOVE EXISTING SIGN FOR
POTENTIAL REUSE

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE
HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

REMOVE EXISTING SIGN FOR
POTENTIAL REUSE

PROTECT EXISTING ELECTRIC MANHOLE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING WATER VALVE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING SANITARY MANHOLE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

REMOVE EXISTING SIGN FOR
POTENTIAL REUSE

REMOVE 707 SF OF EXISTING GRAVEL

REMOVE 262 SF OF EXISTING
GRAVEL SHOULDER

REMOVE 239 LF OF EXISTING
CHAIN LINK  FENCE

REMOVE 1,050 SF OF EXISTING CONCRETE BLOCK
STORAGE BINS COORDINATE REMOVAL WITH
OWNER

REMOVE 110 SF OF EXISTING METAL SHED
COORDINATE REMOVAL WITH OWNER

REMOVE 88 LF OF EXISTING OVERHEAD
WIRES COORDINATE REMOVAL WITH
OWNER

REMOVE EXISTING UTILITY POLE COORDINATE
REMOVAL WITH OWNER

REMOVE 66 LF OF EXISTING OVERHEAD
WIRES COORDINATE REMOVAL WITH

OWNER

SAWCUT 119 LF OF EXISTING PENNY RD.

REMOVE 4,159 SF OF EXISTING TWO
STORY METAL BUILDING COORDINATE

REMOVAL WITH OWNER

REMOVE 13,206 SF OF EXISTING PENNY RD ASPHALT PAVEMENT

REMOVE EXISTING WOODEN STAIRS
COORDINATE REMOVAL WITH OWNER

PROTECT EXISTING WATERMAIN AND VALVE VAULT
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING GAS MAIN DURING CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS, PROTECT UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

PROTECT EXISTING CATV LINE DURING CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS, PROTECT UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

PROTECT EXISTING
POWER POLE DURING
CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS, PROTECT
UNTIL IT HAS BEEN
RELOCATED

PROTECT EXISTING FORCE MAIN
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING POWER POLE DURING CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS, PROTECT UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

REMOVE EXISTING UTILITY POLE COORDINATE
REMOVAL WITH OWNER

REMOVE EXISTING TREES & BRUSH AS
NECESSARY TO COMPLETE THE DESIGN

GRADING TRANSITIONS IN THIS AREA

REFERENCE BENCHMARK NGS MONUMENT IL KANE
24 42 8 (AJ3044) PROTECT DURING CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS

ALL EXISTING PUBLIC UTILITIES SHALL
BE RELOCATED INTO THE NEW PENNY
ROAD AND ROCK ROAD RIGHT OF WAY

PROTECT EXISTING POWER POLE DURING CONSTRUCTION
OPERATIONS, PROTECT UNTIL IT HAS BEEN RELOCATED

47
8.

9'

234'

45
1.

1'

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

EXISTING CONDITIONS &

DEMOLITION PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
C

O
N

D
I
T
I
O

N
S

 
&

 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T
I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-8

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
7

)

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
5

)

MATCHLINE (SEE SHEET C-5)

DEMOLITION NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DEMOLITION,

REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF ALL STRUCTURES,

FOUNDATIONS, SIDEWALKS, PAVEMENT, DRIVES,

DRAINAGE STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, BRUSH/TREE

CLEARING ETC., SUCH THAT THE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN

ON THESE PLANS CAN BE CONSTRUCTED. THE

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL

DEBRIS FROM THE SITE AND DISPOSING THE DEBRIS IN

A LAWFUL MANNER.  ALL MATERIAL REMOVED SHALL BE

DISPOSED OF IN AN APPROVED LOCATION.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING

ALL PERMITS REQUIRED FOR DEMOLITION AND

DISPOSAL.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH UTILITY

COMPANIES PRIOR TO THE REMOVAL AND/OR

RELOCATION OF UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

COORDINATE WITH THE UTILITY COMPANY CONCERNING

PORTIONS OF WORK WHICH MAY BE PERFORMED BY THE

UTILITY COMPANY'S AND ANY FEES WHICH ARE TO BE

PAID TO THE UTILITY COMPANY FOR THEIR SERVICES.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING FOR ALL

FEES AND CHARGES.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING

ANY DRAIN TILES AND NOTIFYING ENGINEER PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.

6. ALL EXISTING INFORMATION AND EXISTING UTILITIES

SHOWN ON THIS PLAN HAVE BEEN DETERMINED FROM

THE BEST INFORMATION AVAILABLE AND ARE GIVEN FOR

THE CONVENIENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE ENGINEER

ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACCURACY.

PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITY,

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY

COMPANIES FOR LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL SECURE THE SITE FROM THE PUBLIC

AT ALL TIMES WITH FENCING, BARRICADES,

ENCLOSURES, AND/OR OTHER APPROVED  PRACTICES.

8. ACCESS SHALL BE MAINTAINED FOR SURROUNDING

PROPERTIES AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

9. PRIOR TO DEMOLITION OCCURRING, ALL SPECIFIED

EROSION CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE INSTALLED.

10. SHOULD REMOVAL AND/OR RELOCATION ACTIVITIES

DAMAGE FEATURES INDICATED TO REMAIN, THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NEW MATERIALS IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLAN DOCUMENTS.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL SAW-CUT (FULL DEPTH) ALL

EXISTING HARD SURFACES WHERE A PORTION OF THE

HARD SURFACE SHALL REMAIN AND OTHER BE REMOVED.

IF ANY DAMAGE IS INCURRED ON ANY OF THE

SURROUNDING PAVEMENT, ETC. THE CONTRACTOR

SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IT'S REMOVAL AND REPAIR.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AND KEEP CLEAN ALL

EXISTING ROADS, SIDEWALKS, WALKING PATHS, AND

SITE ACCESS  TO ENSURE THE SAFETY OF THE

SURROUNDS PUBLIC AND BUSINESSES.

NOTE:

EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN REPRESENTS SITE

CONDITIONS AS PREPARED BY PINNACLE ENGINEERING

GROUP, LLC.  ON 04/25/2022.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD

CHECK EXISTING HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL SITE

FEATURES AND CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND

NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO

STARTING CONSTRUCTION.

SITE FEATURE TO BE REMOVED

TREE TO BE REMOVED

PIPE / UTILTIY REMOVAL

DEMOLITION LEGEND

SILT FENCE

TREE PROTECTION FENCE

FULL DEPTH PAVEMENT REMOVAL

STRAW WATTLE

INLET PROTECTION

TREE & BRUSH REMOVAL

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
6

)

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



855

860

855 860 865

850

855

SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING TELEPHONE PEDESTAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING SIGN DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING SANITARY MANHOLES
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING ELECTRIC CANISTER
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING STORM MANHOLES
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS PROTECT EXISTING ELECTRIC MANHOLES

DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING UTILITY POLES DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING VALVE VAULT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING UTILITY POLES DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING VALVE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING WATER VALVE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

REMOVE EXISTING TREES AND BRUSH AS
NECESSARY FOR NEW SANITARY SEWER
INSTALLATION. REFER TO SHEETS C-22

THROUGH C-24 FOR PROPOSED LOCATION

EXISTING R.O.W.

REMOVE EXISTING TREES AND BRUSH AS
NECESSARY FOR NEW SANITARY SEWER
INSTALLATION. REFER TO SHEETS C-22

THROUGH C-24 FOR PROPOSED LOCATION

865

865865

SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING WATER VALVE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONSPROTECT EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL

DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING SIGN DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING SIGN DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING SIGN DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING GAS MARKER DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING ELECTRIC MANHOLE
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL VAULT
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING VALVE  DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING GAS MARKER DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING STORM
MANHOLE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING ELECTRIC MANHOLE DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING VALVE VAULT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING STORM MANHOLE
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING CONCRETE PAD
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING GAS MAIN DURING
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

PROTECT EXISTING FORCEMAIN
DURING CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

REMOVE EXISTING TREES AND BRUSH AS NECESSARY FOR
NEW SANITARY SEWER INSTALLATION. REFER TO SHEETS C-22

THROUGH C-24 FOR PROPOSED LOCATION

EXISTING R.O.W.

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

EXISTING CONDITIONS &

DEMOLITION PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
E
X

I
S

T
I
N

G
 
C

O
N

D
I
T
I
O

N
S

 
&

 
D

E
M

O
L
I
T
I
O

N
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-9

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
B

E
L
O

W
)

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
A

B
O

V
E
)

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
8

)

DEMOLITION NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DEMOLITION,

REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF ALL STRUCTURES,

FOUNDATIONS, SIDEWALKS, PAVEMENT, DRIVES,

DRAINAGE STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, BRUSH/TREE

CLEARING ETC., SUCH THAT THE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN

ON THESE PLANS CAN BE CONSTRUCTED. THE

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL

DEBRIS FROM THE SITE AND DISPOSING THE DEBRIS IN

A LAWFUL MANNER.  ALL MATERIAL REMOVED SHALL BE

DISPOSED OF IN AN APPROVED LOCATION.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING

ALL PERMITS REQUIRED FOR DEMOLITION AND

DISPOSAL.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH UTILITY

COMPANIES PRIOR TO THE REMOVAL AND/OR

RELOCATION OF UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

COORDINATE WITH THE UTILITY COMPANY CONCERNING

PORTIONS OF WORK WHICH MAY BE PERFORMED BY THE

UTILITY COMPANY'S AND ANY FEES WHICH ARE TO BE

PAID TO THE UTILITY COMPANY FOR THEIR SERVICES.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING FOR ALL

FEES AND CHARGES.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING

ANY DRAIN TILES AND NOTIFYING ENGINEER PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION.

6. ALL EXISTING INFORMATION AND EXISTING UTILITIES

SHOWN ON THIS PLAN HAVE BEEN DETERMINED FROM

THE BEST INFORMATION AVAILABLE AND ARE GIVEN FOR

THE CONVENIENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE ENGINEER

ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACCURACY.

PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITY,

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY

COMPANIES FOR LOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL SECURE THE SITE FROM THE PUBLIC

AT ALL TIMES WITH FENCING, BARRICADES,

ENCLOSURES, AND/OR OTHER APPROVED  PRACTICES.

8. ACCESS SHALL BE MAINTAINED FOR SURROUNDING

PROPERTIES AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

9. PRIOR TO DEMOLITION OCCURRING, ALL SPECIFIED

EROSION CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE INSTALLED.

10. SHOULD REMOVAL AND/OR RELOCATION ACTIVITIES

DAMAGE FEATURES INDICATED TO REMAIN, THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE NEW MATERIALS IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLAN DOCUMENTS.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL SAW-CUT (FULL DEPTH) ALL

EXISTING HARD SURFACES WHERE A PORTION OF THE

HARD SURFACE SHALL REMAIN AND OTHER BE REMOVED.

IF ANY DAMAGE IS INCURRED ON ANY OF THE

SURROUNDING PAVEMENT, ETC. THE CONTRACTOR

SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR IT'S REMOVAL AND REPAIR.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AND KEEP CLEAN ALL

EXISTING ROADS, SIDEWALKS, WALKING PATHS, AND

SITE ACCESS  TO ENSURE THE SAFETY OF THE

SURROUNDS PUBLIC AND BUSINESSES.

NOTE:

EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN REPRESENTS SITE

CONDITIONS AS PREPARED BY PINNACLE ENGINEERING

GROUP, LLC.  ON 04/25/2022.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD

CHECK EXISTING HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL SITE

FEATURES AND CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND

NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO

STARTING CONSTRUCTION.

SITE FEATURE TO BE REMOVED

TREE TO BE REMOVED

PIPE / UTILTIY REMOVAL

DEMOLITION LEGEND

SILT FENCE

TREE PROTECTION FENCE

FULL DEPTH PAVEMENT REMOVAL

STRAW WATTLE

INLET PROTECTION

TREE & BRUSH REMOVAL

N

O

R

T

H

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



220.2'

220.2'

114.8'

114.8'

15' VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617

15' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617 HEREBY RELEASED

ACCESS & UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

OVERALL TOWER EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

LOT 1
330,666 SQ. FT.
(7.5910 ACRES)

LOT 2
365,871 SQ. FT.
(8.3992 ACRES)

LOT 3
215,779 SQ. FT.
(4.9536 ACRES)

LOT 4
209,262 SQ. FT.
(4.8040 ACRES)

LOT 5
152,432 SQ. FT.
(3.4993 ACRES)

821.50
82

1.5
0

(873.35)

(873.80) 873.17

S85°17'47"W  768.17'

N85°17'47"E  800.94'

PROPOSED SEDIMENT BASIN
REQUIRED VOLUME = 97,608 C.F.
                                     (2.24 AC. FT.)
PROVIDED VOLUME = 110,383 C.F.
                                     (2.53 AC. FT.)

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

OVERALL GRADING PLAN &

KEY MAP

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
O

V
E
R

A
L
L
 
G

R
A

D
I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N
 
&

 
K

E
Y

 
M

A
P

1
"
 
=

 
1

0
0

'

C-15

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

GRADING NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. BUILDING DIMENSIONS, GRADING, PARKING, AND

UTILITY LAYOUT HAVE BEEN PREPARED BASED UPON

ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION.  SUBSEQUENT

ARCHITECTURAL CHANGES MAY EXIST AND CONTRACTOR

SHALL REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  IN CASE OF DISCREPANCIES

BETWEEN ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND CIVIL PLANS, THE

CIVIL PLANS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL MEET ALL COMPACTION

REQUIREMENTS AS SPECIFIED ON SHEET C-2 AND PER

IDOT.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONSTRUCT ALL HANDICAP

ACCESSIBLE ROUTES IN ACCORDANCE WITH LOCAL AND

STATE ADA REQUIREMENTS.

5. PAVEMENT SLOPES THROUGH HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE

PARKING AREAS SHALL BE 2.00% MAXIMUM IN ANY

DIRECTION.

6. REFER TO CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR SIDEWALK

RAMPS AND HANDICAP STRIPING.

7. ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED CONTOURS ARE SHOWN IN

1' INCREMENTS.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT BLOCK DRAINAGE.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL ADJUST ALL RIM ELEVATIONS OF

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO PROPOSED GRADE.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFER TO PLAN SPECIFICATIONS,

SOIL EROSION CONTROL PLAN, AND SWPPP PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION FOR WATER QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

ASSOCIATED WITH LAND DISTURBANCE.

11. WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL MEET REQUIREMENTS

OF IUM MATERIAL SPECIFICATION 592 GEOTEXTILE,

TABLE 1, CLASS 1 WITH AN APPARENT OPENING SIZE OF

0.5 MM.

1. CONTOURS ARE SHOWN AS FINISHED GRADE.

2. SPOT ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN AS FLOW LINE ALONG

THE CURB AND GUTTER AND FINISHED GRADE ELSE

WHERE UNLESS SPECIFIED AS BELOW:

FL = FLOW LINE

TC = TOP OF CURB

SW = SIDEWALK GRADE

FF = FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

TDC = TOP OF DEPRESSED CURB

ELEVATIONS

LEGEND

EXISTING PROPOSED

STORM DRAINAGE STRUCTURE

PRECAST FLARED END SECTION

CONTOUR

SPOT ELEVATION

DIRECTION OF SURFACE FLOW

OVERFLOW RELIEF ROUTING

PROPOSED RIDGELINE

TYPICAL SLOPE

SHEET C-17

SHEET C-16

SHEET C-18

1" = 100'0 200'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

SHEET C-19

MASS GRADING AND

UTILITY WORK WITHIN

THIS AREA WAS

PROVIDED UNDER A

PREVIOUS CONTRACT

MASS GRADING WITHIN

THIS AREA WAS

PROVIDED UNDER A

PREVIOUS CONTRACT

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



855

855

855

860

85
0

855

855

86
0

860

835
840

845

850

855

865

865
870 870

865

865

870
870

860

860
865

865

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

LOT 1

330,666 SQ. FT.

(7.5910 ACRES)

859

859

8
6
3

8
6
1 8
6
0

8
6
0

8

6

3

8

6

2

859

859

8
6
1

8

6

2

8
6
2

8
6
1

859
8

5

9

859

8
5
6

856

8
5
5

857

8
5
8

858

858

859

8
5
7

8
5
8

8

5

9

858

859

8

6

1

8

6

0

8

5

9

8

5

8

858

859

8
6
0

8
5
9

8
5
8

858

858

8

5

8

8

5

9

8

6

0

8

6

1

857

856

855

854

853

852

8
5
9

8
6
0

8

5

9

8
5
9

8
5
8

8
5
8

8

5

8

8

5

3

8

5

1

8

5

2

8

5

0

8

5

1

8

5

2

8

5

7

8
5
9

860

859

858

857

6

6

2

6

6

1

8

6

0

859

860

859

859

859

859

859

859

8

5

9

8

5

9

860

860

860

860

8

6

0

8

5

9

8

5

7

8

5

6

8

5

5

8

5

4

8
6
0

8

5

9

8

5

8

8

5

6

8

5

5

8

5

4

8

5

3

HIGH POINT

H
IG

H
 P

O
IN

T
H

IG
H

 P
O

IN
T

8

5

9

8

5

6

8
5
8

8
5
7

8
5
8

8
5
8

8
5
7

8
5
7

8
5
8

8
5
9

858.80858.80

86
0.

40
86

0.
40

861.00

861.00861.00

861.00

861.00 860.75

859.52
860.15 860.15 860.15

85
9.

80
85

8.
50

TC 858.80 858.80

860.15 860.15 860.15 860.15 859.52

861.00

861.00

861.00861.00

856.80 R

860.88R

859.80R

858.00

859.10859.40858.80858.80858.80859.40858.00
859.40

851.42 INV851.42 INV

856.55

854.00 INV 859.80

855.42R

85
7.

95
R

85
7.

95
R

85
7.

95
R

85
7.

89
R

85
8.

78
R

860.15 860.15 860.15

85
9.

90

85
9.

80

858.80

86
0.

30

858.80

859.40 859.40 859.40 858.80 859.40 858.80 859.40

858.90

859.40

860.15

858.90

859.10

86
0.

30

85
9.

90

860.15 860.15 860.15 860.15
859.10

85
7.

50
R

85
9.

10
R

85
8.

49
R

85
8.

79
R

85
8.

64
R

85
8.

79
R

858.60 R

859.12 R

860.75 R 860.75 R 860.75 R 860.75 R

860.75 R860.74 R860.56 R

861.39

861.39

864.89

864.89

860.50 R

85
8.

88
R

85
8.

58
R

85
7.

95
R

85
7.

89
R

85
8.

26

857.84

85
8.

20

85
7.

78

85
7.

78

85
8.

59

85
8.

17

85
8.

17

85
9.

01

85
8.

59

85
8.

50

85
9.

00

85
8.

58

85
8.

58

85
8.

56

85
8.

14

85
8.

14

85
9.

44
85

8.
73

85
8.

50
85

8.
56

85
8.

14

85
8.

14

85
9.

00

85
8.

58

85
8.

58

85
9.

00

85
8.

58

85
8.

58

85
8.

56

85
8.

14
85

8.
03

85
8.

03

85
9.

22
85

8.
16

85
9.

06
85

8.
31

85
9.

06

85
8.

14

85
8.

62
85

7.
91

85
8.

05

864.32

864.00

864.00

862.57

862.25

862.25

860.82

860.50

860.50

859.07

859.56R

859.56 R
858.28

85
8.

28

85
8.

45

858.94 859.38

859.06

859.06
859.35

859.03

859.03

858.85

858.53

858.53

855.81856.86

856.54

856.54

857.90

857.58

857.58 855.49

855.49

854.76

854.44

854.44

853.71

853.39

853.39
852.66

852.34

852.34 851.47

858.62

858.62

851.15

851.15

859.89

85
8.

64

85
9.

00

85
9.

00

85
8.

52

85
8.

10

85
8.

10

859.42

857.84

85
7.

54
R

85
7.

54
R

85
8.

77
R

85
8.

59

85
8.

64

85
8.

64
85

8.
64

85
8.

35
85

8.
64

85
8.

78

859.10

859.10

85
8.

47
R

85
8.

50
TC

859.53R

85
9.

43
R

85
8.

90
R

864.36 R

854.10 INV

859.00

859.00859.00

859.00

857.00 R

8

5

9

8

5

7

8

5

6

857

DETAILED GRADING - A
SEE SHEET C-20 FOR ENLARGEMENT

DETAILED GRADING - B
SEE SHEET C-20 FOR ENLARGEMENT

MATCH EXISTING PENNY ROAD
PAVEMENT STA 52+56.50

EXISTING PENNY ROAD IS NOT
CENTERED WITHIN THE 66' R.O.W.

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

GRADING PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
G

R
A

D
I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-16

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
1

8
)

GRADING NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. BUILDING DIMENSIONS, GRADING, PARKING, AND

UTILITY LAYOUT HAVE BEEN PREPARED BASED UPON

ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION.  SUBSEQUENT

ARCHITECTURAL CHANGES MAY EXIST AND CONTRACTOR

SHALL REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  IN CASE OF DISCREPANCIES

BETWEEN ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND CIVIL PLANS, THE

CIVIL PLANS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL MEET ALL COMPACTION

REQUIREMENTS AS SPECIFIED ON SHEET C-2 AND PER

IDOT.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONSTRUCT ALL HANDICAP

ACCESSIBLE ROUTES IN ACCORDANCE WITH LOCAL AND

STATE ADA REQUIREMENTS.

5. PAVEMENT SLOPES THROUGH HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE

PARKING AREAS SHALL BE 2.00% MAXIMUM IN ANY

DIRECTION.

6. REFER TO CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR SIDEWALK

RAMPS AND HANDICAP STRIPING.

7. ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED CONTOURS ARE SHOWN IN

1' INCREMENTS.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT BLOCK DRAINAGE.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL ADJUST ALL RIM ELEVATIONS OF

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO PROPOSED GRADE.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFER TO PLAN SPECIFICATIONS,

SOIL EROSION CONTROL PLAN, AND SWPPP PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION FOR WATER QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

ASSOCIATED WITH LAND DISTURBANCE.

11. WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL MEET REQUIREMENTS

OF IUM MATERIAL SPECIFICATION 592 GEOTEXTILE,

TABLE 1, CLASS 1 WITH AN APPARENT OPENING SIZE OF

0.5 MM.

1. CONTOURS ARE SHOWN AS FINISHED GRADE.

2. SPOT ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN AS FLOW LINE ALONG

THE CURB AND GUTTER AND FINISHED GRADE ELSE

WHERE UNLESS SPECIFIED AS BELOW:

FL = FLOW LINE

TC = TOP OF CURB

SW = SIDEWALK GRADE

FF = FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

TDC = TOP OF DEPRESSED CURB

ELEVATIONS

LEGEND

EXISTING PROPOSED

STORM DRAINAGE STRUCTURE

PRECAST FLARED END SECTION

CONTOUR

SPOT ELEVATION

DIRECTION OF SURFACE FLOW

OVERFLOW RELIEF ROUTING

PROPOSED RIDGELINE

TYPICAL SLOPE

MATCHLINE (SEE SHEET C-17)

TYPICAL SWALE DETAIL 

REFER TO PLAN

4' MIN

3 MAX
1

3 MAX
1

NOT TO SCALE

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
1

9
)

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

TRANSITION PENNY ROAD PAVEMENT SECTIONOVER THIS 156.50' WITHIN PROPOSED 66' R.O.W. TOMATCH EXISTING PENNY ROAD PAVEMENT SECTION

156.50'

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



220.2'

220.2'

114.8'

114.8'

ACCESS & UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

OVERALL TOWER EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

870

85
0

85
5

860

865

860

865

855

860

865

870

845

845

850

850

850

85
0

85
5

855

LOT 4
209,262 SQ. FT.
(4.8040 ACRES)

LOT 5
152,432 SQ. FT.
(3.4993 ACRES)

8

7

2

8

7

1

8

7

0

8

6

9

8

6

9

8

6

8

8

6

7

8

6

5

8

6

4

8

6

3

8

6

2

8

6

1

8

6

0

8

5

9

8

6

0

8

6

1

8

6

2

8

6

3

8

6

4

8

6

5

8

6

6

8

6

7

8

6

9

8

7

0

8

6

8

8

6

7

8

6

0

8

6

1

8

6

1

8

6

1

8

6

1

8

6

8

87
1.

00

85
9.

98

(8
72

.24
)

870.45

870.37

869.20

(870.65)

(871.13)

871.47

(8
72

.15
)

(872.50)

870.64

869.20

(868.51)

86
9.

00

86
8.

51

86
6.

53
R

86
2.

87

86
2.

81

872.18

(866.24)

86
4.

66 86
4.

66

86
1.

28

86
1.

28

86
7.

31
R

865.18R

86
4.

93
R

86
3.

95
R

870.55R

86
9.

07

86
7.

15
86

5.
22

86
3.

33
86

1.
72

86
0.

42
86

1.
01

85
9.

98

86
6.

59
R

0.00 R

NO WORK SHALL OCCUR WITHIN THE DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE

68) RIGHT OF WAY UNTIL APPROVAL FROM IDOT HAS BEEN

OBTAINED. ENGINEERING IMPROVEMENTS SHALL BE PER

SEPARATE ENGINEERING IMPROVEMENT PLANS BY PINNACLE

ENGINEERING GROUP JOB NO. 1411.50-IL

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

GRADING PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
G

R
A

D
I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-17

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

MATCHLINE (SEE SHEET C-16)

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

GRADING NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. BUILDING DIMENSIONS, GRADING, PARKING, AND

UTILITY LAYOUT HAVE BEEN PREPARED BASED UPON

ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION.  SUBSEQUENT

ARCHITECTURAL CHANGES MAY EXIST AND CONTRACTOR

SHALL REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  IN CASE OF DISCREPANCIES

BETWEEN ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND CIVIL PLANS, THE

CIVIL PLANS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL MEET ALL COMPACTION

REQUIREMENTS AS SPECIFIED ON SHEET C-2 AND PER

IDOT.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONSTRUCT ALL HANDICAP

ACCESSIBLE ROUTES IN ACCORDANCE WITH LOCAL AND

STATE ADA REQUIREMENTS.

5. PAVEMENT SLOPES THROUGH HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE

PARKING AREAS SHALL BE 2.00% MAXIMUM IN ANY

DIRECTION.

6. REFER TO CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR SIDEWALK

RAMPS AND HANDICAP STRIPING.

7. ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED CONTOURS ARE SHOWN IN

1' INCREMENTS.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT BLOCK DRAINAGE.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL ADJUST ALL RIM ELEVATIONS OF

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO PROPOSED GRADE.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFER TO PLAN SPECIFICATIONS,

SOIL EROSION CONTROL PLAN, AND SWPPP PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION FOR WATER QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

ASSOCIATED WITH LAND DISTURBANCE.

11. WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL MEET REQUIREMENTS

OF IUM MATERIAL SPECIFICATION 592 GEOTEXTILE,

TABLE 1, CLASS 1 WITH AN APPARENT OPENING SIZE OF

0.5 MM.

1. CONTOURS ARE SHOWN AS FINISHED GRADE.

2. SPOT ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN AS FLOW LINE ALONG

THE CURB AND GUTTER AND FINISHED GRADE ELSE

WHERE UNLESS SPECIFIED AS BELOW:

FL = FLOW LINE

TC = TOP OF CURB

SW = SIDEWALK GRADE

FF = FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

TDC = TOP OF DEPRESSED CURB

ELEVATIONS

LEGEND

EXISTING PROPOSED

STORM DRAINAGE STRUCTURE

PRECAST FLARED END SECTION

CONTOUR

SPOT ELEVATION

DIRECTION OF SURFACE FLOW

OVERFLOW RELIEF ROUTING

PROPOSED RIDGELINE

TYPICAL SLOPE

TYPICAL SWALE DETAIL 

REFER TO PLAN

4' MIN

3 MAX
1

3 MAX
1

NOT TO SCALE

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
1

9
)

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



850

855

86
0

825

830

835
840

845

850 855

86
0

865

821.5082
1.5

0

859

858

857

8

5

7

8

5

8
8

5

9

8
5
8

8
5
7

8
5
7

856.20 R

856.20 R861.50 R

861.50 R

84
9.3

0R

84
9.3

0R

83
7.5

0R

83
7.5

0R

A

A

PROPOSED SEDIMENT BASIN
REQUIRED VOLUME = 97,608 C.F.
                                     (2.24 AC. FT.)
PROVIDED VOLUME = 110,383 C.F.
                                     (2.53 AC. FT.)

RIP-RAP OVER NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC
(TYP.)

REFER TO DETAIL ON SHEET C-38

SEDIMENT BASIN GRADING PROVIDED
WITH PREVIOUS IMPROVEMENTS,
REFER TO "ROCK ROAD BUSINESS
PARK PENNY ROAD & ROCK ROAD"
PLANS BY PINNACLE ENGINEERING
GROUP

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

GRADING PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
G

R
A

D
I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-18

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
1

6
)

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

GRADING NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. BUILDING DIMENSIONS, GRADING, PARKING, AND

UTILITY LAYOUT HAVE BEEN PREPARED BASED UPON

ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION.  SUBSEQUENT

ARCHITECTURAL CHANGES MAY EXIST AND CONTRACTOR

SHALL REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  IN CASE OF DISCREPANCIES

BETWEEN ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND CIVIL PLANS, THE

CIVIL PLANS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL MEET ALL COMPACTION

REQUIREMENTS AS SPECIFIED ON SHEET C-2 AND PER

IDOT.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONSTRUCT ALL HANDICAP

ACCESSIBLE ROUTES IN ACCORDANCE WITH LOCAL AND

STATE ADA REQUIREMENTS.

5. PAVEMENT SLOPES THROUGH HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE

PARKING AREAS SHALL BE 2.00% MAXIMUM IN ANY

DIRECTION.

6. REFER TO CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR SIDEWALK

RAMPS AND HANDICAP STRIPING.

7. ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED CONTOURS ARE SHOWN IN

1' INCREMENTS.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT BLOCK DRAINAGE.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL ADJUST ALL RIM ELEVATIONS OF

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO PROPOSED GRADE.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFER TO PLAN SPECIFICATIONS,

SOIL EROSION CONTROL PLAN, AND SWPPP PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION FOR WATER QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

ASSOCIATED WITH LAND DISTURBANCE.

11. WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL MEET REQUIREMENTS

OF IUM MATERIAL SPECIFICATION 592 GEOTEXTILE,

TABLE 1, CLASS 1 WITH AN APPARENT OPENING SIZE OF

0.5 MM.

1. CONTOURS ARE SHOWN AS FINISHED GRADE.

2. SPOT ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN AS FLOW LINE ALONG

THE CURB AND GUTTER AND FINISHED GRADE ELSE

WHERE UNLESS SPECIFIED AS BELOW:

FL = FLOW LINE

TC = TOP OF CURB

SW = SIDEWALK GRADE

FF = FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

TDC = TOP OF DEPRESSED CURB

ELEVATIONS

LEGEND

EXISTING PROPOSED

STORM DRAINAGE STRUCTURE

PRECAST FLARED END SECTION

CONTOUR

SPOT ELEVATION

DIRECTION OF SURFACE FLOW

OVERFLOW RELIEF ROUTING

PROPOSED RIDGELINE

TYPICAL SLOPE

100-YEAR OVERFLOW SECTION A-A

41.0'

20.0'

3
1

NOT TO SCALE

825.00

821.50

825.00
3

1 100 YR H.W.L.
823.76

824.76

MATCHLINE (SEE SHEET C-19)

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



15' VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617

15' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617 HEREBY RELEASED

870

875

880

86
5

870

875

880

885

890

87
0

87
5

88
0

885

870

860

86
0

865

865

870

870

865

870

860

86
5

870

870

865

LOT 2
365,871 SQ. FT.
(8.3992 ACRES)

LOT 3
215,779 SQ. FT.
(4.9536 ACRES)

8

7

3

(873.35)

(873.80)

873.17

8
7
1

6

6

8

6

6

3

6

6

5

6

6

6

6

6

7

6

6

9

6

6

4

HIGH POINT

8
6
5

865

872

8

7

1

870

8

7

1

8
7
1

868

867

8

6

5

8

6

4

863

8

6

8

8

6

7

862

8
6
1

860

859

859

8

6

0

8

6

1

8

6

2

8

6

3

8
6
0

8
5
9

8
5
9

8
5
8

8
5
7

8
5
9

8
5
9

870

869

866

865

864

861

8

6

9

(873.35)

(873.80)

873.17

871.22 R

868.39

868.39

870.77

870.77

870.89

870.89

869.89

869.89

869.27

869.27869.83

869.83

869.02 R869.58 R

869.25 868.86 868.70 868.87 869.32 869.82 870.32 870.54 870.20 869.29

869.88

869.88870.22

870.22870.00

870.00

869.50

869.50869.00

869.00868.55

868.55868.38 R

868.38 R868.54

868.54868.94

868.94 868.97

868.97

867.82

867.50

867.50

866.07

865.75

865.75

871.11

871.11

869.16 R

869.86 R
864.36

86
0.

00
IN

V

8

7

087
2.

00

87
2.

00

869.00

86
7.

00

86
6.

50

PROVIDE NEW ASPHALT SHOULDER AND 2'
AGGREGATE WEDGE SHOULDER THROUGH
PENNY ROAD REMOVAL LIMITS MATCH EXISTING
THICKNESS AND ELEVATIONS

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22SHEET

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

GRADING PLAN

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
G

R
A

D
I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

C-19

C-45

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 2/16/23

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
1

7
)

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

GRADING NOTES

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT 811 PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY ENGINEERING OF ANY

CONFLICTS WITH THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS.

2. BUILDING DIMENSIONS, GRADING, PARKING, AND

UTILITY LAYOUT HAVE BEEN PREPARED BASED UPON

ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION.  SUBSEQUENT

ARCHITECTURAL CHANGES MAY EXIST AND CONTRACTOR

SHALL REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  IN CASE OF DISCREPANCIES

BETWEEN ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND CIVIL PLANS, THE

CIVIL PLANS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL MEET ALL COMPACTION

REQUIREMENTS AS SPECIFIED ON SHEET C-2 AND PER

IDOT.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONSTRUCT ALL HANDICAP

ACCESSIBLE ROUTES IN ACCORDANCE WITH LOCAL AND

STATE ADA REQUIREMENTS.

5. PAVEMENT SLOPES THROUGH HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE

PARKING AREAS SHALL BE 2.00% MAXIMUM IN ANY

DIRECTION.

6. REFER TO CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR SIDEWALK

RAMPS AND HANDICAP STRIPING.

7. ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED CONTOURS ARE SHOWN IN

1' INCREMENTS.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT BLOCK DRAINAGE.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL ADJUST ALL RIM ELEVATIONS OF

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO PROPOSED GRADE.

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL REFER TO PLAN SPECIFICATIONS,

SOIL EROSION CONTROL PLAN, AND SWPPP PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTION FOR WATER QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

ASSOCIATED WITH LAND DISTURBANCE.

11. WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL MEET REQUIREMENTS

OF IUM MATERIAL SPECIFICATION 592 GEOTEXTILE,

TABLE 1, CLASS 1 WITH AN APPARENT OPENING SIZE OF

0.5 MM.

1. CONTOURS ARE SHOWN AS FINISHED GRADE.

2. SPOT ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN AS FLOW LINE ALONG

THE CURB AND GUTTER AND FINISHED GRADE ELSE

WHERE UNLESS SPECIFIED AS BELOW:

FL = FLOW LINE

TC = TOP OF CURB

SW = SIDEWALK GRADE

FF = FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

TDC = TOP OF DEPRESSED CURB

ELEVATIONS

LEGEND

EXISTING PROPOSED

STORM DRAINAGE STRUCTURE

PRECAST FLARED END SECTION

CONTOUR

SPOT ELEVATION

DIRECTION OF SURFACE FLOW

OVERFLOW RELIEF ROUTING

PROPOSED RIDGELINE

TYPICAL SLOPE

MATCHLINE (SEE SHEET C-18)

M
A

T
C

H
L
I
N

E
 
(
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
C

-
1

6
)

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3



LOT 1
330,666 SQ. FT.
(7.5910 ACRES)

LOT 2
365,871 SQ. FT.
(8.3992 ACRES)

LOT 3
215,779 SQ. FT.
(4.9536 ACRES)

LOT 4
209,262 SQ. FT.
(4.8040 ACRES)

LOT 5
152,431 SQ. FT.
(3.4993 ACRES)

859 859

86
3

86
1 86

0
86

0

863
862

859 859

861862

86
2

86
1

859859

859

856856
855

857 858858858859

857858

85
9

858859

861860859858

858859
860859858858858

858859860861

857856855854853852

85
9 86

0
85

9

85
9

85
8

W W W W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

85
8

873 872

87
1

87
0

86
9

85
9

86
9

868

86
7

86
5

86
4

86
3

86
2

86
1

86
0

859

86
0

861
862

863
864

865

866

867

869

87
0

868

867

858

853 851852 850

851852857

859

860
859
858
857

871
668 663

662 661

665666667
669

860

664

W W W W W W W W
W

 

  

  

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

  

  

 
 

  

  

  

  

 
 

 
 

859

860

859859

859859859859

859

859

860 860 860 860

86
0

860
859 857

856 855 85
4

860

859 858 856 855 854 853

865

865

872

871

870 870

870869868867866865864863

868
867

866

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

86
1

86
1

86
1

86
1

868

859

856

85
8

862

86
1

860
859

859

858

857

857858

85
8

85
7

85
7

85
8

85
9

85
7

85
8

85
9

86
0

86
1

86
2

86
3

86
4

86
5

86
0

85
9

85
8

85
7

85
9

85
8

85
7

85
9

85
9

220.2'

220.2'

114.8'

114.8'

15' VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617

15' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617 HEREBY RELEASED

870

875

880

855

855

855

860

870

85
0

85
5

860

865

855

855

86
0

860
835

840

845
850
855

87
0

87
5

88
0

885

870
860

86
0

865

865
870

870

850

855

86
0

865

860

86
5

865

865
870870

865

865

870
870

860

860

860

865

865

865

855

860

865

870

870

DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

85
5

86
0

865

850

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

TURF

TURF

1" = 80'0 160'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

SHEET L-3

© 
CO

PY
RI

GH
T 

20
22SHEET

PE
G 

JO
B 

N
o.

PE
G 

PM

ST
AR

T 
D

AT
E

SC
AL

E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,
PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

OFFSITE LANDSCAPE
OVERVIEW

R
O

CK
 R

O
A

D
 B

U
SI

N
ES

S 
PA

R
K

 B
LD

G
 N

O
. 1

, -
 O

FF
SI

TE
 L

A
N

D
SC

A
PE

 O
VE

R
VI

EW

14
11

.4
0-

IL

BD
J

01
/0

6/
23

1"
 =

 8
0'

L-1
L-7

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 02-16-23

TREES QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE REMARKS
AFY 3 Acer freemanii `Autumn Fantasy` Autumn Fantasy Maple 2" Cal. 50' T x 40' W
APEQ 4 Acer platanoides `Emerald Queen` Emerald Queen Maple 2" Cal. 45` T x 40` W
AHB 6 Aesculus hippocastanum `Baumannii` Horse Chestnut 2" Cal. 65` T x 48` W
COP 6 Celtis occidentalis `Prairie Pride` Prairie Pride Hackberry 2" Cal. 50` T x 40` W
CTF 3 Corylus colurna Turkish Filbert 2" Cal. 45` T x 35` W
GIS 6 Gleditsia triacanthos inermis `Skycole` Skyline Thornless Honey Locust 2" Cal. 40`T x 30`W
LTE 3 Liriodendron tulipifera `Emerald City` Emerald City Tulip Tree 2" Cal. 55` T x 30` W
QBS 5 Quercus bicolor Swamp White Oak 2" Cal. 70`T x 55`W
QXS2 2 Quercus x schuetti Swamp Bur Oak 2" Cal. 70` T x 65` W
TAK 6 Tilia americana 'Kromm' Sweet Street Linden 2" Cal. 50` T x 30` W
UFR 6 Ulmus x `Frontier` Frontier Elm 2" Cal. 45` T x 30` W

TURF QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME REMARKS

88,015 sf Turf Hydroseed IDOT 1A Lawn Mix

PLANT SCHEDULE - STREET TREE

SHEET L-2BSHEET L-4SHEET L-2A

NOTES

· AREAS OF SEEDING RESTORATION SHOWN ON THE OFF SITE
LANDSCAPE PLANS ARE THOSE AREAS IMMEDIATELY
ADJACENT TO ROADWAYS. ANY ADDITIONAL AREAS OF
DISTURBANCE IDENTIFIED ON THE CIVIL PLANS SHALL BE
SEEDED WITH IDOT 2 ROADSIDE MIXTURE.

TURF

TURF

AutoCAD SHX Text
N85°18'32"E 83.51'83.51'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N80°01'44"E  134.03'134.03'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N73°04'31"E  675.64'675.64'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  1152.32'1152.32'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S89°40'14"W  1547.96'1547.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N02°16'14"E  454.29'454.29'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S45°40'14"E 117.30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N15°48'09"E 117.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  154.78'154.78'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"W  620.17'620.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"E  626.50'626.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  476.86'476.86'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"W  367.91'367.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S81°33'30"E  181.83'181.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S81°33'30"E  172.68'172.68'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"W  361.21'361.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°15'36"W  155.14'155.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°44'24"E 703.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
402.09'

AutoCAD SHX Text
479.37'

AutoCAD SHX Text
774.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
251.42'

AutoCAD SHX Text
250.57'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.77'

AutoCAD SHX Text
432.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
707.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  477.24'477.24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200.10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.45'

AutoCAD SHX Text
84.42'

AutoCAD SHX Text
53.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK     ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY       ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER AS OF 5-28-2021 ELEVATION=834.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER AS OF 5-28-2021 ELEVATION=847.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
BILLBOARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE=865.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE=865.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK     ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVIEWED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAFTED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
JSJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
JSJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
DJB



LOT 1
330,666 SQ. FT.
(7.5910 ACRES)

859
859

86
3

86
1

86
0

86
0

85
8

863

862

859 859

861
862

86
2

86
1

859859

859

856
856

855

857 858

858
858

859

857
858

85
9

858
859

861
860

859
858

858
859

860
859

858
858858

858
859

860
861

857
856

855
854

853
852

85
9

86
0

85
9

85
9

85
8

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

85
8

851
852

857

859

860

859

858

857

W W W W W W W W W W W W W
W

W
W

W
W

 
 

  

  

859

860

859859

859859859859

859

859

860 860 860 860

860

859 858

856 855 854
853

W

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

859

855

855

855

860

86
0

860

835
840

845

850

855

865

865

870
870

865

865

870
870

860

865

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

(3) PEW (3) JCA (3) PAN
(5) JCA
(5) PBH

(1) PAN

(2) AFY

(2) GIS

(3) AAS

(3) FD

(3) QBS

(3) APEQ

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD

TURF

TURF

EXISTING CONTOUR MAJOR, TYP.

EXISTING CONTOUR MINOR, TYP.

PROPOSED CONTOUR MAJOR, TYP.

PROPOSED CONTOUR MINOR, TYP.

NORTH

1" = 30'0 60'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

SHEET
L-6A

LOW MOW
TURF

BLEND TURF THROUGH
LINE OF DISTURBANCE

© 
CO

PY
RI

GH
T 

20
22SHEET

PE
G 

JO
B 

N
o.

PE
G 

PM

ST
AR

T 
D

AT
E

SC
AL

E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,
PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

BUILDING 1 LANDSCAPE
OVERVIEW

R
O

CK
 R

O
A

D
 B

U
SI

N
ES

S 
PA

R
K

 B
LD

G
 N

O
. 1

, -
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 1

 L
A

N
D

SC
A

PE
 O

VE
R

VI
EW

14
11

.4
0-

IL

BD
J

01
/0

6/
23

1"
 =

 3
0'

L-5
L-7

1 PER VILLAGE REVIEW 02-16-23

TREES BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME
AFY Acer freemanii `Autumn Fantasy` / Autumn Fantasy Maple
APEQ Acer platanoides `Emerald Queen` / Emerald Queen Maple
AAS Acer rubrum `Autumn Spire` / Autumn Spire Maple
FD Fagus sylvatica 'Dawyck Purple' / Dawyck Purple European Beech
GIS Gleditsia triacanthos inermis `Skycole` / Skyline Thornless Honey Locust
QBS Quercus bicolor / Swamp White Oak

EVERGREEN TREES BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME
JCA Juniperus virginiana `Canaertii` / Canaerti Juniper
PAN Picea abies / Norway Spruce
PBH Picea glauca `Densata` / Black Hills Spruce
PEW Pinus strobus / Eastern White Pine

SHRUBS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME
BTA Berberis thunbergii 'Admiration' / Admiration Japanese Barberry
HIS Hydrangea arborescens 'NCHA1' / Invincibelle Spirit Hydrangea
HD Hydrangea paniculata 'Pink Diamond' / Pink Diamond Panicle Hydrangea
PL Physocarpus opulifolius `Little Devil` TM / Dwarf Ninebark
RBB Rosa rugosa `Blanc de Coubert` / Blanc de Coubert Rugosa Rose
SBP Syringa x pubescens 'SMNSPTP' / Bloomerang Purpink Lilac
VDB Viburnum dentatum `Blue Muffin` / Blue Muffin Arrowwood Viburnum

EVERGREEN SHRUBS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME
JM2 Juniperus chinensis `Mint Julep` / Mint Julep Juniper
JCS Juniperus chinensis `Sea Green` / Sea Green Juniper
JGO Juniperus virginiana `Grey Owl` / Eastern Redcedar
PN2 Picea abies `Nidiformis` / Nest Spruce

ORNAMENTAL GRASSES BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME
AGD Andropogon gerardii `Dancing Wind` / Dancing Wind Big Blue Stem
CKF Calamagrostis x a `Karl Foerster` / Karl Foerster Reed Grass
MSO Miscanthus sinensis `Oktoberfest` / Oktoberfest Miscanthus
PH Panicum virgatum `Heavy Metal` / Blue Switch Grass
PN3 Panicum virgatum `Northwind` / Switch Grass
PH5 Pennisetum alopecuroides `Hameln` / Hameln Dwarf Fountain Grass

PERENNIALS BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME
AT3 Allium x `Millenium` / Millenium Ornamental Onion
AML Aruncus x `Misty lace` / Misty Lace Goatsbeard
CVZ Coreopsis verticillata `Zagreb` / Zagreb  Coreopsis
LGF Leucanthemum x superbum 'Goldfinch' / Goldfinch Shasta Daisy
NS Nepeta racemosa 'Snowflake' / Snowflake White Catmint
PL2 Perovskia atriplicifolia `Little Spire` TM / Little Spire Russian Sage

TURF BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME

Turf Hydroseed / IDOT 1A Lawn Mix

Turf Hydroseed Low Grow / IDOT 4A Low Profile Native Grass

PLANT KEY

TURF

LOW MOW
TURF

BLEND TURF THROUGH
LINE OF DISTURBANCE

SHEET
L-6B

NOTES

· AREAS OF SEEDING RESTORATION SHOWN ON THE BUILDING 1
LANDSCAPE PLANS ARE THOSE AREAS IMMEDIATELY
ADJACENT TO ROADWAYS. ANY ADDITIONAL AREAS OF
DISTURBANCE IDENTIFIED ON THE CIVIL PLANS SHALL BE
SEEDED WITH IDOT 2 ROADSIDE MIXTURE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  476.86'476.86'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"W  367.91'367.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S81°33'30"E  181.83'181.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.77'

AutoCAD SHX Text
432.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
707.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY       ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVIEWED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAFTED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
JSJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
JSJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
DJB



21 3 5 6 7 9 10 11 124 8 1413

CBAC B A

12346789101112 51314

A
14 13

B A A B

COLOR - BUFF
SHERWIN WILLIAMS - T.B.D.

COLOR - BLACK
SHERWIN WILLIAMS - T.B.D.

MATERIAL & COLOR SCHEDULE

CURTAINWALL SYSTEM

ALUMINUM FRAMES: DARK BRONZE

INSUL. MTL. DOORS/FRAMES

FRAME - PAINTED TO MATCH PRECAST
DOOR - PAINTED TO MATCH PRECAST

OVERHEAD DOORS

PREFINISHED METAL

COPING, CORNICE & CANOPY

PIPE BOLLARDS

SAFETY YELLOW

PUNCHED/CLEARSTORY WINDOWS

INSUL. GLASS - BRONZE TINTED

COLOR - DARK BROWN
SHERWIN WILLIAMS - T.B.D.

ALUMINUM FRAME: DARK BRONZE
INSUL. GLASS - BRONZE TINTED

PREFINISHED METAL

EXTERIOR PRECAST TO BE COLORED WITH LOXON
VERTICAL CONCRETE STAIN BY SHERWIN WILLIAMS.
G.C. TO MATCH SHERWIN WILLIAMS COLORS
SELECTED BELOW

COLOR: DARK BRONZE

COLOR: BROWN

GLASS - BRONZE TINTED 1" INSULATED GLASS

FENESTRATION

FRAMES - THERMALLY BROKEN DARK
BRONZE ALUMINUM.

SEE SPECIFICATIONS FOR FURTHER
INFORMATION.

AVERAGE FIXED FENESTRATION SYSTEM    
U-FACTOR NOT TO EXCEED .38

AVERAGE ALUMINUM / GLASS ENTRY DOOR 
U-FACTOR NOT TO EXCEED .77

WITH LOW-E COATING.

NOTE: BUILDING THERMAL ENVELOPE SHALL 
CONFORM TO C402.5 AIR LEAKAGE OF THE
2018 INTERNATIONAL ENERGY COSERVATION CODE.

5'-3 1/2"

5'-3 1/2" = 15'-10 1/2"

3 SPACES @4'-3"5'-0"5'-0"5'-0 1/2" 5'-3 1/2"

5'-3 1/2" = 15'-10 1/2"

3 SPACES @ 4'-3" 5'-0" 5'-0" 5'-0 1/2"

T/PRECAST

FIN. FLOOR

EL: +25'-6"

EL: 0'-0"

T/PRECAST

EL: +25'-6"

T/PRECAST

FIN. FLOOR

EL: +25'-6"

EL: 0'-0"

T/PRECAST

FIN. FLOOR

EL: +25'-6"

EL: 0'-0"

T/PRECAST

EL: +30'-6"

FIN. FLOOR

EL: 0'-0"

T/PRECAST

EL: +25'-6"

2

A2.0

1

A2.0

3

A6.0

TYP.

1

A6.1

2

A6.1

4

A6.0
TYP.

1

A6.1

2

A6.1

4

A6.0
TYP.

3

A6.0
TYP.

T/PRECAST

EL: +25'-6"

T/PRECAST

EL: +30'-6"

T/PRECAST

EL.+13'-10"

FIN. FLOOR

EL: 0'-0"

4

A6.1

3

A6.1

2

A6.2

1

A6.2

4

A6.2

4

A6.2

1

A6.2

3

A6.2

3

A6.2

4

A6.1

3

A6.1

1

A6.2
SIM

4

A6.2
SIM

3

A6.1

2

A6.0
TYP.

1

A6.0
TYP.

1

A6.0
TYP.

2

A6.2

1

A6.2

3

A6.2

4

A6.2

1

A6.1

2

A6.1

T/PRECAST

EL: +25'-6"

FIN. FLOOR

EL: 0'-0"

T/MEZZANINE

EL.+11'-8"

T/MEZZ. STEEL

EL.+11'-3 1/2"

T/PRECAST

EL: +30'-6"

FUTURE

T/PRECAST

EL: +30'-6"

T/MEZZANINE

EL.+11'-8"

T/MEZZ. STEEL

EL.+11'-3 1/2"

FIN. FLOOR

EL: 0'-0"

T/PRECAST

EL: +25'-6"

FUTURE

R
 = 7 K  D

L

R
 = 32 K

 LL
R
 =

 5
 K

  D
L

R
 =

 2
2 

K L
L

R
 =

 4
 K

  D
L

R
 =

 1
9 

K L
L

R
 =

 3
 K

  D
L

R
 =

 1
5 

K L
L

R
 =

 3
 K

  D
L

R
 =

 1
5 

K L
L

R
 =

 3
 K

  D
L

R
 =

 1
5 

K L
L

R
 =

 7
 K

  D
L

R
 =

 3
2 

K
 L

L

R
 = 5 K  D

L

R
 = 22 K

 LL

R
 = 4 K  D

L

R
 = 19 K

 LL

R
 = 3 K  D

L

R
 = 15 K

 LL

R
 = 3 K  D

L

R
 = 15 K

 LL

4
 1

/2
"

4
 1

/2
"

T/PRECAST

EL: +25'-6"

T/PRECAST

EL.+16'-0"

FIN. FLOOR
EL: 0'-0"

R
 =

 1
 K

  D
L

R
 =

 6
 K

 L
L

8"14'-0"8"

T/MEZZANINE

EL.+11'-8"

T/MEZZ. STEEL

EL.+11'-3 1/2"

FUTURE

4
 1

/2
"

R
 = 1 K

  D
L

R
 = 6 K LL

10

A3.4

10

A3.4
R
 =

 1
 K

  D
L

R
 =

 6
 K

 L
L

TY
P. E

AC
H
 E

N
D

3

A2.0

W
14x53

W
14

x2
6

W
14

x5
3

W
12

x3
5

W
12

x3
5

W
12

x1
4

W
14

x5
3

W
14x26

W
14x53

W
12x35

W
12x35

1'-0"H x 3'-6"W OVERFLOW
SPILLWAY SCUPPER (TYP.
4 LOCATION ALONG SOUTH
ELEV. SEE DETAIL 6/A6.3

HOLLOW METAL DOOR
& FRAME, PAINTED
(TYPICAL)

TYP. PUNCHED
WINDOW CONSTR.

3'-2"x8'x1/2" REVEAL
(TYPICAL)

PREFIN. MTL.
COPING

TYP. STOREFRONT CONSTR.
SEE ENL. ELEVATION 'B'
ON SHEET A5.0

INSULATED PRECAST
CONCRETE WALL PANEL,
SMOOTH FINISHED

14'W x 16'H PRFIN. INSUL.
MTL. DRIVE-IN DOOR W/
FULL VIEW WINDOWS (TYP.)6" DIA. x 4'H CONC. FILLED

BOLLARDS, BOTH SIDES OF
DOOR (PAINTED)

PROVIDE KNOCK OUT
PANEL FOR FUTURE
MANDOOR OPENING
(TYPICAL)

PROVIDE KNOCK OUT
SECTION FOR FUTURE
CLERESTORY WINDOW
OPENING (TYP.)

INSULATED PRECAST
CONCRETE WALL PANEL,
SMOOTH FINISHED

3'-2"x8'x1/2" REVEAL
(TYPICAL)

PREFIN. MTL.
COPING

PREFIN. MTL.
COPING

3'-2"x8'x1/2" REVEAL
(TYPICAL)

PREFIN. MTL.
COPING

PROVIDE KNOCK OUT
PANEL FOR FUTURE
MANDOOR OPENING
(TYPICAL)

PROVIDE KNOCK OUT
SECTION FOR FUTURE
CLERESTORY WINDOW
OPENING (TYP.)

14'W x 16'H PRFIN. INSUL.
MTL. DRIVE-IN DOOR W/
FULL VIEW WINDOWS (TYP.)6" DIA. x 4'H CONC. FILLED

BOLLARDS, BOTH SIDES OF
DOOR (PAINTED)

HOLLOW METAL DOOR
& FRAME, PAINTED
(TYPICAL)

HOLLOW METAL DOOR
& FRAME, PAINTED
(TYPICAL)

BUILDING ADDRESS NUMBERS
TO BE DECALS ON THE WINDOWS.
THESE NUMBERS WILL CONTRAST
WITH THE BACKGROUND, BE ARABIC
NUMERALS, A MINIMUM 5 INCHES IN
HEIGHTS AND 1/2 INCH MIN. STROKE

TYP. MEDIUM STILE DOOR
1" THK. INSULATED TINTED GLASS
IN THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANOD.
ALUM. DOOR SYSTEM. "T" = TEMPERED

NATURAL STONE VENEER
SEE WALL SECTIONS FOR
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

EXTERIOR DEPRESSED LOADING
DOCK W/ MECH. EDGE OF DOCK
LEVELER & RUBBER DOCK BUMPERS
EACH SIDE.

TYP. CANOPY CONSTR.
SEE SECTION 2/A6.2

TYP. STEPPED FOOTING
SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS.

TYP. STOREFRONT CONSTR.
1" THK. INSULATED TINTED GLASS
IN THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR
ANOD. ALUM. FRAMING SYSTEM.
SPANDREL GLASS SHOWN
SHADED. "T" = TEMPERED

TYP. PREFIN. MTL.
COPING

TYP. PRE-FINISHED EIFS
CORNICE (PAINTED)

TYP. STOREFRONT CONSTR.
1" THK. INSUL. TINTED GLASS
(D0)

T T T T

TYP. TRENCH FOOTING
SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS.

TYP. PREFIN. MTL.
COPING

TYP. PRE-FINISHED EIFS
CORNICE (PAINTED)

T TT

TYP. PRE-FINISHED EIFS
CORNICE (PAINTED)

TYP. TRENCH FOOTING
SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS.

TYP. STOREFRONT CONSTR.
1" THK. INSUL. TINTED GLASS
(D0)

TYP. PRE-FINISHED EIFS
CORNICE (PAINTED)

TYP. TRENCH FOOTING
SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS. TYP. TRENCH FOOTING

SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS.
TYP. STEPPED FOOTING
SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS.

TYP. STOREFRONT CONSTR.
1" THK. INSUL. TINTED GLASS
(D0)

TYP. TRENCH FOOTING
SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS.

3'-2"x8'x1/2" REVEAL
(TYPICAL)

B
/P

C
 O

P
N

G
.

2
3

'-
2

 3
/4

"

1
'-
1

 1
/2

"

1
'-
1

 3
/4

"

PRECAST SPANDREL SILL
PANEL.

MC10x28.5 MC10x28.5

NORTH BUILDING ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

WEST BUILDING ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

SOUTH BUILDING ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

EAST BUILDING ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

ENLARGED ENTRY ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

ENLARGED ENTRY ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

T

PARTIAL EAST ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

MEZZANINE EMBED PLATES
PARTIAL WEST ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0"

MEZZANINE EMBED PLATES

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

SOUTH STOREFRONTS
MEZZANINE EMBED PLATES

A2.0

1

A2.0

2

A2.0

3

222255

GL

IN
 P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 S

T
R

U
C

T
U

R
A

L
 D

E
S

IG
N

1
1
-1

7
-2

0
2
2

-
E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

L
IN

O
IS

N
E

W
 4

7
,0

0
0
 S

F
 S

P
E

C
U

L
A

T
IV

E
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
:

T
E

R
R

A
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

DATABASE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

SHEET NO.

222255M.DB

IN
 P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
1
2
-0

9
-2

0
2
2

IS
S

U
E

D
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT
1
2
-2

1
-2

0
2
2

R
1

0
1
-3

0
-2

0
2
3

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
2

0
2
-1

0
-2

0
2
3

R
E

V
. 
P

E
R

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

 C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

S
T

R
U

C
T

U
R

A
L
 M

E
Z

Z
A

N
IN

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

0
2
-1

6
-2

0
2
3

R
3

0
3
-0

6
-2

0
2
3

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

A2.0

R2

R2 R2R2 R2 R3 R3 R3 R3
R3

R3
R3

R3

R3 R3
R3

R3 R3 R3R3

R3

R3

R3

R3

R3



A

B

C

A.1

B.9

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

STONE BALLAST
15 PSF - CORNERS

STONE BALLAST
12 PSF - PERIMETER

STONE BALLAST
10 PSF - FIELD

STONE BALLAST
12 PSF - PERIMETER

STONE BALLAST
15 PSF - CORNERS

1
/4

" 
S

L
O

P
E

1
/4

" 
S

L
O

P
E

1
/4

" 
S

L
O

P
E

1
/4

" 
S

L
O

P
E

1/4" SLOPE1/4" SLOPE 1/4" SLOPE1/4" SLOPE 1/4" SLOPE1/4" SLOPE 1/4" SLOPE1/4" SLOPE

6" DIA. ROOF HEAD 
& SUMP PAN FOR
12,021 S.F.

6" DIA. ROOF HEAD 
& SUMP PAN FOR
11,770 S.F.

6" DIA. ROOF HEAD 
& SUMP PAN FOR
11,210 S.F.

6" DIA. ROOF HEAD 
& SUMP PAN FOR
12,021 S.F.

3'-0"x2'-6"
ROOF SCUTTLE W/
BIL-GUARD 2.0 SAFETY
GUARD RAIL
SEE DETAIL 12/S2.1

NOTE: ROOF HATCH
TO HAVE A SAFETY
GUARD RAIL INSTALLED
AROUND THE PERIMETER
OF OPENING

TYP. ROOF CONSTRUCTION
BALLASTED SINGLE PLY EPDM
ROOF MEMBRANE (45 MIL)
SEE WALL SECTIONS FOR TOTAL
ROOF SYSTEM NOTE.

TYP. 3'-6" W. x1'-0" H.
SCUPPER OPENING.
SEE DETAIL 7/A6.3

BUILDING ROOF PLAN
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0" A4.0

1

NORTH

ROOF DRAIN SUMP DETAIL
SCALE: 1/2" =1'-0"

2

A4.0

TAPERED INSUL.
1/2" PER FT.

TAPERED INSUL.
1/2" PER FT.

T
A

P
E

R
E

D
 I

N
S

U
L

.

1
/2

" 
P

E
R

 F
T

.
T

A
P

E
R

E
D

 I
N

S
U

L
.

1
/2

" 
P

E
R

 F
T

.

3

A4.0

3
'-
0

"

PERIMETER PRECAST PARAPET
WALL, TYP.

ROOF DRAIN AT CENTER OF

TAPERED INSULATION SUMP.
SEE ROOF FRAMING PLAN
FOR LOCATIONS.

TYP.
3

'-
0

"

SCALE:

TYPICAL ROOF CONSTR.

SEE WALL SECTIONS

L3x3x1/4" FRAME

14 GA. SUMP PAN FILLED
WITH RIGID INSUL. DECK CLAMP

INSUL. HORIZ. RUN 
TO SUMP PAN

STRAINER BASKET

COMPRESSION RING

PRIMARY ROOF HEAD
2"=1'-0" A4.0

3

WATER "CUT OFF" MASTIC

AND ROOF DRAIN ASSEMBLY.

TAPERED INSUL. AT 
1/2" PER FT. TO DRAIN 

222255

GL

IN
 P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 S

T
R

U
C

T
U

R
A

L
 D

E
S

IG
N

1
1
-1

7
-2

0
2
2

-
E

A
S

T
 D

U
N

D
E

E
, 
IL

L
IN

O
IS

N
E

W
 4

7
,0

0
0
 S

F
 S

P
E

C
U

L
A

T
IV

E
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
:

T
E

R
R

A
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

DATABASE:

DRAWN BY:

PROJECT NO:

SHEET NO.

222255M.DB

IN
 P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
1
2
-0

9
-2

0
2
2

IS
S

U
E

D
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT
1
2
-2

1
-2

0
2
2

R
1

0
1
-3

0
-2

0
2
3

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
2

0
2
-1

0
-2

0
2
3

R
E

V
. 
P

E
R

 V
IL

L
A

G
E

 C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

S
T

R
U

C
T

U
R

A
L
 M

E
Z

Z
A

N
IN

E
 D

E
S

IG
N

0
2
-1

6
-2

0
2
3

R
3

0
3
-0

6
-2

0
2
3

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

A4.0

R2



860

855

86
0

860

87
0

870

865

86
0

85
5

86
5

860 861
855
854

840

845

850 849
851

85
5

86
0

851 852

851

853

856

857

858

859

861

862861

862

863

86
1

85
9

85
8

85
7

85
6

85
5

85
7

85
886

186
2

85
7

85
6

85
4

85
3

851

84
9

84
9

855855
852 853 854

850
848 849

831 832

823

82
3 82

4

818

836

83
1

82
6

82
5

82
4

82
7

82
8

82
2

82
3

82
1

81
7

82
0 83

9 840 841 842

850

85
685
785
8859

860
859

86
6

87
1 872

873
874 876 877 878 879

881 882 883 884
886

887
888

889 89
1

89
2

873

86
9

87
1

87
2

87
3

87
4

87
6

87
7

87
8

87
9

88
1

88
2

88
3

88
4

88
6

88
7

88
8

88
9

872

86
4

85
7

860 864 865 863 857 858 855 856 852

86
4

86
3

85
3 85

2
85

1 84
9 84
8 84
7 84
6 844

843

84
2

843

844

853

85
2851

849
848
84784

6

84
7

848

856

852

853

854

856
857

858

859

861
862

863

86
1

866

867

869

871

873

873

872

873

874
873

872 871
869

87
7

876

873 872

871

869
868

867
866

864

863862861

859

85
8

85
7

85
6 85

4 85
3 85

2 85
1

85
9

876 877 878

873

87
2

871

86
9

868
867 870

89
0

885

880

875

870
86

0

875

87
0

87
5

88
0

88
5

86
0

865

870

85
0

850

845

86
5 86

0

85
5

85
0

84
5

855

860

860

865

870

875

875

870

84
7

848

849

84
9

81
8 81
9

81
6

860860
86086

0

865
870

875
861 862 863 864866867868869871872873874

860

865

870

858
859

861
862

863
864

866
867 868

869

86
0

85
7

857

85
8

858

85
9

86
1

86
2

86
3

86
4

220.2'

220.2'

114.8'

114.8'

ACCESS & UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

8"
 D

.I.
W

.M

W W W W W W W W W W W

8"
 D

.I.
W

.M

8" D.I.W.M 8" D.I.W.M

8" D.I.W.M
8" D.I.W.M

COMMON WEALTH
EDISON COMPANY

RIGHT OF WAY

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-400-008

OWNER: PAL LAND II LLC

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-177-007

OWNER: PAL LAND II LLC

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-177-006

OWNER: PAL LAND II LLC

10
0'

ID
O

T 
R

.O
.W

.

(PROPOSED SERVICE BUILDING)
365,871 SQ. FT.

(8.3992 ACRES)

PROPOSED M1 ZONING

(PROPOSED RETAIL DEVELOPMENT)
215,779 SQ. FT.

(4.9536 ACRES)

PROPOSED M1 ZONING

(PROPOSED RETAIL DEVELOPMENT)
209,262 SQ. FT.

(4.8040 ACRES)

PROPOSED M1 ZONING

(PARCEL DEDICATED TO VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE)
152,431 SQ. FT.

(3.4993 ACRES)

PROPOSED M1 ZONING

(PROPOSED SERVICE BUILDING)
330,666 SQ. FT.

(7.5910 ACRES)

PROPOSED M1 ZONING

LOT 1

LOT 5

LOT 4

LOT 3

LOT 2

NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24

SOUTH LINE OF THE
NORTHEAST 1/4 OF
SECTION 24

EA
ST

 L
IN

E 
O

F 
SE

C
TI

O
N

 2
4

W
ES

T 
LI

N
E 

O
F 

SE
C

TI
O

N
 1

9

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

82
1.5

0
82

1.5
0

(8
73

.3
5)

(8
73

.8
0)

87
3.

17

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE FOR
FUTURE SERVICE CONNECTIONS
TO LOT NO. 4 & 5 DEVELOPMENTS

EXISTING PUBLIC UTILITIES ARE TO
BE RELOCATED INTO PENNY ROAD
AND ROCK ROAD RIGHT OF WAY

STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENTS
INSTALLED WITH PREVIOUS
DEVELOPMENT / APPROVAL

48" STORM SEWER

48" STORM SEWER

FUTURE WATERMAIN CONNECTION
TO EXISTING 12" WATERMAIN

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

12
" W

AT
ER

M
AI

N

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 1

5'
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

U
TI

LI
TY

 E
AS

EM
EN

T

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 6

6'
 R

O
C

K 
R

O
AD

 R
.O

.W
.

48
" S

TO
R

M
 S

EW
ER

8"
 S

AN
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER

SANITARY SEWER STUB
FOR FUTURE SERVICE
CONNECTION FOR LOT

NO. 2 DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED 66' PENNY ROAD R.O.W.

10" SANITARY SEWER

20
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

10
' P

U
BL

IC
 U

TI
LI

TY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

PROPOSED 30' SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

10
" S

AN
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER

EXISTING VILLAGE 12" WATERMAIN

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 8

0'
 R

O
C

K 
R

O
AD

 R
.O

.W
.

8" SANITARY SEWER
STORM SEWER

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE
FOR FUTURE SANITARY

SERVICE CONNECTION FOR
LOT NO. 3 DEVELOPMENT

EXISTING PENNY ROAD
R.O.W. TO BE VACATED

PROPOSED DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)
INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

WATERMAIN STUB FOR FUTURE
LOT NO. 2 DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE STORM SEWER CONNECTION
FOR LOT NO. 3 DEVELOPMENT

WATERMAIN STUB FOR FUTURE
LOT NO. 4 DEVELOPMENT

STORM MANHOLE FOR
FUTURE STORM SEWER
CONNECTION FOR LOT
NO. 4 DEVELOPMENT

(STORMWATER PRETREATMENT AND
DETENTION TO BE PROVIDED BY THE

VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE FOR LOT NO. 5)

STORMWATER PRETREATMENT IS
PROVIDED FOR LOTS 1,2,3,4 ROCK
ROAD AND PENNY ROAD WEST OF
ROCK ROAD ONLY

STORMWATER DETENTION IS
PROVIDED FOR LOTS 1,2,3,4 ROCK
ROAD AND PENNY ROAD WEST OF
ROCK ROAD ONLY

WATERMAIN STUB FOR FUTURE
LOT NO. 5 DEVELOPMENT

10
' P

AR
KI

N
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K

15
' T

EM
PO

AR
Y 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
TI

O
N

 E
AS

EM
EN

T
PE

R
 D

O
C

. 2
01

3K
00

46
17

 H
ER

EB
Y 

R
EL

EA
SE

D

10' PARKING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

VILLAGE OF CARPENTERSVILLE

VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE

CORPORATE LIMITS

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F

BA
R

R
IN

G
TO

N
 H

IL
LS

C
O

R
PO

R
AT

E 
LI

M
IT

S

SC
H

O
O

L 
D

IS
TR

IC
T

30
0 

BO
U

N
D

AR
Y

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F

EA
ST

 D
U

N
D

EE
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

LI
M

IT
S

10' PARKING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK
40' BUILDING SETBACK

20
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

10
' P

AR
KI

N
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K

10' PARKING SETBACK
40' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SET BACK
25' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK
20' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK
25' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

25' SANITARY SEWER
EASEMENT
10' PUBLIC UTILITY
EASEMENT

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

  

  

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 703.58'

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

© COPYRIGHT 2023

S
H

E
E
T

PEG JOB No.

PEG PM

START DATE

SCALE

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
 
G

R
O

U
P

 
  
 

P
I
N

N
A

C
L

E

www.pinnacle-engr.com

IL
LI

N
O

IS
 O

FF
IC

E:
10

51
 E

. M
AI

N
 S

TR
EE

T 
-
 
SU

IT
E 

21
7

EA
ST

 D
U

N
DE

E,
 IL

  6
01

18
(8

47
) 5

51
-5

30
0

EN
GI

N
EE

RI
N

G 
I N

AT
U

RA
L 

RE
SO

U
RC

ES
 I 

SU
RV

EY
IN

G

P
L

A
N

 
I
 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 
I
 
D

E
L

I
V

E
R

C
H

I
C

A
G

O
 
I M

I
L

W
A

U
K

E
E

 
:
 
N

A
T

I
O

N
W

I
D

E

w
w

w
.

p
i

n
n

a
c

l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.

c
o

m

F
O

R
 
C

O
N

T
I
N

U
A

T
I
O

N
 
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
2

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K

N
O

R
T
H

E
A

S
T
 
D

U
N

D
E
E
,
 
I
L

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y

E
N

G
I
N

E
E
R

I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING PLAN

1411.40-IL

BDJ

05/19/23

1"=80'

1 2

1" = 80'
0 160'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

The preliminary plan of a subdivision shown heron has received approval by the Board
of Trustees of the Village of East Dundee, Illinois, and upon compliance by the subdivider with
requirements of qualifications governing the approval of preliminary plans and with other
revisions and stipulations that may be required, the Village Board will receive the final plat for
consideration when submitted by the subdivider in such form and within such time as required
by this subchapter, and approved by the Plan Council. Approval of the subdivision is only
preliminary. Approval allows the subdivider to prepare improvement plans and/or a final plat.

APPROVAL OF PRELIMINARY PLAN

The Board of Trustees of the Village of East Dundee, Illinois.
Date:                                               ,
By:                                                                                     President
Attest:                                                                                Village Clerk

RIGHT-OF-WAY

SECTION LINE

PARCEL BOUNDARY

LEGEND OF LINES

ADJACENT BOUNDARY

BUILDING SETBACK

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT LINE

CENTER OF RIGHT-OF-WAY

AREA SUMMARY

LOT 1    330,666 SQUARE FEET OR   7.5910 ACRES
LOT 2    365,871 SQUARE FEET OR   8.3992 ACRES
LOT 3    215,778 SQUARE FEET OR   4.9536 ACRES
LOT 4    209,262 SQUARE FEET OR   4.8040 ACRES
LOT 5         152,442 SQUARE FEET OR   3.4996 ACRES
ROW         175,777 SQUARE FEET OR   4.0353 ACRES
TOTAL 1,449,796 SQUARE FEET OR 33.2827 ACRES

PIN: 03-24-177-007-0000
03-24-276-006-0000
03-24-276-008-0000
03-24-276-005-0000
03-24-276-007-0000

IMPACTED PINS

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER AS OF 5-28-2021 ELEVATION=834.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLAR PANEL ON POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
8' CLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
3' WOOD FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=873.20 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CELL TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBER OPTIC BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
BILLBOARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
6' CLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=871.18 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=871.18 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=854.03 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MANHOLE RIM=873.06 UNABLE TO OPEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE=865.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE=865.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY       ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=873.20 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=871.18 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=871.18 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=854.03 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
402.09'

AutoCAD SHX Text
479.37'

AutoCAD SHX Text
774.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
251.42'

AutoCAD SHX Text
250.57'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.77'

AutoCAD SHX Text
432.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
707.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200.10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
335.34'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.45'

AutoCAD SHX Text
84.42'

AutoCAD SHX Text
53.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER AS OF 4-22-2022 ELEVATION=814.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER AS OF 4-22-2022 ELEVATION=814.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
HWL=817.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
HWL=817.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATCH BASIN RIM=849.84 INV=848.24 15" CPP N

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=847.97 15" CPP S

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM MANHOLE RIM=867.31 INV=865.31 12" CAST IRON E

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=854.45 7'x8' BOX CULVERT S

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=854.34 7'x8' BOX CULVERT N

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
54

AutoCAD SHX Text
55

AutoCAD SHX Text
56

AutoCAD SHX Text
56

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PENNY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY     ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY     ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK          ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE PALUMBO

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING R1 ZONING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING M1 ZONING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING R1 ZONING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING B3 ZONING

AutoCAD SHX Text
N85°18'32"E 83.51'83.51'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N80°01'44"E  134.03'134.03'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N73°04'31"E  675.64'675.64'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  1152.32'1152.32'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S89°40'14"W  1547.96'1547.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N02°16'14"E  454.29'454.29'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S45°40'14"E 117.30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N15°48'09"E 117.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  154.78'154.78'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"W  620.17'620.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"E  626.50'626.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  476.86'476.86'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"W  367.91'367.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S81°33'30"E  181.83'181.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S81°33'30"E  172.68'172.68'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N90°00'00"W  361.21'361.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°15'36"W  155.14'155.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°44'24"E 703.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°15'36"E  477.24'477.24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S85°17'47"W  483.66'483.66'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°12'39"E  263.97'263.97'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S00°12'39"W  263.97'263.97'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N85°17'47"E  450.97'450.97'

AutoCAD SHX Text
KANE COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
COOK COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVIEWED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAFTED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/19/2023 1:44 PM - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\PRELIM\PRELIMINARY PLAN (03-06-23).dwg - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\PRELIM\PRELIMINARY PLAN (03-06-23).dwgZ:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\PRELIM\PRELIMINARY PLAN (03-06-23).dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
DPG

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAT



816 817 818 819
821 822 823 824

826 827 828 829
837 841 842 846 850 851

85
9

86
1

85
8 85

7
85

6 85
4

85
3 85

2

85
1

84
8

84
7

84
4 843 843

838
834

832

83
083
1

82
8

82
7

863

866
867

866

866

864
864

866
867

868
867

866
864

86
3

862
86

1

85
9

85
8

85
7

85
6

85
4

85
385

2

848 849
851

816

817818

857

859

815

854
850 851 852 853

830 835 828 829 831 832 833 834 836 837 838

82
4 820 821

815

82
9

840

85
0

85
5

85
0

850

852

85
5

86
0

865

865

865

865865

86
2

855 856

833

825

820

81
5

PROPOSED 30' SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

10" SANITARY SEWER

10
" S

AN
IT

AR
Y 

SE
W

ER

  
  

  

  

S
H

E
E
T

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
 
G

R
O

U
P

 
  
 

P
I
N

N
A

C
L

E

EN
GI

N
EE

RI
N

G 
I N

AT
U

RA
L 

RE
SO

U
RC

ES
 I 

SU
RV

EY
IN

G

P
L

A
N

 
I
 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 
I
 
D

E
L

I
V

E
R

C
H

I
C

A
G

O
 
I M

I
L

W
A

U
K

E
E

 
:
 
N

A
T

I
O

N
W

I
D

E

w
w

w
.

p
i

n
n

a
c

l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.

c
o

m

F
O

R
 
C

O
N

T
I
N

U
A

T
I
O

N
 
S

E
E
 
S

H
E
E
T
 
1

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K

N
O

R
T
H

E
A

S
T
 
D

U
N

D
E
E
,
 
I
L

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y

E
N

G
I
N

E
E
R

I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

2 2

© COPYRIGHT 2023

PEG JOB No.

PEG PM

START DATE

SCALE

www.pinnacle-engr.com

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING PLAN

1411.40-IL

BDJ

05/19/23

1"=80'

1" = 80'
0 160'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

IL
LI

N
O

IS
 O

FF
IC

E:
10

51
 E

. M
AI

N
 S

TR
EE

T 
-
 
SU

IT
E 

21
7

EA
ST

 D
U

N
DE

E,
 IL

  6
01

18
(8

47
) 5

51
-5

30
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=866.07 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MANHOLE RIM=851.79 INV=841.79 10" PVC W-E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MANHOLE RIM=851.38 INV=840.98 10" PVC W INV=834.78 6" PVC E INV=834.78 10" PVC S

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=866.07 BOLTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVE VAULT RIM=865.76 TP=859.61 10" DI N-S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MANHOLE RIM=850.58 INV=834.58 10" PVC N-S

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER AS OF 4-22-2022 ELEVATION=814.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
HWL=817.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
HWL=817.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=848.16 18" RCP E

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=847.95 18" RCP W

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM MANHOLE RIM=852.28 INV=848.33 15" CAST IRON W INV=848.13 15" CAST IRON E

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM MANHOLE RIM=862.86 INV=859.72 12" CAST IRON S

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM MANHOLE RIM=862.53 INV=860.58 12" CAST IRON N INV=860.33 6" CPP N INV=859.33 6" CPP W INV=857.73 12" RCP W

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM MANHOLE RIM=862.77 INV=859.63 12" CAST IRON N INV=857.63 12" RCP E BOTTOM=843.12 UNABLE TO SEE ADDITIONAL PIPES

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE PALUMBO

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S84°59'13"W  399.95'399.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N84°56'46"E  800.27'800.27'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N84°59'13"E  400.05'400.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S82°55'07"W   112.23'

AutoCAD SHX Text
109.06' N82°55'07"E  

AutoCAD SHX Text
S84°56'46"W  799.73'799.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVIEWED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAFTED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/19/2023 1:18 PM - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\PRELIM\PRELIMINARY PLAN (03-06-23).dwg - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\PRELIM\PRELIMINARY PLAN (03-06-23).dwgZ:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\PRELIM\PRELIMINARY PLAN (03-06-23).dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
DPG

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAT



R25'

L1
9 L8

L6
L7L10 L11

L1
2

L1
4

L5

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10
' P

U
BL

IC
 U

TI
LI

TY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

H
ER

EB
Y 

G
R

AN
TE

D

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10
' P

U
BL

IC
 U

TI
LI

TY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

H
ER

EB
Y 

G
R

AN
TE

D

10
' P

U
BL

IC
 U

TI
LI

TY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

H
ER

EB
Y 

G
R

AN
TE

D

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
HEREBY GRANTED

20' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

20
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

H
ER

EB
Y 

G
R

AN
TE

D

25
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

H
ER

EB
Y 

G
R

AN
TE

D

40' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

25' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

40' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

25' BUILDING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

25
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

H
ER

EB
Y 

G
R

AN
TE

D

20
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10
' P

AR
KI

N
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K
H

ER
EB

Y 
G

R
AN

TE
D

10
' P

AR
KI

N
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K
H

ER
EB

Y 
G

R
AN

TE
D

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10
' P

AR
KI

N
G

 S
ET

BA
C

K
H

ER
EB

Y 
G

R
AN

TE
D

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

10' PARKING SETBACK
HEREBY GRANTED

LOT 1

330,666 SQ. FT.

(7.5910 ACRES)

(3.4993 ACRES)

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
15

4.
78

'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
47

6.
86

'
N

00
°1

5'
36

"W
 
 

15
5.

14
'

66
.7

7'
43

2.
89

'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
47

7.
24

'

N90°00'00"W 359.51'

L=155.58'
RADIUS=1056.00'
N85°46'45"W
CHORD=155.44'

N90°00'00"E  366.21'
L=145.86'
RADIUS=990.00'
S85°46'45"E
CHORD=145.73'

S81°33'30"E  198.76'

N81°33'30"W  188.66'

57
9.

98
'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E

N
00

°1
5'

36
"W

58
0.

28
'

S89°40'14"W  707.96'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
W
 
 

11
52

.3
2'

S89°59'58"W 180.00'

PROPOSED SERVICE
BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

75
.0

'
85

.0
'

86
.5

4'
85

.0
'

75
.0

'

18.0' 30.0'

12.0'
(TYP.)

12.0'
(TYP.)

4.0'

15.0'

24.0'

24.0'

24.0'

24.0'

18.0'35.0' 24.0'

18.0' 18.0'24.0'

18.0' 18.0'24.0'

6.0'

6.0'

12.0'
(TYP.)

12.0'
(TYP.)

12.0'
(TYP.)

12.0'
(TYP.)

544.0"

24.5'

24.5'19
.4

'

66
.0

'
EX

IS
TI

N
G

 R
.O

.W
.

17.5'

17.5'

7.
8'

7.
0'

33.0'33.0'

66.0'
R.O.W.

37.0'
BC-BC
34.0'

EP-EP

14.5' 14.5'

27
.0

'
BC

-B
C

24
.0

'
EP

-E
P

19
.5

'
19

.5
'

33
.0

'
33

.0
'

66
.0

'
R

.O
.W

.

36
.0

'

24
.0

'
EP

-E
P

15
.0

'
15

.0
'

33
.0

'
33

.0
'

66
.0

'
R

.O
.W

.

2.
0'

4.
0'

2.
0'

4.
0'

39.0'
BC-BC

36.0'
EP-EP

20.5'20.5'

40.0'40.0'

80.0'
R.O.W.

19.4'
 PL-BC

12
6.

0'

76
.0

'
76

.0
'

80.0'

25
.0

'

80.0'

160.0'

7.
0'

(B
C

-B
C

)

11
.3

'

11
.3

'

11
.3

'

11
.3

'

LOADING DOCK SHALL
CONTAIN GUARD RAILS.

SEE ARCHITECTURAL
PLANS FOR DETAILS.

CURB CUT (TYP.)

BOLLARDS (TYP.)

CONCRETE PAVEMENT (TYP.)

CONCRETE PAVEMENT (TYP.)

BOLLARDS (TYP.)

B.6-12 CURB AND GUTTER

B.6-12 CURB AND GUTTERCURB CUT (TYP.)

CONCRETE WHEEL STOP (TYP.)

3' CURB TAPER FROM 6" TO
DEPRESSED

DEPRESSED CURB (TYP.)

3' CURB TAPER FROM 6"
TO DEPRESSED

DEPRESSED B.6-12 CURB
AND GUTTER

4' PAVED SHOULDER 2' AGGREGATE WEDGE SHOULDER

EXISTING PENNY ROAD IS NOT
CENTERED IN EXISTING R.O.W.

B6.12 CURB AND GUTTER

EX
TE

R
IO

R
D

O
C

K

COMPACTED ASPHALT
GRINDINGS (TYP.)

ASPHALT PAVEMENT (TYP.)

ASPHALT PAVEMENT (TYP.)

DEPRESSED B.6-12 CURB
AND GUTTER

R3'

R3'

R5'

R5'

R3'

R3'

R5'

R3'

R3'

R5'

R45'
(TYP.)

R45'
(TYP.)

R25'

R25'

R25'

R25'

LOADING BERTH

R3'

R3'

L13

7.
0'

(B
C

-B
C

)

12
6.

0'

©
 C

O
PY

R
IG

H
T 

20
22

SHEET

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

S
T
A
R

T
 
D

A
T
E

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

CHICAGO OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN ST. | SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m
REVISIONS

IL DESIGN FIRM 184.006289-0010

ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK BLDG NO. 1,

PENNY ROAD, & OFFSITE UTILITIES

EAST DUNDEE, IL

SITE DIMENSIONAL &

PAVING PLAN SOUTHEAST

R
O

C
K

 
R

O
A

D
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
B

L
D

G
 
N

O
.
 
1

,
 
-
 
S

I
T
E
 
D

I
M

E
N

S
I
O

N
A

L
 
&

 
P

A
V

I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N
 
S

O
U

T
H

E
A

S
T

1
4

1
1

.
4

0
-
I
L

B
D

J

0
1

/
0

6
/
2

3

1
"
 
=

 
4

0
'

EX-1

EX-1

1" = 40'0 80'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

NORTH

SITE DIMENSIONAL AND PAVING NOTES

1. ALL PROPOSED CURB SHALL BE 6" OR 12" MONOLITHIC

AS NOTED.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FACE OF CURB TO FACE OF CURB

OR BUILDING FACE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

3. BUILDING DIMENSIONS, GRADING, PARKING, AND

UTILITY LAYOUT HAVE BEEN PREPARED BASED UPON

ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION.  SUBSEQUENT

ARCHITECTURAL CHANGES MAY EXIST AND CONTRACTOR

SHALL REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  IN CASE OF DISCREPANCIES

BETWEEN ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND CIVIL PLANS, THE

CIVIL PLANS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

4. LOCATION OF PRIVATE SIDEWALKS SHALL BE

COORDINATED WITH PROPOSED DOORWAYS.

CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ACTUAL BUILDING PLAN

LOCATIONS WITH ARCHITECT/DEVELOPER PRIOR TO

CONSTRUCTING THE SIDEWALKS.

5. REBAR / TIEBARS SHALL BE USED IN ALL LOCATIONS

WHERE CONCRETE ABUTS OTHER CONCRETE FEATURES

(ie. SIDEWALK ADJACENT TO FOUNDATION WALL AND

SIDEWALK ADJACENT TO CURB & GUTTER).  TIEBAR SIZE

AND SPACING SHALL BE PER IDOT SPECIFICATIONS. ALL

REBAR/TIEBAR SHALL BE EPOXY COATED.

6. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONSTRUCT ALL HANDICAP

ACCESSIBLE ROUTES IN ACCORDANCE WITH LOCAL AND

STATE ADA REQUIREMENTS.

7. PAVEMENT SLOPES THROUGH HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE

PARKING AREAS SHALL BE 2.00% MAXIMUM IN ANY

DIRECTION.

8. REFER TO CONSTRUCTION DETAILS AND GRADING

ENLARGEMENTS FOR SIDEWALK RAMPS AND HANDICAP

STRIPING.

9. REFER TO PHOTOMETRICS PLAN (BY OTHERS) FOR LIGHT

STANDARDS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

LOT 1 AREA: 330,666 SF./7.59 ACRES

LOT 1 IMPERVIOUS AREA: 273,229 SF./6.27 ACRES

LOT 1 PERVIOUS AREA: 57,437 SF./1.32 ACRES

BUILDING FOOTPRINT: 47,530 SF.

FAR:  0.14

TOTAL SITE AREA: 1,449,796 SF./33.28 ACRES

PARKING REQUIRED: 70 STALLS (1 STALL PER

EVERY TWO EMPLOYEES)

TRAILER PARKING: 97 STALLS

CAR PARKING: 40 STALLS (INCLUDING 2

ADA STALLS)

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED: 137 STALLS

SITE DATA

SIDEWALK

5" PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE

6" COMPACTED ASPHALT GRINDINGS 

MEETING IDOT CA-6 GRADATION

ASPHALT PAVEMENT

1.5" BIT. SURFACE COURSE, HMA MIX "D",

N50, 9.55mm NOMINAL SIZE, PG 58-28

2.0" BIT. BINDER COURSE, HMA IL-19,

N50, 19mm NOMINAL SIZE, PG 58-28

5.0" BIT. BASE COURSE, HMA IL-19,

N50, 19mm NOMINAL SIZE, PG 58-28

18" ASPHALT GRINDINGS (MEETING IDOT

CA-6 GRADATION

CONCRETE PAVEMENT

7" PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE WITH 

STEEL FIBERS (PER OWNER)

18" COMPACTED ASPHALT GRINDINGS 

MEETING IDOT CA-6 GRADATION

COMPACTED ASPHALT GRINDINGS

26.5" COMPACTED ASPHALT GRINDINGS 

MEETING IDOT CA-6 GRADATION

RIPRAP

REVERSE PITCH B6.12 CURB & GUTTER

4" YELLOW STRIPE

DEPRESSED B-6.12 CURB & GUTTER

B-6.12 CURB & GUTTER

YELLOW SYMBOLS / PAVEMENT MARKINGS

R7-8 & R7-8P HANDICAP SIGN

R7-8 & R7-8P HANDICAP SIGN

W/ VAN ACCESSIBLE SIGN

SITE LEGEND

Line Table

Line #/Curve #

L6

L7

L8

L9

L10

L11

L12

Length

11.22'

48.24'

45.00'

45.00'

47.76'

11.28'

43.91'

Bearing

N00°00'02"W

N89°59'58"E

N53°14'10"E

S00°15'36"E

L13 66.00' N89°44'24"E

N00°00'02"E

N89°59'58"E

S53°02'34"E

L5 59.38' S00°15'36"E

L14 43.60' N00°15'36"W
REVISED SITE PLAN EXHIBIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATCH BASIN RIM=849.84 INV=848.24 15" CPP N

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER AS OF 5-28-2021 ELEVATION=834.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
INV=847.97 15" CPP S

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK     ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX KEY # 03-24-400-008 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: PAL LAND LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX KEY # 01-19-100-003-0000 (COOK COUNTY) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: COMED TAX DEPARTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX KEY # 01-19-100-004-0000 (COOK COUNTY) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: COMED TAX DEPARTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK     ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVIEWED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAFTED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
SGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BDJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
6/21/2023 12:44 PM - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\Revised Site Plan Exhibit.dwg - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\Revised Site Plan Exhibit.dwgZ:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\Revised Site Plan Exhibit.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B



 

{00121287.3} E-1 

 
EXHIBIT E 

MULTI-USE PATH DESIGN SPECIFICATIONS 



8

6

0

8

5

5

8

6

0

8

6

0

8

7

0

8

7

0

8

6

5

8

6

0

8
5
5

8

6

5

8

6

0

8

6

1

8

5

5

8

5

4

8

4

08

4

5

8

5

0

8

4

9

8

5

1

8

5

5

8
6
0

8
5
18

5
2

8
5
1

8

5

3

8

5

6

8

5

7

8
5
8

8

5

9

8

6

1

8

6

2

8

6

1

8

6

2

8
6
3

8

6

1

8

5

9

8

5

8

8
5
7

8
5

6

8

5

5

8

5

7

8

5

8

8

5

78

5

6

8

5

4

8

5

3

8

5

1

8

4

9

8
4
9

8

5

5

8

5

5

8

5

2

8

5

3

8

5

4

8

5

0

8

4

8

8

4

9

8

3

1

8

3

2

8

2

3

8

2

3

8

2

4

8

1

8

8

3

6

8

3

1

8

2

6

8

2

5

8

2

4

8

2

7

8

2

8

8

4

4

8

2

2

8

2

3

8

2

1

8

1

7

8

2

0

8

3

9

8

4

0

8

4

1

8

4

2

8

5

0

8

5

6

8

5

7

8

5

8

8

5

9

8

6

0

8

5

8

8

5

9

8

1

6

8

1

7

8

1

8

8

1

9

8

2

1

8

2

2

8

2

3

8

2

4

8

2

6

8

2

7

8

2

8

8

2

9

8

3

7

8

4

1

8

4

2

8

4

6

8

5

0

8

5

1

8

5

9

8

6

1

8
6
6

8

7

1

8

7

2

8

7

3

8

7

4

8

7

6

8

7

7

8

7

8

8

7

9

8

8

1

8

8

2

8

8

3

8

8

4

8

8

6

8

8

7

8

8

8

8

8

9

8

9

1
8

9

2

8

7

3

8

6

9

8

7

1

8

7

2

8

7

3

8

7

4

8

7

6

8

7

7

8

7

8

8

7

9

8

8

1

8

8

2

8

8

3

8

8

4

8

8

6

8

8

7

8

8

8

8
8
9

8

7

2

8
6
4

8

5

7
8

6

0

8

6

4

8

6

5

8

6

3

8

5

7

8

5

8

8

5

5

8

5

6
8

5

2

8
6
4

8
6
3

8

5

3

8

5

2

8

5

1

8

4

9

8

4

8

8

4

7

8

4

6

8

4

4

8

4

3

8
4
2

8

4

3

8

4

4

8

5

3

8

5

28

5

1

8

4

9

8

4

8

8

4

78

4

6

8
4
7

848

8
5
6

8

5

2

8

5

3

8

5

4

8

5

6
8

5

7
8

5

8

8

5

9

8

6

1

8

6

2

8

6

3

8
6
1

8

6

6

8

6

7

8

6

9

8
7
1

873

873

8
7
2

8

7

3

8

7

4

8
7
3

8

7

2

871

869

8

7

7

8

7

6

8
7
3

8

7

2

8

7

1

8

6

9

8

6

8

8
6
7

8

6

6

8
6
4

8

6

3

8

6

2

8

6

1

8

5

9

8

5

8

8

5

7
8

5

6

8

5

4

8

5

3

8

5

2

8

5

1

8

5

9

8
7
6

8
7
7

8
7
8

8

5

8

8

5

7

8
5
6

8
5
4

8
5
3

8

5

2

8

5

1

8
4
8

8

4

7

8

4

4

843843

8
3
8

8

3

4

8

3

2

8

3

0

8

3

1

8

2

8

8

2

7

8

6

3

8

6

6

8

6

7

866

8

7

3

8

7

2

8

7

1

8

6

9

8

6

8

8

6

7

8

6

68
6
4

864

8

6

6

8

6

7

868

8

6

7

8

6

6

8

6

4

8

6

3

8

6

2

8

6

1

8

5

9

8

5

8

8
5
7

8

5

6

8

5

4

8

5

3

8

5

2

8
4
8

849

8

5

1

8

1

6

817

8

1

8

8

5

7

8
5
9

8

1

5

8
5
4

8
5
0

8
5
1

8
5
2

8
5
3

8

3

0

8

3

5

8

2

8

8

2

9

8

3

1

8

3

2

8

3

3

8

3

4

8

3

6

8

3

7

8

3

8

8

2

4

8

2

0

8

2

1

8

1

5

8

2

9

840

8

5

0

8
5
5

8

5

0

8
5
0

8

5

2

8

5

5

8

6

0

8

6

5

8
6
5

8

6

5

8

6

5

8
6
5

8

7

0

8

9

0

8

8

5

8

8

0

8

7

5

8

7

0

8

6

2

8

5

5

8

5

6

8

3

3

8

2

5

8

2

0

8

1

5

875

8
7
0

8

7

5

8

8

0

8

8

5

8

6

0

8

6

5

8

7

0

8

5

0

8

5

0

8

4

5

8
6
5

8

6

0

8

5

5

8

5

0

8

4

5

8

5

5

8

6

0

8

6

0

8

6

5

870

875

8

7

5

8

7

0

8

4

5

8

4

3

8
4
2

8

4

1

8

4

0

8

4

0

8

3

9

8

3

8

8

3

7

8

3

5
8

3

6

8
3
0

8

2

5

8

4

6

8

4

7

8

4

8

8
4
9

8

4

9

8

1

8

8

1

9

8

1

6

8

6

0

8

6

5

8

7

0

8

7

5

8

6

1

8

6

2

8

6

3

8

6

4

8

6

6

8

6

7

8

6

8

8

6

9

8

7

1

8

7

2

8

7

3

8

7

4

8

6

0

8

6

5

8

7

0

8

5

8

8

5

98

6

1

8

6

2

8

6

3

8

6

4

8

6

6

8

6

7

8

6

8

8

6

9

8
7
0

8
7
5

8
7
1

8
7
2

8
7
3

8
7
4

8
7
6

8
7
7

8
7
8

8
6
0

8
6
0

8

6

5

8

5

7

8

5

7

8

5

8

8

5

8

8

5

9

8

5

9

8

6

1

8
6
1

8
6
2

8

6

2

8

6

3

8
6
3

8

6

4

8

6

4

8
6
6

8
6
7

8

6

8

8
6
9

8

6

5

8

7

0

8

7

5

8

6

6

8

6

7

8

6

8

8

6

9

8

7

1

8

7

2

8

7

3

8

7

4

2

2

0

.
2

'

2

2

0

.
2

'

1

1

4

.
8

'

1

1

4

.
8

'

D

U

N

D

E

E

 
R

O

A

D

 
(

I
L

 
R

O

U

T

E

 
6

8

)

PROPOSED SERVICE

BUILDING

46,966 SF

FF=861.00

LOT 1
330,666 SQ. FT.
(7.5910 ACRES)

LOT 2
365,871 SQ. FT.
(8.3992 ACRES)

LOT 3
215,779 SQ. FT.
(4.9536 ACRES)

LOT 4
209,262 SQ. FT.
(4.8040 ACRES)

LOT 5
152,432 SQ. FT.
(3.4993 ACRES)

8

2

1

.

5

0

8

2

1

.

5

0

Cut/Fill Summary

Name

Earthwork

Totals

Cut Factor

1.00

Fill Factor

1.00

2d Area

73130.03 Sq. Ft.

73130.03 Sq. Ft.

Cut

1290.64 Cu. Yd.

1290.64 Cu. Yd.

Fill

1270.56 Cu. Yd.

1270.56 Cu. Yd.

Net

20.07 Cu. Yd.<Cut>

20.07 Cu. Yd.<Cut>

(

8

7

3

.
3

5

)

(

8

7

3

.
8

0

)
8

7

3

.
1

7

PROPOSED SERVICE

BUILDING

46,966 SF

FF=861.00

8

5

5

8

5

6

8

5

7

8

5

8

8

5

9

859

8
5
9

8
6
3

8
6
1

8
6
0

8
6
0

8
6
3

8
6
2

859
859

86
1

8

6

2

8
6
2

8
6
1

859

8

5

9

8
5
9

8

5

6

856

8
5
5

857

8

5

8

858

858

859

8

5

7

8

5

8

8

5

9

858

859

8
6
1

8
6
0

8

5

9

8
5
8

858

859

86
0

8
5
9

8
5
8

858
858

8

5

8

8
5
9

8
6
0

8
6
1

857

856

855

854

853

852

8
5
9

8
6
0

8

5

9

8
5
9

8
5
8

8
5
8

8

5

9

8

6

0
8

6

1

8

5

8

8

5

3

8

5

1

8

5

2

8

5

0

8

5

1

8

5

2

8

5

7

8

5

9

860

859

858

857

87
1

8

6

8

8

6

3

8

6

2

8

6

1

8

6

5

8

6

6

8

6

7

8

6

9

8

6

0

8

6

4

859

860

859
859

859

859
859

859

8

5

9

8

5

9

860
860

860
860

8

6

0

8

6

0

8

5

9

8

5

7

8

5

6

8

5

5

8

5

4

8

6

0

8

5

9 8

5

8

8

5

6

8

5

5

8

5

4

8

5

3

8
6
5

865

872

8
7
1

870

8

7

1

87
1

868

867

8

6

5

8

6

4

863

8

6

8

8

6

7

8
5
9

8
5
8

862

8
6
1

860

859

859

858

857

857

858

8
5
8

8
5
7

8
5
7

8
5
8

8
5
9

8

5

7

8

5

8

8

5

9

8

6

0

8

6

1

8

6

2

8

6

3

8
6
0

8
5
9

8
5
8

8
5
7

8
5
9

8
5
8

8
5
7

8
5
9

8
5
9

870

869

866

865

864

861

8

6

9

859

8
5
7

8

5

6

857

8

7

0

856

858

855

8
5
4

8

5

28

5

3

855

856

857

856

8
5
6

8
5
6

8

6

0

8

6

4

8

6

5

8

6

6

8

6

7

8

6

8

8

6

9

8

7

0

8

7

1

8

6

1

8

6

2

8

6

2

8

6

3

8

6

4

8

6

5

8
6
6

8
6
7

8

6

8

8

6

9

8

7

0

8

6

3

8

7

1

8

7

0

8

7

2

8

7

3

8

7

4

8

7

5

8
7
3

8
7
2

8
7
1

8
7
0

8
6
9

8
6
8

8
6
7

8
6
6

8

6

7

8

6

8

8

6

9

8

6

8

8

6

9

©
 
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

 
2
0
2
1

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP  1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER
ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK

JOB NO. 1411.40-IL

NORTH

SCALE: 1"=150'

09/08/2023

EXHIBIT E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY       ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNDEE ROAD (IL ROUTE 68)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK     ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK     ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
9/8/2023 1:13 PM - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK (09-08-23).dwg - Z:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK (09-08-23).dwgZ:\Projects\2018\1411.40-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\ROCK ROAD BUSINESS PARK (09-08-23).dwg

Joseph Heinz
Polygonal Line

Joseph Heinz
Callout
APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF 8' WIDE P.C. CONCRETE MULTI-USE PATH



 

{00121287.3} E-1 

EXHIBIT F 
 

ENGINEERING REVIEW  MEMO



Consulting Engineers and Professional Land Surveyors 

Gerald L. Heinz & Associates, Inc.  

206 N. River Street • East Dundee, Illinois • Phone (847) 426-4535 • Fax Number (847) 426-4584

 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE:  June 21, 2023 

TO: Erika Storlie, Village Administrator AT: East Dundee 

FROM: Joseph D. Heinz, P.E. 

SUBJECT: Terra Business Park Phase II (33 Acres) and PUD Amendment to 
       Ordinance 07-51 (119 Acres) 

Job No. ED-2304 

Introduction: 

This staff report provides an overview and analysis of the proposed Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
project, Terra Business Park Phase II within the Village of East Dundee corporate limits. The purpose 
of this report is to present the key details of the project, evaluate its compliance with the relevant 
zoning regulations, and offer recommendations for consideration by the Planning & Zoning 
Commission and Village Board. 

Project Description: 

The Terra Business Park Phase II PUD is a mixed-use development planned on a 33 parcel of land 
located near the Illinois Route 68 and Penny Road intersection and PUD Amendment to Ordinance 07-
51 is for the Original Terra Business Park north of Illinois Route 72.  The project proposes M-1 as a 
base zoning along with requested uses in the B2, B3, and B4 zoning districts as permitted uses.  There 
are several departures from the Village Code of Ordinances that are being requested as part of the 
application. 

The subject property is currently zoned R1, B3, and M1.  The adjacent uses are M1 to the north, R1 to 
the west, M1 to the south, and the Commonwealth Edison right-of-way corridor to the east. 

Project Components: 

The Terra Business Park Phase II PUD is comprised of five (5) lots and is proposed to be developed 
similar to the existing Terra Business Park development to the south.  Penny Road is to be vacated 
west of the Rock Road extension to drop the existing skewed intersection at Penny Road and IL Route 
68. The Rock Road extension is proposed to line up with Prairie Lakes Road at Illinois Route 68.  The 
Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) is currently reviewing the proposed roadway



  

 
2 

intersection improvement plans.  Lot 1 is proposed to be developed concurrently with the subdivision 
improvements. 
 
Infrastructure: The developer intends to invest in necessary infrastructure improvements, such as road 
enhancements, utility connections, and stormwater management systems, to support the development 
and ensure its integration into the existing village infrastructure.  The existing village infrastructure 
has adequate capacity to serve the proposed development. 
 
Zoning Analysis: 
 
The proposed PUD falls within the “Eastern Growth Area” as noted in the village's comprehensive 
plan (2002).  The proposed PUD does not align with the goals and objectives within the plan, which 
depicts this area as General Business and Planned Development Residential.  Although the 
development does not follow the comprehensive plan, the village has zoned the majority of the 
property M1 which conflicts with the comprehensive plan.  As the plan is over 20 years old, we would 
suggest that the proposed use is appropriate, given the trend of development in the area. 
 
In addition to the requested permitted “B” uses, the PUD application proposes the following 
departures from the Village Code of Ordinance: 
  
 Principal Structure Requirements         Required         Proposed  
 Front Yard      40.0’   40.0’ 

Side Yard fronting a street    40.0’   25.0’ 
Side Yard      25.0’   20.0’ 
Rear Yard      40.0’   20.0’  
Building Height     35’ Max. Height needed to screen 
              rooftop equipment 
Parking Setback Requirements 

 Front Yard Parking Setback    40.0’   10.0’ 
 Side Yard fronting a street Parking Setback  40.0’   10.0’ 
 Side Yard        0.0’   10.0’ 
 Rear Yard        0.0’   10.0’ 
 
 Signage Requirements 
 Business signage standards to apply to all lots. 
 Free standing signs to follow Village Ordinance 06-46 
 Free standing sign setback    15.0’     0.0’ 
 
 Landscape Requirements 
 Required Open Space     15%   5% 
 Front Yard Parking Screening with Shrubs  75%   0% 
 Front Yard Parking Screening with Trees  30’ Spacing  100’ Spacing 
 Side/Rear Parking Screening with Shrubs  50%   0% 



  

 
3 

 Side/Rear Parking Screening with Trees  40’ Spacing    100’ Spacing 
 Parking Islands     1 per 10 stalls  1 per 22 stalls 
 Truck Parking Islands     1 per 10 stalls  None 
 Parking Island adjacent to Truck Parking  Required  None 
 Island size      7’ Wide  400 SF 
 Foundation Area Landscaping   5’ Min. Width  None 
 Trash Enclosure     Masonry Wall  Landscaping 
 Storage Facilities     Solid Wall or Fence Landscaping 
 
 Subdivision Requirements 
 Sidewalk      Optional in M-1 None 
 Street R.O.W.      80’   66’ 
  
 
Impact Assessment: 
 
Traffic:  
The PUD developer has conducted a traffic impact study to assess the potential impact on the 
surrounding road network.  The study indicates that with the proposed infrastructure improvements, 
the project will not result in significant adverse traffic congestion.  A traffic signal is projected to be 
warranted within 5 years. 
 
Environmental Impact: The PUD aims to minimize the environmental impacts thru development of a 
reclaimed aggregate mine, stormwater management systems, and preservation of the lake and 
surrounding open spaces.   
 
Community Benefits: The development offers several community benefits, including increased 
commercial/industrial site options, job creation through construction, industrial and commercial 
spaces, and potential economic growth for the village. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
Recommend approval of the Terra Business Park Phase II Preliminary Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) proposal, rezoning the property within the PUD to M-1, allow the requested additional B2, B3, 
and B4 uses, and approval of requested Village Code variances, subject to the fulfillment of any 
outstanding requirements and conditions.   

• Any requested IDOT geometric changes to the roadway and rights-of-way will be considered 
minor revisions to the preliminary PUD and will not require the Planning and Zoning 
Commission to review and make recommendation due to the changes.   

• Any subdivided lots not yet improved with any building may be used for outside, unscreened 
truck/vehicle parking with waivers for: 

o Paving of the parking area. 
o Curb and gutter for the parking area. 



  

 
4 

o Parking lot lighting. 
o Parking lot landscaping. 

The above waivers are approved subject to the following conditions: 
o The Developer is in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations 

and legal requirements; (ii) not in breach of any agreement(s) with the Village; and 
(iii) not in arrears on any amount due and owing the Village. 
 

o The Developer is not in breach of any agreement(s) with the Village. 
 

o The Developer is not in arrears on any amount due and owing the Village. 
 

o The Developer tests the soil on the Property for environmental contaminants no less 
than once per twelve (12) month period the waivers are in effect, in the manner 
directed by the Village, and provides the Village with a written report from the 
company conducting the testing with the results thereof. 

 
o The Developer ensures that no hazardous materials are placed on the Property. 

 
 
Please let us know if you require any further information or clarification. 

estorlie
Highlight



PROJECT NARRATIVE 
TERRA BUSINESS PARK PHASE II (33 ACRES) 

And  
PUD AMENDMENT TO ORDINANCE 07-51 

 
Pal Land, LLC, Pal Land II, LLC  

 
 
 By its PUD ordinance 07-51 and as subsequently amended (collectively, the “2007 PUD”), 
the Village established a planned industrial park known as the Terra Business Park for the 
Petitioner’s approximate 119 acres of land immediately north of Illinois Route 72 (the “First PUD 
Parcel”).  The Petitioners own approximately 33 acres of land surrounding the intersection of 
Penny Road and Illinois Route 68 and to the south thereof, as depicted on the attached PUD Plan 
(the “Additional Land”). The Petitioners seek to obtain substantially the same PUD approvals,  
including, without limitation, the departures / /variances therein approved (herein referred to as 
“departures”) ) with respect to this Additional Land as the Village previously approved for the 
Terra Business Park in the 2007 PUD Ordinance. With such PUD approval in place for the 
Additional Land, the Petitioners will be able to move forward with the same type of efficient and 
high-quality development as has occurred as to the First PUD Parcel. 
 
 Included with this Development Application are, among other things, the Preliminary PUD 
Plan for Terra Business Park Phase II prepared by Pinnacle Engineering dated May 17, 2023 as its 
project number 1411.40 (the “Preliminary PUD Plan”), and  the Preliminary Plat of Subdivision 
for Terra Business Park Phase II prepared by Pinnacle Engineering dated January 6, 2023 with last 
revision date of May 19, 2023 and the associated Preliminary  Engineering Plans prepared by 
Pinnacle Engineering dated May 19, 2023 (collectively, the “Preliminary Plat and Preliminary 
Engineering”).  
 
 The uses (permitted and conditional) requested to be allowed under the requested M-1 PUD 
requested by this Application  include (1) any and all uses as authorized under the B2, B3, and B4 
zoning classifications as set forth in the Municipal Code of the Village of East Dundee, and (2) those 
M-1 permitted and conditional uses as set forth on Exhibit 1 attached hereto, and (3) for the avoidance 
of doubt, the following additional permitted uses:. 
 
 

(a) Gas station and retail; 
 
(b) Retail and Office; 

 
(c) Automotive & Retail; 

 
(d) Retail & Warehouse; 

 
(e) Office;  

 
(f) Industrial & Manufacturing with on-site storage; 

 
(g) Motor Truck Terminal; 



 
 
The PUD entitlements requested herein are substantially similar departures allowed in the 2007 
PUD. 
 
In accordance with Section 157.243B(2), as part of the requested PUD, the Applicant is requesting 
the following  departure Departures  to / from the standard ordinance requirements of the  of the 
proposed M-1 zoning district and the inclusion of the following additional provisions: 
 
Use departures: A departures to permit a full range of light industrial and commercial uses 
throughout the property. The proposed use list includes most all uses permitted in the M-1 and 
B-2 districts, as well as others from B-4 as detailed in the Applicant's initial application and 
addendum letter 
 
Building setbacks: A departure to Section 157.066((A)6)  to change the yard requirements to permit a 
40-foot minimum front setback, 20-foot minimum setbacks on the interior sides and rears of all 
lots, and a 25-foot setback along any rear or side yard abutting a public street.  
 
Building height: A departure to Section 157.066(A)(5)  to allow roof-top screening to exceed the 
maximum building height of 35 feet by the least amount reasonably determined by the Village 
Administrator or Building Inspector as needed to accomplish the screening of roof-top equipment . 

 
Parking setback: A departure to Section 157.148 to permit parking in the required front, rear, and 
side yard setbacks with a reduced setback to ten (10) feet. 
 
Off-Street Parking Stalls:  A departure from 157.150 (V) in the context of the absence of 
information as to the number of employees so as to allow for 40 automobile parking stalls and 
98 truck parking stalls with the understanding that if an occupant or occupants of the building 
have more than 40 employees and the Village determines that there are inadequate 
automobile parking stalls, then the Village may require the owner to convert certain of the 
truck parking stalls to automobile parking stalls to make up the deficiency.   
 
 Off-Street Parking Stalls:  A departure from Section 157.127(B) so as to permit the 
requirement of two (2) loading berths to be fulfilled by one loading dock attached to the 
building and one truck parking stall designated for such purpose.  
 
Business district signage: A departure to permit the signage standards applicable to business 
districts (as provided in Chapter 156 of the Village Code) apply to all lots within the subdivision 
regardless of use. 
 
Freestanding signage: A departure (i) to have the standards for freestanding signs included in 
Village Ordinance 06-46 apply to all lots within the subdivision with the exception that 
electronic signs shall be prohibited except as permitted in said Ordinance, and (ii) from Section 
156.04(A)(3)(d) “Sign Minimum Setback” to allow signage to be placed up to the lot line of 
each lot instead of observing the typical 15 ft. setback..  
 
A departure  to permit utility connections for electric, telephone, and cable to lots and buildings 
to be installed above-ground in lieu of the requirement to have these utilities located underground 



provided that all such overhead connections shall be made, whenever practicable, at the rear or 
side of the buildings. 

 
A departure to Sec. 158.04 - Landscape Requirements. A departure to permit the landscape 
standards to be departed from as to all Lots in a manner consistent with the Building 1 Landscape 
Overview plan having last revision date of 2/16/23 prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group. . 

 
A departure to Sec. 158.04 B  - Minimum landscaped open space area. A departure  to permit 
the minimum landscaped open space area for the Subject Property to be reduced to 5% in lieu of 
the 15% required by the captioned section. 

 
A departure from  158.04 B(D)(2)(a)2 of the Landscape Chapter of the East Dundee Village Code 
requiring that interior parkway landscaping shall have 3’ shrubs for 75% coverage along with 
parkways trees every 30’ are hereby granted so as to eliminate the requirement of shrubs and to require 
parkways trees not more than every 100 feet. 
 
A departure from Section 158.04(D)(2)(b)4b of the Landscape Chapter of the East Dundee 
Village Code requiring that Type 2 perimeter landscaped areas shall have 3’ shrubs for 50% 
coverage along with trees every 40’ is hereby so as to eliminate the requirement of shrubs and to require 
parkways trees not more than every 100 feet.. 
 
Departures from Section 158.04(D)(2)(d)(2)(b), Landscape requirements, of the Minimum 
Landscaping, Screening and Tree Preservation Standards Chapter of the East Dundee Village 
Code requiring a maximum of ten parking spaces will be permitted in any length of parking 
bay between planting islands are hereby granted so as to (i) permit a maximum of twenty-
two (22) parking stalls between planting islands for automobile parking areas at the rear and  
interior sides of buildings only, (2) eliminate the requirement pf parking islands in areas 
designated and / or  intended for truck and equipment parking, and (3) eliminate any curbed 
parking island that is immediately adjacent to and abutting truck parking stalls. .  
 
A departure / departure from the Village parking lot design requirements to require interior 
landscaped islands with a minimum of four hundred (400) square feet at all parking aisle ends 
and in addition, a minimum of one such landscaped island at the end of 50th parking stall for 
cars, but with no such islands required with respect to parking reserved for truck / trailer parking. 
Aisle end islands shall count toward meeting this requirement. 
 
 
A departure from Section 158.04D(2)(c) Landscape requirements, of the Minimum 
Landscaping, Screening and Tree Preservation Standards Chapter of the East Dundee Village 
Code requiring a minimum five-foot wide landscape area adjacent to all building walls 
(exclusive of driveways, access walks, and service and delivery areas), calling for planting 
to be emphasize ground plane transitions and softening large expanses of building walls, 
when possible, accenting building entrances and architectural features, and screening 
mechanical equipment, and, where extended roofs or canopies are used to provide a covered 
walkway adjacent to a building foundation stating that such plantings are not required to be 
departed from as to all Lots in a manner consistent with the Building 1 Landscape Overview plan having 



last revision date of 2/16/23 prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group. 
 
 
A departure / departure to allow the public right of way referred to as the Rock Road 
extension, and all other subdivision streets, to be built with a 66 ft. ROW and with 37 ft. 
pavement back-to-back instead of a larger (80 ft) ROW and pavement area. .  
 
A departure / departure from Section 155.048 so as to eliminate the requirement of 
sidewalks. 
 
 
A departure with regard to Section 158.0E(1)(a) to allow trash receptacles and storage 
facilities to be screened with landscaping as opposed to masonry structures, including, 
without limitation, those visible from residential areas or public rights of way.. 
 
The Preliminary PUD Plan, Preliminary Plat and Preliminary Engineering are hereby approved 
subject to final approval by IDOT as to the proposed geometry of the proposed Rock Road / 
Route 68 intersection shown thereon.  If IDOT requires changes to such  of the proposed 
geometry of the proposed Rock Road / Route 68 intersection, such changes may be incorporated 
into the Final PUD Plan and the Final Plat and Final Engineering to the extent acceptable to the 
Village engineer without the necessity of any further public hearings or further action by the 
corporate authorities of the Village.  
 
The development of proposed Lot 1 as shown on the Preliminary PUD Plan is approved (subject 
to the issuance of building permits) and may proceed following the adoption of this ordinance 
even if the Final PUD Plan and the Final Plat and Final Engineering have not yet been approved. 
Any departures that are discernable from the Lot Preliminary PUD Plan but not otherwise 
expressly called out and requested herein are nevertheless approved for all Lots 
 
The other lots within the ultimately approved Final Plat of Subdivision for Terra Business Park 
Phase II may be developed and improved without further public hearings or action by the 
corporate authorities so long as the Village staff and Village engineer determine that the 
proposed development contained within the building permit application substantially conforms to 
the design requirements contained in this ordinance.  
 
As to any lots or unsubdivided areas not yet improved with any building, such lots / areas may be 
used for outside, unscreened truck / vehicle parking similar to what has been previously 
approved by the Village in the southerly portion of the Terra Business Park, and in connection 
therewith the following waivers are hereby approved: 
 

A. Pursuant to Section 157.193(A)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance, t
he requirement for paving of permanent roadways and parking lots in 
Section 157.147 of the Zoning Ordinance is waived, provided that all 
required off- street parking is provided at the Property and that driveway 
access to the Property shall have asphalt shavings or a crushed stone base 
and provided that the Developer shall take steps to control dust and other 



particles; and 
 

B. Pursuant to Section 157.193(A)(2) of the Zoning Ordinance, the requirement 
for installation of curbs and gutters in 57.101 of the Village of East Dundee 
Village Code (“Village Code”) is waived, provided that the Developer shall 
comply with all applicable storm water drainage requirements; and 

 
C. Pursuant to Section 157.193(A)(3) of the Zoning Ordinance, the requirement 

for parking lot lighting installation and use in Section 157.149 of the Zoning 
Ordinance is waived, provided that no activity on the Property shall be 
scheduled or occur after dusk; and 

 
D. Pursuant to Section 157.193(A)(4) of the Zoning Ordinance, the requirement 

of parking lot landscaping in Section 157.149 of the Zoning Ordinance is 
waived, including placement of trees and shrubbery. 

 
The waivers approved in subparagraphs A - D immediately above shall be in effect 

as to lots or unsubdivided areas not yet improvement with any building so long as: 
 

I. The Developer is in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, 
regulations and legal requirements; (ii) not in breach of any agreement(s) 
with the Village; and (iii) not in arrears on any amount due and owing the 
Village. 

 
II. The Developer is not in breach of any agreement(s) with the Village. 

 
III. The Developer is not in arrears on any amount due and owing the Village. 

 
IV. The Developer tests the soil on the Property for environmental 

contaminants no less than once per twelve (12) month period the waivers 
are in effect, in the manner directed by the Village, and provides the 
Village with a written report from the company conducting the testing with 
the results thereof. 

 
V. The Developer ensures that no hazardous materials are placed on the 

Property. 
 
As to the requested map amendment of the westerly portion of the land from R-1 to M-1 PUD, the 
Petitioner states that the proposed map amendment meets the standards for same as set forth in 
Section 157.223 of the Village Code.,  Specifically, the prosed map amendment: 
 

1. Is compatible with the uses of property within the general area of the property in 
question; 
 

2. Is compatible with the zoning of nearby property. 
 



3. The current residential zoning classification Is not suitable given other nearby 
land uses. 
 

4. The trend of development is inconsistent with residential zoning, but instead is 
consistent with the requested M-1 PUD zoning. 
 
5. The highest and best use of the property is for industrial / commercial development. 
As to the requested Planned Unit Development, the Petitioner states that the proposed PUD meets 
the conditions for approval as set forth in Village Code Section 157.249.  Specifically, the proposed 
PUD: 
 
   (A)   meets the requirements and design standards for PUDs as set forth in Village code 
Section 157.250; 
   (B)   The requested deviations and required departures / waivers of the bulk regulations in the 
zoning ordinance are consistent with those approved for the original portion of Terra Business 
Park. 
   (C)   There will be significant public benefit produced by the Planned Unit Development, such 
increased economic development, increased jobs, an improved roadway system.    
(D)   The requested  Planned Unit Development is entirely compatible to the development of the 
land to the south and north.  The land to the east is a Commonwealth Edison right of way.  The 
land to the west is owned by the Petitioner and in no intended for development. 
   (E)   The proposed Planned Unit Development fulfills the objectives of the future planning 
objectives or other planning policies of the village. 
  



EXHIBIT 1 
M-1 PERMITTED AND SPECIAL USES 

 
 
 
Allowable uses of land and buildings: 
P: Permitted by-right 
S: Permitted by special use permit 

Limited Manufacturing District (M-1) PUD 
 

Allowable uses of land and buildings: 
P: Permitted by-right 
S: Permitted by special use permit 

Limited 
Manufacturing 
District (M-1) 
PUD 

 

(a) Agriculture and natural resource uses. 
1. Resource conservation.     
2. Cultivation.     
3. Livestock.     
4. Agricultural support.    
   Farm and garden supply store P  
   Feed store P  
5. Mineral extraction and batch operations.    
   Batch asphaltic concrete, cement concrete or mortar mixing 
plant 

S  

   Stone or gravel quarry; crushing, grading, washing and 
loading operations shall, at a minimum, conform with the 
applicable regulations set forth in § 157.065 

S  

(b) Residential uses. 
1. Single-family and two-unit dwellings.     
2. Multiple-family dwellings.     
3. Group living facilities.     
(c) Retail uses. 
1. General merchandise.     
   Building material sales P  
   Direct selling establishment where products are stored P  
   Gun shop S  
   Tombstone and monument sales P  
2. Food and beverage.  P added 
3. Greenhouses and nurseries.    
   Greenhouse and nursery; retail P  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065


   Greenhouse and nursery; wholesale P  
(d) Clubs, restaurants, taverns and lodging uses. 
1. Clubs, lodges and meeting halls.     
2. Restaurants, specialty foods and taverns.  P  added 
   Restaurant; no live entertainment or dancing P added 
   Restaurant; with live entertainment or dancing P added 
   Restaurant; drive-in or drive-through facilities P  
   Taverns P  
3. Lodging.    
   Hotel, including apartment hotel, dining room and meeting 
rooms 

P  

   Motel P  
(e) Recreation and entertainment establishments; public and private. 
1. Indoor recreation and entertainment.     
   Adult uses    
   Commercial sports and entertainment establishment; subject 
to the licensure requirements of Chapter 118 of the East 
Dundee Code of Ordinances 

S  

   Community center buildings, public or non-profit; includes 
clubhouses, recreation buildings, gymnasiums, swim clubs, 
swimming pools, tennis clubs, tennis courts, roller skating and 
ice skating rinks 

P  

   Museum P  
   Shooting range S  
2. Outdoor recreation and entertainment.    
   Drive-in theater P  
   Parks and playgrounds; privately-owned, not-for-profit S  
   Parks and playgrounds, publicly owned P  
   Shooting range S  
(f) Service, contracting, storage and broadcasting uses. 
1. Personal services.     
   Massage establishment and massage services; subject to the 
licensure requirements of Chapter 111 of the East Dundee 
Code of Ordinances 

S  

2. Dry cleaning and laundry services.    
   Dry cleaning, laundry, dyeing and rug-cleaning 
establishment; with or without drive through and no limitation 
on the number of employees 

P  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-32948#JD_Chapter118
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-38341#JD_Chapter111


3. Finance, insurance and real estate services.    
   Automatic teller machine as stand-alone structure P  
4. General services.    
   Auction room P  
   Catering establishment P  
   Printing shop; no press size limitations P  
   Secretarial service    
   Scientific research agency P  
   Taxidermist P  
   Testing laboratory P  
   Travel bureau and transportation ticket office P  
   Undertaking establishment and funeral parlor P  
5. Contractor and repair shops and showrooms.    
   Artists and industrial design studio P  
   Furniture repair and upholstery P  
   General minor repair or fix it shop P  
   Interior decorating studio; includes upholstery and making 
draperies, slip covers and other similar articles when 
conducted as a secondary activity to the principal use 

P  

   Lawn mower repair shop P  
   Locksmith P  
   Board showroom P  
   Building services and supplies; no outside storage P  
   Contractor shop; no outdoor storage P  
   Contractor shop; with outdoor storage P  
   Electrical shop and supply shop P  
   Exterminating service P  
   Heating and air conditioning retail sales and service P  
   Plumbing and heating showroom and shop P  
   Refrigeration shop, service and repair P  
   Swimming pool sales and service P  
   Sewer cleaning and rodding shop P  
   Sign contractor; no outside storage P  
   Window cleaning firm P  
6. Equipment and supplies.    
   Bottled gas dealer P  



   Business machines store P  
   Equipment and appliance repair shop P  
   Equipment rental and leasing service P  
   Machinery sales establishment P  
   Milk machine sales P  
   Water softener service P  
   Water sales and bottling P  
7. Storage, transport and mail order sales.    
   Ambulance service P  
   Frozen food locker P  
   Limousine service P  
   Mail order sales and warehousing P  
   Storage, warehousing and wholesale establishments; does 
not include fuel oil, gasoline and other flammable material 

P  

8. Broadcasting facilities and recording studios.    
   Radio and television broadcasting studio P  
   Radio and television transmission or receiving tower P  
   Recording studio P  
9. Tattooing. S  
(g) Automotive and related uses. 
1. Accessory sales.     
   Automobile accessory, tire and battery stores P  
2. Fuels sales, service and repair.    
   Automobile fuel sales; with or without service P  
   Automobile and truck service without fuel sales; includes 
car washes, oil change service, repair facilities, and related 
uses not otherwise listed 

P  

   Body and fender shop P  
   Motor vehicle impoundment yard; subject to the provisions 
of § 157.065(A)(2)(a) 

   

   Paint shop P  
   Vehicle towing establishment; subject to the provisions of 
§ 157.065(A)(2)(b) 

S  

3. Parking.    
   Parking lot; commercial P  
4. Vehicle sales and rental.    
   Boat dealer P  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065


   Camper dealer (sales) P  
   Mobile home dealer P  
   Motor vehicle dealer, new or used P  
   Motorcycle sales P  
   Recreation vehicle sales or rental P  
   Snowmobile, sales and service P  
   Trailer sale or rental P  
(h) Office uses. 
1. Professional offices.     
   Accounting, auditing and bookkeeping P   
   Attorney and law office P   
   Business and professional office P   
   Business office; goods, wares or merchandise are displayed 
or sold on the premise 

P   

   Engineering and architectural service P   
   Land surveyor P   
   Landscape architect P   
   Newspaper office; does not include printing P   
   Professional Consultant P   
2. Organizations.     
   Better Business Bureau P   
   Chamber of Commerce P   
   Charitable organization P   
   Civic association P   
   Labor union and organization P   
   Merchants association P   
   News syndicate P   
   Political organization P   
   Professional membership association P   
   Real estate board P   
   Social service and fraternal association P   
   Trade association P   
(i) Healthcare and veterinary uses. 
1. Medical and dental offices, clinics and labs.     
   Laboratory, medical and dental P  
2. Hospitals and care homes.    



   Hospitals or sanitariums P  
3. Veterinarian offices, hospitals and kennels.    
   Veterinary clinic and animal hospital; without outdoor 
kennels 

P  

   Veterinary clinic and animal hospital; with outdoor kennels P  
(j) Manufacturing uses. 
1. Manufacturing.     
   Manufacturing, assembly, disassembly, fabricating, 
repairing, storing, cleaning, servicing or testing establishment; 
operation shall conform with the applicable performance 
standards in § 157.065 and shall not be specifically prohibited 
by this chapter 

P 
 

(k) Public, educational and institutional uses. 
1. General public.     
   Cemetery, public or private; includes crematories and 
mausoleums provided that no building shall be located less 
than 100 feet from side and rear property lines 

S  

   Library and branch library P  
   Police or fire station P  
   Post office and post office sub-station P  
   Public service or municipal garage P  
2. Educational.    
   Schools, business, trade or vocational; non-boarding public 
or private 

P  

3. Childcare.    
4. Institutional and assembly.    
   Convention hall and center S  
(l) Transportation, utility and solid waste uses. 
1. Transportation.     
   Airports S  
   Cartage and express establishments; does not include motor 
freight terminals 

P  

   Public transportation facilities; includes shelters, terminals, 
parking areas and service buildings 

P  

   Transit and transportation passenger shelter P  
2. Utility.    
   Public utility and public service use; subject to the 
provisions of § 157.065(A)(2)(c) 

P  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065


   Sewage treatment plant P  
   Telephone booth P  
3. Solid waste.     
   Waste transfer, storage and treatment facilities; as defined in 
the Illinois Environmental Protection Act in ILCS Chapter 
415, Act 5 that are not otherwise defined in such Act as 
Pollution Control Facilities and subject to the provisions of 
§ 157.065(A)(2)(d) 

S 
 

(m) Accessory uses. 
1. Accessory to agricultural uses.     
2. Accessory to residential uses.     
3. Accessory to commercial uses.     
   Accessory commercial operations yard; subject to the 
provisions of § 157.065(A)(2)(e) 

S  

   Accessory uses provided in accordance with the provisions 
of § 157.085 

P  

   Offices ancillary to any permitted or special use P  
   Open sales lot S  
   Storage yard; materials or equipment for on-site sales only P  
4. Accessory to manufacturing uses.    
   Accessory commercial operations yard subject to the 
provisions of § 157.065(A)(2)(e) 

S  

   Accessory uses provided in accordance with the provisions 
of § 157.085 

P  

   Offices ancillary to any permitted or special use P  
   Storage yard for material or equipment sales P  
5. Other accessory uses.     
(n) Temporary uses. 
1. Temporary uses.     
   Temporary building for construction purposes; not to exceed 
the duration of the construction 

P 
 

(o) Other special uses. 
1. Other special uses.     
   Planned unit development S  
   Similar and compatible uses to those listed as special uses S  
   Twenty-four hour per day operation of any permitted or 
special use 

S  

 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9353#JD_157.085
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9353#JD_157.085


For the northern-most 1,500  feet of the land, the permitted and special uses allowed in the B-3 and B-4 
Business districts (sections 157.053 B-3 And 157.054 B-4, respectively, shall be added to the uses set 
forth in the table above. 

 



20' BUILDING SETBACK

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

S45°40'14"E

117.30'

LOT 1
330,666 SQ. FT.
(7.5910 ACRES)

LOT 2
365,871 SQ. FT.
(8.3992 ACRES)

LOT 3
215,778 SQ. FT.
(4.9536 ACRES)

LOT 4
209,262 SQ. FT.
(4.8040 ACRES)

LOT 5
152,442 SQ. FT.
(3.4996 ACRES)

N85°18'32"E
83.51' N80°01'44"E  134.03'

L=575.88'
RADIUS=4347.28'

N76°52'13"E
CHORD=575.46'

N73°04'31"E  675.64'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
11

52
.3

2'

S89°40'14"W  774.00'

N
02

°1
6'

14
"E
 
 

79
7.

04
'

N
15

°4
8'

09
"E

11
7.

65
'

L=137.62'
RADIUS=540.00'
N07°33'39"W
CHORD=137.24'

L=117.23'
RADIUS=460.00'

S07°33'39"E
CHORD=116.91'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
15

4.
78

'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
47

6.
86

'
N

00
°1

5'
36

"W
 
 

15
5.

14
'

N89°44'24"E
703.58'

40
2.

09
'

47
9.

37
'

66
.2

4'
25

1.
42

'

25
0.

57
'

66
.7

7'
43

2.
89

'

S14°51'42"E
0.58'

N14°51'42"W
0.87'

TO BE VACATED
BY ORDINANCE
IN THE FUTURE

PENNY ROAD
HEREBY DEDICATED
TO THE VILLAGE
OF EAST DUNDEE
AS RIGHT-OF-WAY

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
H

ER
EB

Y 
D

ED
IC

AT
ED

TO
 T

H
E 

VI
LL

AG
E

O
F 

EA
ST

 D
U

N
D

EE
AS

 R
IG

H
T-

O
F-

W
AY

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E 

 
47

7.
24

'

PENNY ROAD
(66' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

80.0'

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
(6

6'
 P

U
BL

IC
 R

.O
.W

.)

(HEREBY DEDICATED)

(H
ER

EB
Y 

D
ED

IC
AT

ED
)

R
O

C
K 

R
O

AD
(8

0'
 P

U
BL

IC
 R

.O
.W

.)
(H

ER
EB

Y 
D

ED
IC

AT
ED

)

PENNY ROAD(66' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

200.10'

335.34'

40.45'

84
.4

2'
53

.2
0'

DUNDEE ROAD

(IL ROUTE 68)

(100' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR SET 3/4" X 24"

IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

20' BUILDING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK
25' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

40' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

25' BUILDING SETBACK

NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24

SOUTH LINE OF
THE NORTHEAST
1/4 OF SECTION 24

EA
ST

 L
IN

E 
O

F 
SE

C
TI

O
N

 2
4

W
ES

T 
LI

N
E 

O
F 

SE
C

TI
O

N
 1

9

EAST CORNER OF
SECTION 24

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-400-008

OWNER: PAL LAND II LLC
UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-177-007

OWNER: PAL LAND LLC

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
03-24-177-006

OWNER: PAL LAND LLC

15' WATERMAIN EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K035460

ACCESS & UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

OVERALL TOWER EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2015K007098

15' VILLAGE UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617

15' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT
PER DOC. 2013K004617 HEREBY RELEASED

SET 4" CONCRETE
MONUMENT AT CORNER

SET 4" x 48" CONCRETE MONUMENT
WITH BRASS PLATE AT CORNER
ELEVATION: _______________

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

N90°00'00"W  359.51'

L=155.58'
RADIUS=1056.00'
N85°46'45"W
CHORD=155.44'

N90°00'00"E  366.21'

L=145.86'
RADIUS=990.00'
S85°46'45"E
CHORD=145.73'

S81°33'30"E  198.76'

N81°33'30"W  188.66'

20' BUILDING SETBACK

20' BUILDING SETBACK

10
2.

90
'

N
00

°1
5'

36
"W

S89°44'24"W
66.00'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E

10
2.

98
'

S89°40'14"W  707.96'

57
9.

98
'

S0
0°

15
'3

6"
E

N
00

°1
5'

36
"W

58
0.

28
'

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-003-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-004-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

UNPLATTED LANDS

TAX KEY #
01-19-100-003-0000
(COOK COUNTY)

OWNER: COMED TAX
DEPARTMENT

20' BUILDING
SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

10' PARKING SETBACK

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
PAL LAND LLC

PAL LAND II LLC

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
PAL LAND LLC

PAL LAND II LLC

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
PAL LAND LLC

PAL LAND II LLC

TO BE CONVEYED TO
THE VILLAGE OF
EAST DUNDEE

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
PAL LAND LLC

PAL LAND II LLC

L=89.41'
RADIUS=205561.32'

N85°17'05"E
CHORD=89.41'

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

BA
R

R
IN

G
TO

N
 H

IL
LS

C
O

R
PO

R
AT

E 
LI

M
IT

SC
O

O
K 

C
O

U
N

TY
KA

N
E 

C
O

U
N

TY

SC
H

O
O

L 
D

IS
TR

IC
T 

#3
00

 B
O

U
N

D
AR

Y

VILLAGE OF CARPENTERSVILLE

VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE

CORPORATE LIMITS

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

EA
ST

 D
U

N
D

EE
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

LI
M

IT
S

PROPOSED SERVICE BUILDING
46,966 SF
FF=861.00

20' BUILDING SETBACK

N90°00'00"W  619.20'

N90°00'00"E  626.50'

L=123.75'
RADIUS=3033.00'
N88°49'51"E
CHORD=123.74'

L=126.37'
RADIUS=2967.00'
N88°46'46"E
CHORD=126.36'

94.50'

94.50'

18
8.

15
'

21
8.

67
'

69.46'

69.46'

©
 C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T
 2

0
2

3REVISIONS SHEET

PE
G 

JO
B 

N
o.

PE
G 

PM

D
AT

E

SC
AL

EPINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.p

in
n

ac
le

-e
n

g
r.c

o
m

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m

SU
R

VE
Y

14
11

.4
0

D
A

T

05
/1

7/
20

23

1"
=

80
'

1

2

1" = 80'0 160'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

PRELIMINARY
P.U.D. PLAN

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
LOCATION: IL ROUTE 68, EAST DUNDEE, IL

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

NORTH

D
R

AF
TE

D
 B

Y:

RIGHT-OF-WAY

SECTION LINE

PARCEL BOUNDARY

LEGEND OF LINES

ADJACENT BOUNDARY

BUILDING SETBACK

RECORD DIMENSION

MEASURED DIMENSION

(180.00')

180.00'

CENTER OF RIGHT-OF-WAY

GENERAL NOTES

1. Field work completed on November 08, 2022.
2. All dimensions are measured dimensions, record dimensions are shown parenthetically. The boundaries of

the parcels as described form a mathematically closed figure.
3. No discrepancies, conflicts, shortages in area, gaps, strips, gores or errors in boundary lines exist.
4. Subdivision consists of 5 lots.
5. Stormwater Detention has been provided offsite for Lots 1-4. Onsite Stormwater Detention will be required for

the development of Lot 5.

K
D

Bearings referenced to the Illinois State
Plane Coordinate System, East Zone (1201).

BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II

PIN: 03-24-177-007-0000
03-24-276-006-0000
03-24-276-008-0000
03-24-276-005-0000
03-24-276-007-0000

PRELIMINARY P.U.D. PLAN

AREA SUMMARY
LOT SQFT ACRES PERCENT(%)

1 330,666 7.5910 22.8
2 365,871 8.3992 25.3
3 215,778 4.9536 14.9
4 209,262 4.8040 14.4
5 152,442 3.4996 10.5

ROW 175,777 4.0353 12.1
TOTAL 1,449,796 33.2827 100.0

SITE DATA
PARKING REQUIRED 70 STALLS (1 STALL PER

EVERY TWO EMPLOYEES

TRAILER PARKING 96 STALLS

CAR PARKING PROVIDED
50 STALLS (INCLUDING 2

ADA STALLS)

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED 146 STALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENNY    ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF



SITE

SITE

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

BA
R

R
IN

G
TO

N
 H

IL
LS

C
O

R
PO

R
AT

E 
LI

M
IT

S

VILLAGE OF

CARPENTERSVILLE

VILLAGE OF

EAST DUNDEE

CORPORATE LIMITS

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

EA
ST

 D
U

N
D

EE
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

LI
M

IT
S

C
O

O
K 

C
O

U
N

TY

KA
N

E 
C

O
U

N
TY

C-2 GENERAL
COMMERCIAL

R-4-A: RESIDENTIAL
(TOWNHOUSE)

R
-1

5 
AC

R
ES

SI
N

G
LE

 F
AM

IL
Y 

R
ES

ID
EN

TI
AL

B3 -SERVICE BUSINESS
M1 -LIMITED MANUFACTURING
R1 -SINGLE FAMILY

B3

M1

M1

R1

R1

R1

R1

R1

M1
M1

M1

M1
M1

M1

M1 M1

M1

©
 C

O
P

Y
R

IG
H

T
 2

0
2

3REVISIONS SHEET

PE
G 

JO
B 

N
o.

PE
G 

PM

D
AT

E

SC
AL

EPINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.p

in
n

ac
le

-e
n

g
r.c

o
m

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m

SU
R

VE
Y

14
11

.4
0

D
A

T

05
/1

7/
20

23

2

2

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

D
R

AF
TE

D
 B

Y:

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT I, PAUL A. KUBICEK, AN ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, HAVE
SURVEYED, SUBDIVIDED AND PLATTED FOR THE OWNERS THEREOF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY:

LOTS 1 THOUGH 5 IN TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE EAST 1/2
OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL
MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE EAST CORNER OF SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 14 SECONDS
WEST, 707.96 FEET;  THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST, 102.98 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 24 SECONDS WEST, 66.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36
SE4CONDS WEST, 102.90 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 14 SECONDS WEST, 774.00 FEET;
THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 16 MINUTES 14 SECONDS EAST, 797.04 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID
DUNDEE ROAD - IL ROUTE 68; THENCE THE FOLLOWING COURSES ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF
DUNDEE ROAD;
NORTH 85 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 32 SECONDS EAST, 83.51 FEET TO THE POINT ON A CURVE;
EASTERLY 89.41 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WHOSE RADIUS IS 205,561.32 FEET AND
WHOSE CHORD BEARS NORTH 85 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 05 SECONDS EAST, 89.41 FEET;
NORTH 80 DEGREES 01 MINUTES 44 SECONDS EAST, 134.03 FEET;
NORTHEASTERLY 575.88 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, WHOSE RADIUS IS 4347.28 FEET
AND WHOSE CHORD BEARS NORTH 76 DEGREES 52 MINUTES 13 SECONDS EAST, 575.46 FEET;
NORTH 73 DEGREES 04 MINUTES 31 SECONDS EAST, 675.64 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID
NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST ALONG SAID
SECTION LINE, 1152.32 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINING 33.1268 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT IRON STAKES HAVE BEEN SET AT ALL LOT CORNERS, POINTS OF CURVATURE AND
TANGENCY, EXCEPT WHERE CONCRETE MONUMENTS ARE INDICATED, AND THAT THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN
CORRECTLY REPRESENTS SAID SURVEY AND SUBDIVISION. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE GIVEN IN U.S. FEET AND
DECIMAL PARTS THEREOF.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING PROPERTY FALLS WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE
VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, AND I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT NO PART OF SAID PROPERTY IS SITUATED WITHIN
A FLOOD HAZARD AREA, AS PER NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM, FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP,
COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER 17089CO157H, EFFECTIVE DATE AUGUST 3, 2009 AND 17089C0159H, EFFECTIVE
DATE AUGUST 3, 2009.

DATED AT EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS, THIS 06th DAY OF JANUARY, 2023 .

_______________________________________
PAUL A. KUBICEK, ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR 035-003296

      EXPIRES 11/30/2024
      PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC #184006289-0010
      EXPIRES 04/30/2025

K
G

D

DRAFT

PRELIMINARY
P.U.D. PLAN

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
LOCATION: IL ROUTE 68, EAST DUNDEE, IL

NOTES

1) The cell tower existing on Lot 4 may be relocated or removed
2) Setbacks for building and parking on any particular lot as shown on the PUD Plan are subject to modification by the Village 

Board at the request of such lot owner without the need for the consent of any other lot owner.
3) The proposed extension of Rock Road north of Penny Road and the connection thereof to Dundee Road (collectively, the

“Rock Road Extension to Dundee Road”), with the corresponding vacation of exiting Penny Road west of the proposed
Rock Road extension with the conveyance of that vacated right-of-way to the developer without charge (collectively, the
“Penny Road Vacation”) are subject to modification and / or approval as required by the Illinois Department of
Transportation (“IDOT Approval”), and until such IDOT Approval is received, there shall be no dedication of the Rock Road
Extension to Dundee Road, and no Penny Road Vacation unless otherwise agreed by the Village and the Developer.
Changes required by IDOT and approved by the Village Engineer may be incorporated in the Final PUD Plan without the
need for further public hearings.

4) No modification to this Final PUD Plan (and no public hearings) shall be required as to the development of any of Lots 2, 3,
4, or 5 so long as the proposed development complies with Village ordinance 2023-________ approving this PUD for Terra
Business Park Phase II.

VICINITY MAP
SCALE 1":400'

BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

TERRA BUSINESS PARK - PHASE II
PRELIMINARY P.U.D. PLAN

ZONING MAP
SCALE 1":600'

Minimum Lot size 18,000 SQ. FT. No departure

Maximum Lot Size None No departure
Minimum Lot Width 100 ft. No departure
Minimum Floor Area 5,000 sq.ft. No departure

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 1.5 No departure

Maximum Building Height 35 ft.+ the height of any
rooftop screening/parapet Departure from fixed 35 ft.

Front Yard Building Setback 40 ft. No departure

Side Yard 25 ft. in all cases

Departure from 25 ft. to 20 ft.
for interior side yards: side

yards along streets remain at
25 ft.

Rear Yard 20 ft. in all cases
Departure from 40 ft. except

along alley/railroad ROW

Parking Setback 10 ft. from all Lot lines

Required off-street parking As per Village Code No departure

Max. Lot Coverage
Limited by Floor Area Ratio,

setbacks, and parking
requirements

No departure

Gross floor area for all
non-residential buildings

Based on total lot are of
849,481, and a 1.5 max. floor

area ration, the max. gross
floor area will be 1,274,221.5

sq. ft

No departure

Non-Residential Intensity

It is anticipated that the PUD
will eventually be fully built out

with industrial and / or
commercial buildings with no

common area open space other
than the required yards on

each lot

No departure

Maximum Impervious Surface
Coverage

Per Stormwater Management
Report: 95%

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

























PROJECT NARRATIVE 
TERRA BUSINESS PARK PHASE II (33 ACRES) 

 
Pal Land, LLC, Pal Land II, LLC  

 
 
 By its PUD ordinance 07-51 and as subsequently amended (collectively, the “2007 PUD”), 
the Village established a planned industrial park known as the Terra Business Park for the 
Petitioner’s approximate 119 acres of land immediately north of Illinois Route 72 (the “First PUD 
Parcel”).  The Petitioners own approximately 33 acres of land surrounding the intersection of 
Penny Road and Illinois Route 68 and to the south thereof, as depicted on the attached PUD Plan 
(the “Additional Land”). The Petitioners seek to obtain substantially the same PUD approvals,  
including, without limitation, the departures / variances therein approved with respect to this 
Additional Land as the Village previously approved for the Terra Business Park in the 2007 PUD 
Ordinance. With such PUD approval in place for the Additional Land, the Petitioners will be able 
to move forward with the same type of efficient and high-quality development as has occurred as 
to the First PUD Parcel. 
 
 Included with this Development Application are, among other things, the Preliminary PUD 
Plan for Terra Business Park Phase II prepared by Pinnacle Engineering dated May 17, 2023 as its 
project number 1411.40 (the “Preliminary PUD Plan”), and  the Preliminary Plat of Subdivision 
for Terra Business Park Phase II prepared by Pinnacle Engineering dated January 6, 2023 with last 
revision date of May 19, 2023 and the associated Preliminary  Engineering Plans prepared by 
Pinnacle Engineering dated May 19, 2023 (collectively, the “Preliminary Plat and Preliminary 
Engineering”).  
 
 The entitlements herein requested include certain departures from the standard zoning district 
regulations (“Departures”) needed in order to develop the Additional Land in a more 
innovative and creative manner, as recognized by Code Section 157.240(A) and Section 
157.243B(2) than would be possible under the strict application of the standard district 
regulations.   
 
Use Departures: Departures to Section 157.065(A) to permit (1) any and all uses as authorized 
under the B2,  B3, and B4 zoning classifications as set forth in the Municipal Code of the Village 
of East Dundee, and (2) those M-1 permitted and conditional uses as set forth on Exhibit 1 
attached hereto, and (3) for the avoidance of doubt, the following additional permitted uses:. 
 
 

(a) Gas station and retail; 
 
(b) Retail and Office; 

 
(c) Automotive & Retail; 

 
(d) Retail & Warehouse; 

 
(e) Office;  

 



(f) Industrial & Manufacturing with on-site storage; 
 

(g) Motor Truck Terminal; 
 
 
Building setbacks: A Departure to Section 157.066(A)(6)  to change the yard requirements to permit a 
20-foot minimum setback on the interior sides and rears of all lots, and a 25-foot minimum 
setback along any rear yard or side yard abutting a public street. (For the avoidance of doubt, the 
front yard building setback shall remain and be a minimum 40 feet). 
 
Building height: A Departure to Section 157.066(A)(5)  to allow roof-top screening to exceed the 
maximum building height of 35 feet by the least amount reasonably determined by the Village 
Administrator or Building Inspector as needed to accomplish the screening of roof-top equipment . 

 
Parking setback: A Departure to Section 157.148 to permit parking in the required front, rear, and 
side yard setbacks, with a reduced parking lot setback of ten (10) feet. 
 
Required Off-Street Parking Stalls:  A Departure from 157.150 (V) as to the number of required 
off-street parking spaces so as to require one (1) automobile parking stall for each 250 square 
feet of office space (no Departure) and one (1) automobile parking stall for each 6,000 square 
feet of warehouse / shop space, but on the condition that if an occupant or occupants of a 
building have more than warehousing / shop space employees than presumed by this formula, 
and if the Village reasonably determines that there is an inadequate number automobile parking 
stalls for the warehouse / shop spaces employees, then the Village may require the owner to 
convert certain of the truck parking stalls to automobile parking stalls to create up to one (1) 
parking stall for each two (2) warehouse / shop space employees. 
 
Note: for the proposed 46,534 square foot building industrial building to be erected on Lot 1, 
this building will contain 5 suites, with 5 offices having an aggregate of 5,825 sq. feet, and with 
5 warehouse / shop spaces containing an aggregate of 40,709 square feet.  33 automobile 
parking stalls are proposed. 
 
Off-Street Loading Berths:  A Departure from Section 157.127 so as to permit the number of 
required loading berths to be fulfilled by loading docks attached to the building and / or by 
truck parking stalls designated for such purpose.  
 
Business district signage: A Departure to permit the signage standards applicable to business 
districts (as provided in Chapter 156 of the Village Code) apply to all lots within the subdivision 
regardless of use. 
 
Freestanding signage: A Departure (i) to have the standards for freestanding signs included in 
Village Ordinance 06-46 apply to all lots within the subdivision with the exception that 
electronic signs shall be prohibited except as permitted in said Ordinance, and (ii) from Section 
156.04(A)(3)(d) “Sign Minimum Setback” to allow signage to be placed up to the lot line of 
each lot instead of observing the typical 15 ft. setback..  
 
Utilities. A Departure from Section 157.096(A)(1)(j) to permit utility connections for electric, 
telephone, and cable to lots and buildings to be installed above-ground in lieu of the requirement 



to have these utilities located underground provided that all such overhead connections shall be 
made, whenever practicable, at the rear or side of the buildings. 

 
Landscaped Open Space. A Departure to Section 158.04 B  - Minimum landscaped open space 
area  to permit the minimum landscaped open space area for the Subject Property to be reduced 
to 5% in lieu of the 15% required by the captioned section. 

 
Parkway Landscaping.   Departures from  155.049, Section 158.04 (D)(2)(a)2 of the Landscape 
Chapter of the East Dundee Village Code requiring that interior parkway landscaping shall have 
3’ shrubs for 75% coverage along with parkways trees every 30’ are hereby granted so as to 
eliminate the requirement of shrubs and to require parkways trees not more than every 100 feet. 
 
Parkway Landscaping.   Departures from Section 155.049(C)-Landscaping for right-of-ways:  to 
allow (i) a tree every sixty  (60) feet as opposed to a more narrow spacing, (ii) the ability to place 
parkway trees within the required parking lot setback when necessary to avoid conflict with 
public utilities and as approved by the Village engineer, and (iii) the right to install the required 
landscaping adjacent to the street frontage of each lot when a building permit is issued with 
respect to that Lot. 
 
Perimeter Lands aping.  A Departure from Section 158.04(D)(2)(b)4b of the Landscape Chapter 
of the East Dundee Village Code requiring that Type 2 perimeter landscaped areas shall have 3’ 
shrubs for 50% coverage along with trees every 40’ is hereby so as to eliminate the requirement of 
shrubs and to require parkways trees not more than every 100 feet. 
 
Parking Lot Landscaping.  A Departure from Section 158.04(D)(2)(d)(2)(b), “Parking Lot 
Landscaping” requiring a maximum of ten (10) parking spaces between planted landscape 
islands is granted to will be permitted in any length of parking bay between planted islands are 
hereby granted so as to (i) increase the maximum number of automobile parking spaces at 
the rear and  interior sides of buildings between planted landscape islands to twenty-two (22) 
parking stalls, and (2) eliminate the requirement of parking islands in areas designated and / 
or  intended for truck and equipment parking, and (3) eliminate any curbed parking island 
that is immediately adjacent to and abutting truck parking stalls.  
 
Parking Lot Islands. A Departure from the Village parking lot island design requirement for 
an interior landscaped island to contain a minimum of four hundred (400) square feet so as to 
allow the area within the aisle end to count toward meeting this requirement. 
 
Building Landscaping.  A Departure from Section 158.04D(2)(c) Landscape requirements, 
of the Minimum Landscaping, Screening and Tree Preservation Standards Chapter of the 
East Dundee Village Code requiring a minimum five-foot wide landscape area adjacent to all 
building walls (exclusive of driveways, access walks, and service and delivery areas), calling 
for planting to be emphasize ground plane transitions and softening large expanses of 
building walls, when possible, accenting building entrances and architectural features, and 
screening mechanical equipment, and, where extended roofs or canopies are used to provide 
a covered walkway adjacent to a building foundation stating that such plantings are not 
required.  



 
Street Design.  A Departure from Section 155.045(D) to allow the public right of way 
referred to as the Rock Road extension, and all other subdivision streets, to be built with a 
66 ft. ROW instead of the required (80 ft.).  For the avoidance of doubt, the pavement width shall 
be a minimum of 37 feet back of curb to back of curb.  
 
Sidewalks. A Departure from Section 155.048 so as to eliminate the requirement of 
sidewalks. 
 
Trash Receptacle Screening.  A Departure with regard to Section 158.0E(1)(a) to allow 
trash receptacles and storage facilities to be screened with landscaping as opposed to 
masonry structures, including, without limitation, those visible from residential areas or 
public rights of way. 
 
Possible IDOT Roadway Changes.  The Preliminary PUD Plan, Preliminary Plat and Preliminary 
Engineering are hereby approved subject to final approval by IDOT as to the proposed geometry 
of the proposed Rock Road / Route 68 intersection shown thereon.  If IDOT requires changes to 
such  of the proposed geometry of the proposed Rock Road / Route 68 intersection, such changes 
may be incorporated into the Final PUD Plan and the Final Plat and Final Engineering to the 
extent acceptable to the Village engineer without the necessity of any further public hearings.  
 
Permit for Lot 1 prior to Final Plat. The development of proposed Lot 1 as shown on the 
Preliminary PUD Plan is approved (subject to the issuance of building permits) and may proceed 
following the adoption of this ordinance even if the Final PUD Plan and the Final Plat and Final 
Engineering have not yet been approved.  
 
Other Apparent Departures.  Any Departures that are discernable from the Preliminary PUD 
Plan but not otherwise expressly called out and requested herein are nevertheless approved for all 
Lots 
 
Building Permits for Other Lots.  The other lots within the ultimately approved Final Plat of 
Subdivision for Terra Business Park Phase II may be developed and improved without further 
public hearings or action by the corporate authorities so long as the Village staff and Village 
engineer determine that the proposed development contained within the building permit 
application substantially conforms to the design requirements contained in this ordinance.  
 
Pre-Development Parking Lot Waivers. As to any lots not yet improved with any building, such 
lots / areas may be used for outside, unscreened truck / vehicle parking similar to what has been 
previously approved by the Village in the southerly portion of the Terra Business Park, and in 
connection therewith the following waivers are hereby approved: 
 

A. Pursuant to Section 157.193(A)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance, t
he requirement for paving of permanent roadways and parking lots in 
Section 157.147 of the Zoning Ordinance is waived, provided that all 
required off- street parking is provided at the Property and that driveway 
access to the Property shall have asphalt shavings or a crushed stone base 



and provided that the Developer shall take steps to control dust and other 
particles; and 

 
B. Pursuant to Section 157.193(A)(2) of the Zoning Ordinance, the requirement 

for installation of curbs and gutters in 57.101 of the Village of East Dundee 
Village Code (“Village Code”) is waived, provided that the Developer shall 
comply with all applicable storm water drainage requirements; and 

 
C. Pursuant to Section 157.193(A)(3) of the Zoning Ordinance, the requirement 

for parking lot lighting installation and use in Section 157.149 of the Zoning 
Ordinance is waived, provided that no activity on the Property shall be 
scheduled or occur after dusk; and 

 
D. Pursuant to Section 157.193(A)(4) of the Zoning Ordinance, the requirement 

of parking lot landscaping in Section 157.149 of the Zoning Ordinance is 
waived, including placement of trees and shrubbery. 

 
The waivers approved in subparagraphs A - D immediately above shall be in effect 

as to lots or unsubdivided areas not yet improvement with any building so long as: 
 

I. The Developer is in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, 
regulations and legal requirements; (ii) not in breach of any agreement(s) 
with the Village; and (iii) not in arrears on any amount due and owing the 
Village. 

 
II. The Developer is not in breach of any agreement(s) with the Village. 

 
III. The Developer is not in arrears on any amount due and owing the Village. 

 
IV. The Developer tests the soil on the Property for environmental 

contaminants no less than once per twelve (12) month period the waivers 
are in effect, in the manner directed by the Village, and provides the 
Village with a written report from the company conducting the testing with 
the results thereof. 

 
V. The Developer ensures that no hazardous materials are placed on the 

Property. 
 
As to the requested map amendment of the westerly portion of the land from R-1 to M-1 PUD, the 
Petitioner states that the proposed map amendment meets the standards for same as set forth in 
Section 157.223 of the Village Code.,  Specifically, the proposed map amendment: 
 

1. Is compatible with the uses of property within the general area of the property in 
question; 
 

2. Is compatible with the zoning of nearby property. 



 
3. The current residential zoning classification Is not suitable given other nearby 

land uses. 
 

4. The trend of development is inconsistent with residential zoning, but instead is 
consistent with the requested M-1 PUD zoning. 
 
5. The highest and best use of the property is for industrial / commercial development. 
As to the requested Planned Unit Development, the Petitioner states that the proposed PUD meets 
the conditions for approval as set forth in Village Code Section 157.249.  Specifically 
 
   (A)   The proposed PUD meets the requirements and design standards for PUDs as set forth in 
Village code Section 157.250; 
 
   (B)   The requested Departures are consistent with those approved for the original portion of 
Terra Business Park. 
 
   (C)   There will be significant public benefit produced by the Planned Unit Development, such 
as increased economic development, increased jobs, an improved roadway system.    
 
(D)   The requested  Planned Unit Development is entirely compatible to the development of the 
land to the south and north.  The land to the east is a Commonwealth Edison right of way.  The 
land to the west is owned by the Petitioner and in no intended for development. 
 
   (E)   The proposed Planned Unit Development fulfills the objectives of the future planning 
objectives or other planning policies of the village. 
  



EXHIBIT 1 
M-1 MODIFIED PERMITTED AND SPECIAL USES 

 
 
 
Allowable uses of land and buildings: 
P: Permitted by-right 
S: Permitted by special use permit 

Limited Manufacturing District (M-1) PUD 
 

Allowable uses of land and buildings: 
P: Permitted by-right 
S: Permitted by special use permit 

Limited 
Manufacturing 
District (M-1) 
PUD 

 

(a) Agriculture and natural resource uses. 
1. Resource conservation.     
2. Cultivation.     
3. Livestock.     
4. Agricultural support.    
   Farm and garden supply store P  
   Feed store P  
5. Mineral extraction and batch operations.    
   Batch asphaltic concrete, cement concrete or mortar mixing 
plant 

S  

   Stone or gravel quarry; crushing, grading, washing and 
loading operations shall, at a minimum, conform with the 
applicable regulations set forth in § 157.065 

S  

(b) Residential uses. 
1. Single-family and two-unit dwellings.     
2. Multiple-family dwellings.     
3. Group living facilities.     
(c) Retail uses. 
1. General merchandise.     
   Building material sales P  
   Direct selling establishment where products are stored P  
   Gun shop S  
   Tombstone and monument sales P  
2. Food and beverage.  P added 
3. Greenhouses and nurseries.    
   Greenhouse and nursery; retail P  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065


   Greenhouse and nursery; wholesale P  
(d) Clubs, restaurants, taverns and lodging uses. 
1. Clubs, lodges and meeting halls.     
2. Restaurants, specialty foods and taverns.  P  added 
   Restaurant; no live entertainment or dancing P added 
   Restaurant; with live entertainment or dancing P added 
   Restaurant; drive-in or drive-through facilities P  
   Taverns P  
3. Lodging.    
   Hotel, including apartment hotel, dining room and meeting 
rooms 

P  

   Motel P  
(e) Recreation and entertainment establishments; public and private. 
1. Indoor recreation and entertainment.     
   Adult uses    
   Commercial sports and entertainment establishment; subject 
to the licensure requirements of Chapter 118 of the East 
Dundee Code of Ordinances 

S  

   Community center buildings, public or non-profit; includes 
clubhouses, recreation buildings, gymnasiums, swim clubs, 
swimming pools, tennis clubs, tennis courts, roller skating and 
ice skating rinks 

P  

   Museum P  
   Shooting range S  
2. Outdoor recreation and entertainment.    
   Drive-in theater P  
   Parks and playgrounds; privately-owned, not-for-profit S  
   Parks and playgrounds, publicly owned P  
   Shooting range S  
(f) Service, contracting, storage and broadcasting uses. 
1. Personal services.     
   Massage establishment and massage services; subject to the 
licensure requirements of Chapter 111 of the East Dundee 
Code of Ordinances 

S  

2. Dry cleaning and laundry services.    
   Dry cleaning, laundry, dyeing and rug-cleaning 
establishment; with or without drive through and no limitation 
on the number of employees 

P  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-32948#JD_Chapter118
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-38341#JD_Chapter111


3. Finance, insurance and real estate services.    
   Automatic teller machine as stand-alone structure P  
4. General services.    
   Auction room P  
   Catering establishment P  
   Printing shop; no press size limitations P  
   Secretarial service    
   Scientific research agency P  
   Taxidermist P  
   Testing laboratory P  
   Travel bureau and transportation ticket office P  
   Undertaking establishment and funeral parlor P  
5. Contractor and repair shops and showrooms.    
   Artists and industrial design studio P  
   Furniture repair and upholstery P  
   General minor repair or fix it shop P  
   Interior decorating studio; includes upholstery and making 
draperies, slip covers and other similar articles when 
conducted as a secondary activity to the principal use 

P  

   Lawn mower repair shop P  
   Locksmith P  
   Board showroom P  
   Building services and supplies; no outside storage P  
   Contractor shop; no outdoor storage P  
   Contractor shop; with outdoor storage P  
   Electrical shop and supply shop P  
   Exterminating service P  
   Heating and air conditioning retail sales and service P  
   Plumbing and heating showroom and shop P  
   Refrigeration shop, service and repair P  
   Swimming pool sales and service P  
   Sewer cleaning and rodding shop P  
   Sign contractor; no outside storage P  
   Window cleaning firm P  
6. Equipment and supplies.    
   Bottled gas dealer P  



   Business machines store P  
   Equipment and appliance repair shop P  
   Equipment rental and leasing service P  
   Machinery sales establishment P  
   Milk machine sales P  
   Water softener service P  
   Water sales and bottling P  
7. Storage, transport and mail order sales.    
   Ambulance service P  
   Frozen food locker P  
   Limousine service P  
   Mail order sales and warehousing P  
   Storage, warehousing and wholesale establishments; does 
not include fuel oil, gasoline and other flammable material 

P  

8. Broadcasting facilities and recording studios.    
   Radio and television broadcasting studio P  
   Radio and television transmission or receiving tower P  
   Recording studio P  
9. Tattooing. S  
(g) Automotive and related uses. 
1. Accessory sales.     
   Automobile accessory, tire and battery stores P  
2. Fuels sales, service and repair.    
   Automobile and truck fuel sales; with or without service P  
   Automobile and truck service without fuel sales; includes 
car washes, oil change service, repair facilities, and related 
uses not otherwise listed 

P  

   Body and fender shop P  
   Motor vehicle impoundment yard; subject to the provisions 
of § 157.065(A)(2)(a) 

   

   Paint shop P  
   Vehicle towing establishment; subject to the provisions of 
§ 157.065(A)(2)(b) 

S  

3. Parking.    
   Parking lot; commercial P  
4. Vehicle sales and rental.    
   Boat dealer P  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065


   Camper dealer (sales) P  
   Mobile home dealer P  
   Motor vehicle dealer, new or used P  
   Motorcycle sales P  
   Recreation vehicle sales or rental P  
   Snowmobile, sales and service P  
   Trailer sale or rental P  
(h) Office uses. 
1. Professional offices.     
   Accounting, auditing and bookkeeping P   
   Attorney and law office P   
   Business and professional office P   
   Business office; goods, wares or merchandise are displayed 
or sold on the premise 

P   

   Engineering and architectural service P   
   Land surveyor P   
   Landscape architect P   
   Newspaper office; does not include printing P   
   Professional Consultant P   
2. Organizations.     
   Better Business Bureau P   
   Chamber of Commerce P   
   Charitable organization P   
   Civic association P   
   Labor union and organization P   
   Merchants association P   
   News syndicate P   
   Political organization P   
   Professional membership association P   
   Real estate board P   
   Social service and fraternal association P   
   Trade association P   
(i) Healthcare and veterinary uses. 
1. Medical and dental offices, clinics and labs.     
   Laboratory, medical and dental P  
2. Hospitals and care homes.    



   Hospitals or sanitariums P  
3. Veterinarian offices, hospitals and kennels.    
   Veterinary clinic and animal hospital; without outdoor 
kennels 

P  

   Veterinary clinic and animal hospital; with outdoor kennels P  
(j) Manufacturing uses. 
1. Manufacturing.     
   Manufacturing, assembly, disassembly, fabricating, 
repairing, storing, cleaning, servicing or testing establishment; 
operation shall conform with the applicable performance 
standards in § 157.065 and shall not be specifically prohibited 
by this chapter 

P 
 

(k) Public, educational and institutional uses. 
1. General public.     
   Cemetery, public or private; includes crematories and 
mausoleums provided that no building shall be located less 
than 100 feet from side and rear property lines 

S  

   Library and branch library P  
   Police or fire station P  
   Post office and post office sub-station P  
   Public service or municipal garage P  
2. Educational.    
   Schools, business, trade or vocational; non-boarding public 
or private 

P  

3. Childcare.    
4. Institutional and assembly.    
   Convention hall and center S  
(l) Transportation, utility and solid waste uses. 
1. Transportation.     
   Airports S  
   Cartage and express establishments; including motor freight 
terminals 

P added 

   Public transportation facilities; includes shelters, terminals, 
parking areas and service buildings 

P  

   Transit and transportation passenger shelter P  
2. Utility.    
   Public utility and public service use; subject to the 
provisions of § 157.065(A)(2)(c) 

P  

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065


   Sewage treatment plant P  
   Telephone booth P  
3. Solid waste.     
   Waste transfer, storage and treatment facilities; as defined in 
the Illinois Environmental Protection Act in ILCS Chapter 
415, Act 5 that are not otherwise defined in such Act as 
Pollution Control Facilities and subject to the provisions of 
§ 157.065(A)(2)(d) 

S 
 

(m) Accessory uses. 
1. Accessory to agricultural uses.     
2. Accessory to residential uses.     
3. Accessory to commercial uses.     
   Accessory commercial operations yard; subject to the 
provisions of § 157.065(A)(2)(e) 

S  

   Accessory uses provided in accordance with the provisions 
of § 157.085 

P  

   Offices ancillary to any permitted or special use P  
   Open sales lot S  
   Storage yard; materials or equipment for on-site sales only P  
4. Accessory to manufacturing uses.    
   Accessory commercial operations yard subject to the 
provisions of § 157.065(A)(2)(e) 

S  

   Accessory uses provided in accordance with the provisions 
of § 157.085 

P  

   Offices ancillary to any permitted or special use P  
   Storage yard for material or equipment sales P  
5. Other accessory uses.     
(n) Temporary uses. 
1. Temporary uses.     
   Temporary building for construction purposes; not to exceed 
the duration of the construction 

P 
 

(o)  Other Permitted Uses   
1.  Other Permitted Uses   
Those permitted uses enumerated in the Village’s B-3 and B-4 
Business Districts as set forth in Sections 157.053 B-3 And 
157.054 B-4, respectively, including, without limitation,  

P added 

(p) Other special uses. 
1. Other special uses.     

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9353#JD_157.085
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9251#JD_157.065
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/eastdundee/latest/eastdundee_il/0-0-0-9353#JD_157.085


   Planned unit development S  
   Similar and compatible uses to those listed as special uses S  
   Twenty-four hour per day operation of any permitted or 
special use 

S  

Those special uses enumerated in the Village’s B-3 and B-4 
Business Districts as set forth in Sections 157.053 B-3 And 
157.054 B-4, respectively 

S added 

 
 







 
 

 

 

 

 

 

               CERTIFICATE OF PUBLICATION 
                                                                                                                        Paddock Publications, Inc. 

 

        Fox Valley   

                                                            Daily Herald 
 

 

       Corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of 

       the State of Illinois, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY that it is the publisher 

       of the Fox Valley DAILY HERALD. That said Fox Valley 

DAILY HERALD is a secular newspaper, published in Elgin, Kane County, 

State of Illinois, and has been in general circulation daily 

throughout Kane County, continuously for more than 50 weeks prior to the first 

Publication of the attached notice, and a newspaper as defined by 715 ILCS 5/5.  

 

I further certify that the Fox Valley DAILY HERALD is a newspaper 

as defined in "an Act to revise the law in relation to notices" as amended  

in 1992 Illinois Compiled Statutes, Chapter 715, Act 5, Section 1 and 5. That a 

notice of which the annexed printed slip is a true copy,  

was published 06/21/2023 

in said Fox Valley DAILY HERALD. This notice was also placed on a 

statewide public notice website as required by 5 ILCS 5/2.1. 

 

 

 

       BY ______________________________________________ 

      Designee of the Publisher of the Daily Herald 

 

 

       Control # 4601676 



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:  Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
   
Subject: Termination of License Agreement for Use of 611 Main St.  
 
Date:   October 16, 2023 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff recommends Village Board approval of a resolution authorizing the termination of a 
license agreement with the Dundee Township Foundation for the free usage of Village owned 
real property located at Summit Square (611 Main St, East Dundee IL). 
 
Summary: 
The Village has had an agreement with the Dundee Township Foundation (“Foundation”) 
allowing the Foundation to use Village owned space at Summit Square for free since 2018.  The 
agreement with the Foundation was amended in 2021 and is attached to this memo. 
 
The agreement requires that the Foundation ensure that the spaces they occupy are in 
compliance with all applicable Village building, fire and life safety codes, and that the premises 
remains in compliance with the Village Code, the Village Zoning Ordinance, the Village Building 
Code, Kane County Health Department regulations and all federal, State of Illinois and other 
local laws, ordinances, regulations, rules, policies and directives.  The East Dundee Fire 
Protection District recently inspected the premises and determined that the spaces occupied by 
the Foundation are not in compliance with Fire and Life Safety codes and ordered that a 
majority of those spaces be closed to the public in the interest of public safety. 
 
Due to the substantial and egregious nature of the non-compliance with applicable life-safety 
building codes, the license agreement is recommended to be terminated.  The agreement 
requires the Village to provide a 30 day notice of termination and thus upon approval of this 
resolution, the Village Attorney will send a termination notice to the Foundation and the 
Foundation will be required to vacate the premises by November 20, 2023. 
 
Attachments: 
Resolution 
License Agreement 



{00133395.1}  

RESOLUTION NUMBER __-23 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING TERMINATION OF LICENSE AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
DUNDEE TOWNSHIP FOUNDATION, INC. AND THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE IN 

REGARD TO THE USE AND OCCUPANCY OF A PORTION OF THE SUMMIT SQUARE, 611 
EAST MAIN STREET, EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee (“Village”) is a home rule unit of local government 

pursuant to Section 6 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, and has the authority 
to exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs; and 
 

WHEREAS, on September 20, 2021, the Village Board passed Resolution Number 12-21 
authorizing the Village to enter into a license agreement (“License Agreement”) with Dundee 
Township Foundation, Inc. (“Foundation”) to use certain Village-owned units at the Summit 
Square Building, located at 611 East Main Street, East Dundee, Illinois (the “Premises”); and  
 

WHEREAS, Section 3.1 of the License Agreement provides in pertinent part that either 
Party may terminate the License Agreement by providing thirty (30) days written notice to the 
other Party; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 3.2 of the License Agreement provides in pertinent part that the 
Village is alleviated of any financial obligation to the Foundation for termination of the License 
Agreement if the Foundation is not in compliance with the License Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 2.2.A of the License Agreement provides in pertinent part that the 
Foundation is responsible for ensuring compliance with all applicable Village building, fire and life 
safety codes, and that the Premises remains in compliance with the Village Code, the Village 
Zoning Ordinance, the Village Building Code, Kane County Health Department regulations  and 
all federal, State of Illinois and other local laws, ordinances, regulations, rules, policies and 
directives; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees finds that the Foundation is not 
in compliance with all Village Codes, including, but not limited to, applicable fire and life safety 
codes; and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3.1 of the License Agreement, the Village President and 
Board of Trustees desires to terminate the License Agreement; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the Village finds that terminating the License  Agreement is in the best interest 
of the Village in order to protect the public health, safety and welfare of the Village residents; and  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Village President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of East Dundee, Cook and Kane Counties, Illinois, as follows: 
 
 Section One. Recitals.  The foregoing recitals are hereby incorporated into, and made a 
part of, this Resolution as the findings of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 
East Dundee. 
 

Section Two.  Termination of the License Agreement.  The Village Board of Trustees 
hereby approves the termination of the License Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A, and 
authorizes the Village Administrator and the Village Attorney to send notice to the Foundation of 



{00133395.1}  

the Termination as provided for in Section 3.1 and Section 4.1 of the License Agreement, and to 
take any such action as may be required to effectuate termination of the License Agreement.  
 

Section Three. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 
after its passage by a vote the Village Board of Trustees and approval in the manner required by 
law. 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
PASSED this _______day of ______________2023 pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:  
 
AYES:________________________________________________________________  
 
NAYES:_______________________________________________________________  
 
ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 
 
  
   

APPROVED by me this ________of _________________ 2023. 
 
 

 
     ________________________________________  
     Jeffrey Lynam, Village President  
 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
___________________________  
Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  
 
 
 
 





































Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 

From:  Phil Cotter, Director of Public Works 
     

Subject: Discussion of Downtown Truck Traffic Evaluation Report 
 

Date:   October 16, 2023 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff requests Village Board discussion of the Downtown Truck Traffic Evaluation Report which 
was prepared by the transportation and parking planning consulting firm of Kenig, Lindgren, 
O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA).   
 
Summary: 
In recent years, staff have received numerous concerns about truck traffic in the downtown 
area, truck traffic and excessive speeds along Water Street, and truck/vehicle traffic on Bonnie 
Dundee Road. In response to these concerns, the Village retained the services of KLOA, Inc. to 
evaluate truck traffic in and through downtown East Dundee and to also evaluate the need to 
reduce the speed limits on Water Street and Bonnie Dundee Road. The vehicle/truck volumes 
and speed survey data included in this report were collected in February of 2023. KLOA’s report 
provides the following conclusions:    
 

• Truck Traffic/Routes 
o Barrington Avenue, between Water Street and IL 68, should be designated as a 

truck route. 
o Water Street (north of Barrington Avenue) - southbound truck traffic on this 

street should be required to turn left on to Barrington Avenue to continue up to 
RT 68, prohibiting trucks from continuing south on Water St. to RT 72.   

o Water Street (south of Barrington Avenue) – recommended to be restricted to 
local deliveries only, prohibiting trucks from entering Water St from RT 72.        

• Water Street - the speed limit of 30 miles per hour (mph) is adequate between North 
Street and Barrington Avenue and between Hill Street and Jackson Street.      

o There has been some discussion associated with the Riverfront Master Plan 
about expanding/connecting William Bartels Park to the riverfront and/or 
creating an on-street bike lane on Water Street. The 30 mph speed limit along 
Water Street may need to be re-evaluated if these scenarios are implemented.       



   
 

• Bonnie Dundee Road – the speed limit of 25 mph is adequate and the roadway is not (or 
minimally) being utilized as a cut-through between IL 25 and Wilmette Ave.   

 
Should the Village Board form a consensus to develop a designated truck route, per the 
recommendation of KLOA, staff will present an ordinance for consideration at an upcoming 
Village Board meeting. A representative from KLOA will attend Monday’s Village Board meeting 
to answer any questions regarding this study.             
 
Attachment: 
KLOA Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

KLOA, Inc. Transportation and Parking Planning Consultants 

9575 West Higgins Road, Suite 400 | Rosemont, Illinois 60018 
              p: 847-518-9990 | f: 847-518-9987 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
             
MEMORANDUM TO:           Philip Cotter 
     Village of East Dundee 
 
FROM:    Brendan S. May, PE, PTOE  

Senior Consultant 
 

Luay R. Aboona, PE, PTOE  
Principal 

 
DATE:    September 1, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:    Downtown Truck Traffic Evaluation 
     East Dundee, Illinois 
 

This memorandum summarizes a traffic evaluation prepared by Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, 
Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) at the request of the Village of East Dundee regarding the truck traffic 
routing in and through downtown East Dundee. Additionally, this study evaluated the need to 
reduce the speed limit on Water Street and Bonnie Dundee Road. The purpose of this study was 
to examine existing traffic conditions to quantify the amount of truck traffic cutting through the 
downtown area, to determine if the amount of truck traffic meets the criteria for roadways’ 
functions or if any of the routes warrant the need for restrictions, and to evaluate the prevailing 
speed on Water Street and Bonnie Dundee Road to determine the need to reduce the speed limit.  
 
Existing Roadway Characteristics 
 
The functional classification of the study area roadways and major traffic control for the study area 
intersections characteristics of the existing streets near the development are described below and 
illustrated in Figure 1. All figures are included in the Appendix.  
 
Water Street is generally a north-south roadway that is designated as a major collector by the 
Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT). Water Street extends from Main Street north into 
the Village of Carpentersville and provides a single travel lane in each direction. Water Street is 
under stop-sign control at its intersections with Main Street and Barrington Avenue. Water Street 
is under the jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee, carries an annual average daily traffic 
(AADT) volume of 2,600 vehicles (IDOT 2018), and has a posted speed limit of 30 miles per hour.  
 
Van Buren Street is a north-south roadway that is designated as a major collector by IDOT. Van 
Buren Street extends from Williams Place north into the Village of Carpentersville and provides a 
single travel lane in each direction. Van Buren Street has a signalized intersection with Main Street 
and is under stop-sign control at its intersection with Barrington Avenue. It should be noted that 
Van Buren Street between Barrington Avenue and Summit Avenue/Edwards Avenue is signed for 
a weight limit of 7 tons. Van Buren Street is under the jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee, 
carries an AADT volume of 2,600 vehicles (IDOT 2018), and has a posted speed limit of 25 miles 
per hour.  



2 
 

Barrington Avenue is an east-west roadway that extends from Water Street east to IL 68. The 
roadway provides one travel lane in each direction and is designated as a minor collector by IDOT. 
Barrington Avenue is under stop sign control at its intersections with Water Street, 2nd Street, 3rd, 
Street, and Van Buren Street. At the intersection of Barrington Avenue with Van Buren Street, the 
Barrington Avenue eastbound approach provides a shared left-turn/through lane and an exclusive 
right-run lane. Barrington Avenue is under the jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee, carries 
an AADT volume of 2,100 vehicles (IDOT 2018), and has a posted speed limit of 25 miles per 
hour.   
 
River Street is a north-south roadway that extends from Williams Place north to Barrington Avenue 
and provides a single travel lane in each direction. River Street has a signalized intersection with 
Main Street and is under stop-sign control at its intersection with Barington Avenue. It should be 
noted that River Street is one-way southbound, south of Main Street. River Street is under the 
jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee and has a posted speed limit of 25 miles per hour.  
 
North Street is an east-west local roadway that extends from Water Street to 3rd Street and provides 
a single travel lane in each direction. It should be noted that North Street at Barrington Avenue is 
signed for “No Thru Trucks Over 10,000 Lbs Local Delivery Only”. North Street is under the 
jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee and has a posted speed limit of 25 miles per hour. 
 
Jackson Street is an east-west local roadway that extends from Water Street to 350 feet east of Van 
Buren Street and provides a single travel lane in each direction. Jackson Street is under the 
jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee and has a posted speed limit of 25 miles per hour. 
 
East 3rd Street is a north-south roadway that extends from Hill Street north into the Village of 
Carpentersville and provides a single travel lane in each direction. 3rd Street is under the 
jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee and has a posted speed limit of 25 miles per hour. 
 
Bonnie Dundee Road is an east west roadway that extends from Wilmette Avenue east to IL 25 
and provides a single travel lane in each direction. Bonnie Dundee Road is under stop-sing control 
at its intersections with Wilmette Avenue and IL 25 and is under stop-sign control in the westbound 
direction only at its intersection with Ravine Road. Parking is not permitted on either side of the 
roadway. It should be noted that Bonnie Dundee Road is signed for no trucks. Bonnie Dundee 
Road is under the jurisdiction of the Village of East Dundee between Wilmette Avenue and 
Council Hill Road and has a posted speed limit of 25 miles per hour.  
 
Area Truck Routes 
 
Based on information provided by IDOT via the Getting Around Illinois website, IL 25 to the east, 
IL 72 east of IL 25 to the east and IL 31 to the west are all IDOT designated Class II truck routes. 
The IDOT Class II truck routes include major arterials that are not built to interstate standards but 
have 11-foot-wide lanes that can accommodate trucks with widths of less than eight and a half 
feet.    
 
 
 



3 
 

While the Village does not have any designated truck routes, based on discussions with Village 
staff, it is our understanding that all trucks are directed around the downtown area. However, given 
that Lionize Delivery Solutions, Inc. is located just north of the downtown area with access only 
provided via 3rd Street. The trucks generated by Lionize Delivery Solutions, Inc. are directed south 
to Barrington Avenue and then east all the way to IL 68.  
 
Existing Traffic Volumes 
 
In order to determine current traffic conditions within the study area, KLOA, Inc. conducted 72-
hour weekday classification counts in February 2023 at the following locations:  
 
• 3rd Street between North Street and Barrington Avenue 
• Barrington Avenue between 2nd Street and 3rd Street 
• Barrington Avenue between 3rd Street and River Street 
• Barrington Avenue east of Van Buren Street 
• Water Street between Barrington Avenue and North Street 
• Water Street between Jackson Street and Hill Street 
• River Street between Barrington Avenue and Railroad Street 
• Van Buren Street between Barrington Avenue and Railroad Street 
 
The classification counts were broken down into three classes, light vehicles (passenger vehicles, 
motorcycles, etc.), single unit trucks (fixed body trucks with three axles), and multi-unit trucks 
(trucks pulling a trailer, most commonly semi-trailer trucks). Additionally, speed surveys were 
conducted along Water Street between Barrington Avenue and North Street, Water Street between 
Jackson Street and Hill Street, and along Bonnie Dundee Road between IL 25 and Wilmette 
Avenue. The results of the vehicle classification counts and speed surveys are illustrated on the 
following figures:  
 
• Figure 2 illustrates the two-way average daily traffic (ADT) volume for all vehicles 
• Figure 3 illustrates the directional average daily traffic (ADT) volume for all vehicles 
• Figure 4 illustrates the two-way average daily traffic (ADT) volume for trucks 
• Figure 5 illustrates the directional average daily traffic (ADT) volume for trucks 
• Figure 6 illustrates the two-way average daily traffic (ADT) volume for single-unit trucks 
• Figure 7 illustrates the two-way average daily traffic (ADT) volume for multi-unit trucks 
• Figure 8 illustrates the results of the speed surveys for Water Street and Bonnie Dundee 

Road.  
 
The following summarizes the findings of the vehicle classification counts:  
 
• Water Street, Van Buren Street, and Barrington Avenue, which are classified as collector 

roadways, carry the highest two-way daily traffic volumes for the downtown area.  
 

• The highest total two-way truck traffic volumes observed was along Water Street, north of 
North Street and on Barrington Avenue east of Van Buren Street with a total of 135 and 68 
total truck (single and multi-unit), respectively.  



4 
 

• The highest total two-way multi-unit truck volumes were observed to be on Water Street 
south of Hill Street, Van Buren Street south of Barrington Avenue, and Barrington Avenue 
east of Van Buren Street.  
 
o Of the two-way total multi-unit trucks on Barrington Avenue and Van Buren Street, 

it is estimated that approximately nine of the trucks arrive to/depart from Lionize 
Delivery Solutions, Inc. 

 
o Of the two-way total multi-unit trucks on Barrington Avenue east of Van Buren 

Street, approximately 50 percent are eastbound trucks and 50 percent are 
westbound trucks. 

 
o Of the two-way total multi-unit trucks on Van Buren Street south of Barrington 

Avenue, approximately 50 percent are southbound trucks and 50 percent are 
northbound trucks. 

 
o Of the two-way total multi-unit trucks on Water Street south of Hill Street, 

approximately 65 percent are southbound trucks and 35 percent are northbound 
trucks.  

 
o Of the two-way total multi-unit trucks on Barrington Avenue between 3rd Street 

and River Street approximately 75 percent of trucks are eastbound trucks and 25 
percent are westbound trucks.  

 
o On the remaining segments, the two-way total multi-unit trucks traffic are generally 

evenly distributed in both directions.  
 
Tables summarizing the hourly average daily traffic volumes by direction and vehicle 
classification, and the results of the speed surveys are included in the Appendix.  
 
Evaluation of Vehicle Classification Traffic Count Data 
 
Based on Residential Streets, Third Edition1, collector roadways typically have a daily volume 
over 1,500 vehicles. Therefore, the traffic volumes along Water Street, Barrington Avenue and 
Van Buren Street currently carry traffic volumes that are consistent with their functional 
classification. The collector road system is designed to support the arterial road network. Collector 
roads consist of medium-capacity, medium volume roads that have limited continuity and serve to 
distribute traffic between the higher-level arterials and the lower-level local roads.  
 
Similarly, based on Residential Streets, local roads typically have a daily volume between 400 and 
1,500 vehicles. As such, the traffic volumes along 3rd Street and River Street are consistent with 
their functional classification. Local roads provide direct access to private property and connect 
with the arterial and collector roads. Trip lengths on local roads are typically short and volumes 
and speeds are typically low.  

 
1 Residential Streets, Third Edition was developed by the National Association of Home Builders (NAHB), the 
American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE), the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), and the Urban Land 
Institute (ULI).  



5 
 

It should be noted that the daily traffic volumes are generally similar in both directions along Water 
Street, 3rd Street, River Street, Barrington Avenue east of Van Buren Street, and Bonnie Dundee 
Road which indicates that if cut-through traffic is occurring on these roadways, it is likely limited.  
 
However, the daily traffic volumes along Barrington Avenue between Water Street and Van Buren 
Street and along Van Buren Street show a higher volume of eastbound and southbound traffic 
volumes. This is likely due to southbound vehicles on Water Street that traverse through the 
downtown area to turn left onto Main Street from either the signalized intersections of River Street 
or Van Buren Street with Main Street. Given that Van Buren Street is better designed and 
designated for the circulation of vehicles, it can be seen that most vehicles utilize Van Buren Street 
in lieu of River Street to turn onto Main Street.  
 
Trucks travelling on Barrington Avenue between Water Street and Van Buren Street must traverse 
the downtown area which has increased pedestrian and vehicle traffic, particularly as vehicles are 
looking for parking. Furthermore, the Fox River Trail has crossings with Barrington Avenue, 
Railroad Street, Hill Street and Jackson Street within the vicinity of River Street. As such, any 
trucks traveling between Water Street and Van Buren Street must cross the trail crossings.  
 
Overall, over 90 percent of the area truck traffic were travelling on collector roadways which per 
their functional classification, are designed to carry traffic between local roads and arterial 
roadways such as Main Street (IL 72) or Penny Avenue (IL 68). Looking specifically at multi-unit 
truck traffic, over 85 percent were travelling on collector roadways. On the local roadways, 
approximately five to ten multi-unit trucks per day were observed, however, these were trucks 
generated by Lionize Delivery Solutions, Inc. or trucks for local deliveries.  
  
Based on the findings of the vehicle classification counts, and to minimize the volume of traffic 
traversing the other roadways within the downtown area, it is recommended that Barrington 
Avenue between Water Street and IL 68 be the designated truck routes for the area. This is 
inclusive of vehicles performing local deliveries or vehicles generated by Lionize Delivery 
Solutions, Inc. Furthermore, all existing trucks on Water Street should be restricted to Water Street, 
to then turn right onto Main Street. Should it be desired, the Water Street truck route south of 
Barrington Avenue can be restricted to local deliveries only. Figure 9 illustrates the recommended 
truck routes for the area.  
 
Evaluation of Speed Data 
 
The main factors affecting travel speeds are the roadway’s physical and operating characteristics 
including width of road, number of travel lanes, hills, curves, roadway surface, and length of free-
flow conditions. Many of these attributes are fixed along a roadway’s infrastructure and are 
generally difficult and/or costly to change. Courts typically only uphold tickets when they are 8 to 
10 mph over the speed limit and as such, 85th percentile speed within five miles per hour are 
typically considered accepted or reasonable. As can be seen from the results of the speed surveys 
on Water Street, the average and 85th percentile speeds were below the posted speed limit of 30 
miles per hour.  
 



6 
 

Additionally, as can be seen from the results of the speed surveys on Bonnie Dundee Road, the 
average speed limit is consistent with the posted speed limit of 25 miles per hour, and the 85th 
percentile speed is within five miles per hour of the posted speed limit. As such, the posted speed 
limits along both roadways are acceptable and no modifications to the speed limit or traffic calming 
measures will be necessary.  
 
Conclusion 
 
Based on the preceding traffic evaluation and review of the existing traffic volumes, speed surveys 
as well as the roadway’s physical and operating characteristics, the following was determined:  

 
• Water Street, Barrington Avenue, Van Buren Street, River Street and 3rd Street currently 

operate within their existing roadway functional classification. 
 

• Over 90 percent of the area truck traffic is located along collector roadways, the remaining 
10 percent of trucks located on roadways designated as local roadways are likely either 
local deliveries or trucks generated by Lionize Delivery Solutions, Inc.  
 

• Barrington Avenue between Water Street and IL 68 should be the designated truck routes 
for the area. This is inclusive of vehicles performing local deliveries or vehicles generated 
by Lionize Delivery Solutions, Inc. Furthermore, all existing trucks on Water Street should 
be restricted to Water Street, to then turn right onto Main Street. Should it be desired, the 
Water Street truck route south of Barrington Avenue can be restricted to local deliveries 
only.  
 

• The speed surveys conducted on Water Street between North Street and Barrington Avenue 
and on Water Street between Hill Street and Jackson Street indicate that the posted speed 
limit of 30 miles per hour is adequate.  
 

• The results of the traffic counts and speed surveys along Bonnie Dundee Road indicate that 
this roadway is currently operating within its functional classification, that the posted speed 
limit of 25 miles per hour is adequate, and this roadway is not being utilized as a cut through 
between IL 25 and Wilmette Avenue.  

 
  



 
 

Appendix



68

72

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

M
AIN STREET

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  1

EXISTING ROADWAY FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION AND TRAFFIC CONTROL

NORTH STREET

RAILROAD STREET

HILL STREET

JACKSON STREET

LEGEND

- OTHER PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL

- MINOR ARTERIAL

- MAJOR COLLECTOR

- MINOR COLLECTOR



68

72

3094
1956

7
1
5

2547

1
1
7
0

2
2
9
1

2382

1228

3
3
0
8

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

M
AIN STREET

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  2

TWO-WAY AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC VOLUMES - ALL VEHICLES

JACKSON STREET

HILL STREET

RAILROAD STREET

NORTH STREET

LEGEND

XX%

  TRAFFIC VOLUMES
- AVERAGE DAILY



68

72

868

1088

16
7
5

16
3
3

1531
1563

1114

1433

3
2
5

3
9
0

6
4
8

5
2
2

9
6
9

1
3
2
2

1211

1171

679

549

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

M
AIN STREET

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  3

NORTH STREET

RAILROAD STREET

HILL STREET

JACKSON STREET

DIRECTIONAL AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC VOLUMES - ALL VEHICLES

LEGEND

XX%
  TRAFFIC VOLUMES
- DIRECTIONAL AVERAGE DAILY



68

72

135

4
9

21

1
0

48

2
1

4
1

68

24

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

M
AIN STREET

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  4

NORTH STREET

RAILROAD STREET

HILL STREET

JACKSON STREET

TWO-WAY AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC VOLUMES - TRUCKS

LEGEND

XX%

  TRAFFIC VOLUMES
- AVERAGE DAILY



68

72

86

49

2
12
8

13

8

38

30
13

35

6

4

2
1 2

01
2 9

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

M
AIN STREET

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  5

NORTH STREET

RAILROAD STREET

HILL STREET

JACKSON STREET

DIRECTIONAL AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC VOLUMES - TRUCKS

LEGEND

XX%
  TRAFFIC VOLUMES
- DIRECTIONAL AVERAGE DAILY



68

72

124

17

19

1

35

1
4

1
3

47

22

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

M
AIN STREET

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  6

NORTH STREET

RAILROAD STREET

HILL STREET

JACKSON STREET

TWO-WAY AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC VOLUMES - SINGLE-UNIT TRUCKS

LEGEND

XX%

  TRAFFIC VOLUMES
- AVERAGE DAILY



68

72

2

9

13

7

2
8

3
2

21

2

11

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

M
AIN STREET

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  7

NORTH STREET

RAILROAD STREET

HILL STREET

JACKSON STREET

TWO-WAY AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC VOLUMES - MULTI-UNIT TRUCKS

LEGEND

XX%

  TRAFFIC VOLUMES
- AVERAGE DAILY



68

72

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  8

NORTH STREET

RAILROAD STREET

HILL STREET

JACKSON STREET

WATER STREET AND BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD SPEED SURVEYS

25 (2
9)

25 (2
8)

22 (24)18 (22)

30

30

25

25

16
 
(19
)

2
1 
(2
4
)

00

(00)

LEGEND

- AVERAGE

- 85TH PERCENTILE

M
AIN STREET



68

72

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

W
IL

L
M

E
T

T
E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

IL
 R

T
E
 2

5

BONNIE DUNDEE ROAD

M
AIN STREET

P
E

N
N

Y
 A

V
E

N
U
E

EUNEVA NOTGNIRRAB

W
ATER STREET

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
IV

E
R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

DOWNTOWN EVALUATION

Job No: 23-026 Figure:  9

NORTH STREET

RAILROAD STREET

HILL STREET

JACKSON STREET

RECOMMENDED TRUCK ROUTE

LEGEND

- PROPOSED LOCAL TRUCK ROUTE

LOCAL DELIVERIES ONLY

MAY BE RESTRICTED TO



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total 

3r
d 

St
re

et
 b

et
w

ee
n 

B
ar

ri
ng

to
n 

A
ve

nu
e 

w
ith

 N
or

th
 S

tr
ee

t 

12:00 AM 4 4 8 0 0 0 1 0 1 5 4 9 
1:00 AM 3 4 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 4 7 
2:00 AM 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 
3:00 AM 1 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 
4:00 AM 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 
5:00 AM 5 4 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 4 9 
6:00 AM 19 20 39 0 0 0 1 0 1 20 20 40 
7:00 AM 30 5 35 0 0 0 1 0 1 31 5 36 
8:00 AM 33 13 46 0 0 0 1 1 2 34 14 48 
9:00 AM 28 16 44 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 16 44 
10:00 AM 18 12 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 12 30 
11:00 AM 18 15 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 15 33 
12:00 PM 20 13 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 13 33 
1:00 PM 18 15 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 15 33 
2:00 PM 19 19 38 0 0 0 0 1 1 19 20 39 
3:00 PM 44 29 73 0 1 1 0 2 2 44 32 76 
4:00 PM 28 27 55 0 0 0 0 1 1 28 28 56 
5:00 PM 31 29 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 31 29 60 
6:00 PM 28 30 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 30 58 
7:00 PM 16 19 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 19 35 
8:00 PM 6 14 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 14 20 
9:00 PM 4 13 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 13 17 
10:00 PM 6 8 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 8 14 
11:00 PM 4 7 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 7 11 

Daily Total 386 319 705 0 1 1 4 5 9 390 325 715 
 

  



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Eastbound Westbound Total Eastbound Westbound Total Eastbound Westbound Total Eastbound Westbound Total 

B
ar

ri
ng

to
n 

A
ve

nu
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

2n
d 

St
re

et
 a

nd
 3

rd
 S

tr
ee

t 

12:00 AM 5 9 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 9 14 
1:00 AM 3 4 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 4 7 
2:00 AM 1 5 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 5 6 
3:00 AM 3 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 4 
4:00 AM 3 2 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 5 
5:00 AM 8 1 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 1 9 
6:00 AM 22 13 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 22 13 35 
7:00 AM 46 19 65 1 0 1 0 0 0 47 19 66 
8:00 AM 111 34 145 0 1 1 0 0 0 111 35 146 
9:00 AM 109 44 153 1 5 6 0 0 0 110 49 159 
10:00 AM 62 35 97 0 0 0 0 0 0 62 35 97 
11:00 AM 59 40 99 0 3 3 0 0 0 59 43 102 
12:00 PM 62 50 112 0 0 0 1 0 1 63 50 113 
1:00 PM 62 55 117 0 1 1 0 0 0 62 56 118 
2:00 PM 53 58 111 0 0 0 1 0 1 54 58 112 
3:00 PM 63 60 123 0 0 0 0 0 0 63 60 123 
4:00 PM 77 72 149 3 0 3 0 0 0 80 72 152 
5:00 PM 78 79 157 1 3 4 0 0 0 79 82 161 
6:00 PM 94 85 179 0 0 0 0 0 0 94 85 179 
7:00 PM 65 56 121 0 0 0 0 0 0 65 56 121 
8:00 PM 38 48 86 0 0 0 0 0 0 38 48 86 
9:00 PM 24 38 62 0 0 0 0 0 0 24 38 62 
10:00 PM 19 30 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 30 49 
11:00 PM 13 17 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 17 30 

Daily Total 1080 855 1935 6 13 19 2 0 2 1088 868 1956 
  



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Westbound Eastbound Total Westbound Eastbound Total Westbound Eastbound Total Westbound Eastbound Total 

B
ar

ri
ng

to
n 

A
ve

nu
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

3r
d 

St
re

et
 a

nd
 R

iv
er

 S
tr

ee
t 

12:00 AM 13 9 22 0 1 1 0 0 0 13 10 23 
1:00 AM 9 5 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 5 14 
2:00 AM 5 4 9 0 0 0 0 1 1 5 5 10 
3:00 AM 4 3 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 3 7 
4:00 AM 2 4 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 4 6 
5:00 AM 6 11 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 11 17 
6:00 AM 30 38 68 1 2 3 0 1 1 31 41 72 
7:00 AM 22 67 89 0 2 2 0 1 1 22 70 92 
8:00 AM 41 139 180 1 2 3 0 1 1 42 142 184 
9:00 AM 57 139 196 2 3 5 0 0 0 59 142 201 
10:00 AM 45 79 124 1 1 2 0 1 1 46 81 127 
11:00 AM 54 75 129 1 2 3 0 1 1 55 78 133 
12:00 PM 59 77 136 0 2 2 0 1 1 59 80 139 
1:00 PM 67 76 143 1 1 2 0 1 1 68 78 146 
2:00 PM 64 62 126 0 1 1 1 1 2 65 64 129 
3:00 PM 83 104 187 1 2 3 1 0 1 85 106 191 
4:00 PM 81 85 166 1 3 4 0 0 0 82 88 170 
5:00 PM 103 108 211 1 2 3 0 0 0 104 110 214 
6:00 PM 112 112 224 0 1 1 1 1 2 113 114 227 
7:00 PM 75 85 160 0 0 0 0 0 0 75 85 160 
8:00 PM 60 46 106 0 0 0 0 0 0 60 46 106 
9:00 PM 50 29 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 29 79 
10:00 PM 37 24 61 0 0 0 0 0 0 37 24 61 
11:00 PM 22 17 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 22 17 39 

Daily Total 1101 1398 2499 10 25 35 3 10 13 1114 1433 2547 
  



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Eastbound Westbound Total Eastbound Westbound Total Eastbound  Westbound Total Eastbound Westbound Total 

B
ar

ri
ng

to
n 

A
ve

nu
e 

ea
st

 o
f V

an
 B

ur
en

 S
tr

ee
t 

12:00 AM 10 11 21 0 0 0 1 0 1 11 11 22 
1:00 AM 5 5 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 10 
2:00 AM 3 7 10 0 0 0 1 0 1 4 7 11 
3:00 AM 4 2 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 6 
4:00 AM 4 3 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 3 7 
5:00 AM 14 8 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 8 22 
6:00 AM 25 36 61 0 0 0 2 0 2 27 36 63 
7:00 AM 43 37 80 1 0 1 1 0 1 45 37 82 
8:00 AM 91 59 150 3 2 5 2 0 2 96 61 157 
9:00 AM 95 72 167 2 3 5 0 1 1 97 76 173 
10:00 AM 75 45 120 2 2 4 0 1 1 77 48 125 
11:00 AM 61 58 119 0 3 3 1 0 1 62 61 123 
12:00 PM 61 64 125 1 0 1 1 2 3 63 66 129 
1:00 PM 66 62 128 0 1 1 0 1 1 66 64 130 
2:00 PM 59 73 132 1 1 2 1 2 3 61 76 137 
3:00 PM 80 82 162 3 1 4 0 1 1 83 84 167 
4:00 PM 87 95 182 6 8 14 0 1 1 93 104 197 
5:00 PM 88 112 200 0 4 4 0 1 1 88 117 205 
6:00 PM 99 119 218 0 0 0 0 1 1 99 120 219 
7:00 PM 61 77 138 1 1 2 0 0 0 62 78 140 
8:00 PM 45 56 101 0 1 1 0 0 0 45 57 102 
9:00 PM 29 44 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 29 44 73 
10:00 PM 23 28 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 28 51 
11:00 PM 13 18 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 18 31 

Daily Total 1141 1173 2314 20 27 47 10 11 21 1171 1211 2382 
  



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total 

W
at

er
 S

tr
ee

t b
et

w
ee

n 
B

ar
ri

ng
to

n 
A

ve
nu

e 
an

d 
N

or
th

 S
tr

ee
t 

12:00 AM 15 13 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 13 28 
1:00 AM 7 9 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 9 16 
2:00 AM 7 6 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 6 13 
3:00 AM 5 2 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 2 7 
4:00 AM 5 5 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 10 
5:00 AM 13 11 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 11 24 
6:00 AM 59 36 95 0 3 3 0 0 0 59 39 98 
7:00 AM 66 79 145 1 17 18 1 1 2 68 97 165 
8:00 AM 119 125 244 5 9 14 1 1 2 125 135 260 
9:00 AM 129 131 260 4 4 8 0 0 0 133 135 268 
10:00 AM 57 70 127 7 4 11 0 1 1 64 75 139 
11:00 AM 59 57 116 1 10 11 0 0 0 60 67 127 
12:00 PM 70 66 136 3 2 5 1 1 2 74 69 143 
1:00 PM 86 76 162 4 5 9 0 0 0 90 81 171 
2:00 PM 86 71 157 1 13 14 1 2 3 88 86 174 
3:00 PM 96 93 189 3 3 6 0 1 1 99 97 196 
4:00 PM 156 176 332 6 5 11 0 0 0 162 181 343 
5:00 PM 128 149 277 7 1 8 0 0 0 135 150 285 
6:00 PM 127 121 248 2 2 4 0 0 0 129 123 252 
7:00 PM 83 57 140 0 1 1 0 0 0 83 58 141 
8:00 PM 54 33 87 1 0 1 0 0 0 55 33 88 
9:00 PM 31 23 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 31 23 54 
10:00 PM 31 21 52 0 0 0 0 0 0 31 21 52 
11:00 PM 25 15 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 15 40 

Daily Total 1514 1445 2959 45 79 124 4 7 11 1563 1531 3094 
  



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total 

W
at

er
 S

tr
ee

t b
et

w
ee

n 
H

ill
 S

tr
ee

t a
nd

 J
ac

ks
on

 S
tr

ee
t 

12:00 AM 11 17 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 17 28 
1:00 AM 10 11 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 11 21 
2:00 AM 4 8 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 8 12 
3:00 AM 10 2 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 2 12 
4:00 AM 7 2 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 2 9 
5:00 AM 10 15 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 15 25 
6:00 AM 37 88 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 37 88 125 
7:00 AM 66 76 142 3 0 3 2 1 3 71 77 148 
8:00 AM 153 101 254 0 0 0 2 1 3 155 102 257 
9:00 AM 139 80 219 0 6 6 3 2 5 142 88 230 
10:00 AM 81 52 133 0 0 0 2 1 3 83 53 136 
11:00 AM 74 66 140 1 0 1 2 1 3 77 67 144 
12:00 PM 87 77 164 1 0 1 2 2 4 90 79 169 
1:00 PM 91 87 178 1 0 1 3 2 5 95 89 184 
2:00 PM 80 89 169 0 0 0 0 1 1 80 90 170 
3:00 PM 136 99 235 1 0 1 1 0 1 138 99 237 
4:00 PM 146 129 275 1 0 1 2 1 3 149 130 279 
5:00 PM 120 168 288 0 3 3 1 0 1 121 171 292 
6:00 PM 122 157 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 122 157 279 
7:00 PM 89 112 201 0 0 0 0 0 0 89 112 201 
8:00 PM 48 79 127 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 79 127 
9:00 PM 40 68 108 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 68 108 
10:00 PM 27 41 68 0 0 0 0 0 0 27 41 68 
11:00 PM 17 30 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 30 47 

Daily Total 1605 1654 3259 8 9 17 20 12 32 1633 1675 3308 
  



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Northbound Southbound Total Northbound Southbound Total Northbound Southbound Total Northbound Southbound Total 

V
an

 B
ur

en
 S

tr
ee

t b
et

w
ee

n 
B

ar
ri

ng
to

n 
A

ve
nu

e 
an

d 
R

ai
lr

oa
d 

St
re

et
 

12:00 AM 9 16 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 16 25 
1:00 AM 10 9 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 9 19 
2:00 AM 5 4 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 4 9 
3:00 AM 7 3 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 3 10 
4:00 AM 4 2 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 6 
5:00 AM 5 12 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 12 17 
6:00 AM 22 72 94 0 0 0 0 0 0 22 72 94 
7:00 AM 31 62 93 1 1 2 2 1 3 34 64 98 
8:00 AM 71 90 161 0 1 1 1 1 2 72 92 164 
9:00 AM 78 78 156 0 0 0 2 2 4 80 80 160 
10:00 AM 37 45 82 0 0 0 2 2 4 39 47 86 
11:00 AM 41 47 88 1 1 2 1 2 3 43 50 93 
12:00 PM 56 66 122 1 0 1 2 2 4 59 68 127 
1:00 PM 49 72 121 1 0 1 3 2 5 53 74 127 
2:00 PM 53 59 112 0 1 1 1 1 2 54 61 115 
3:00 PM 93 80 173 0 1 1 0 0 0 93 81 174 
4:00 PM 104 111 215 2 2 4 0 1 1 106 114 220 
5:00 PM 66 109 175 0 0 0 0 0 0 66 109 175 
6:00 PM 63 133 196 0 0 0 0 0 0 63 133 196 
7:00 PM 48 84 132 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 84 132 
8:00 PM 33 57 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 57 90 
9:00 PM 28 46 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 46 74 
10:00 PM 24 28 52 0 0 0 0 0 0 24 28 52 
11:00 PM 12 16 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 16 28 

Daily Total 949 1301 2250 6 7 13 14 14 28 969 1322 2291 
  



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total Southbound Northbound Total 

R
iv

er
 S

tr
ee

t b
et

w
ee

n 
B

ar
ri

ng
to

n 
A

ve
nu

e 
an

d 
R

ai
lr

oa
d 

St
re

et
 

12:00 AM 5 7 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 7 12 
1:00 AM 2 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 3 
2:00 AM 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 
3:00 AM 0 2 2 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 2 3 
4:00 AM 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 
5:00 AM 7 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 7 
6:00 AM 21 1 22 1 0 1 0 0 0 22 1 23 
7:00 AM 35 6 41 0 1 1 1 0 1 36 7 43 
8:00 AM 35 19 54 0 0 0 0 1 1 35 20 55 
9:00 AM 38 17 55 1 0 1 1 0 1 40 17 57 
10:00 AM 31 18 49 1 1 2 0 0 0 32 19 51 
11:00 AM 27 23 50 1 0 1 1 0 1 29 23 52 
12:00 PM 40 34 74 0 1 1 1 1 2 41 36 77 
1:00 PM 41 35 76 1 1 2 0 0 0 42 36 78 
2:00 PM 37 37 74 0 1 1 0 0 0 37 38 75 
3:00 PM 49 34 83 1 1 2 0 0 0 50 35 85 
4:00 PM 52 35 87 1 0 1 0 0 0 53 35 88 
5:00 PM 53 45 98 0 0 0 0 0 0 53 45 98 
6:00 PM 53 56 109 0 1 1 0 0 0 53 57 110 
7:00 PM 36 50 86 0 0 0 0 0 0 36 50 86 
8:00 PM 26 37 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 26 37 63 
9:00 PM 20 22 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 22 42 
10:00 PM 16 22 38 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 22 38 
11:00 PM 11 10 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 10 21 

Daily Total 636 513 1149 7 7 14 5 2 7 648 522 1170 
  



 
 

    Light Vehicles (Passenger Vehicles Single Unit Trucks Multi-Unit Trucks Total Vehicles 
  Time Eastbound Westbound Total Eastbound Westbound Total Eastbound Westbound Total Eastbound Westbound Total 

B
on

ni
e 

D
un

de
e 

R
oa

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
W

ilm
et

te
 A

ve
nu

e 
an

d 
IL

 2
5 

12:00 AM 3 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 4 
1:00 AM 1 3 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 4 
2:00 AM 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 
3:00 AM 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 
4:00 AM 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 
5:00 AM 4 4 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 8 
6:00 AM 17 11 28 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 11 28 
7:00 AM 23 21 44 0 1 1 0 1 1 23 23 46 
8:00 AM 90 36 126 2 0 2 0 0 0 92 36 128 
9:00 AM 100 51 151 3 1 4 0 1 1 103 53 156 
10:00 AM 43 26 69 1 0 1 0 0 0 44 26 70 
11:00 AM 41 32 73 1 0 1 0 0 0 42 32 74 
12:00 PM 21 37 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 37 58 
1:00 PM 33 30 63 1 0 1 0 0 0 34 30 64 
2:00 PM 30 27 57 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 27 57 
3:00 PM 43 39 82 2 0 2 0 0 0 45 39 84 
4:00 PM 53 59 112 4 1 5 0 0 0 57 60 117 
5:00 PM 63 52 115 1 0 1 0 0 0 64 52 116 
6:00 PM 44 43 87 0 1 1 0 0 0 44 44 88 
7:00 PM 19 29 48 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 29 48 
8:00 PM 13 15 28 1 0 1 0 0 0 14 15 29 
9:00 PM 9 12 21 1 0 1 0 0 0 10 12 22 
10:00 PM 6 6 12 1 0 1 0 0 0 7 6 13 
11:00 PM 5 4 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 4 9 

Daily Total 661 543 1204 18 4 22 0 2 2 679 549 1228 
 



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:  Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
   
Subject: Acceptance of Donation of Real Property in Downtown TIF #4  
 
Date:   October 16, 2023 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff recommends Village Board approval of an ordinance authorizing the acceptance of a 
donation of real property commonly known as the parking lot located adjacent to 110 Railroad 
St, East Dundee, IL 60118, (PIN 03-23-314-007-0000) in the Downtown Tax Increment Financing 
District.  No goods or services are being provided to the donor in return for this donation and 
the fair market value of the donation is $305,000. 
 
Funding Source: 
N/A 
 
Summary: 
The Village currently leases this property from the owner and has been doing so since 
approximately 2013.  The property contains a publicly available parking lot that serves the 
downtown area. 
 
After acquisition is completed, staff will draft a Request for Proposals for the redevelopment of 
the property which will be on an upcoming Village Board meeting agenda for approval.   
 
Below is a screenshot of the parcel. 
 



 
 
Attachments: 
Ordinance 
Donation Agreement 
Appraisal 



4861-9503-2191, v. 1 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING EXECUTION  
OF A REAL ESTATE DONATION AGREEMENT  

(PARKING LOT NEXT TO 110 RAILROAD STREET, EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS) 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, Illinois, as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1:  The President and Board of Trustees of the Village find as follows: 
 

A. The Village of East Dundee (the “Village”) is a home rule municipality 
pursuant to Section 7 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois. 

 
B. The State of Illinois has adopted tax increment financing pursuant to the 

Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq., 
as amended from time to time (the “TIF Act”).   

 
C. Deloris Doederlein, Trustee of the Deloris Doederlein Living Trust (the 

“Donor”), is the owner of the real estate and appurtenances attached thereto 
for the parking lot next to 110 Railroad Street, East Dundee, Illinois (the 
“Parking Lot”). 
 

D.  The Donor desires to donate the Parking Lot to the Village on the terms set 
forth in the “Real Estate Donation Letter,” and its accompanying Exhibits, 
attached hereto as EXHIBIT A and made a part hereof (the “Donation 
Agreement”).  

 
 E. This Donation Agreement and donation of the Parking Lot is in conjunction 

with the Village’s purchase of real property located at 110 Railroad Street, 
East Dundee, Illinois.   

 
F.  The Village desires to acquire the Parking Lot as set forth in the Donation 

Agreement in furtherance of the Village’s Redevelopment Plan for the TIF 
District in which the property is located.  

 
G.  It is in the best interest of the Village to accept the donation of the Parking 

Lot, to ensure that redevelopment within the TIF District continues 
according to the Village’s Redevelopment Plan. 
 

SECTION 2: Based upon the foregoing, the Village President, Village Clerk and 
Village Administrator are hereby authorized and directed to acquire the Parking Lot 
pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Donation Agreement. The Village 
President or Village Administrator are further authorized and directed to execute and 
deliver the Donation Agreement in a form finalized and approved by the Village 
Administrator and Village Attorney, and the Village Administrator and Village Attorney are 



4861-9503-2191, v. 1 

also authorized to make any final changes to the Donation Agreement as may be 
necessary or convenient to consummate such acquisition. 

 
SECTION 3:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.   
 

 
 ADOPTED this ___ day of September, 2023, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 
 
  AYES:___________________________________________ 
  
  NAYS:___________________________________________ 
 
  ABSENT:_________________________________________ 
 
 APPROVED this ___ day of September 2023, by the Village President of the 
Village of East Dundee, and attested by the Village Clerk, on the same day. 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
  Village President 
 

 APPROVED and FILED in my office this ___ day of _________, 2023 and 
published in pamphlet form in the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, 
Illinois. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
  Village Clerk  



4861-9503-2191, v. 1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 REAL ESTATE DONATION LETTER 
 

(attached) 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 













File No.

APPRAISAL OF

LOCATED AT:

FOR:

BORROWER:

AS OF:

BY:

Railroad 112 E Dundee
Z623-21

James W. Leech State Cert.General Appraiser

April 14, 2022

NA

East Dundee, IL, 60118
120 Barrington Avenue
Village of East Dundee

East Dundee, IL 60118
112 Railroad Street

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



File No.

File Number:

In accordance with your request, I have appraised the real property at:

The purpose of this appraisal is to develop an opinion of the market value of the subject property, as improved.
The property r ights appraised are the fee simple interest in the site and improvements.

In my opinion, the market value of the property as of i s :

The at tached repor t  conta ins the descr ip t ion,  analys is  and suppor t ive data for  the conclus ions,
f inal  opinion of  value, descr ipt ive photographs, l imi t ing condi t ions and appropr iate cert i f icat ions.

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21

James W. Leech State Cert.General Appraiser

Respectfully,

Three Hundred Five Thousand  Dollars
$305,000

April 14, 2022

East Dundee, IL 60118
112 Railroad Street

To Whom It May Concern:

Railroad 112 E Dundee

East Dundee, IL, 60118
120 Barrington Avenue
Village of East Dundee

April 25, 2022

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



LAND APPRAISAL REPORT File No.

T h e  p u r p o s e  o f  t h i s  a p p r a i s a l  r e p o r t  i s  t o  p r o v i d e  t h e  l e n d e r / c l i e n t  w i t h  a n  a c c u r a t e  s u p p o r t e d  o p i n i o n  o f  t h e  m a r k e t  v a l u e  o f  t h e  s u b j e c t  p r o p e r t y .

CLIENT AND PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION

Property Address: City: State: Zip:

Borrower: Owner of Public Record: County:

Legal Description:

Assessor's Parcel #: Tax Year: R.E. Taxes:

Neighborhood Name: Map Reference: Census Tract:

Special Assessments: PUD Yes No HOA: $ Per Year Per Month

Property Rights Appraised: Fee Simple Leasehold Other (describe)

Assignment Type: Purchase Transaction Refinance Transaction Other (describe)

Lender/Client: Address:

CONTRACT ANALYSIS

I did did not analyze the contract for sale for the subject purchase transaction.  Explain the results of the analysis of the contract for sale or why the analysis was not performed.

Contract Price $: Date of Contract: Is the property seller the owner of public record? Yes No Data Source(s)

Is there any financial assistance (loan charges, sale concessions, gift or down payment assistance, etc.) to be paid by any party on behalf of the borrower? Yes No

If Yes, report the total dollar amount and describe the items to be paid.   $

NEIGHBORHOOD DESCRIPTION

Neighborhood Characteristics One-Unit Housing Trends One-Unit Housing Present Land Use %

Note: Race and the racial composition of the neighborhood are not appraisal factors.

Location Urban Suburban Rural Property Values Increasing Stable Declining PRICE AGE One-Unit %

Built-Up Over 75% 25-75% Under 25% Demand/Supply Shortage In Balance Over Supply $(000) (yrs) 2-4 Unit %

Growth Rapid Stable Slow Marketing Time Under 3 mths 3-6 mths Over 6 mths Low Multi-Family %

Neighborhood Boundaries: High Commercial %

Pred. Other %

Good Aver. Fair Poor

Convenience to Employment

Convenience to Shopping

Convenience to Primary Education

Convenience to Recreational Facilities

Employment Stability

Neighborhood Description:

Market Conditions (including support for the above conclusions):

Good Aver. Fair Poor

Property Compatability

General Appearance of Properties

Adequacy of Police/Fire Protection

Protection from Detrimental Conditions

Overall Appeal to Market

SITE DESCRIPTION

Dimensions: Area: Acres Sq.Ft. Shape: View:

Zoning Classification: Zoning Description:

Zoning Compliance: Legal Legal Nonconforming (Grandfathered Use) No Zoning Illegal (describe)

Uses permitted under current zoning regulations:

Highest & Best Use:

Describe any improvements:

Do present improvements conform to zoning? Yes No No improvements If No, explain:

Present use of subject site: Current or proposed ground rent? Yes No If Yes, $

Topography: Size: Drainage:

Corner Lot: Yes No Underground Utilities: Yes No Fenced: Yes No If Yes, type:

Special Flood Hazard Area Yes No FEMA Flood Zone: FEMA Map #: FEMA Map Date:

UTILITIES Public Other Provider or Description

Electricity

Gas

Water

Sanitary Sewer

Other

Other

Off-Site Improvements Type/Description Public Other

Street Surface

Street Type/Influence

Curb/Gutter

Sidewalk

Street Lights

Alley

Are the utilities and off-site improvements typical for the market? Yes No If No, describe:

Are there any adverse site conditions or external factors (easements, encroachments, environmental conditions, land uses, etc.)? Yes No If Yes, describe:

Site Comments:

Produced using ACI software, 800.234.8727 www.aciweb.com LAND_15 03082018

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21LEECH & DENOMA APPRAISAL SERVICE INC

120 Barrington Avenue, East Dundee, IllinoisVillage of East Dundee
EvaluationX

X
N/AXNA

8504.00P-24Downtown Business District
2,725.66202003-23-314-007

See Addenda
KaneDoederlein TrustNA

60118ILEast Dundee112 Railroad Street

Not Applicable

5Vacant
75%

20%

65
100+

30

300
450
175

This area is bordered by Main Street to the south,  Cleveland Avenue to the 
north, the Fox River is just west and Wilmette Avenue is to the east.

X
X
X

X
X

X

Market conditions are good in this downtown business district.   Based on a market study for the 
area there is an upward trend in values and shorter marketing times.   The TIFF district and attractive private financing also is are positive influences for 
development and values.   There are plans for a new city parking garage and there are new developments in the area.  No adverse marketing factors 
were observed.

The subject property is located in the downtown East Dundee business district that has seen significant re-development over the 
past few years.  It iis an attractive business district with the economic advantages of a TIFF district which is encouraging new business development.  It 
is an historical district that has many newer uses with an upward trend in demand and market values.   The subject property is located in the heart of 
this business district with good potential for development.

X
X
X

X
X

X
X
X
X
X

The subject property is comprised of a rectangular shaped parcel that is approximately.54 acres in size.   It is in the downtown business 
district and zoned B3 which will allow for new commercial development.  It is bordered by Railroad Street on its northern border and Hill Street is along 
the rear or southern border of the site providing good access to this parcel.   It is currently used as public parking lot but could be assembled with 
adjoining parcels for re-development.   See attached for a copy of the plat, flood map and other exhibits.

X
X

XAsphalt
XVapor
XConcrete
XConcrete

Public
XAsphalt

AvailableX
AvailableX
AvailableX
AvailableX

08-03-200917089C0157HXX
XXX

Adequate23522 square feetLevel
XParking lot

This parcel is used as a public parking lot and is asphalt 
paved and has been well maintained.

X
Public parking lot

Business development
Retail, office, business service uses

X
Service BusinessB3

CommercialRectangularX23522275' x 85.5'



LAND APPRAISAL REPORT File No.

COMPARABLE SALES

There are comparable sites currently offered for sale in the subject neighborhood ranging in price from    $ to    $ .

There are comparable sites sold in the past 12 months in the subject neighborhood ranging in sale price from    $ to    $ .

FEATURE SUBJECT

Address

City/St/Zip

Proximity to Subject

Data Source(s)

Verification Source(s)

Sale Price $

Price/ $

Date of Sale (MO/DA/YR)

Days on Market

Financing Type

Concessions

Location

Property Rights Appraised

Site Size

View

Topography

Available Utilities

Street Frontage

Street Type

Water Influence

Fencing

Improvements

Net Adjustment (Total, in $)

Adjusted sales price of the

Comparable Sales (in $)

COMPARABLE SALE NO. 1

$

$

+ - $

Net Adj. %

Gross Adj. % $

COMPARABLE SALE NO. 2

$

$

+ - $

Net Adj. %

Gross Adj. % $

COMPARABLE SALE NO. 3

$

$

+ - $

Net Adj. %

Gross Adj. % $

The Appraiser has researched the transfer history of the subject property for the past 3 years and the listing history of the subject for the past 12 months prior to the effective date of this appraisal.

The appraiser has also researched the transfer and listing history of the comparable sales for the past 12 months.

The appraiser's research did did not reveal any prior sales or transfers of the subject property for the three years prior to the effective date of the appraisal.

Data Sources:

The appraiser's research did did not reveal any prior sales or transfers of the comparable sales for the year prior to the date of sale of the comparable sale.

Data Sources:

The appraiser's research did did not reveal any prior listings of the subject property or comparable sales for the year prior to the effective date of the appraisal.

Data Sources:

Transfer/Sale (ONLY) of the

Subject in past 36 months:

Listing/Transfer History

(if more than two, use comments

section or an addendum.)
$

$

Listing and Transfer history of

Comp 1 in past 12 months:

$

$

Listing and Transfer history of

Comp 2 in past 12 months:

$

$

Listing and Transfer history of

Comp 3 in past 12 months:

$

$

List Date List Price Days on Market Data Source

List Date List Price Days on Market Data Source

Subject Property Is Currently Listed For Sale? Yes No Data Source:

Current Listing History

$

Subject Property has been listed within the last 12 Months? Yes No Data Source:

12 Month Listing History

$

$

Comments on Prior Sales/Transfers and Current and Prior Listings:

Summary of the Sales Comparison Approach:

Reconciliation Comments:

This appraisal is made "as is", or subject to the following conditions or inspections:

Based on a complete visual inspection of the subject site and those improvements upon said site, defined scope of work, statement of assumptions and

limiting conditions, and appraiser's certification, my (our) opinion of market value, as defined, of the real property that is the subject of this report is:

Opinion of Market Value: $ , as of: , which is the date of inspection and the effective date of this appraisal.

Page 2 of 4
Produced using ACI software, 800.234.8727 www.aciweb.com

LAND_15 03082018

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21LEECH & DENOMA APPRAISAL SERVICE INC

275,00070,0004
2,413,00037,90014

B3Zoning
Parking lot
None
None
Public
275
All Utilities
Level
Commercial
23,522.000Sq.Ft.
Fee Simple
Suburban
None
NA
NA

0per SF

Assessor
Assessor/Inspec.

East Dundee
112 Railroad Street

90.0
0.0

0

B2
PlusNone

None
None
Public
100
All utilities
Level
Commercial
31,624
Fee Simple
Equal
None
Cash
NA

Plus09/2019
8.696

275,000
Assessor
COMPS #4894403

0.65 miles NE
East Dunde, IL
110 Dundee Road

100.0
0.0

0

B3
PlusNone

None
None
Public
200
All utilities
Level
Commercial
47,742
Fee Simple
Equal
None
Conv
NA
11/2021

10.473
500,000

Assessor
COMPS #5770708

13.41 miles SW
St Charles, IL
2651 Woodward

110.0
0.0

0

Industrial
Parking lot
None
None
Public
250
All utilities
Level
Commercial

Plus84,070
Fee Simple
Equal
None
Conv
NA
02/2022

11.00
925,000

Assessor
COMPS #5926937
26.31 miles SW
Montegomery, IL
2020 Albright Road

MRED
X

MRED/Assessor
X

MLS/Assessor
X

See Addenda

The subject property has not been listed for sale and has not sold over the past 3 years.   None of 
the comps presented had prior sales over the past 3 years.

MRED/AssessorX

X

04/14/2022305,000

X

The sales comparison approach is the appropriate methodolgy to appraise the subject vacant parcel of land. Based on all the 
data presented, it is my opinion that the fair market value of the subject property as of April 14 , 2022 is $305,000

Leech & Denoma Appraisal Service



LAND APPRAISAL REPORT File No.

PRODUCT INFORMATION FOR PUDs (if applicable)

Is the developer/builder in control of the Homeowners' Association (HOA)? Yes No Unit type(s): Detached Attached

Provide the following information for PUDs ONLY if the developer/builder is in control of the HOA and the subject property is an attached dwelling unit.

Legal Name of Project:

Total number of phases: Total number of units: Total number of units sold:

Total number of units rented: Total number of units for sale: Data source(s):

Was the project created by the conversion of existing building(s) into a PUD? Yes No If Yes, date of conversion:

Does the project contain any multi-dwelling units? Yes No Data Source:

Are the units, common elements, and recreation facilities complete? Yes No If No, describe the status of completion:

Describe common elements and recreational facilities:

CERTIFICATIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

This report form is designed to report an appraisal of a parcel of land which may have some minor improvements but is not considered to be an "improved site". All improvements are considered

to be of relatively minor value impact on the overall value of the site. This report form is not designed to report on an "improved site" where significant value is derived from the improvements.

This appraisal report form may be used for single family, multi-family sites and may be included within a PUD development.

This appraisal report is subject to the following scope of work, intended use, intended user, definition of market value, statement of assumptions and limiting conditions and certifications.

Modifications, additions, or deletions to the intended use, intended user, definition of market value, or assumptions and limiting conditions are not permitted. The appraiser may expand the

scope of work to include any additional research or analysis necessary based on the complexity of this appraisal assignment. Modifications or deletions to the certifications are also not

permitted. However, additional certifications that do not constitute material alterations to this appraisal report, such as those required by law or those related to the appraiser's continuing

education or membership in an appraisal organization, are permitted.

SCOPE OF WORK: The scope of work for this appraisal is defined by the complexity of this appraisal assignment and the reporting requirements of this appraisal report form, including the 

following definition of market value, statement of assumptions and limiting conditions and certifications. The appraiser must, at a minimum; (1) perform a complete visual inspection of the subject 

site and any limited improvements, (2) inspect the neighborhood, (3) inspect each of the comparable sales from at least the street, (4) research, verify and analyze data from reliable public 

and/or private sources, and (5) report his or her analysis, opinions and conclusions in this appraisal report.

INTENDED USE: The intended use of the appraisal report is for the lender/client to evaluate the property that is the subject of this appraisal for a mortgage finance transaction.

INTENDED USER: The intended user of this report is the lender/client identified within the appraisal report.

DEFINITION OF MARKET VALUE: The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and

seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the

passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby: (1) buyer and seller are typically motivated; (2) both parties are well informed or well advised, and each acting in what they consider

their own best interest; (3) a reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; (4) payment is made in terms of cash in United States dollars or in terms of financial arrangements

comparable thereto; and (5) the price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions* granted by anyone associated with

the sale. (Source: OCC, OTS, FRS, & FDIC joint regulations published June 7, 1994)

* Adjustments to the comparables must be made for special or creative concessions. No adjustments are necessary for those costs which are normally paid by sellers as a result of tradition or law

in a market area; these costs are readily identifiable since the seller pays these costs in virtually all sales transactions. Special or creative financing adjustments can be made to the comparable

property by comparisons to financing terms offered by a third party institutional lender that is not already involved in the property or transaction. Any adjustment should not be calculated on a

mechanical dollar for dollar cost of the financing or concession but the dollar amount of any adjustment should approximate the market's reaction to the financing or concessions based on the

appraiser's judgment.

STATEMENT OF ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS: The appraiser's certification in this report is subject to the following assumptions and limiting conditions:

1. The appraiser will not be responsible for matters of a legal nature that affect the subject property being appraised or the title to it, except for information that he or she

became aware of during the research involved in performing this appraisal. The appraiser assumes that the title is good and marketable and will not render any opinions

about the title

2. The appraiser has examined the available flood maps that are provided by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (or other data sources) and has noted in this

appraisal report whether any portion of the subject site is located in an identified Special Flood Hazard Area. Because the appraiser is not a surveyor, he or she makes no

guarantees, express or implied, regarding this determination.

3. The appraiser will not give testimony or appear in court because he or she made an appraisal of the property in question unless specific arrangements to do so have been

made beforehand, or as otherwise required by law.

4. The appraiser has noted in this appraisal report any adverse conditions (such as the presence of hazardous wastes, toxic substances, etc.) observed during the

inspection of the subject property or that he or she became aware of during the research involved in performing this appraisal. Unless otherwise stated in this appraisal

report the appraiser has no knowledge of any hidden or unapparent physical deficiencies or adverse conditions of the subject property (such as, but not limited to,

needed repairs, deterioration, the presence of hazardous wastes, toxic substances, adverse environmental conditions, etc.) that would make the property less valuable,

and has assumed that there are no such conditions and makes no guarantees or warranties express or implied. The appraiser will not be responsible for any such

conditions that do exist or for the engineering or testing that might be required to discover whether such condition exist. Because the appraiser is not an expert in the

field of environmental hazards, this appraisal must not be considered as an environmental assessment of the property.

APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION: The Appraiser certifies and agrees that:

1. I have, at a minimum, developed and reported this appraisal in accordance with the scope of work requirements stated in this appraisal report.

2. I performed a complete visual inspection of the subject site and any limited improvements. I have reported the information in factual and specific terms. I identified and

reported the deficiencies of the subject site that could affect the utility of the site and its usefulness as a building lot(s).

3. I performed this appraisal in accordance with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice that were adopted and promulgated by the

Appraisal Standards Board of the Appraisal Foundation and that were in place at the time this appraisal report was prepared.

4. I developed my opinion of the market value of the real property that is the subject of this report based on the sales comparison approach to value. I have adequate

comparable market data to develop a reliable sales comparison approach for this appraisal assignment. I further certify that I considered the cost and income approaches

to value but did not develop them unless indicated elsewhere within this report as there are no or very limited improvements and these approaches to value are not

deemed necessary for credible result and/or reliable indicators of value for this appraisal assignment.

5. I researched, verified, analyzed, and reported on any current agreement for sale for the subject property, any offering for sale of the subject property in the twelve months

prior to the effective date of this appraisal, and the prior sales of the subject property for a minimum of three years prior to the effective date of this appraisal, unless

otherwise indicated in this report.

6. I researched, verified, analyzed, and reported on the prior sales of the comparable sales for a minimum of one year prior to the date of the sale of the comparable sale,

unless otherwise indicated in this report.

7. I selected and used comparable sales that are locationally, physically, and functionally the most similar to the subject property.

8. I have not used comparable sales that were the result of combining multiple transactions into reported sales

9. I have reported adjustments to the comparable sales that reflect the market's reaction to the differences between the subject property and the comparable sales.

10. I have verified, from a disinterested source, all information in this report that was provided by parties who have a financial interest in the sale or financing of the subject property.

11. I have knowledge and experience in appraising this type of property in this market area.

12. I am aware of, and have access to, the necessary and appropriate public and private data sources, such as multiple listing services, tax assessment records, public land

records and other such data sources for the area in which the property is located.

Page 3 of 4
Produced using ACI software, 800.234.8727 www.aciweb.com

LAND_15 03082018

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21LEECH & DENOMA APPRAISAL SERVICE INC



LAND APPRAISAL REPORT File No.

CERTIFICATIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (continued)

13. I obtained the information, estimates, and opinions furnished by other parties and expressed in this appraisal report from reliable sources that I believed to be true and

correct.

14. I have taken into consideration the factors that have an impact on value with respect to the subject neighborhood, subject property, and the proximity of the subject

property to adverse influences in the development of my opinion of market value. I have noted in this appraisal report any adverse conditions (such as, but not limited

to, needed repairs, deterioration, the presence of hazardous wastes, toxic substances, adverse environmental conditions, etc.) observed during the inspection of the

subject property or that I became aware of during the research involved in performing this appraisal. I have considered these adverse conditions in my analysis of the

property value, and have reported on the effect of the conditions on the value and marketability of the subject property.

15. I have not knowingly withheld any significant information from this appraisal report and, to the best of my knowledge, all statements and information in this appraisal

report are true and correct.

16. I stated in this appraisal report my own personal, unbiased, and professional analysis, opinions, and conclusions, which are subject only to the assumptions and limiting

conditions in this appraisal report.

17. I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report, and I have no present or prospective personal interest or bias with respect to the

participants in the transaction. I did not base, either partially or completely, my analysis and/or opinion of market value in this appraisal report on the race, color, religion,

sex, age, marital status, handicap, familial status, or national origin of either the prospective owners or occupants of the subject property or of the present owners or

occupants of the properties in the vicinity of the subject property or on any other basis prohibited by law.

18. My employment and/or compensation for performing this appraisal or any future or anticipated appraisals was not conditioned on any agreement or understanding,

written or otherwise, that I would report (or present analysis supporting) a predetermined specific value, a predetermined minimum value, a range or direction in value,

a value that favors the cause of any party, or the attainment of a specific result or occurrence of a specific subsequent event (such as approval of a pending mortgage

loan application.

19. I personally prepared all conclusions and opinions about the real estate that were set forth in this appraisal report. If I relied on significant real property appraisal

assistance from any individuals in the performance of this appraisal or the preparation of this appraisal report, I have named such individual(s) and

disclosed the specific tasks performed in this appraisal report. I certify that any individual so named is qualified to perform the tasks. I have not authorized anyone

to make a change to any item in this appraisal report; therefore, any change made to this appraisal is unauthorized and I will take no responsibility for it.

20. I identified the lender/client in this appraisal report who is the individual, organization, or agent for the organization that ordered and will received this appraisal report.

21. The lender/client may disclose or distribute this appraisal report to: the borrower; another lender at the request of the borrower; the mortgagee or its successors and

assigns; mortgage insurers; government sponsored enterprises; other secondary market participants; data collection or reporting services; professional appraisal

organizations; any department, agency, or instrumentality of the United States; and any state, the District of Columbia, or other jurisdictions; without having to obtain the

appraiser's or supervisory appraiser's (if applicable) consent. Such consent must be obtained before this appraisal report may be disclosed or distributed to any other

party (including, but not limited to, the public through advertising, public relations, news, sales, or other media).

22. I am aware that any disclosure or distribution of this appraisal report by me or the lender/client may be subject to certain laws and regulations. Further, I am also subject

to the provisions of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice that pertain to disclosure or distribution by me.

23. The borrower, another lender at the request of the borrower, the mortgagee or its successors and assigns, mortgage insurers, government sponsored enterprises, and

other secondary market participants may rely on this appraisal report as part of any mortgage finance transaction that involves any one or more of these parties.

24. If this appraisal report was transmitted as an "electronic record" containing my "electronic signature", as those terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws

(excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report

shall be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my original hand written signature.

25. Any intentional or negligent misrepresentation(s) contained in this appraisal report may result in civil liability and/or criminal penalties including, but not limited to, fine or

imprisonment or both under the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001, et seq., or similar state laws.

SUPERVISORY APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION: The Supervisory Appraiser certifies and agrees that:

1. I directly supervised the appraiser for this appraisal assignment, have read the appraisal report, and agree with the appraiser's analysis, opinions, statements,

conclusions, and the appraiser's certification.

2. I accept full responsibility for the contents of this appraisal report including, but not limited to, the appraiser's analysis, opinions, statements, conclusions, and the

appraiser's certification.

3. The appraiser identified in this appraisal report is either a sub-contractor or an employee of the supervisory appraiser (or the appraisal firm), is qualified to perform this

appraisal, and is acceptable to perform this appraisal under the applicable state law.

4. This appraisal report complies with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice that were adopted and promulgated by the Appraisal Standards Board of

The Appraisal Foundation and that were in place at the time this appraisal report was prepared.

5. If this appraisal report was transmitted as an "electronic record" containing my "electronic signature", as those terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws

(excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall

be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my original hand written signature.

SIGNATURES

APPRAISER

Signature

Name

Company Name

Company Address

Telephone Number

Email Address

Date of Signature and Report

Effective Date of Appraisal

State Certification #

or State License #

or Other (describe) State #

State

Expiration Date of Certification or License

ADDRESS OF PROPERTY APPRAISED

APPRAISED VALUE OF SUBJECT PROPERTY $

LENDER/CLIENT

Name

Company Name

Company Address

Email Address

SUPERVISORY APPRAISER (ONLY IF REQUIRED)

Signature

Name

Company Name

Company Address

Telephone Number

Email Address

Date of Signature

State Certification #

or State License #

State

Expiration Date of Certification or License

SUBJECT PROPERTY

Did not inspect subject property

Did inspect exterior of subject property from street

Date of Inspection

COMPARABLE SALES

Did not inspect exterior of comparable sales from street

Did inspect exterior of comparable sales from street

Date of Inspection

Page 4 of 4
Produced using ACI software, 800.234.8727 www.aciweb.com

LAND_15 03082018

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21LEECH & DENOMA APPRAISAL SERVICE INC

East Dundee, Illinois
120 Barrington Avenue

Village of East Dundee

305,000
East Dundee, IL 60118
112 Railroad Street

09/30/2023
IL

553.000263
04/14/2022

04/25/2022
jamesleech@leechbridges.com

847-872-4982
Zion, IL 60099

1717 Lewis Ave
Leech & Denoma Appraisal Service

James W. Leech State Cert.General Appraiser

Leech & Denoma Appraisal Service



LAND APPRAISAL REPORT File No.

FEATURE SUBJECT

Address

City/St/Zip

Proximity to Subject

Data Source(s)

Verification Source(s)

Sale Price $

Price/ $

Date of Sale (MO/DA/YR)

Days on Market

Financing Type

Concessions

Location

Property Rights Appraised

Site Size

View

Topography

Available Utilities

Street Frontage

Street Type

Water Influence

Fencing

Improvements

Net Adjustment (Total, in $)

Adjusted sales price of the

Comparable Sales (in $)

COMPARABLE SALE NO. 4

$

$

+ - $

Net Adj. %

Gross Adj. % $

COMPARABLE SALE NO. 5

$

$

+ - $

Net Adj. %

Gross Adj. % $

COMPARABLE SALE NO. 6

$

$

+ - $

Net Adj. %

Gross Adj. % $

COMPARABLE SALES

Transfer/Sale (ONLY) of the

Subject in past 36 months:

Listing/Transfer History

(if more than two, use comments

section or an addendum.)
$

$

Listing and Transfer history of

Comp 4 in past 12 months:

$

$

Listing and Transfer history of

Comp 5 in past 12 months:

$

$

Listing and Transfer history of

Comp 6 in past 12 months:

$

$

Summary of the Sales Comparison Approach:

Produced using ACI software, 800.234.8727 www.aciweb.com LAND_15 03082018

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21LEECH & DENOMA APPRAISAL SERVICE INC

B3Zoning
Parking lot
None
None
Public
275
All Utilities
Level
Commercial
23,522.000Sq.Ft.
Fee Simple
Suburban
None
NA
NA

0per SF

Assessor
Assessor/Inspec.

East Dundee
112 Railroad Street

100.0
0.0

0

B3
PlusNone

None
None
Public
210
All utilities
Level
Commercial

Plus78,408 SF
Fee Simple
Equal

None
Conv
NA
10/2019

9.502
745,000

Assessor
COMPS 34906987

6.30 miles NW
Lake in the Hills, IL
301 Randall Road

50.0
0.0

0

Area Business
PlusNone

None
None
Public
410
All utilities
Level
Commercial

Plus83,635
Fee Simple

PlusInferior
None
Conv
NA
09/2019

5
400,000

Assessor
COMPS #4881788

3.34 miles SW
Elgin, Il
1175 N. McLean Boulevard

00.0
0.0

0X

0



ADDENDUM

Borrower: NA File No.: Railroad 112 E Dundee

Property Address: 112 Railroad Street Case No.: Z623-21

City: East Dundee State: IL Zip: 60118

Lender: Village of East Dundee

Addendum Page 1 of 1

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PART OF THE SW 1/4 OFSEC 23-42-8 PER 97K026570 (EX PART DESC IN 2013K000294)

Tax Legal.   Parcel #03-23-314-007

Additional Appraiser's Certification

Pursuant to the Conduct Section of the Ethics Rule of USPAP, "If known prior to accepting an assignment, and/or if
discovered at any time during the assignment, an appraiser must disclose to the client, and in the subsequent report
certification any services regarding the subject property performed by the appraiser within the three year period immediately
preceding acceptance of the assignment, as an appraiser or in any other capacity."   

I have not previously appraised this property in the three years prior to this assignment.  The appraiser is not aware of any
other services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, performed on the subject property within the past three years.

EXPOSURE TIME

Based on a review of the data included throughout this report and during the appraisal process for this specific property,
including but not limited to the Market Conditions Section,  information gathered through sales verification, the appraiser's
knowledge of the subject property and its specific market and an analysis of the data collected, reviewed, considered and
used in the sales comparison, a reasonable exposure time for the subject property is estimated to be 2 to 4 months if offered
at a reasonable price relative to the opinion of market value estimated within this report.   

Site Comments

See Report

Comments on Sales Comparison

The appraiser has researched comparable land sales in the subject's general marketing area as well as current listings.  The 5 sales
presented in this analysis are the best available based on my research. .  

The 5 sales have produced the following values per square foot:

Sale 1 $ 8.70
Sale 2 $10.47
Sale 3 $11.00
Sale 4 $ 9.50
Sale 5 $ 5.00

The sales are adjusted based on location and lot size.   Also to be considered is that there is an improved parking lot on the site which
makes it more valuable.   
  

After all the data researched and presented is reviewed and correlated, in my opinion the fair market value of the subject site as vacant
for development is $13.00 per square foot.   This produces the following calculation of value for the subject property:

23,522 SF times $13.00 per SF equals $305,786 say $305,000

The final reconciled value is concluded to be $305,000 as vacant for the subject property as of the current date of value.   
 

Condition of Appraisal Comments

The subject property is being appraised "as is".   



File No.

DEFINITION OF MARKET VALUE: The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market

under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller, each acting prudently, knowledgeably and assuming the price is not

affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from

seller to buyer under conditions whereby: (1) buyer and seller are typically motivated; (2) both parties are well informed or well advised,

and each acting in what he considers his own best interest; (3) a reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; (4) payment

is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial arrangements comparable thereto; and (5) the price represents the normal

consideration for the property sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions* granted by anyone associated with the

sale.

*Adjustments to the comparables must be made for special or creative financing or sales concessions.  No adjustments are necessary for

those costs which are normally paid by sellers as a result of tradition or law in a market area; these costs are readily identifiable since the

seller pays these costs in virtually all sales transactions.  Special or creative financing adjustments can be made to the comparable property

by comparisons to financing terms offered by a third party institutional lender that is not already involved in the property or transaction.  Any

adjustment should not be calculated on a mechanical dollar for dollar cost of the financing or concession but the dollar amount of any

adjustment should approximate the market's reaction to the financing or concessions based on the Appraiser's judgment.

STATEMENT OF LIMITING CONDITIONS AND APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION

CONTINGENT AND LIMITING CONDITIONS: The appraiser's certification that appears in the appraisal report is subject to the

following conditions:

1.  The appraiser will not be responsible for matters of a legal nature that affect either the property being appraised or the title to it.  The

appraiser assumes that the title is good and marketable and, therefore, will not render any opinions about the title.  The property is appraised

on the basis of it being under responsible ownership.

2.  The appraiser has provided a sketch in the appraisal report to show approximate dimensions of the improvements and the sketch is

included only to assist the reader of the report in visualizing the property and understanding the appraiser's determination of its size.

3.  The appraiser has examined the available flood maps that are provided by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (or other data

sources) and has noted in the appraisal report whether the subject site is located in an identified Special Flood Hazard Area.  Because the

appraiser is not a surveyor, he or she makes no guarantees, express or implied, regarding this determination.

4.  The appraiser will not give testimony or appear in court because he or she made an appraisal of the property in question, unless specific

arrangements to do so have been made beforehand.

5.  The appraiser has estimated the value of the land in the cost approach at its highest and best use and the improvements at their

contributory value.  These separate valuations of the land and improvements must not be used in conjunction with any other appraisal and

are invalid if they are so used.

6.  The appraiser has noted in the appraisal report any adverse conditions (such as, needed repairs, depreciation, the presence of hazardous

wastes, toxic substances, etc. ) observed during the inspection of the subject property or that he or she became aware of during the normal

research involved in performing the appraisal.  Unless otherwise stated in the appraisal report, the appraiser has no knowledge of any hidden

or unapparent condit ions of the property or adverse environmental condit ions (including the presence of hazardous wastes, toxic

substances, etc. ) that would make the property more or less valuable, and has assumed that there are no such conditions and makes no

guarantees or warranties, express or implied, regarding the condition of the property.  The appraiser will not be responsible for any such

conditions that do exist or for any engineering or testing that might be required to discover whether such conditions exist.  Because the

appraiser is not an expert in the field of environmental hazards, the appraisal report must not be considered as an environmental assessment

of the property.

7.  The appraiser obtained the information, estimates, and opinions that were expressed in the appraisal report from sources that he or she

considers to be reliable and believes them to be true and correct.  The appraiser does not assume responsibility for the accuracy of such

items that were furnished by other parties.

8.  The appraiser will not disclose the contents of the appraisal report except as provided for in the Uniform Standards of Professional

Appraisal Practice.

9.  The appraiser has based his or her appraisal report and valuation conclusion for an appraisal that is subject to satisfactory completion,

repairs, or alterations on the assumption that completion of the improvements will be performed in a workmanlike manner.

10.  The appraiser must provide his or her prior written consent before the lender/client specified in the appraisal report can distribute the

appraisal report (including conclusions about the property value, the appraiser's identity and professional designations, and references to

any professional appraisal organizations or the firm with which the appraiser is associated ) to anyone other than the borrower; the

mortgagee or its successors and assigns; the mortgage insurer; consultants; professional appraisal organizations; any state or federally

approved financial institution; or any department, agency, or instrumentality of the United States or any state or the District of Columbia;

except that the lender/client may distribute the property description section of the report only to data collection or reporting service(s)

without having to obtain the appraiser's prior written consent.  The appraiser's written consent and approval must also be obtained before

the appraisal can be conveyed by anyone to the public through advertising, public relations, news, sales, or other media.

Vacant Land Page 1 of 2

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21



File No.

APPRAISERS CERTIFICATION: The Appraiser certifies and agrees that:

1.  I have researched the subject market area and have selected a minimum of three recent sales of properties most similar and proximate

to the subject property for consideration in the sales comparison analysis and have made a dollar adjustment when appropriate to reflect the
market reaction to those items of significant variation.  If a significant item in a comparable property is superior to , or more favorable than,

the subject property, I have made a negative adjustment to reduce the adjusted sales price of the comparable and, if a significant item in a
comparable property is inferior to, or less favorable than the subject property, I have made a positive adjustment to increase the adjusted

sales price of the comparable.

2.  I have taken into consideration the factors that have an impact on value in my development of the estimate of market value in the
appraisal report.  I have not knowingly withheld any significant information from the appraisal report and I believe, to the best of my

knowledge, that all statements and information in the appraisal report are true and correct.

3.  I stated in the appraisal report only my own personal, unbiased, and professional analysis, opinions, and conclusions, which are subject
only to the contingent and Limiting Conditions specified in this form.

4.  I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject to this report, and I have no present or prospective personal

interest or bias with respect to the participants in the transaction.  I did not base, either partially or completely, my analysis and/or the
estimate of market value in the appraisal report  on the race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin of either the

prospective owners or occupants of the subject property or of the present owners or occupants of the properties in the vicinity of the
subject property.

5.  I have no present or contemplated future interest in the subject property, and neither my current or future employment nor my

compensation for performing this appraisal is contingent on the appraised value of the property.

6.  I was not required to report a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client or any related party,
the amount of the value estimate, the attainment of a specific result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event in order to receive my

compensation and/or employment for performing the appraisal.  I did not base the appraisal report on a requested minimum valuation, a
specific valuation, or the need to approve a specific mortgage loan.

7.  I  performed this appraisal in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice that were adopted and

promulgated by the Appraisal Standards Board of The Appraisal Foundation and that were in place as of the effective date of this appraisal,
with the exception of the departure provision of those Standards, which does not apply.  I acknowledge that an estimate of a reasonable

time for exposure in the open market is a condition in the definition of market value and the estimate I developed is consistent with the
marketing time noted in the neighborhood section of this report, unless I have otherwise stated in the reconciliation section.

8 .   I  h a v e  p e r s o n a l l y  i n s p e c t e d  t h e  s u b j e c t  p r o p e r t y  a n d  t h e  e x t e r i o r  o f  a l l  p r o p e r t i e s  l i s t e d  a s  c o m p a r a b l e s

in the appraisal report.  I further certify that I have noted any apparent or known adverse conditions in the subject improvements, on the
subject site, or on any site within the immediate vicinity of the subject property of which I am aware and have made adjustments for these

adverse conditions in my analysis of the property value to the extent that I had market evidence to support them.  I have also commented
about the effect of the adverse conditions on the marketability of the subject property.

9.  I personally prepared all conclusions and opinions about the real estate that were set forth in the appraisal report.  If I relied on

significant professional assistance from any individual or individuals in the performance of the appraisal or the preparation of the appraisal
report, I have named such individual(s) and disclosed the specific tasks performed by them in the reconciliation section of this appraisal

report.  I certify that any individual so named is qualified to perform the tasks.  I have not authorized anyone to make a change to any item in
the report; therefore, if an unauthorized change is made to the appraisal report, I will take no responsibility for it.

SUPERVISORY APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION: If a  supervisory  appraiser  signed the appraisal report, he or she certifies
and agrees that: I directly supervise the appraiser who prepared the appraisal report, have reviewed the appraisal report, agree with the

statements and conclusions of the appraiser, agree to be bound by the appraiser's certifications numbered 4 through 7 above, and am taking
full responsibility for the appraisal and the appraisal report.

ADDRESS OF PROPERTY APPRAISED:

APPRAISER: SUPERVISORY APPRAISER (only if required)

Signature: Signature:
Name: Name:

Date Signed: Date Signed:
State Certification #: State Certification #:

or State License #: or State License #:
State: State:

Expiration Date of Certification or License: Expiration Date of Certification or License:

Did Did Not Inspect Property

Vacant Land Page 2 of 2

09/30/2023
Illinois

553.000263
04/25/2022

James W. Leech State Cert.General Appraiser

112 Railroad Street, East Dundee, IL 60118

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21



USPAP ADDENDUM File No.

Borrower:
Property Address:
City: County: State: Zip Code:
Lender:

This report was prepared under the following USPAP reporting option:

Appraisal Report A written report prepared under Standards Rule 2-2(a).

Restricted Appraisal Report A written report prepared under Standards Rule 2-2(b).

APPRAISAL AND REPORT IDENTIFICATION

Reasonable Exposure Time

My opinion of a reasonable exposure time for the subject property at the market value stated in this report is:

Additional Certifications

I have performed NO services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the property that is the subject of this report within the three-year
period immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment.

I HAVE performed services, as an appraiser or in another capacity, regarding the property that is the subject of this report within the three-year
period immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment. Those services are described in the comments below.

Additional Comments

APPRAISER: SUPERVISORY APPRAISER (only if required):

Signature: Signature:
Name: Name:
Date Signed: Date Signed:
State Certification #: State Certification #:
or State License #: or State License #:
or Other (describe): State #: State:
State: Expiration Date of Certification or License:
Expiration Date of Certification or License: Supervisory Appraiser inspection of Subject Property:
Effective Date of Appraisal: Did Not Exterior-only from street Interior and Exterior

Produced using ACI software, 800.234.8727 www.aciweb.com USPAP_14 04272015

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21
LEECH & DENOMA APPRAISAL SERVICE INC

Village of East Dundee
60118ILKaneEast Dundee

112 Railroad Street
NA

X

My estimate of exposure time is based on a review of the market through an MC report as well as my experience in this area.

2-4 months

Pursuant to the Conduct Section of the Ethics Rule of USPAP, "If known prior to accepting an assignment and/or if discovered any any time during the 
assignment, an appraiser must discoose to the client and in the subsequent report certification of any services regarding the subject proeprty performed 
by the appraiser within the 3 year perior immediately preceding acceptance of the assignment as an appraiser or any other capacity. 

I have performed no services including an appraisal of this property over the past 3 years.

X

ADDITIONAL CERTIFICATION COMMENT

The compensation for this appraisal assignment is $900.

April 14, 2022
09/30/2023

IL

553.000263
04/25/2022

James W. Leech State Cert.General Appraiser



Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender:

Produced using ACI software, 800.234.8727 www.aciweb.com PHT3 05212013

Village of East Dundee
60118ILEast Dundee

Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

Front looking south

Looking south at site

Looking north



Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender:

Produced using ACI software, 800.234.8727 www.aciweb.com PHT3 05212013

Village of East Dundee
60118ILEast Dundee

Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

Street looking east

Looking west

Street



LOCATION MAP

Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender: Village of East Dundee

60118ILEast Dundee
Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender: Village of East Dundee

60118ILEast Dundee
Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

Flood Map

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender: Village of East Dundee

60118ILEast Dundee
Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

Survey

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender: Village of East Dundee

60118ILEast Dundee
Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

Zoning Map

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender: Village of East Dundee

60118ILEast Dundee
Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender: Village of East Dundee

60118ILEast Dundee
Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



File No.

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

********* INVOICE *********

File Number:

Borrower :

Invoice # :
Order Date :
Reference/Case # :
PO Number :

$
$

Invoice Total $
State Sales Tax @ $
Deposit ( $ )
Deposit ( $ )

Amount Due $

Terms:

Please Make Check Payable To:

Fed. I.D. #:

Railroad 112 E Dundee

Z623-21

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528

Please return one copy of this invoice along with your payment

36-4542768

Zion, IL  60099
1717 Lewis Avenue
Leech & Denoma Appraisal Service, Inc.

900.00

0.00
900.00

900.00Appraisal Fee

East Dundee, IL 60118
112 Railroad Street

James Leech
Z623-21

East Dunde, IL
110 Railroad Street
Village of East Dundee

April 25, 2022Railroad 112 E Dundee



AERIAL MAP

Borrower: File No.:
Property Address: Case No.:
City: State: Zip:
Lender: Village of East Dundee

60118ILEast Dundee
Z623-21112 Railroad Street
Railroad 112 E DundeeNA

1717 Lewis Avenue, Zion, IL  60099   847-872-4982/847-872-2528



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:  Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
   
Subject: Purchase of Real Property in Downtown TIF #4 (110 Railroad St, East Dundee)  
 
Date:   October 16, 2023 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff recommends Village Board approval of an ordinance authorizing the purchase of real 
property located at 110 Railroad St, East Dundee, IL 60118, in the Downtown Tax Increment 
Financing District in the amount of $800,000.  The ordinance also authorizes the Village to lease 
the property back to the current owner for 18 months once the Village becomes the owner of 
the property. 
 
Funding Source: 
Downtown TIF #4 – Fund 39 
 
Summary: 
The Village has been working to purchase the former lumberyard property and adjacent public 
parking lot (110 Railroad St, East Dundee, IL 60118, PIN 03-23-314-001) for the past year.  The 
seller and the Village have come to an agreement that satisfies all parties and anticipate a 
closing date of December 15, 2023. 
 
The purchase and sales agreement is attached and allows for a due diligence period to conduct 
any inspections and additional testing.  The Village has already completed a Phase 1 inspection 
of the property with permission from the seller. 
 
This ordinance in intended to be approved in tandem with the previous agenda item 
authorizing the acceptance of the donation of the adjacent parcel which currently contains the 
public parking lot.    
 
Staff is actively working on drafting a Request for Proposals for the redevelopment of the 
property which will be on an upcoming Village Board meeting agenda for approval.   
 



 
 
Attachments: 
Ordinance 
Purchase and Sales Contract 
Lease 



{00131885.1} 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A REAL ESTATE SALE AGREEMENT 
AND PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY AND LEASE BACK OF PROPERTY 

(110 RAILROAD STREET, EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS) 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, Illinois, as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1:  The President and Board of Trustees of the Village find as follows: 
 

A. The Village of East Dundee (the “Village”) is a home rule municipality 
pursuant to Section 7 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois. 

 
B. The State of Illinois has adopted tax increment financing pursuant to the 

Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq., 
as amended from time to time (the “TIF Act”).   

 
C. Pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the TIF Act, and pursuant to 

Ordinance Nos. 08-34, 08-35 and 08-36, adopted June 16, 2008, and as 
amended by Ordinance Number 18-28 on September 10, 2018, the 
Downtown Tax Increment Financing District (the “TIF District”) was formed 
as a TIF district, for a twenty-three (23) year period. Ordinance Nos. 08-34, 
08-35, 08-36 and 18-28 are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
D. Pursuant to and in accordance with the TIF Act and the Ordinances 

establishing the TIF District, the Corporate Authorities of the Village are 
empowered under Sections 4(c) and 3(q)(2) of the TIF Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-
74.4-4(c) and 3(q)(2), to purchase real property within the TIF district, using 
TIF District funds, in furtherance of the Redevelopment Plan and Project for 
the TIF District, including for the acquisition of the “Subject Property,” as 
defined in Section I.E. below. 

 
E. Deloris Doederlein, Trustee of the Deloris Doederlein Living Trust (the 

“Seller”), is the owner of the real estate and appurtenances attached thereto 
for the property located at 110 Railroad Street, East Dundee, Illinois (the 
“Subject Property”). 
 

F.  The Village desires to acquire the Subject Property in furtherance of the 
Redevelopment Plan and Project for the TIF District. 

 
G. As part of the agreement for acquisition, the Village agrees to lease the 

Subject Property to the Seller for a term of 18 months effective on the 
Parties’ closing date, which terms and conditions are set forth in the 
Industrial Building Lease, attached as an exhibit to the “Real Estate 
Purchase and Sale Agreement.”    
 



{00131885.1} 

H.  It is the desire of the Seller to convey the Subject Property to the Village on 
the terms set forth in the “Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement,” and 
its accompanying Exhibits, attached hereto as EXHIBIT A and made a part 
hereof (the “Agreement”). The lease agreement is also attached hereto as 
EXHIBIT B (“Lease”) and made a part hereof.   

 
I.  It is in the best interest of the Village to acquire the Subject Property, to 

ensure that redevelopment within the TIF District continues. 
 

SECTION 2: Based upon the foregoing, the Village President, Village Clerk and 
Village Administrator are hereby authorized and directed to purchase the Subject 
Property pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement, and lease back 
the Property to the Seller according to the Lease. The Village President or Village 
Administrator are further authorized and directed to execute and deliver such other 
instruments, including the Agreement and Lease, in a form finalized and approved by the 
Village Administrator and Village Attorney, and the Village Administrator and Village 
Attorney are also authorized to make any final changes to the Agreement and Lease as 
may be necessary or convenient to consummate such purchase. 

 
SECTION 3:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.   
 

 
 ADOPTED this ___ day of April, 2023, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 
 
  AYES:___________________________________________ 
  
  NAYS:___________________________________________ 
 
  ABSENT:_________________________________________ 
 
 APPROVED this ___ day of September 2023, by the Village President of the 
Village of East Dundee, and attested by the Village Clerk, on the same day. 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
  Village President 

 APPROVED and FILED in my office this ___ day of _________, 2023 and 
published in pamphlet form in the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, 
Illinois. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
  Village Clerk  



{00131885.1} 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 
 

(attached) 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



{00131885.1} 

EXHIBIT B 
 

 LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

(attached) 
 

 

 











































































































































































































































































































































{00126954.1} Page 1

TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE

This Certificate is given to the Village of East Dundee, an Illinois municipal corporation. and its 
assignees (the "Buyer"), by ______________________________________________________ (the "Tenant"), with 
the understanding that Buyer and its counsel will rely on this Certificate in connection with Buyer's purchase of the 
property located at 110 Railroad Street, East Dundee, IL (the "Property").  

Tenant hereby certifies as follows:

1. The undersigned is the Tenant under that certain Lease dated _________________, _____ 
(the "Lease") between DeLoris Doederlein (the “Landlord”), as landlord, and Tenant, as tenant.  A true, correct and 
complete copy of the Lease, together with any commencement date agreements, assignments, amendments, 
modifications and supplements thereto, is attached to this Certificate as Exhibit A.  The Lease is the entire agreement 
between Landlord (or any affiliated party) and Tenant (or any affiliated party) pertaining to the Premises (defined 
below).  There are no amendments, modifications, supplements, arrangements, side letters or understandings, oral or 
written, of any sort, of the Lease, except as are attached as Exhibit A.

2. As of the date of the Tenant’s execution of this Certificate, Tenant is occupying and paying 
rent on a current basis for the following portions of the Property pursuant to the Lease: _____________ East Dundee, 
IL (the "Premises"). 

3. Tenant acknowledges that the commencement date of the initial term of the Lease is 
______________; the expiration date of the initial term of the Lease is ________________. 

4. The current monthly net rent is $__________, payable monthly in advance on the first day 
of each calendar month. No rent has been prepaid except for the current month.

5. Tenant pays ______ per month as for heat/ water/ gas (“Utilities”). ____________Utilities 
have been prepaid. 

6. A security deposit of $_________ has been made under the Lease. There is no interest due 
on this Security Deposit.

7. Tenant does not have any right or option to renew or extend the term of the Lease, or to 
expand into any additional space, or to purchase all or any part of the Property or the Premises.

8. Tenant has properly executed the Lease and the Lease is in full force and effect.

9. Tenant has accepted possession and is in occupancy of the Premises, and all items to be 
performed by Landlord have been completed, including, but not limited to, completion of construction thereof (and 
all other improvements required to be completed by Landlord under the Lease) in accordance with applicable plans 
and specifications and within the time periods set forth in the Lease, and the payment by Landlord of any contribution 
towards work to be performed by Tenant under the Lease. Tenant is open for business; rent payments have 
commenced, and all tenant improvements in the Premises have been completed by Landlord and Tenant, as described 
in the Lease.

10. All obligations of Landlord under the Lease have been performed, and Landlord is not in 
default under the Lease.  Tenant has no defense as to its obligations under the Lease and asserts no setoff, claim or 
counterclaim against Landlord under or with respect to the Lease.

11. No free periods of rent, tenant improvements, contributions or other concessions have been
granted to Tenant; Landlord is not reimbursing Tenant or paying Tenant's rent obligations under any other lease; and 
Tenant has not advanced any funds for or on behalf of Landlord for which Tenant has a right of deduction from, or 
set off against, future rent payments.



{00126954.1} Page 2

12. Tenant is not in default under the Lease.  Tenant has not assigned, transferred or 
hypothecated the Lease or any interest therein or subleased all or any portion of the Premises.  Tenant is not insolvent 
and is able to pay its debts as they mature.  Tenant has not declared bankruptcy or similar insolvency proceeding, and 
has no present intentions of doing so, no such proceeding has been commenced against Tenant seeking such relief, 
and Tenant has no knowledge that any such proceeding is threatened.

13. The Landlord is not in default under the Lease.

14. Tenant consents to the assignment of the Lease to Buyer or its assigns.

15. The information on Schedule I attached hereto is true and correct.

16. The person executing this Certificate is authorized by Tenant to do so and execution hereof 
is the binding act of Tenant enforceable against Tenant.

___________________, 202___.

TENANT:

____________________________________________, 
an Illinois LLC/corporation, 
_________________________________________

By: __________________________________________
Name: 
Title:



SCHEDULE I

TENANT CONTACT INFORMATION FORM

GENERAL CORRESPONDENCE CONTACT  
(The on-site "daily" contact, will be contacted for maintenance and general building related issues.)
Contact Name & Title:
Mailing Address:  

Phone #:   Fax #:
Email Address:

ACCOUNTING CONTACT
(The accounts payable contact person, for matters related to rent and/or invoice payments.)
Contact Name & Title: 
Mailing Address:

Phone #:   Fax #:
Email Address:

EMERGENCY CONTACTS  
(These individuals will be contacted in the event of any business or after-hours building emergency.  
The contacts must be available 24 hours per day and will be asked to respond to emergencies 
affecting your business, i.e. security, fire, power failure, etc.)
Emergency Contact #1:   Day Phone #: 
Pager #:  Other/Cell: 

Evening/Weekend Phone #:

Emergency Contact #2:   Day Phone #:   
Pager #:   Other #/Cell #:
Evening/Weekend Phone #:

FIRE DEPARTMENT REQUIRED INFORMATION:
What are your normal business days & hours?
How many people work or have a daily presence in your office? 



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 

From:  Franco Bottalico, Assistant to the Village Administrator 
   

Subject: Depot Discussion 
 

Date:   October 16, 2023 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
The Community Events & Depot Committee (CEDC) and staff recommend Village Board 
approval to add one part-time FTE Village employee to staff the Depot for the remainder of 
2023, and the authorization to create a Depot Council. 
 
Summary: 
The Village owns and maintains The Depot located at 319 N. River Street. Currently, the Village 
contracts with Bill Zelsdorf to staff The Depot until October 28, 2023, which is the end of the 
Depot Market season.  Mr. Zelsdorf is not a village employee but serves as a contracted 
employee.  This was done on a temporary basis to bridge the vacancy period until a lease 
agreement would have been executed between the Village and a non-profit after the recent 
departure of the Dundee Township Visitor’s Center nonprofit.  However, staff were notified 
that the applicant to the recent Depot RFP process was unable to move forward with their 
proposal. 

It is the desire of the Village to have The Depot staffed to assist visitors to the Downtown and 
during Village-sponsored events or Depot rentals. Because of the applicant’s withdrawal from 
the RFP process, staff and the CEDC are recommending retaining Mr. Zelsdorf’s services but 
instead converting him to a part-time Village employee instead of a contractor.  Additionally, as 
part of the 2024 budget request, staff will be requesting the Board’s authorization to hire one 
additional part-time FTE who will assist in staffing The Depot during summer hours.  The other 
FTE will have rotating days with Mr. Zelsdorf to provide additional hours coverage during the 
busier warmer weather months.   

Should the Board authorize staff to move forward with this proposal, staff will coordinate the 
job description and hiring process for an October 30, 2023 start date for Mr. Zelsdorf, and a job 
posting in early 2024 for the second position. 

Additionally, at the October 9th CEDC meeting, it was the consensus of the Committee, at staff’s 
recommendation, to have the Board explore the idea of creating a Depot Council (“Council”).  



This Council would operate similar to the Arts Council and be self-sustaining as far as 
operations.  The Council would oversee the operations of the Depot Market as a Village event 
and any potential rental applications and additional Village events; however, this Council would 
be an extension of the Village Board and under the Village Board’s purview.  Staff recommends 
this approach as it still allows the Village to have oversight of operations and recommendations 
to the Board. Additionally, the two part-time positions at The Depot will provide staff with 
additional support on Village events and during Depot rentals and will also administer and 
manage the Depot Market under the direction of the Depot Council. 

Should the Board direct staff to move forward with this creation, Staff will work with the Village 
Attorney to draft an ordinance for the Village Board to consider a Depot Council at a future 
Board meeting. 



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
   
From:  Brandiss J. Martin, Finance & Administrative Services Director 
   
Subject: Discussion of Removing Refuse Sunset Clause 
 
Date:   October 16, 2023 
 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff request Village Board discussion and direction on the removal or extension of the refuse 
sunset clause approved on April 16, 2018, in Ordinance 18-06 which amended Chapter 50 of 
the Village of East Dundee Municipal Code.  

 
Funding Source: 
Revenue and expenditures for refuse and recycling occur within the General Fund. 
 
Summary: 
The Village Board has expressed a desire to have a discussion regarding the continued renewal 
of the sunset clause for refuse and recycling services provided to residents and businesses. The 
sunset clause allows the Village to pass along the cost of refuse and recycling fees to users 
instead of the Village absorbing the entire cost of the service.  

On August 7, 2017, the Village Board adopted an amended ordinance (17-40) detailing the 
provisions of the Village’s refuse and recycling responsibilities. In 2019, the Village negotiated 
and implemented a new monthly rate, specifically for senior customers of the Village’s refuse 
and recycling collection program. The ordinance also established a sunset clause effective April 
30, 2018. Annually, staff has presented an ordinance seeking an extension of ordinance 17-40, 
which the Village Board has approved.  

In consideration of 2024 budget preparation, staff is requesting the Village Board discuss 
whether or not an extension or amendment and removal of the sunset ordinance will be the 
Board’s direction for the new budget year and onward. 

Discussion 
In discussing such removal, the Board must consider the following: 

1. The cost of refuse service is approximately $270,000, annually. 
2. The General Fund’s primary revenue source is Home Rule and regular sales tax. This 

makes up nearly 50% or more of the revenue in the Fund. Heavy reliance on such 



revenue can be problematic as it ebbs and flows based on economic conditions at the 
time and could pose problems supplementing costly user fees in the future. 

3. In most communities, the majority of all user fees (i.e. water & sewer) are paid for 
directly by the user and is not supplemented by the municipality to allow for the funding 
of other, more significant, services, projects, and infrastructure needs of the 
municipality. Residents and businesses of the Village who do not utilize our contracted 
vendor for refuse and recycling will be paying for the cost of a user service that does not 
benefit them. 

4. Annually, the Board makes considerable efforts to fully fund the Police Pension at the 
Lauterbach & Amen’s recommended contribution amount. The Pension Fund is 
currently partially funded by the Village’s property tax levy. The property taxes received 
do not fully fund this contribution, and as such, the Village supplements the 
contribution through the General Fund. In order to meet the recommended 
contribution amounts for SY23, the Village will make an additional contribution of 
$349,854 from the General Fund. With the hiring of the Deputy Chief and two new 
officers as well as the objective of becoming a completely full-time department, the cost 
of Police Pension contributions will significantly increase, requiring an increase to the 
tax levy, or additional supplementary funds from the General Fund. 

5. The Prairie Lakes TIF will expire December 31, 2023. The Village will collect its final 
incremental tax revenue from this TIF in 2024.  When the Village is able to levy to 
capture this increment for property taxes payable in 2025, staff will recommend this 
entire portion of the increment be directed to supplement payments to the Police 
Pension. 

6. Without an identified new source of revenue or increase to alternative fees to replace 
this user fee, staff does not recommend the elimination of this user fee.   

Legislative History:  
Chapter 50 of the Code of Ordinances (Garbage and Refuse) was amended on August 7, 2017. 
The automatic sunset date for the ordinance was approved on April 16, 2018 (Ordinance 18-
06), April 8, 2019 (19-12), April 20, 2020 (20-09), April 19, 2021 (21-15), April 18, 2022 (22-16), 
and on April 17, 2023 (23-19). 



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:  Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
   
Subject: Parking Minimums in the Downtown Area Discussion  
 
Date:   October 16, 2023 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
At the request of Trustee Saviano with endorsement from Trustees Mahoney and Kunze, 
removing parking minimums for businesses in the downtown area is being added to the Village 
Board agenda for discussion.   
 
Summary: 
Staff was asked to place this item on the agenda for discussion at the October 16, 2023, 
meeting.  With direction from the Village Board, staff can return to a future Village Board 
meeting with further research and recommendations regarding this issue.  Also, any 
recommended changes to the zoning code must first go to the Planning and Zoning & Historic 
Commission for review. 


	Agenda 10.16.23
	5a DRAFT Minutes AGENDA ITEM
	5b - Warrant 101623
	5c - Eng Services AGENDA ITEM
	1 Lead Service Inventory - Memo
	2 Lead Service Inventory - Resolution
	3 Lead Service Inventory - Proposal
	4 Notice of State Award

	5d - PUD AGENDA ITEM
	1. Preliminary PUD 2 Memo - this has updated table
	2. Final Preliminary Ord with Exhibits for 10.16.2023
	ED-#13 PAL Ordinance PUD--FINAL CLEAN
	A. Submission of the Final PUD Plan. Within the applicable timeframe provided in Section 157.254(A)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance, as modified as set forth in this Section 4.A, Owner must work diligently to do all work necessary to apply for and present ...

	2. Prelim. PUD and Rezoning Ordinance with Exhibits
	2. Prelim. PUD and Rezoning Ordinance with Exhibits
	Exhibit B - Findings of Fact
	Exhibit C - Preliminary PUD Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	1411.40 PHASE II PUD EXHIBIT-1
	1411.40 PHASE II PUD EXHIBIT-2


	Exhibit D - PUD Submitted Docs
	1411.40 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REPORT - 04-28-23
	1411.40 SUB
	Sheets and Views
	1411.40 SUB-1
	1411.40 SUB-2


	DUNDEE ROAD TIS
	Appendix 5-3-2023.pdf
	(01) Traffic Count Summary Sheets.pdf
	16005101 - Prairie Lake Rd -- IL 68
	16005102 - Prairie Lake Rd -- IL 68
	16005103 - Penny Rd -- IL 68
	16005104 - Penny Rd -- IL 68
	16005105 - West Dwy to Trucking Facility -- Penny Rd
	16005106 - West Dwy to Trucking Facility -- Penny Rd
	16005107 - East Dwy to Trucking Facility -- Penny Rd
	16005108 - East Dwy to Trucking Facility -- Penny Rd



	EXISTING CONDITIONS
	GRADING PLANS
	LANDSCAPE PLAN
	LOT 1 TYPICAL ELEVATIONS
	LOT 1 TYPICAL ROOF PLAN
	PRELIMINARY PLAN REV 2
	Sheets and Views
	EX-1


	Revised Site Plan Exhibit (06-21-23)
	Sheets and Views
	C-11 SITE DIMENSIONAL & PAVING PLAN SOUTHEAST



	Exhibit E - Multi-Use Path 23-09-12
	Sheets and Views
	Layout 1


	Exhibit F - Engineering Review Memo Village Engineer Memo
	1411.40 PHASE II PUD EXHIBIT.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	1411.40 PHASE II PUD EXHIBIT-1
	1411.40 PHASE II PUD EXHIBIT-2






	3. PUD 2 Redacted Applicaiton for the 33 acres
	4. Exhibit 1 Project Narrative V4 June 28 2023 use this
	5. Palumbo Map Exhibit 2023 PUD 2
	6. Zoning Map Layout for Ref of PUD 2
	7. Daily Herald Certificate of Publication 07.06.2023 for ord.

	5e 611 AGENDA ITEM
	1 _Memo
	2 Resolution
	License Agreement

	6a Traffic Study AGENDA ITEM
	1 Truck Traffic Study - Memo
	2 Truck Traffic Study - Report
	Existing Roadway Characteristics
	Area Truck Routes
	Existing Traffic Volumes
	Evaluation of Vehicle Classification Traffic Count Data
	Evaluation of Speed Data
	Conclusion



	6b - AGENDA ITEM - Doederlein Parking Lot Donation
	ADP2F12.tmp
	EXHIBIT A


	6c 110 Railroad AGENDA ITEM
	1 _Memo
	2 ED-Ord for sale and lease back of 110 Railroad (00131885)
	EXHIBIT A
	EXHIBIT B

	3 Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement
	4 Industrial Building Lease
	4.5 ED 110 Railroad SubTenant Estoppel Certificate

	6d Depot Staffing Memo 10.16.2023
	6e  Discussion of Removing Refuse Sunset Clause
	6f - downtown parking AGENDA ITEM



